# Downscaling the Low-Carbon National Strategy for the Building Activities

## Marin Pellan

Dissertation number 30042







#### DISS. ETH NO. 30042

### Downscaling the Low-Carbon National Strategy for the Building Activities

A thesis submitted to attain the degree of DOCTOR OF SCIENCES (Dr. sc. ETH Zurich)

presented by

#### Marin Pellan

M.Sc. INSA Lyon / Grenoble EM born on June 12, 1994

Accepted on the recommendation of: Prof. Dr. Guillaume Habert, Examiner Prof. Dr. Alexander Passer, Co-Examiner Prof. Dr. Thomas Jusselme, Co-Examiner Albane Gaspard, Co-Examiner Dr. Mathilde Louërat, Co-Examiner

Dr. Denise Almeida, Co-Examiner

2024

#### Abstract and fulltext available under:

Pellan, Marin. Downscaling the Low-Carbon National Strategy for the Building Activities. ETH-Zürich (2024).

(242 pages, 50 figures, 37 tables, and 395 references)

#### Codes availables under:

https://github.com/marpellan

## Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to extend my sincere thanks to all members of the external jury, Prof. Alexander Passer, Prof. Thomas Jusselme, and Albane Gaspard, for their valuable time and the engaging dialogue during the doctoral committees and our respective conversations. Alexander, your guidance and support from the very beginning, as well as our interactions at SBE Berlin, were invaluable. Thomas, I truly appreciated our meaningful exchanges at CISBAT. Albane, I am grateful for our conversations and your commitment to uniting the building scenario community in France.

I am deeply grateful to my supervisor, Prof. Guillaume Habert, for embracing this thesis projects and his support over the three years. My heartfelt thanks also go to my co-supervisors, Mathilde and Denise. Mathilde, you have been involved since day one, I truly appreciate your dedication, constant support, and motivation throughout this journey. Denise, you have been encouraging me to pursue a PhD since I was your intern, and you have become a mentor for me, I could not be more thankful.

A special thanks to Marine, the best manager one can hope, and to Alexandra, for your crucial role in launching this PhD project. I am also very appreciative of Jacques and Jeremy for their guidance and our enlightening discussions, as well as Felix for assisting me with the myriad coding challenges within the CSTB module landscape. I am thankful for the insightful conversations with the members of the Sustainable Construction lab at ETH, especially Yasmine. I would also like to acknowledge Nicolas for our valuable discussions and the *Depart de Sentier* collaborators, in particular Romain Sacchi for his precious support with the *premise* tool.

These three years have been truly memorable thanks to the wonderful atmosphere at CSTB Grenoble. I am deeply grateful to Julien, Nathalie, Sylvain, Audrey, and everyone who makes this workplace so enjoyable. A special mention goes to my fellow PhD colleagues – Nada, Martin, Lucille, Alexandre, and Kevin – for sharing this emotional rollercoaster with me. My gratitude also goes to the remarkable ENV team – Mathieu, Simon, Ingrid, Charlotte, Pierre, and others – for your open-mindedness and positive energy. I am also grateful to Rafaela, Erwan, Edouard, and Enora, with whom I had the pleasure of collaborating and learning. And to Yannis, Anaïs, Cécile, Mathilde, Hugo, Clément, and more, thank you for the camaraderie in daily life, from running and climbing sessions to much more. Finally, a special shoutout to our favorite spots – La Bobine for the (sometimes never-ending) after-work gatherings and *Chez Mathieu*, where a straight walk at the end of the night is not always guaranteed.

Finally, I am profoundly thankful to my friends and family for their unwavering support and for providing moments of reprieve from PhD life. This journey has been full of highs and lows, and having people to lift me out of the daily routine has been invaluable—whether playing *coinche* at the bar, enjoying concerts at *La Belle*, cycling, climbing, or skiing on a powder day. My deepest appreciation goes to my parents for their support from the very beginning, and to my brothers for being by my side throughout.

Credits for the cover page go to Environmental Graffiti.

## Abstract

With buildings responsible for 37% of global energy and process-related  $CO_2$  emissions in 2021, their decarbonisation is pivotal in mitigating climate change. Positioned at the nexus of significant greenhouse gas emission reduction opportunities and sectors challenging to decarbonise, a thorough understanding of their life-cycle emissions and decarbonisation potential is imperative. While climate policies such as sectoral carbon budgets provide a necessary framework for climate action, and while multiple scenarios explore potential decarbonisation pathways across various sectors, the accounting framework in which they are embedded lack flexibility for activities that are international and at the crossroads of different sectors. This approach fails to provide a holistic accounting of emissions, thereby limiting the effectiveness of carbon budgeting and the development of appropriate decarbonisation strategies and models.

The primary objective of this thesis is to develop life-cycle carbon budgets for buildings and to model exploratory scenarios for life-cycle emissions trends up to 2050 at various scales—from modelling entire residential activities to the detailed performance modelling of new buildings. This work aims to better align sectoral policies (e.g., building regulations) with climate policies by leveraging a combination of environmental assessment methods, building stock modelling, prospective techniques, and particularly scenario analysis that are extensively described using the latest research findings. To achieve this, the work is divided in three main parts.

The first part establishes a robust methodology that captures the full spectrum of emissions from building activities. This methodology facilitates the projection of different carbon budgets for the various emission scopes identified, expanding beyond traditional sectoral carbon budgets that often limit their scope to direct operational emissions. This approach also identifies carbon budgets contingent on the decarbonisation of various upstream sectors, thus reflecting differing decarbonisation ambitions. Rather than creating new carbon budgets from scratch, this methodology enables to work with existing sectoral carbon budgets while expanding their scope and policy relevance.

The second part models explorative scenarios for residential activities. Leveraging a building stock database, the aim is to create a modelling framework that allows dynamic projection, facilitating the assessment of drivers and enabling the calculation of life-cycle Greenhouse Gases Emissions (GHGE) year by year and cumulatively by 2050. Within this framework, scenarios for the decarbonisation of upstream sectors influencing energy carriers and embodied benchmark values are integrated to assess their importance in achieving climate objectives. Ultimately, the goal is to evaluate how different decarbonisation strategies might or might not align with the previously determined carbon budgets.

Finally, the third part goes down to the building level, assessing how scenarios affecting upstream industrial and energy sectors influence the embodied performance of various building typologies. This final aspect focuses on new construction, leveraging a building Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) database along with prospective LCA tools that enable the integration of Integrated Assessment Models (IAMs) scenarios. Ultimately, the aim is to compare the future embodied performance of new building typologies modelled under this method with the previously proposed future benchmark values.

Key findings concerning accounting and carbon budgeting reveal that the French building stock emits 162 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq in 2019, with embodied GHGE accounting for 36% of this total. The majority of embodied GHGE originate from the industry and energy upstream sectors. Notably, 20% of emissions occur outside national borders. By 2040, embodied GHGE are projected to become the predominant scope of emissions, constituting the larger portion of the building activities' carbon budgets under the current decarbonisation policies. This indicates that existing climate policies are insufficient and overly narrow and should incorporate a broader spectrum of emissions, especially as building legislation increasingly mandates reductions for the life-cycle emissions of buildings.

For decarbonisation pathways concerning residential activities, findings highlight a significant gap in GHGE that can result from different strategies. For example, policies targeting fossil fuel prove most effective in reducing operational GHGE than those focusing only on energy performance label. In ambitious scenarios with high renovation rates, embodied GHGE become predominant by 2040. Achieving ambitious carbon budgets will require a combination of sufficiency (e.g. through lower square meter per *capita*) and deep decarbonisation of energy carriers and construction materials.

Prospective LCA modelling of new construction suggests a high decarbonisation potential from upstream sectors, with reductions of around 60% in the most ambitious scenarios, in terms of emissions per square meter at the building level. However, meeting ambitious targets by 2050 will necessitate the deployment of additional levers, such as demand-side mitigation. When extrapolated to the national level, these findings seem to indicate that current construction practices (e.g. market share between different building typologies) are insufficient to align with ambitious carbon budgets, pointing to the need for further promoting low-carbon materials solutions.

Overall, this research contributes to the broader discourse on carbon budgets for buildings, calculation of prospective whole-life carbon emissions at large scale, and scenario analysis tailored for building activities. It provides valuable insights, methodological advancements, and tools that can enhance the refinement of existing climate policies, building legislation, and prospective modelling practices.

**Keywords**: carbon budgets; whole-life carbon; embodied emissions; climate policies; decarbonisation pathways; life-cycle assessment; environmental benchmarks; stock dynamics; scenario analysis; prospective studies

## Résumé

En 2021, les activités du bâtiment sont responsables de 37% des émissions mondiales de  $CO_2$  liées à l'énergie et aux procédés industriels, soulignant ainsi l'importance cruciale de leur décarbonation pour atténuer le changement climatique. Situées à l'intersection de secteurs offrant de grandes opportunités de réduction et de secteurs difficiles à décarboner, une compréhension approfondie des émissions sur l'ensemble du cycle de vie des bâtiments à grande échelle ainsi qu'une analyse holistique de leurs potentiels de décarbonation est impérative. Bien que les politiques climatiques, telles que les budgets carbone sectoriels, fournissent un cadre nécessaire à l'action climatique, et tandis que de multiples scénarios explorent des voies de décarbonation potentielles à travers différents secteurs, le cadre de comptabilité des émissions utilisé dans ces travaux manque de flexibilité pour les activités à la croisée de différents secteurs et présentant une portée internationale. En effet, il ne permet pas de fournir une comptabilisation holistique des émissions relevant des activités du bâtiment, limitant ainsi l'utilité des approches en budgets carbone pour développer des stratégies de décarbonation et des modèles abordant une approche en cycle de vie.

L'objectif principal de cette thèse est de développer des budgets carbone qui prennent en compte l'ensemble des émissions sur le cycle de vie des bâtiments à l'échelle nationale, et de modéliser des scénarios exploratoires à l'horizon 2050 à différentes échelles, de la modélisation de toutes les activités résidentielles jusqu'à une modélisation détaillée de la performance carbone des bâtiments neufs. Ce travail vise à mieux aligner les politiques sectorielles liées au secteur du bâtiment (par exemple, la nouvelle réglementation environnementale, RE2020) avec les politiques climatiques en s'appuyant sur une combinaison de méthodes d'évaluation environnementale, de modélisation du parc résidentiel et de méthodes prospectives, en particulier via l'analyse de scénarios. Ces méthodes sont extensivement documentées dans le manuscrit en utilisant les dernières recherches disponibles. Pour répondre aux enjeux, le travail est divisé en trois parties principales.

La première partie établit une méthodologie robuste qui permet de comptabiliser le spectre complet des émissions liées aux activités du bâtiment. Cette méthodologie facilite la projection de différents budgets carbone pour les divers types d'émissions identifiés, allant au-delà des budgets carbone sectoriels qui limitent souvent leur portée aux émissions opérationnelles directes. Cette approche identifie également des budgets carbone dépendant de la décarbonation des multiples secteurs intervenant dans la chaîne de valeur des activités du bâtiment, reflétant ainsi des ambitions de décarbonation diverses. Plutôt que de créer de nouveaux budgets carbone de zéro, cette méthodologie permet de travailler avec des budgets carbone sectoriels existants tout en élargissant leur portée et leur pertinence.

La deuxième partie modélise des scénarios exploratoires pour les activités résidentielles à l'horizon 2050. En s'appuyant sur une base de données du parc résidentiel, l'objectif est de créer un cadre de modélisation qui permet une projection dynamique du parc et intègre le calcul des émissions de gaz à effet de serre (GES) sur le cycle de vie des bâtiments de manière annuelle et cumulative d'ici à 2050. Des scénarios de décarbonation des vecteurs énergétiques ainsi que des scénarios d'évaluation des

performances carbone des matériaux et équipements (émissions *embodied*) sont intégrés pour évaluer leur importance dans l'atteinte des objectifs climatiques dérivés des budgets carbone préalablement calculés. En fin de compte, l'objectif est d'évaluer comment différentes stratégies de décarbonation à l'échelle du parc résidentiel peuvent ou non s'aligner avec ces objectifs.

Enfin, la troisième partie descend d'un niveau en s'intéressant à la modélisation fine au niveau des bâtiments neufs. Le but est d'évaluer quantitativement l'influence de la décarbonation des secteurs industriels et énergétiques sur les émissions *embodied* de différentes typologies de bâtiment. Cette dernière se concentre sur les nouvelles constructions, en exploitant une base de données d'Analyse du Cycle de Vie (ACV) des bâtiments ainsi qu'une méthode d'ACV prospectif permettant l'intégration de scénarios issus des Modèles d'Évaluation Intégrée (*Integrated Assessment Models* ou IAMs). L'objectif final est de comparer les futures émissions *embodied* pour différentes typologies sous divers scénarios de décarbonation caractérisés par des niveaux d'ambitions différents, et de les comparer avec des valeurs de référence futures préalablement établies.

Les principaux résultats concernant la comptabilité et les budgets carbone révèlent que les activités du bâtiment en France ont émis 162 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq en 2019, les émissions *embodied* représentant 36% de ce total, provenant majoritairement des secteurs industriels et énergétiques en amont de la chaîne de valeur. Sur les 162 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq, 20% des émissions ont eu lieu hors des frontières nationales. Avec les politiques climatiques actuelles, les émissions *embodied* peuvent constituer le type d'émission majoritaire dès 2040. Cela renforce l'idée que les budgets carbone sectoriels existants devraient intégrer un spectre plus large d'émissions, alors même que les législations sectorielles imposent de plus en plus d'exigence de performance environnementale sur l'intégralité du cycle de vie des bâtiments.

Pour les stratégies de décarbonation du parc résidentiel, les résultats suggèrent un écart significatif en fonction des politiques de rénovation. Par exemple, les politiques ciblant l'élimination des combustibles fossiles s'avèrent plus efficaces pour réduire les émissions opérationnelles que celles axées uniquement sur l'étiquette de performance énergétique. Dans des scénarios ambitieux caractérisés par des taux de rénovation élevés, les émissions *embodied* deviennent prédominantes d'ici 2040. Atteindre des budgets carbone ambitieux nécessitera une combinaison de sobriété (par exemple, via une réduction du nombre de mètres carrés par habitant) et de décarbonation profonde des vecteurs énergétiques et des matériaux de construction.

La méthode d'ACV prospective appliquée sur plusieurs typologies de bâtiments neufs suggère un potentiel de décarbonation élevé résultant des transformations des secteurs en amont de la chaîne de valeur, avec des réductions de l'ordre de 60% à l'horizon 2050 dans les scénarios les plus ambitieux (i.e. en termes d'émissions par mètre carré). Atteindre des niveaux de réduction plus drastiques nécessite le déploiement de leviers supplémentaires, notamment du côté de la demande. Ces résultats semblent indiquer que les pratiques de construction actuelles (par exemple, les parts de marché entre différents principes constructifs) ne permettent pas de s'aligner avec des budgets carbone ambitieux. Cela souligne la nécessité de promouvoir davantage les solutions permettant de réduire l'impact carbone des matériaux et équipements. Dans l'ensemble, cette thèse contribue aux recherches menées sur l'application de budgets carbone, le calcul d'émissions en cycle de vie à large échelle et l'analyse de scénarios adaptés aux activités de bâtiment. Elle fournit des avancées méthodologiques, des outils et des résultats qui peuvent améliorer le raffinement des politiques climatiques et sectorielles existantes, ainsi que des pratiques de modélisation prospectives.

**Mots clés** : budgets carbone; politiques climatiques; trajectoires de décarbonation; analyse du cycle de vie; dynamique du parc résidentiel; analyse de scénarios; prospective

## Glossary

- Avoided emissions 'The positive impact on society when comparing the GHG impact of a solution to an alternative reference scenario where the solution would not be used' (Net Zero Initiative and WBCSD, 2023). An avoided emission does not necessarily reflect an absolute decrease in emissions.
- **Bottom-up and top-down** The dichotomy between top-down and bottom-up is often used in different contexts. In the context of modelling, top-down models start with an aggregated view of a system that can be subsequently broken down in sub-systems, while bottom-up models begin with a detailed representation of a system's components, eventually aggregating them to represent the whole-system (Langevin et al., 2020). In the context of environmental benchmarks, top-down benchmarks help to derive science-based targets from environmental goals such as the RCB, while bottom-up benchmarks are more interested in statistical analysis of current empirical datasets (ISO, 2020).
- **Building activities** The building activities (also called building 'field of action' (Trüger et al., 2022)) serves the needs of housing and shelter and contains multiple activities that are involved at different stages of a building life-cycle. To answer to these activities, several economic sectors are involved in the supply- chain. This definition recognises the cross-sectoral, international and life-cycle impacts of buildings, not only focusing on their direct impact from the use of fossil and biomass products.
- **Carbon capture and storage (CCS)** 'A process in which a relatively pure stream of carbon dioxide (CO2) from industrial and energy-related sources is separated (captured), conditioned, compressed and transported to a storage location for long-term isolation from the atmosphere' (van Diemen et al., 2022). When the CO2 is used in a product, the term Carbon Capture and Utilisation (CCU) is used. 'The climate effect of CCU depends on the product lifetime, the product it displaces, and the CO2 source' (van Diemen et al., 2022)
- **Carbon footprint** 'Measure of the exclusive total amount of emissions of carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) that is directly and indirectly caused by an activity or is accumulated over the lifecycle stages of a product' (Wiedmann and Minx, 2008)
- Climate neutrality '(1) Concept of a state in which human activities result in no net effect on the climate system. Achieving such a state would require balancing of residual emissions with emission (carbon dioxide) removal as well as accounting for regional or local bio geophysical effects of human activities that, for example, affect surface albedo or local climate. See also Net zero CO2 emissions. (2) Condition in which anthropogenic carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions associated with a subject are balanced by anthropogenic CO2 removals. The subject can be an entity such as a country, an organisation, a district or a commodity, or an activity such as a service and an

event. Carbon neutrality is often assessed over the lifecycle including indirect ('scope 3') emissions, but can also be limited to the emissions and removals, over a specified period, for which the subject has direct control, as determined by the relevant scheme. [Note 1: Carbon neutrality and net-zero CO2 emissions are overlapping concepts. The concepts can be applied at global or sub-global scales (e.g., regional, national and sub-national). At a global scale, the terms carbon neutrality and net-zero CO2 emissions are equivalent. At sub-global scales, net-zero CO2 emissions is generally applied to emissions and removals under direct control or territorial responsibility of the reporting entity, while carbon neutrality generally includes emissions and removals within and beyond the direct control or territorial responsibility of the reporting entity. Accounting rules specified by greenhouse gas (GHG) programmes or schemes can have a significant influence on the quantification of relevant CO2 emissions and removals' (van Diemen et al., 2022)

- **Consumption-based emissions** 'Emissions released to the atmosphere in order to generate the goods and services consumed by a certain entity (e.g., a person, firm, country, or region)' (van Diemen et al., 2022)
- Demand-side and supply-side 'Demand-side solutions for mitigation of climate change modify demand for goods and services by targeting choices/adoption of technology, consumption, behaviour, lifestyles, coupled production–consumption infrastructures and systems, service provision and associated socio-technical transition [...] Supply-side options involve changes in energy supply, production technologies and deployment of carbon dioxide-removal technologies that keep demand by end users invariant' (Creutzig et al., 2021)
- Direct and indirect emissions Direct emissions 'physically arise from activities within well-defined boundaries of, for instance, a region, an economic sector, a company, or a process.' // Indirect emissions are 'a consequence of the activities within well-defined boundaries of, for instance, a region, an economic sector, a company or process, but which occur outside the specified boundaries. For example, emissions are described as indirect if they relate to the use of heat but physically arise outside the boundaries of the heat user, or to electricity production but physically arise outside of the boundaries of the power supply sector' (van Diemen et al., 2022)
- **Downstream emissions** 'Indirect GHG emissions from sold goods and services. Downstream emissions also include emissions from products that are distributed but not sold (i.e., without receiving payment)' (GHG Protocol, 2011)
- Embodied emissions 'The total emissions [water use, land use] generated [used] in the production of goods and services regardless of the location and timing of those emissions [water use, land use] in the production process. This includes emissions [water use, land use] within the country used to produce goods or services for the country's own use, but also includes the emissions [water use, land use] related to the production of such goods or services in other countries that are then consumed in another country through imports. Such emissions [water, land] are termed 'embodied'

or 'embedded' emissions, or, in some cases, (particularly with water) as 'virtual water use' (Davis et al., 2011)

- **Global carbon budgets** 'An assessment of carbon cycle sources and sinks on a global level, through the synthesis of evidence for fossil fuel and cement emissions, land-use change emissions, ocean and land CO2 sinks, and the resulting atmospheric CO2 growth rate' (Matthews et al., 2021)
- **Global Warming Potential** 'An index measuring the radiative forcing following an emission of a unit mass of a given substance, accumulated over a chosen time horizon, relative to that of the reference substance, carbon dioxide (CO2). The GWP thus represents the combined effect of the differing times these substances remain in the atmosphere, and their effectiveness in causing radiative forcing' (van Diemen et al., 2022)
- **Negative emissions** 'Removal of greenhouse gases (GHGs) from the atmosphere by deliberate human activities, that is, in addition to the removal that would occur via natural carbon cycle or atmospheric chemistry processes' (Matthews et al., 2021). The term carbon dioxide removal (CDR) is also used.
- **Offsets** 'The reduction, avoidance or removal of a unit of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions by one entity, purchased by another entity to counterbalance a unit of GHG emissions by that other entity. Offsets are commonly subject to rules and environmental integrity criteria intended to ensure that offsets achieve their stated mitigation outcome. Relevant criteria include, but are not limited to, the avoidance of double counting and leakage, use of appropriate baselines, additionality, and permanence or measures to address impermanence' (van Diemen et al., 2022).
- Pathways 'The temporal evolution of natural and/or human systems towards a future state. Pathway concepts range from sets of quantitative and qualitative scenarios or narratives of potential futures to solution- oriented decision-making processes to achieve desirable societal goals. Pathway approaches typically focus on biophysical, techno-economic, and/or socio-behavioural trajectories and involve various dynamics, goals and actors across different scales' (van Diemen et al., 2022)
- **Production-based emissions** 'Emissions released to the atmosphere for the production of goods and services by a certain entity (e.g., a person, firm, country, or region)' (van Diemen et al., 2022)
- **Reference scenario** In the context of mitigation policies, it represents 'a reference case that represents the events or conditions most likely to occur in the absence of the policy or action (or package of policies or actions) being assessed' (GHG Protocol, 2016). In the context of avoided emissions it is used to describe 'a reference case that represents the events or conditions most likely to occur in the absence of the assessed solution' (Net Zero Initiative and WBCSD, 2023). The terms 'Counterfactual' and 'Baseline' scenarios are also used.
- **Remaining carbon budgets** 'The estimated cumulative amount of global carbon dioxide emissions that that is estimated to limit global surface temperature to a given level above a reference period,

taking into account global surface temperature contributions of other GHGs and climate forcers' (Matthews et al., 2021)

- Scenario 'A plausible description of how the future may develop based on a coherent and internally consistent set of assumptions about key driving forces (e.g., rate of technological change, prices) and relationships. Note that scenarios are neither predictions nor forecasts, but are used to provide a view of the implications of developments and actions' (van Diemen et al., 2022).
- Upstream emissions 'Indirect GHG emissions from purchased or acquired goods and services' (GHG Protocol, 2011)

## Acronyms

ADEME French Agency for Ecological Transition AESA Absolute Environmental Sustainability Assessment APS (IEA's) Announced-Pledges Scenario AR (IPCC's) Assessment Report **ARM** Association Rule Mining **BAU** Business-As-Usual **BBC** Bâtiment Basse Consommation **BDNB** Base de Données Nationale des Bâtiments **BSM** Building Stock Modelling BU Bottom-up **CBA** Consumption-Based Accounting CBDR-RC Common But Differentiated Responsibilities And Respective Capacities CCS Carbon Capture and Storage CFC Consumption of Fixed Capital **D-EF** Direct Emission Factor **DIM** Direct Impact Multipliers **EE-IOT** Environmentally Extended Input-Output Tables **EF** Emission Factor **EPC** Energy Performance Certificate **EPD** Environmental Product Declaration ESB Earth System Boundary GCB Global Carbon Budget

**GDP** Gross Domestic Product

GFCF Gross Fixed Capital Formation

GHGE Greenhouse Gases Emissions

GIS Geographic Information System

GMST Global Mean Surface Temperature

HC Hierarchical Clustering

IAM Integrated Assessment Model

**IEA** International Energy Agency

IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change

ISO International Organisation for Standardisation

LCA Life Cycle Analysis

LCI Life Cycle Inventory

LCIA Life Cycle Impact Assessment

LCSA Life Cycle Sustainability Assessment

LDA Linear Discriminant Analysis

MFA Material Flow Analysis

MIC Material Intensity Coefficients

MIP Model Intercomparison Project

MRIO Multi-Regional Input-Output

NDC Nationally Determined Contributions

NSA Non-State Actors

NZI Net Zero Initiative

NZS (IEA's) Net-Zero Scenario

**PB** Planetary Boundary

PBA Production-Based Accounting

**RCB** Remaining Carbon Budget

RCP Representative Concentration Pathway

RTE France's transmission system operator

SBT Science Based Target

SBTi Science Based Target Initiative

SDES French Statistical Data and Studies Department

SETAC Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry

SNBC Low-Carbon National Strategy

SSP Shared Socioeconomic Pathway

TD Top-down

TRCE~ Transient Climate Response to Cumulative  $\text{CO}_2$  emissions

TRL Technology Readiness Level

**UNEP** United Nations Environment Program

UNFCCC United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

WG (IPCC's) Working Group

WLC Whole-Life Carbon

## Nomenclature

ω	WLC emissions in MtCO <sub>2</sub> eq
θ	Operational GHGE in MtCO <sub>2</sub> eq
ε	Embodied GHGE in MtCO <sub>2</sub> eq
Α	Inter-industry coefficient matrix
Dw	Dwelling
dwt	Dwelling type
$E_f$	Final energy consumption in kWh
$e_f$	Final energy consumption in kWh/m <sup>2</sup>
$E_p$	Primary energy consumption in kWh
$e_p$	Primary energy consumption in kWh/m <sup>2</sup>
epc	energy performance certificate label
F	Total impact matrix
$f_{\theta}$	Operational emission factors in kgCO <sub>2</sub> eq/kWh
$f_{\varepsilon}$	Embodied emission factors in $kgCO_2eq/m^2$
Κ	square meter per capita
L	Leontief Inverse
Lt	Dwelling
n	energy carriers type
Р	Population
PEF	Primary Energy Factor
R	Renewal
S	Surface in m <sup>2</sup>
X	Total output

*Z* Inter-industry matrix

## Contents

Glossary				VII	
Ac	rony	ms		XI	
1	Intr	oduction			
	1.1	Conte	xt	2	
		1.1.1	The global environmental and climate crisis	2	
		1.1.2	From global to scalable carbon budgets and decarbonisation pathways	7	
		1.1.3	Overview of climate and building sectoral policies in France	10	
	1.2	Resear	rch gaps and motivation	14	
		1.2.1	Emissions accounting challenges for top-down carbon budgets	14	
		1.2.2	Combining top-down and bottom-up benchmarks	15	
		1.2.3	Mitigation pathways for the building activities	18	
		1.2.4	Life-cycle modelling of buildings at macro scale	18	
	1.3	Resear	rch objectives and organisation of the thesis	20	
		1.3.1	Research objectives	20	
		1.3.2	Organisation of the manuscript	22	
2	Stat	e of the	e art of environmental assessment and building stock modelling methods	24	
	2.1	Enviro	onmental assessment methods	26	
		2.1.1	Emissions accounting and net-zero framework	26	
		2.1.2	Prospective techniques and scenarios	33	
		2.1.3	Life-Cycle Assessment (LCA)	36	
		2.1.4	Input-Output Analysis (IOA)	47	
		2.1.5	Hybrid LCA-IOA	53	
	2.2	Life-cy	cle modelling of building stocks	59	
		2.2.1	Introduction	59	
		2.2.2	Methods for building stock characterisation and aggregation	60	
		2.2.3	Energy modelling	62	
		2.2.4	Material inventory of building stocks	64	
		2.2.5	Spatial and temporal dimensions	65	
	2.3	Summ	ary of methods and their applications to building stocks	66	
3	Stat	e of the	e art of climate change and decarbonisation scenarios	70	
	3.1	Introd	uction	71	
	3.2	Panora	ama of scenarios	71	
		3.2.1	Climate change scenarios	71	
		3.2.2	IEA scenarios	74	
		3.2.3	Building activities scenarios	76	
		3.2.4	French scenarios	79	

	3.3	Framiı	ng of decarbonisation solutions	86
	3.4	Summ	ary of scenarios assessed	86
4	Link	ting sta	te of the art to applied methods	88
	4.1	Conne	cting theory to applied methods developed in the doctoral thesis	89
5	Into	oratino	consumption-based metrics into sectoral carbon budgets to enhance sus-	
5	tain	ahility	monitoring of huilding activities	02
	5 1	Highli	abte	94
	5.1	Abetra	gnt5	0/
	5.2 5.3	Introd		0/
	5.5	5 2 1	CHCE accounting systems	05
		5.3.1	Buildings in the need activities sectors framework	9J 05
		5.5.4 E 2 2	The need for embedded CHCE budget	95
		5.3.3 E 2 4	Contribution of the nener	97
	F /	5.3.4		97
	5.4	Materi		98
		5.4.1	System boundary	98
		5.4.2		99
		5.4.3	Scenarios and WLC budgets	104
	5.5	Result	§	106
		5.5.1	GHGE accounting	106
		5.5.2	Scenarios and WLC budgets	110
	5.6	Discus	sions	112
	5.7	Conclu	1sion	115
6	Fror	n limit y	values to carbon budgets: assessing comprehensive decarbonisation strate-	
	gies			116
	6.1	Highli	ghts	118
	6.2	Abstra	ct	118
	6.3	Introd	uction	118
		6.3.1	Benchmark systems and studies	119
		6.3.2	Scenario analysis and framing of decarbonisation levers	120
		6.3.3	Climate and sectoral policies	121
		6.3.4	Contribution of the paper	122
	6.4	Literat	rure review	123
		6.4.1	A lack of benchmark values for renovation operations	123
		6.4.2	Existing scenario analysis and roadmaps	124
	6.5	Metho	d	125
		6.5.1	Dwelling stock database	126
		6.5.2	Dynamics of the dwelling stock	128
		6.5.3	Energy and operational GHGE calculations and energy carriers decarbonisation	130
		6.5.4	Embodied GHGE calculation and scenarios for future limit values	132

		6.5.5	Framing of solutions for each parameters	134
		6.5.6	Selected scenarios	135
		6.5.7	Comparing bottom-up pathways with top-down targets	135
	6.6	Result	S	137
		6.6.1	Results for selected scenarios	137
		6.6.2	Sensitivity analysis on upstream sectors decarbonisation pathways	140
		6.6.3	WLC emissions and comparison with top-down budgets	142
	6.7	Discus	sions	144
	6.8	Conclu	ısion	146
7	Asse	essing o	current and future embodied emissions of new buildings: a prospective	
	anal	ysis th	rough a building LCA database	148
	7.1	Highli	ghts	150
	7.2	Abstra	ct	150
	7.3	Introd	uction	151
		7.3.1	Context	151
		7.3.2	Life-cycle assessment of new construction	151
		7.3.3	Prospective LCA for buildings	153
		7.3.4	Contribution of the study	154
	7.4	Metho	d	154
		7.4.1	RE2020 building LCA database	155
		7.4.2	Method for building typologies identification	156
		7.4.3	Prospective pathways for upstream sectors	159
		7.4.4	Timing of embodied GHGE calculation	162
		7.4.5	Comparison with target values	163
	7.5	Result	S	164
		7.5.1	Current benchmarks	164
		7.5.2	Identification of building typologies	164
		7.5.3	LCA calculations	167
	7.6	Discus	sions	174
		7.6.1	Building stock characterisation	174
		7.6.2	Environmental data	174
		7.6.3	Beyond's upstream sectors decarbonisation	175
	7.7	Conclu	ısion	175
8	Disc	ussion	S	177
	8.1	Introd	uction	179
	8.2	Extend	ling the scope of emissions accounting	181
		8.2.1	Integration of land-use change emissions associated with buildings	181
		8.2.2	Carbon storage and sequestration associated with the building activities	181
	8.3	Budge	ts setting	182
	8.4	Buildi	ng stock dynamics	183

	8.5	Bottor	n-up building stock modelling	184
		8.5.1	Building stock characterisation	184
		8.5.2	Energy simulation	185
		8.5.3	Material inventory modelling	186
		8.5.4	Coupling and comparing optimisation and explorative approaches	186
	8.6	Impro	vement of prospective LCA methods for building stocks	187
		8.6.1	Lack of LCI data	187
		8.6.2	Towards consequential prospective approaches	188
	8.7	Impro	vement of bottom-up benchmarks	188
		8.7.1	Bottom-up benchmarks for renovation	188
		8.7.2	Beyond carbon benchmarks	189
	8.8	Decar	bonisation levers inter-dependencies	189
0	Con	clusion		101
,	0.1	Comment		100
	9.1	Summ	ary	192
	9.2	Contri	butions and implications	194
	9.3	Perspe	ective and outlooks	195
Li	st of I	Figures		198
Li	st of '	Tables		200

Appendices			200
9.4	Appendix A: Supplementary information to Chapter 5		202
	9.4.1	Supporting data	202
	9.4.2	SECTEN format	202
	9.4.3	Emission factor of electricity	202
	9.4.4	Concordance matrices	202
	9.4.5	Cement and concrete value chain decarbonisation lever	203
9.5	Appen	dix B: Supplementary information to Chapter 6	204
	9.5.1	Supporting data	204
	9.5.2	Stock in 2020 from the BDNB	204
	9.5.3	Limit values in France	207
	9.5.4	Statistical analysis of the RE2020 database	207
	9.5.5	Embodied GHGE of renovation	208
	9.5.6	Renovation scenarios	209
	9.5.7	Stock-level activities	209
9.6	Appen	dix C: Supplementary information to Chapter 7	210
	9.6.1	Supporting data	210
	9.6.2	RE2020	210
	9.6.3	Energy carriers, heating and hot water systems	211

Academic CV

**240** 

# 1

## Introduction

#### Contents

1.1	Context		
	1.1.1	The global environmental and climate crisis	2
	1.1.2	From global to scalable carbon budgets and decarbonisation pathways $\ldots$	7
	1.1.3	Overview of climate and building sectoral policies in France	10
1.2	Resear	rch gaps and motivation	14
	1.2.1	Emissions accounting challenges for top-down carbon budgets	14
	1.2.2	Combining top-down and bottom-up benchmarks	15
	1.2.3	Mitigation pathways for the building activities	18
	1.2.4	Life-cycle modelling of buildings at macro scale	18
1.3	Resear	rch objectives and organisation of the thesis	20
	1.3.1	Research objectives	20
	1.3.2	Organisation of the manuscript	22

This chapter lays the foundation for this doctoral dissertation, providing essential context and outlining the research's scope and methodology. The first section – Context 1.1 – provides a comprehensive overview of the current environmental and climate crisis, emphasising the criticality of carbon budgets cascading. Special attention is given to the impact and significance of the building activities, highlighting their role in the current crisis. This section also introduces the framework of French climate and sectoral policies, setting the stage for a deeper exploration of how these policies intersect with and influence the building activities . The second section – Research objectives and thesis organization 1.3.1 –presents a clear vision of the intended contributions and outcomes, setting a defined path for the research. This section also elaborates on how the thesis is organised, detailing how each part and chapter aligns with and supports the achievement of these objectives

#### 1.1 Context

#### 1.1.1 The global environmental and climate crisis

#### The Anthropocene and the Planetary boundaries

The Anthropocene concept, popularised by Nobel laureate Paul J. Crutzen in 2000, marks a new epoch in Earth's history. It reflects the significant impact of human activities as a dominant force shaping the planet's natural systems, affecting climate, geology, and biodiversity. The start of the Anthropocene is debated, but it is often linked to the first Industrial Revolution, which saw widespread use of fossil fuels. The period after World War II, known as the Great Acceleration (Steffen et al., 2015), witnessed exponential growth in various socio-economic and Earth system indicators, as illustrated in Figure 1.1.



Figure 1.1: The Great Acceleration (Steffen et al., 2015)

The 12 socio-economic indicators, selected for their representation of key aspects of modern society, include demographic (population, urban population), economic (real gross domestic product (GDP), foreign direct investment), and consumption metrics (water use, primary energy use, fertilizer consumption). In parallel, the 12 Earth System indicators track significant changes in the structure and functioning of Earth's system (Steffen et al., 2015). Both socio-economic and Earth System trends display exponential growth patterns, underscoring the escalating human impact on the planet.

Central to understanding the challenges posed by the Anthropocene is the framework of Planetary Boundaries (PBs) (Rockström et al., 2009). This framework identifies critical thresholds within Earth's complex systems, encompassing factors such as climate change, biodiversity loss, ocean acidification, and nutrient cycles. Crossing these boundaries can lead to abrupt and irreversible environmental changes with potentially catastrophic consequences for humanity and the planet. Updated



research shows that six of the nine planetary boundaries are already transgressed as illustrated in Figure 1.2.

Figure 1.2: 2023 Updated status on the nine planetary boundaries (Richardson et al., 2023)

The green zone in this framework represents a 'safe operating space' characterised by stable and sustainable environmental conditions. However, once these boundaries are crossed, it leads to zones of escalating risk, culminating in high-risk areas. Among the nine identified PBs, only ocean acidification, atmospheric aerosol loading, and stratospheric ozone depletion remain within safe limits as of 2023.

This thesis delves deeply into one of the most urgent aspects of the Anthropocene: climate change. As a pivotal manifestation of human impact in this new epoch, climate change is a crucial focal point for understanding the complex nature of human-induced environmental changes and underscores the imperative need for effective mitigation and adaptation strategies.

#### The climate crisis

Among the Planetary boundaries and broader environmental concerns, climate change has emerged as a critically important issue in recent decades. The first Assessment Report (AR) of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), published in 1990, brought attention to the rising risk of global temperature increase due to escalating greenhouse gas emissions (GHGE). Subsequent reports have unequivocally confirmed human influence on global warming, with significant impacts already observed in the atmosphere, oceans, and on land (Masson Delmotte et al., 2021).

In 2019, global net GHGE reached a historic peak of 59 ( $\pm$  6.6) GtCO<sub>2</sub>eq. Breakdown of the emissions include CO<sub>2</sub> emissions at 45 ( $\pm$  5.5) GtCO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> emissions at 11 ( $\pm$  3.2) GtCO2-eq, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions at 2.7 ( $\pm$  1.6) GtCO2-eq and fluorinated gases (F-Gases that comprise substances such as HFCs, PFCs, SF<sub>6</sub> and NF<sub>3</sub>) contributing 1.4 ( $\pm$  0.41) GtCO2-eq (Dhakal et al., 2022). When focusing on CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, global emissions are projected to reach 40.9 ( $\pm$  3.2) GtCO<sub>2</sub> in 2023, marking a

47% increase since 1990. The primary source of these emissions is the combustion of fossil fuels contributing for 37.1 ( $\pm$  2) Gt CO<sub>2</sub>. Estimated land-use change emissions between 2013 and 2022 are 4.7 ( $\pm$  2.6) Gt CO<sub>2</sub>, although significant uncertainties persist in these estimates. Consequently, the atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> concentration is expected to average 419.3 parts per million (ppm) in 2023 (Friedlingstein et al., 2023), well above the Planetary Boundary threshold of 350 ppm CO<sub>2</sub> and 1.0 Wm<sup>-2</sup>, and alarmingly close to the upper zone of increasing risk at 450ppm CO<sub>2</sub> and 1.5 Wm<sup>-2</sup> (Richardson et al., 2023). These figures indicate that we are already in a zone of increasing risk and approaching the high-risk zone if current emission trends continue.

 $CO_2$  removal from the atmosphere is facilitated by both anthropogenic and non-anthropogenic sinks. Anthropogenic sinks include human-made methods like afforestation and carbon capture. Meanwhile, the oceans and terrestrial biosphere, as primary non-anthropogenic sinks, absorb nearly half of the annual global  $CO_2$  emissions and have played a crucial role in reducing the rate of increase in atmospheric  $CO_2$  concentrations. However, there is growing concern that these sinks are showing signs of weakening due to the continual increase in atmospheric  $CO_2$  levels and the cumulative impacts of climate change (Friedlingstein et al., 2023). This weakening of natural sinks points towards a broader, critical concept in climate science known as 'tipping points.' Tipping points are specific thresholds in the Earth's climate system, beyond which significant and potentially irreversible environmental changes are triggered.

#### The Paris Agreement and the Remaining Carbon Budgets (RCB)

In 1992, the Rio Conference led to the formation of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), followed by annual Conference of the Parties (COP) meetings starting in 1995. A critical milestone was the 2015 Paris Agreement at COP21, which established long-term temperature goals in Article 2.1 to limit global warming to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels and pursue efforts to limit it to 1.5°C. Furthermore, Article 4.1 emphasises the urgency of peaking GHGE as soon as possible and transitioning towards net-zero emissions defined as 'a balance between anthropogenic emissions by sources and removals by sinks of greenhouse gases' (United Nations, 2015).

Central to understanding the Paris Agreement's objectives is the comprehension of the near-linear relationship between cumulative  $CO_2$  emissions and global temperature rise. This relationship is quantified by the Transient Climate Response to Cumulative Carbon Emissions (TCRE), defined as the variation in average global temperature resulting from a specified amount of cumulative  $CO_2$  (Matthews et al., 2021). In the AR6, it is estimated that each 1000 GtCO<sub>2</sub>eq of cumulative  $CO_2$  emissions is likely to lead to a 0.45°C increase in global surface temperature as a central estimate, with a probable range of 0.27°C to 0.63°C (Canadell et al., 2021). Therefore, the TCRE elucidates that is necessary to achieve a state of net-zero emissions to limit the global temperature increase in line with the Paris Agreement. Furthermore, it facilitates the quantification of the permissible amount of cumulative  $CO_2$  emissions to remain within a specified temperature threshold. The TCRE thus serves as a pivotal metric, providing a measurable connection between emissions and temperature increase, which in turn enables the determination of the Remaining Carbon Budget (RCB). Defined by the IPCC as 'the maximum amount of cumulative net global anthropogenic  $CO_2$  emissions that would

result in limiting global warming to a given level with a given probability, taking into account the effect of other anthropogenic climate forcers' (IPCC, 2022), the RCB is pivotal for assessing the Paris Agreement pledges. Specifically, it relates to the well-below 2°C target, with the term 'remaining' referencing a specified recent date.

The 2023 figures from the Global Carbon Project, shown in Figure 1.3, present the latest RCBs for three warming thresholds along with three pathways illustrating the steep emission reduction pathways required.







(b) Global emission reduction pathways using different remaining carbon budgets temperature outcomes

Figure 1.3: Perspectives on the remaining carbon budgets

Figure 1.3a presents the RCBs average figures from two estimates, namely Forster et al. (2021) and Forster et al. (2023) with a 50% likelihood. The RCBs to limit global warming to  $1.5^{\circ}$ C ,  $1.7^{\circ}$ C and 2°C stands at 275 GtCO<sub>2</sub>, 625 GtCO<sub>2</sub>, and 1150 GtCO<sub>2</sub> respectively, against a backdrop of 2590 GtCO<sub>2</sub> already emitted since 1850. This equates to approximately 7, 15, and 28 years of emissions at the current rate. Figure 1.3b visually demonstrates the emission reduction trajectories needed for each target.

The value of the remaining carbon budget is expressed in probabilistic terms due to several uncertainties. They include historical and recent emission levels, the contribution of non- $CO_2$  emissions, climate feedback mechanisms (such as permafrost thawing), the role of aerosols, the current and future value of the TRCE, the potential warming post net-zero  $CO_2$  emissions and unrepresented Earth system feedbacks (Matthews et al., 2020). These uncertainties lead to variations in budget estimations and underscore the complexity of predicting future climate scenarios (Rogelj et al., 2019). The concept of the RCB offers a simplified yet powerful means to understand and communicate complex physical climate mechanisms. It serves as an evocative indicator that aids in communicating the urgency and scale of climate action. However, recognising its limitations and the nuances in its calculation is crucial, especially when employing it as a pivotal indicator in climate policy decision-making. For accurate and reliable application, scientific studies estimating the remaining carbon budget should meticulously document their assumptions and methodologies (Matthews et al., 2020).

#### The pivotal role of the building activities

The Intergovernmental Panel On Climate Change (IPCC) estimates global GHGE from buildings at 12GtCO<sub>2</sub>eq in 2019, comprising primarily of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions (95%), with halocarbons contributing 3% and a combined 0.08% from  $CH_4$  and  $N_20$  (Cabeza et al., 2022). When focusing only on energy and process-related CO<sub>2</sub> emissions<sup>1</sup>, the building and construction sector accounts for 37% of worldwide energy and process-related CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and 34% of global final energy demand in 2021 (UNEP, 2022). As depicted in Figure 1.4, emissions for buildings are characterised in two main sources, namely operational and embodied emissions. On one hand, operational emissions



(a) Share of building and construction global energy and process-related CO<sub>2</sub> emissions



(b) Embodied, operational and life-cycle emissions of buildings

Figure 1.4: Global building and construction life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions (UNEP, 2023)

arise from energy consumption during the use-stage of buildings. These are further divided into direct operational emissions (on-site fossil fuel and biomass combustion, and F-gases emissions from systems like heating and cooling) and indirect operational emissions (off-site production of electricity and heat used in buildings). Embodied emissions, on the other hand, encompass the life-cycle

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Chapter 2.1.1 further explains the difficulties associated with having detailed data at global level that encompasses all GHGE

emissions of construction materials and goods used in building construction, maintenance, and endof-life (Cabeza et al., 2022). According to UNEP (2022), when only focusing on energy and processrelated CO<sub>2</sub>, operational emissions comprise a significant 28% of global energy and process-related CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, with residential buildings leading at 17%, followed by non-residential buildings at 11%. Embodied emissions represent 9% of global energy and process-related CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, without any breakdown by building types.

The building and construction sector's decarbonisation is crucial for achieving the Paris Agreement goals, yet it is currently off track for the necessary reductions by 2050 (UNEP, 2022). Indeed, material production emissions for infrastructure development alone could consume up to 60% of the remaining carbon budget by 2050 for a 2°C target (Müller et al., 2013). While operational emissions have been the primary focus in research and policy, life-cycle assessment (LCA) studies reveal that embodied emissions are increasing in absolute and relative terms, particularly in new energy-efficient buildings (Röck et al., 2020). With significant new construction expected in the Global South and the need for extensive renovations in the Global North, embodied emissions are projected to increase, potentially constituting up to 50% of life-cycle emissions by 2050 (UNEP, 2023).

#### 1.1.2 From global to scalable carbon budgets and decarbonisation pathways

#### Allocation principles

While the Planetary Boundaries (PBs) such as the Remaining Carbon Budget (RCB) in the climate context serve as vital global compass, translating them into actionable tools require additional methodologies. The cascading exercise of downscaling to sub-levels necessitates the allocation of effort (or burden) among diverse entities, guided by allocation principles. This process aims to connect the Planetary Boundaries to actors at various scales, influencing target setting, policy formulation, implementation and benchmarking. This sequential approach ensures that actors can use scientific metrics to inform, assess, and compare their impacts, ultimately aligning them with the PBs (Bai et al., 2024).

Beyond its scientific dimensions, the distribution of the Planetary Boundaries (such as the Remaining Carbon Budget for climate change) among sub-entities is inherently political and tied to climate justice considerations. The IPCC notes that it '*depends strongly on considerations of equity and other value judgments*' (Matthews et al., 2021). Effort-sharing and allocation principles reflect underlying principles of distributive justice, such as egalitarianism, prioritarianism, utilitarianism, or sufficientarianism (Hjalsted et al., 2021). The scientific literature is dense and introduces diverse terminologies. Höhne et al. (2014) present seven categories based on three effort-sharing approaches (e.g. responsibility, equality, capability) and a cost-effectiveness approach based on lower marginal cost of abatement. The seven categories represent direct implementations of the effort-sharing approaches or combination of them, for instance the 'equal cumulative per *capita* emission' mixes equality and responsibility, the 'responsibility, capability and need' mixes responsibility and capability, and the 'staged approaches' mixes the three effort-sharing principles. van den Berg et al. (2020) add grandfathering as a fourth effort-sharing approach and present six different approaches: 'per *capita* con-

Effort-sharing approach	Description of the sharing process	Sensitive to / Metrics
Grandfathering (or legacy)	In proportion to current impact or footprint (status quo)	Consumption or production footprint
(Historic) Responsibility	Accounting for cumulative historical impacts over time	Start date considered
Equality	In proportion to population size	Convergence year considered
(Economic) Capability	Accounting for the ability to take (financial) actions, e.g., relative to the CBDR-RC principle	Wealth (GDP), effective governance
Sovereignty	In proportion to the current stocks and flows of natural capital in the entity's boundary	Resources in the national territory (renewable and non-renewable resource stocks, lands, etc)
Economic contribution/value- added (or final consumption expenditure)	In proportion to the current contribution (such as GDP)	GDP, gross value added, company/sector production volume or revenue
Social contribution	In proportion to the current contribution (such as employment)	Number of employees, salaries or taxes contribution
Resource efficiency	Accounting for resource efficiency and its comparison from global average	Resource consumption per relative unit (product, service)
Basic needs	Accounting a largest part to human basic needs (such as food)	Resources necessary to grow food, calorific content
Green incentive	Accounting a largest part to virtuous entities (such as those with low emission intensity)	Emission intensity, share of renewable energy, philantropy programmes
Development rights	Taking into account the socioeconomic context (in particular concerning poverty rate)	Poverty rate, HDI

Table 1.1:	Effort-sharing	approaches i	n Bai	et al.	(2024)
------------	----------------	--------------	-------	--------	--------

vergence', 'equal cumulative per *capita* emissions', 'ability to pay', 'greenhouse development rights', 'grandfathering', and 'cost-optimal' allocation.

Table 1.1 provides a summary of effort-sharing approaches from Bai et al. (2024), along with the metrics used and the resulting sensitivity that it can bring to the results.

Equality and legacy are the most used principles in the review, while basic needs and economic contribution are also prominent. Climate change is the most studied PB, followed closely by nitrogen and/or phosphorus cycles, while land-system change and freshwater use are also quite studied.

In practice, effort-sharing principles are rarely addressed in isolation, as practitioners combine them at different levels. Bai et al. (2024) categories four ways sharing approaches are applied: (a) a

single one to a single scale, (b) a single one to multiple scales, (c) multiple ones to a single scale and (d) multiple ones to multiple scales. When combined, the value of weighting factors and value judgments between different effort-sharing approaches can significantly influence the results. As shown in Table 1.1, other factors inherent to the definition of effort sharing approaches (such as the convergence year for 'Equality' or the historical start year for 'Responsibility') are also critical factors (van den Berg et al., 2020). Practical implementation of allocation principles demands granular data, with higher-level downscaling requiring less normative decision-making and data collection effort (Horup et al., 2022).

#### National carbon budgets

In the comprehensive literature review conducted by Bai et al. (2024), five levels of translation for Planetary Boundaries are differentiated: country/supranational, city/municipality, sector/industry, company and product. Another level could be the individual level which have been studied for example in Chakravarty et al. (2009) and Pottier et al. (2021). The most extensively studied level of downscaling is the national level, aligning with the principle of 'common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capacities' (CBDR-RC) articulated in Article 3 of the 1992 Rio Convention (UNFCCC, 1992). This principle asserts that developed countries, owing to their historical emissions, bear a greater responsibility for mitigation and should act as leaders in the fight against climate change. The national level is also the level in which GHG inventories are conducted, following the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) guidelines, and where Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) are established for 2030 as stipulated by Article 4.2 of the Paris Agreement, alongside net-zero targets by 2050.

While historical studies primarily applied effort-sharing principles to global emission pathways, recent research extends these principles to the Remaining Carbon Budget (Raupach et al., 2014). This top-down downscaling approach has the potential to complement the bottom-up approach of NDCs. Indeed, states often adopt allocation principles aligning with their interests (Robiou du Pont and Meinshausen, 2018) (Rogelj et al., 2021), where the grand-fathering approach corresponds to the NDCs of so-called developed countries. Notably, all sharing approaches, except the grandfathering principle, yield smaller Remaining Carbon Budgets for developed countries compared to a costeffectiveness-based approach, raising concerns about fairness and equity with the latter. Simultaneously, the implementation of certain effort-sharing approaches may face challenges, such as the potential for large negative Remaining Carbon Budgets, rendering domestic reductions unattainable (van den Berg et al., 2020).

Comparing top-down allocation and NDCs contributes to understanding and quantifying the emission gap, stimulating discussions on necessary efforts allocation. To align with climate ambitions, more ambitious NDCs are imperative, and a complementary top-down approach can ensure coherence. Tools like the Climate Action Tracker <sup>2</sup> prove relevant for monitoring states' actions. Moreover, concerns have been raised regarding the credibility of net-zero targets. Rogelj et al. (2023) introduces a credibility rating based on confidence in reaching stated targets, considering factors like

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://climateactiontracker.org/

the legally binding nature of targets, the creation of a credible policy plan guiding implementation, and whether a country's near-term policies already set emissions on a downward path over the next decade.

#### Non-State Actors carbon budgets

The Paris Agreement emphasises the collaborative involvement of both parties (countries) and nonparty stakeholders. This group of non-party stakeholders, also known as Non-State Actors (NSAs), encompasses civil society, the private sector, financial institutions, cities, and other sub-national authorities. NSAs are encouraged to not only accelerate climate efforts but also to report on their progress, playing a pivotal role in enhancing and complementing national initiatives (United Nations, 2015). Over the years, the role of NSAs has gained unprecedented significance. In 2023, more than 13,000 members have joined the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change's Race to Zero campaign, including over 7,000 SMEs, 3,000 large companies and 1,000 cities (Race to Zero, 2023).

For example, sub-national entities such as regions or cities often have objectives that complement those of national governments. They exercise legislative power over various environmental issues, including land-use and urban policy (Dubash et al., 2022). Networks such as the C40 city networks are vital in this context, providing resources and a platform for cities to share best practices (C40, 2022a) and enhance their contributions to Nationally Determined Contributions (C40, 2022b). Additionally, the private sector's role in climate action is increasingly recognised. Companies face pressures from a range of stakeholders, from consumers to investors. However, the actual impact of their actions on climate mitigation is a subject of ongoing investigation, which is further discussed in the Method section 2.1.1. Initiatives such as the Science-Based Target Initiative (SBTi), established in 2015, are crucial for guiding industry-wide decarbonisation efforts in line with Planetary Boundaries. The SBTi plays a key role in ensuring that corporate climate targets are in alignment with the goals of the Paris Agreement, acting as a certifier for these targets.

#### 1.1.3 Overview of climate and building sectoral policies in France

The French Strategy for Energy-Climate (*'Stratégie française énergie-climat'*, SFEC) is the key policy package in the Government's ecological planning, both serving mitigation and adaptation purposes. It comprises four main elements namely the First Energy and Climate Programming Law (LPEC), the Third Edition of the National Low-Carbon Strategy (SNBC3), the Third Edition of the National Plan for Climate Change Adaptation (PNACC3) and the Third Edition of the Multi-annual Energy Programming (PPE3). Together, they define a coherent a comprehensive approach to define the trajectory and policy priorities for energy, climate mitigation and adaptation actions. This section makes a focus on the SNBC, detailing its key components and limits.

#### Low-Carbon National Strategy (SNBC) and its limits

The National Low Carbon Strategy (*'Stratégie Nationale Bas Carbone' (SNBC)*) is the national translation of the Paris Agreement (Ministère de la Transition Écologique et Solidaire, 2020a). Serving as the guiding framework for decarbonisation, the SNBC outlines a comprehensive plan to reduce GHGE across the entire economy, including a 40% reduction by 2030 (compared to 1990) and a net-zero emissions objective by 2050. To this end, the SNBC outlines specific orientations and concrete measures to be implemented in public and sectoral policies. A crucial aspect of the SNBC is the establishment of carbon budgets per macroeconomic sectors. These are caps on GHGE that should not be exceeded at the national level over five-year periods.

The SNBC is developed based on a scenario process exercise common to the PPE. This scenario relies on additional public policy measures (referred to as the 'With Additional Measures' or AMS scenario) beyond those currently in place (the 'Existing Measures' or AME scenario). These additional measures are designed to ensure that France meets its climate and energy objectives in the short, medium, and long term without relying on carbon credit offsetting nor significant demographic or macro-economic big assumptions.

The SNBC was first established in 2015 under the Law for Energetic Transition and Green Growth's Article 173 (Ministère de la Transition Écologique et Solidaire, 2015b) and adopted by a first decree (Ministère de la Transition Écologique et Solidaire, 2015a). Currently in its second version (SNBC-2), revised and published in March 2020 and adopted by decree in Avril 2020 (Ministère de la Transition Écologique et Solidaire, 2020b), the SNBC anticipates its third edition (SNBC-3) in 2024 with subsequent updates every five years.

Figure 1.5 illustrates the quantified SNBC-2 carbon budgets, differentiating between emissions (in blue) and absorption by carbon sinks (in green). The carbon budgets are set for a period of five years



Figure 1.5: The French National Low-Carbon National Strategy (SNBC) pathway, defined by carbon budgets and the 2050 carbon neutrality objective

until 2033. By 2050, residual emissions are expected to be  $80MtCO_2eq$ , balanced by carbon absorption, thus achieving net-zero emissions. The carbon budgets are further divided by macroeconomic

sectors defined in the French SECTEN inventory format (CITEPA, 2023). This format is tailored to climate policies and derived from the national inventory report that is sent to the UNFCCC (detailed information will be given in Section 2.1.1). It encompass the energy, transport, residential-tertiary buildings, industry, waste, agriculture as well as land-use and land-use changes sectors. For each of them, sectoral carbon budgets are defined depending on the identified decarbonisation opportunities and their availability through time. As an example, residential-tertiary buildings and energy sectors have very ambitious objectives, respectively a -49% and -33% objective in 2030 compared to 2015 levels and are expected to reach almost complete decarbonisation by 2050. In contrast, the industry sector has a -35% objective in 2030 compared to 2015 levels and a -81% objective by 2050, reflecting the fact that certain industrial GHGE are hard to abate (Davis et al., 2018). The agriculture sector has a -18% objective in 2030 compared to 2015 and a -46% objective by 2050, when GHGE should reach 48MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq (e.g. 60% of the remaining GHGE), mainly because of methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) emissions.

The pillars of the SNBC are the complete decarbonisation of energy production by 2050 (relying mainly of low-carbon electricity), a reduction of energy consumption through enhanced energy-efficiency, circular principles and shifts in consumption patterns, as well as the enhancement of natural and technological carbon sinks to offset remaining agricultural and industrial GHGE. Additionally, the SNBC aims to reduce the French population's overall carbon footprint, particularly focusing on the carbon content of imported products. This goal is approached without detailed quantified targets by sectors, differentiating it from territorial GHGE objectives. A dashboard tool <sup>3</sup> provides comprehensive tracking of the SNBC's implementation across various indicators.

The High Council on Climate (HCC) is an independent body that provides recommendations and insights on national climate policies. In its 2023 report (Haut Conseil pour le Climat, 2023), the HCC underscores the need for enhanced efforts and more effective policies across various sectors to meet France's ambitious emission reduction and carbon neutrality goals. They underline the need to put structural and long-term policies in place. The indicative gross carbon budgets for 2019-2022 set by the SNBC-2 are likely to be respected even if certain sectors like industry or energy have exceeded their sectoral carbon budgets. Nevertheless, the anticipated carbon storage is significantly lower than anticipated by the SNBC-2, due to higher than expected tree mortality and lower forest productivity. Thus, net emissions goals are likely to be exceeded. Notably, the current emission reduction rate need to double to align with the European Union's 'Fit for 55' legislative package 2030 objective of -55% GHGE reduction compared to 1990. Currently, the 'residential-tertiary' sector is the only sector that would respect these target, mostly because of cyclical factors (warm winter and the Ukraine-Russia conflict driving energy prices). Yet, the rate of energy consumption reduction in buildings is too slow, and the increase in renewable electrical energy production is three times slower than required. Current policies are not effectively promoting a sufficient number of comprehensive and efficient renovations. Although improvements were made in 2023 to facilitate global renovations, funding and market organization for such renovations remain insufficient. The sector faces challenges in skill availability and qualifications needed for comprehensive renovations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://indicateurs-snbc.developpement-durable.gouv.fr/

The SNBC has also faced criticism for its optimistic assumptions concerning carbon sinks (Grimault et al., 2022). Notably, technical and market feasibility concerns are raised regarding the projected increase in long-duration wood products usage. The strategy's dependency on successfully shifting wood use, coupled with increased harvest, poses risks to the forest and wood carbon sink. The study also points out that policies and investment changes are crucial to achieve goals in areas like soil carbon storage and land-use change prevention.

Lastly, in terms of effort-sharing approaches (detailed in Section 1.1.2), the SNBC does not explicitly specify the methodology employed for deriving national carbon budgets, though it mentions the principle of Common But Differentiated Responsibilities and Respective Capabilities (CBDR-RC). More details could be thus be added, as France was responsible for approximately 2.38% of the cumulative CO2 emissions since the Industrial Revolution as of 2017 (Haut conseil pour le climat, 2021), placing it among historically emitting countries that are expected to demonstrate leadership in climate action.

#### **Building sectoral policies in France**

In 2022, France transitioned from the thermal-focused 'RT2012' to the 'RE2020', a more holistic environmental regulation for new construction. The RE2020<sup>4</sup> expands beyond energy consumption to include GHGE metrics across a building's life-cycle, from material production to end-of-life. This regulation builds upon the 'E+C-' experiment and integrates Life-Cycle Assessment (LCA) into construction standards, making it a pioneering move in sustainable building practices (CEREMA, 2024).

The RE2020 aims to enhance energy efficiency, decarbonise energy sources, reduce carbon footprints, and ensure thermal comfort in high temperatures. Initially targeting residential buildings, the regulation will gradually include offices, educational buildings, and specific tertiary buildings like hotels and commercial spaces. For assessing the climate impact of new buildings, the RE2020 introduces a holistic approach encompassing four key areas (called 'contributors') namely 'components', 'energy', water', and 'construction site'. In this framework, each construction product, equipment, and service (including energy and water) is evaluated based on environmental product declarations (EPDs) across 36 environmental criteria. The RE2020 focuses primarily on regulating the GHGE, with the climate impact expressed per regulatory surface area in kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/m<sup>2</sup>. Two key indicators, the 'energy' and the 'components and construction site' indicators, are regulated with degressively diminishing values set for 2025, 2028 and 2031, respectively. For energy, thresholds for primary and non-renewable primary energy consumption are established and converted into GHGE metrics, while construction products are directly regulated in GHGE terms.

In parallel, other policies focus on renovation, aligned with the SNBC's objective of upgrading the building stock to low-energy consumption levels (*'Bâtiment Basse Consommation'*) by 2050, with an annual target of 500,000 efficient renovations (specifically 370,000 for the 2015-2030 period and 700,000 for the 2030-2050 period). Article 155 of the 2021 Climate and Resilience law defines 'efficient' and 'global' energy renovations, focusing on improvements in energy classes (e.g. A-B energy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>https://rt-re-batiment.developpement-durable.gouv.fr/textes-de-la-re2020-en-version-consolidee-a617.html

performance post-renovation, with exceptions) and addressing six key areas: insulation (wall, floor and roof), joinery, ventilation, heating and hot water systems. 'Global' renovations are those completed within specified time frames (e.g. 18 months for single-dwellings and 24 months for multiple dwellings), addressing all six areas comprehensively (Ministère de la Transition Écologique et Solidaire, 2021). The legislation introduces a new Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) framework that now amalgamates both an energy efficiency rating and a climate impact label, providing a more holistic assessment of a building's environmental footprint (MTES, 2021)

Several key measures exist for improving the building stock. They include the phased rental ban on energy-inefficient housing and on new oil boilers (Ministère de la Transition Écologique et Solidaire, 2022). In terms of investments, initiatives like the 4 billion euro public buildings renovation plan and 'MaPrimeRénov' for private owners support these renovation efforts. The National Observatory for Energy Renovation (*'Observatoire National de la Rénovation Energétique'*, ONRE) plays a role in enhancing the understanding of energy renovation dynamics within the residential and tertiary building sectors facilitating the tracking of energy renovation initiatives. Detailed data and insights regarding the status and effectiveness of these renovation efforts are accessible through a monitoring dashboard <sup>5</sup>, which offers comprehensive statistics and trends in energy renovation.

#### 1.2 Research gaps and motivation

#### 1.2.1 Emissions accounting challenges for top-down carbon budgets

The adoption of sector-specific carbon budgets provides a structured framework for effectively attributing efforts across diverse sectors. This sectoral approach benefits from established nomenclatures, which are often used in emission pathways and scenarios. However, the selection of the appropriate sectoral classifications is a critical choice. Common examples include those used in the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) GHG inventory reporting (e.g. energy, industrial processes and product use, agriculture, forestry and other land use, and waste), as well as international standards like the International Standard Industrial Classification (ISIC) or the Statistical Classification of Economic Activities in the European Community (NACE).

As outlined in Section 1.1.1, the substantial impact of the Building activities calls for a dedicated budget. However, sectoral classifications often overlook cross-cutting activities that span multiple sectors. The complexity arises from the overlapping nature of the building activities, which include construction, maintenance, operation, and end-of-life considerations, with the UNFCCC sectors. Global supply chains further complicate matters, with construction materials contributing to embodied greenhouse gas emissions produced globally. The conventional derivation of carbon budgets from the concept of a building 'sector' is thus misleading due to its narrow scope, focusing solely on direct operational emissions.

To address this, an alternative perspective introduces the concepts of the 'area of activities' (encompassing construction, refurbishment, and end-of-life) and the 'area of needs' (encompassing the operation of buildings) along the traditional sectoral approach (Habert et al., 2020b) (Lützkendorf,

 $<sup>{}^{5}</sup>https://www.statistiques.developpement-durable.gouv.fr/tableau-de-suivi-de-la-renovation-energetique-dans-le-secteur-residentielenergetique-dans-le-secteur-residentie$


2021). Figure 1.6 illustrates these concepts in the downscaling framework of the Remaining Carbon Budget. Acknowledging the cross-sectoral nature of building activities facilitates the integration of

Figure 1.6: Sectors, area of activities and areas of need in the downscaling process (Habert et al., 2020b)

various sectors involved in these activities and addresses the needs they meet for the population. The sectoral approach might better reflect supply-side solutions, while the 'area of needs' perspective emphasises demand-side solutions (see Demand-side and supply-side), and may also relate to per *capita* downscaling.

Effectively implementing these concepts requires sound and flexible emission accounting methods, which are not yet widely adopted in mainstream practices (Steininger et al., 2020). The linkage between emission accounting and decarbonisation efforts is fundamental. To derive accurate carbon budgets, one must first understand fully the extent of their impacts. Similarly, for any actor to initiate decarbonisation efforts, a comprehensive grasp of their emission scope is essential. While traditional GHG inventories often lack the detail necessary to meet these challenges, there remains a gap in research for a unified methodology that bridges the sectoral approach with the concepts of 'area of activities' and 'area of needs'. Such methodologies should encompass a full scope, providing clear guidance for stakeholders involved in building activities. Therefore, developing solutions to these accounting challenges is crucial for advancing research in this field.

# 1.2.2 Combining top-down and bottom-up benchmarks

Establishing ambitious goals for environmental performance that take into account the entire life cycle of buildings is regarded as a crucial move towards significantly diminishing the environmental

footprint of the building activities, ensuring it operates within the limits of the Remaining Carbon Budget (Lützkendorf et al., 2023). The International Standard on sustainability in buildings and civil engineering works (ISO 21678:2020) (ISO, 2020) provides a comprehensive framework to guide the creation of sustainability frameworks, adaptable through either a top-down or a bottom-up approach. Top-down benchmarks are informed by the necessity to meet the requirements of absolute environmental limits such as the Remaining Carbon Budget (or occasionally specific policy objectives), setting science-based targets that echo these imperatives. This approach involves scaling down the Remaining Carbon Budget using allocation principles (described in 1.1.2 ) to address various scales, from building activities and stocks to individual buildings or specific life-cycle stages (Habert et al., 2020a). Conversely, bottom-up benchmarks leverage existing datasets and case studies to gauge what is achievable in terms of technical and economic viability through statistical analysis of the environmental performance of current buildings. It is critical to understand that benchmarks focus on performance without favoring specific products or technologies, maintaining neutrality towards the types of buildings or materials required to achieve certain performance levels (Lützkendorf et al., 2023).

Both top-down and bottom-up benchmarks evolve over time, reflecting the latest scientific findings and potential shifts in technology and economic landscapes. They consist of different performance levels illustrated in Figure 1.7. The reference (or baseline) value is described as the median or



Figure 1.7: Performance levels in ISO21678

average value, representing the current performance based on available data. The upper or lower acceptable value is defined as the limit value, whereas best practice can be seen as today's state of the art in terms of environmental performance. Target values, aiming for short-term or long-term goals, set the ambitions higher. In the context of dynamic benchmarks, what are now target values will serve as future limit values.

In practice, limit values can help to ensure compliance with binding requirements, which have been put in place in several European countries such as France, Denmark or the Netherlands (Buildings Performance Institute Europe, 2021). Reference values can help to position compared to the baseline while target value can serves as guide (Lützkendorf et al., 2023). For example, during early-design stage, target values at component level can help designers and architects optimise environmental performance (Hollberg et al., 2019).

Determining how methods combining top-down and bottom-up approaches can help to decrease the environmental pression from building activities is a critical and ongoing area of research. Several studies have tried to compare top-down and bottom-up benchmarks at building level by studying the performance gap between current reference values and science-based target values. For example, Chandrakumar et al. (2020b) compare the current performance of a new individual house in New Zealand to its cascading target in 2050 and offer a comparison by life-cycle stages. Similarly, Andersen et al. (2020) uses a similar approach with six representative dwellings in Denmark. The two studies found that absolute sustainability targets are out of reach given the actual performance of buildings. A notable drawback of downscaling to lower resolutions is that it leans more towards normative prescriptions (Horup et al., 2022), and it potentially disconnects the target values from the societal functions served by different types of buildings. Notably, Heide et al. (2023a) questions the allocation per area, emphasising that larger buildings may receive a larger share of the Remaining Carbon Budget regardless of societal necessity. They propose an alternative sharing principle based on the 'Fulfillment of human needs' (Heide et al., 2023b), applying a proof of concept to residential buildings, universities, hospitals, and kindergartens. Another set of studies focus on the derivation of top-down benchmarks for embodied GHGE using reference values derived from bottom-up benchmarks combined with a stock-dynamic scenario. Notably, the Science Based Target Initiative's Buildings Guidance draft report (Ryberg et al., 2023) uses stock dynamics scenarios from Deetman et al. (2020) and the International Energy Agency (IEA) Net Zero Scenario (IEA et al., 2020) alongside average emission factors for residential and non-residential emission factors in kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/m<sup>2</sup> from Röck et al. (2020) to determine baseline emission shares for different typologies, subsequently applied to downscaled building construction shares.

Ultimately, the pursuit of net-zero emissions is meaningful primarily at the planetary and national scales (Carbone 4 and Net Zero Initiative, 2021) (ADEME, 2021b). While setting top-down benchmarks at the building or component level can aid the design process, the crucial factor within the context of building activities is meeting the assigned overall carbon budget. In top-down benchmarks, it is widely recognised that future shifts in the building stock, construction materials, and energy sources must be incorporated into the carbon budgeting for specific buildings (Priore et al., 2023). However, the task of modelling these dynamics from a bottom-up perspective, to verify their alignment (or lack thereof) with broader top-down benchmarks, such as those pertaining to building activities within a particular country, remains under-explored in research. The expanding availability of data from building stock and new construction databases presents an opportunity to showcase a broad spectrum of Whole-Life Carbon emissions resulting from various combinations, ultimately facilitating the assessment of their compliance with top-down benchmarks for the building activities.

ties at national level. A notable example of such an approach include Li et al. (2022) who explore how different renovation scenarios compare to different carbon budgets in the UK. Yet, a comprehensive approach that integrate all stock-level activities and adress future potential performance is lacking, indicating a significant research gap that needs to be addressed to foster methods combining top-down and bottom-up benchmarks.

#### 1.2.3 Mitigation pathways for the building activities

Global, national and sectoral mitigation pathways play an important role to guide actors in climate action. Scenarios from the IPCC and the IEA serve as key examples of influential frameworks (later detailed in Chapter 3). However, akin to the challenges with carbon budgets, these pathways often adopt a sectoral perspective that neglects a holistic view of the mitigation potential within the building activities. This oversight leaves stakeholders without a comprehensive basis for crafting effective mitigation strategies (Giesekam et al., 2018a).

As discussed in Section 1.1.1, operational and embodied emissions present differing reduction potentials. Operational emissions are more straightforward to address through enhancements in energy efficiency, stringent building regulations, and the integration of renewable energy sources. These interventions are cost-effective and offer additional benefits, such as improved health and comfort for occupants (UNEP, 2023). Conversely, reducing embodied emissions, especially from the production of materials like cement and steel, is more challenging and costly due to the current limitations in decarbonisation technologies and practices (Davis et al., 2018). While existing pathways focus on reducing operational emissions, they frequently fail to fully incorporate all types of emissions and to distinguish their respective reduction potentials over time and across sectors. Filling this gap appears essential for a better understanding of the trade-offs between reducing operational emissions and the potential increase in embodied emissions, an area that remains largely unexplored (Verhagen et al., 2021) (de Oliveira Fernandes et al., 2021). On the demand side, reflecting the 'area of needs' concept, the integration of sufficiency measures that lower the demand for energy and materials is also underdeveloped and insufficiently incorporated into modelling approaches (Saheb, 2021). Thus, a more integrated examination of the mitigation potential across the various sectors involved in building activities is necessary. Such an approach would enhance the understanding of the building activities mitigation potential and lead to the development of more comprehensive modelling tools.

#### 1.2.4 Life-cycle modelling of buildings at macro scale

Life-cycle assessment (LCA) has quickly become the preferred approach for evaluating the environmental impacts of buildings (Fnais et al., 2022). While traditionally applied at individual building scales, LCA studies are increasingly addressing broader scales, from urban district to transnational levels (Mastrucci et al., 2017). This expansion is beneficial for assessing cumulative environmental impacts and informing urban planning and national policy on energy efficiency and sustainable construction practices. Nonetheless, scaling up LCA studies introduces significant challenges, particularly in data collection and management. Expanding analyses to account for the life-cycle impacts of construction materials and equipment demands extensive data, complicating modelling efforts and necessitating novel scientific approaches (Röck et al., 2021). While building stock data is increasingly available, it remains fragmented at the macro scale, with only a few countries having detailed national-level building stock information, often focusing mainly on residential buildings. High-resolution data covering aspects like building age, geometry, material composition, energy systems, and usage patterns can significantly improve the specificity and effectiveness of sustainability strategies (Milojevic-Dupont et al., 2023). Accounting for the heterogeneity of buildings in large-scale LCA studies introduces additional complexity, requiring methods that can precisely capture the varied attributes of buildings and their impacts across different scales. This complexity often results in a balance between the granularity of the model and its relevance to policy (Allacker et al., 2019), a dilemma illustrated in Figure 1.8.



Figure 1.8: Trade-offs across scales (adapted from Allacker et al. (2019))

The challenge lies in achieving policy relevance while navigating the intricacies of large-scale analysis and the potential scarcity of detailed data. In bottom-up modelling that aims to assess alignment with carbon budgets, it involves yearly assessments of operational emissions, offering a dynamic framework for accounting. Rather than applying LCA alone, it requires the coupling of diverse methods to evaluate the effectiveness of mitigation strategies (Lanau et al., 2021). Thus, significant challenges remain to propose sound methodologies at macro scale that enables to achieve policy relevance and display what strategies can comply with top-down carbon budgets.

# 1.3 Research objectives and organisation of the thesis

#### 1.3.1 Research objectives

The decarbonisation of the building activities is a crucial aspect of national and European climate policies. Positioned at the intersection of significant GHG reduction opportunities and sectors challenging to decarbonise, a comprehensive understanding of its life-cycle emissions and decarbonisation potential is imperative. To effectively guide stakeholders and policymakers, the use of scalable carbon budgets for the building activities, employing a life-cycle perspective emerges as a key indicator (Habert et al., 2020a). This top-down approach offers a clearer and more effective indicator for setting targets and defining necessary decarbonisation actions compared to traditional sectoral classifications, ultimately offering to link the Remaining Carbon Budget to actionable levels for various stakeholders (Lützkendorf, 2021).

Current sectoral policies prioritise techno-economic aspects over climate imperatives (Pálenský and Lupíšek, 2019). The consequence is that current reference values at building level are far from science-based targets derived from top-down benchmarks (Chandrakumar et al., 2020a). This mismatch leads to a shortfall in climate-proof strategies, underscoring the need to embrace a more holistic approach to consider how the building activities might cope with the stipulated carbon budgets. This calls for the integration of stock-level activities dynamics scenarios (along with their underlying drivers) with current and future reference values, which are influenced by the decarbonisation of energy carriers and construction materials used in building activities. As such, we can question the effectiveness of different decarbonisation levers. Are the current performance sufficiently ambitious given the stock dynamics levels?

Resolving these questions enables further exploration into how different building typologies, modelled through a bottom-up approach, can or cannot achieve performance that meets carbon budgets under different stock-dynamics scenarios. Based on current data, how do different typologies position themselves on the performance scale? Under decarbonisation scenarios for the main construction materials and energy carriers, how would the different typologies perform and compare against different target values?

Therefore, the primary objective of this thesis is to develop life-cycle carbon budgets for buildings and to model exploratory scenarios for life-cycle emissions trends up to 2050. These scenarios will consider the decarbonisation of various sectors and the dynamics of the building stock, aiming to align sectoral policies (e.g., building regulations) more closely with climate policies that are inspired by sectoral carbon budget approaches. To answer these challenges, three central interconnected problematic are investigated and are detailed below:

 What methodology can be developed to accurately account for the life-cycle emissions of buildings within a country? Expanding upon this, how can existing sectoral carbon budgets, primarily focused on territorial emissions, be refined and complemented by a more comprehensive approach that encompasses all activities related to buildings, thereby

## highlighting the significance of the various sectors involved in building activities decarbonisation?

- a) Understanding current building-related emissions is critical for exploring decarbonisation potential by 2050. However, a unified and holistic emissions accounting method that reconciles the inter-sectoral nature of building-related activities is currently lacking. National climate policies often use production-based accounting, while environmental assessments of buildings adopt a life-cycle approach, including cross-sectoral emissions. This gap at the national level hampers holistic assessments of GHGE related to buildings, which is crucial for effective decarbonisation planning.
- b) Upon establishing a detailed inventory of life-cycle emissions, the next step involves broadening the scope of current sectoral carbon budgets that focus narrowly on direct operational emissions that occur in the national territory. The goal is to introduce a methodology that not only complements existing frameworks with a consumption-based perspective but also captures the carbon mitigation potential across the diverse sectors linked with building activities.
- 2. How might a prospective framework, incorporating scenarios for the dynamics of stocklevel activities along with present and future bottom-up benchmark values, facilitate the evaluation of Whole-Life Carbon emissions from residential activities? Furthermore, how could this framework assist in determining the bottom-up conditions necessary to achieve carbon budgets derived from top-down approaches?
  - a) Enhanced building stock databases are increasingly aiding our understanding of residential building stock characteristics, current performance, and potential outcomes under various renovation scenarios.
  - b) While building regulations are beginning to address Whole-Life Carbon emissions, aligning building activities with established carbon budgets relies not only on performance values but also on the dynamics of the stock, influenced by socio-economic and political factors. Integrating these dimensions is key to assess Whole-Life Carbon emissions.
  - c) Considering expected transformations in supply sectors, how can we integrate these changes in a framework to explore future reference values and energy emissions factors?
- 3. How do different typologies of new construction compare on the performance scale when analysed at the building level? Which typologies fall below or exceed target values when considering decarbonisation scenarios for the main construction materials and energy carriers?
  - a) Building LCA databases improve our understanding of the performance of new constructions and their potential compliance with future regulatory limit values. Yet, the widespread availability of thousands of building LCA studies is a recent development.

How can we identify building typologies from a data-driven analysis of a building LCA database?

- b) How do these typologies currently perform and compare to actual and future regulatory limit values?
- c) When applying scenarios from Integrated Assessment Models, what are the impacts on these typologies, and how might they perform against future target values?

#### 1.3.2 Organisation of the manuscript

The organisation of the doctoral thesis is structured into four principal sections that are described below.

- 1. Initially, Chapter 1 introduces the environmental, societal and scientific context in which the thesis is conducted.
- 2. Following this, Chapter 2 and Chapter 3 offer an examination of the environmental assessment and building stock modelling methods, as well as a description of existing climate and decarbonisation scenarios. Subsequently, Chapter 4 synthesises the application of these methods and scenarios within the research, illustrating their integration to address the research questions.
- 3. The core of the thesis, encompassing Chapters 5, 6 and 7, consists of three individual papers that have been accepted or submitted to peer-reviewed scientific journals. Each chapter responds to one of the aforementioned research questions and includes the articles in their entirety. Contributions from all authors are explicitly acknowledged within these chapters. Their goal is briefly described below:
  - a) Chapter 5 'Integrating consumption-based metrics into sectoral carbon budgets: a cross-sectoral approach for building activities in France'. This paper tackles the first problematic
    1 by outlining a methodology to capture the life-cycle emissions of buildings in France. Upon this, it also proposes to extend existing sectoral carbon budgets towards a more holistic and consumption-based approach.
  - b) Chapter 6 'From limit values to carbon budgets: assessing comprehensive building stock decarbonisation strategies'. This paper addresses the second problematic 2. It introduces a methodological framework designed to explore the potential evolution of dwelling stock emissions in a life-cycle approach and assess their alignment with climate objectives.
  - c) Chapter 7 'Assessing current and future embodied emissions of new buildings: a prospective analysis through a building LCA database'. This paper examines the third problematic 3. It presents a methodological framework for identifying building typologies through the national building LCA database and evaluating their current and potential future embodied performance when decarbonisation scenarios for the industrial and energy sectors are integrated.

4. The last section includes Chapter 8 which provides a critical perspective on the doctoral thesis, while Chapter 9 concludes the thesis with a comprehensive summary of its contributions and outlines future research directions

# 2

# State of the art of environmental assessment and building stock modelling methods

# Contents

2.1	Environmental assessment methods		26
	2.1.1	Emissions accounting and net-zero framework	26
	2.1.2	Prospective techniques and scenarios	33
	2.1.3	Life-Cycle Assessment (LCA)	36
	2.1.4	Input-Output Analysis (IOA)	47
	2.1.5	Hybrid LCA-IOA	53
2.2	Life-cycle modelling of building stocks		59
	2.2.1	Introduction	59
	2.2.2	Methods for building stock characterisation and aggregation	60
	2.2.3	Energy modelling	62
	2.2.4	Material inventory of building stocks	64
	2.2.5	Spatial and temporal dimensions	65
2.3	Summ	ary of methods and their applications to building stocks	66

This chapter begins to offer a comprehensive overview of the environmental assessment methods that are pivotal to this research. It encompasses a range of methods and techniques including emissions accounting, prospective studies and scenarios, Life Cycle Assessment (LCA), Input-Output Analysis (IOA) and hybrid methods. Particular emphasis is placed on the application of these methods within the context of building activities, with examples drawn specifically from this area. Then, a dedicated section is devoted to the life-cycle modelling of building stocks, which describes in details building stock characterisation, energy and material inventory modelling as well as the spatio-temporal dynamics of building stocks. For convenience, Table 2.12 summarises these methods, serving as recap and aiding in navigation of the content. This methodological exploration aims to present the current state of these techniques, drawing on the latest research findings. It lays the groundwork for the detailed analysis presented in subsequent chapters. Specifically, this chapter serves as a precursor to Chapter 4, which delves into the application of these methods in the analyses conducted in Chapters 5, 6 and 7.

# 2.1 Environmental assessment methods

#### 2.1.1 Emissions accounting and net-zero framework

This section first introduces the concept of emissions accounting at national level, before delving into specific methodologies and frameworks used in the French context. It then looks into methods applied at the organisational level.

#### Introduction

Emissions accounting offers a systematic framework for categorising emissions, facilitating the tracking, analysis, and mitigation of environmental impacts associated with various activities. Emission accounting and decarbonisation efforts are intrinsically linked. To embark through decarbonisation, companies must first understand the extent of their emissions. Accurate emission accounting is the compass that guides them towards setting meaningful decarbonisation targets. Despite its apparent simplicity, the concept evolves into a complex network of terms and classifications, presenting significant navigational challenges. In the thesis, methods for emissions accounting at different levels, from national to building level, are extensively discussed and applied in Chapter 5.

Beyond its technical and methodological aspects, emissions accounting encompasses moral and ethical considerations, influencing the allocation of responsibility among different actors and entities. The choice of an emissions accounting system significantly impacts rankings, such as those of countries and sectors (Steininger et al., 2018). Using clearly defined typologies for emissions reporting is thus a crucial aspect of understanding the different scopes of emissions arising from multiple sources and actors, while also serving to identify emission reduction opportunities in potentially complex supply-chains. The intricacy of emissions typologies arises from several factors. First, a multitude of terms and classifications coexist, making it difficult to discern and translate the nuances of their definitions accurately. Secondly, emissions assessments occur at various levels, ranging from the organisational and sectoral to the national and global scales. This multiplicity of levels introduces complexity, particularly when dealing with activities that are at the crossroads of these different frontiers. Finally, emissions classifications often involve intricate interrelationships between entities, adding layers of complexity to the overall picture.

To navigate this complex landscape, several tools and initiatives have emerged. These include the Net Zero Tracker<sup>1</sup>, the Transition Pathway Initiative Centre<sup>2</sup>, and the UNFCCC Non-State Actor Zone for Climate Action platform<sup>3</sup>, all of which help in monitoring and tracking climate initiatives.

#### **Emissions accounting at national level**

Established in 1997, the Kyoto Protocol marks the creation of a harmonised international accounting framework. Annex-I countries, predominantly developed nations, are mandated to submit national

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://zerotracker.net/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://www.transitionpathwayinitiative.org/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://climateaction.unfccc.int/

GHGE inventories to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) (UN-FCCC, 1998). These inventories use common reporting formats. In contrast, Non-Annex I countries report less frequently and with varied methodologies. This discrepancy results in incomplete timeseries GHG data available globally. To address this gap, the scientific community frequently updates and provides comprehensive datasets. For instance, the dataset used by the IPCC in its latest assessment report (Dhakal et al., 2022) was compiled by Minx et al. (2021). More recently, Jones et al. (2023) introduced an extensive historical dataset covering  $CO_2$ ,  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  emissions from 1851 to 2021. These datasets rely on a limited range of original data source that have comprehensive coverage in terms of sectors, countries, and GHGE as reviewed in Dhakal et al. (2022) and Climate Watch (2024). Examples of such databases include the Emissions Database for Global Atmospheric Research (EDGAR) database compiled by the Joint Research Center (Crippa et al., 2023) and the Potsdam Real-time Integrated Model for Probabilistic Assessment of Emissions Paths (PRIMAP) database compiled by the Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research (Gütschow et al., 2016). It is to be noted that global GHGE data are updated less frequently and with more significant reporting delays compared to specific data such as CO<sub>2</sub> from fossil fuels and industry. In particular, large data gaps exist for F-Gas emissions while CO2 from land-use changes depict large uncertainties (Dhakal et al., 2022).

The UNFCCC inventories adhere to a production-based accounting (PBA) method, aligning with the 2006 IPCC guidelines (revised in 2019) (IPCC, 2019). They are compiled based on a territorial approach, focusing on where emissions physically occur, and are breakdown into four primary sectors: (a) Energy, (b) Industrial processes and product use (c), Agriculture, forestry, and land use (AFOLU) and (d) Waste. Notably, emissions associated with international maritime and aviation transportation are reported separately and are not included in national inventories, a practice that has attracted considerable criticism for excluding significant emission sources (Peters, 2008).

Under the Paris agreement, carbon emissions targets are based on the UNFCCC system. While it remains the most widely used and communicated approach, alternative methodologies have emerged and gained varying levels of acceptance (Steininger et al., 2015). Largely due to the numerous studies highlighting the growing emissions associated with international trade, particularly from developing to developed countries (Peters et al., 2011), consumption-based accounting (CBA) method have particularly emerged as an important complement to PBA. Contrasting with PBA, CBA attributes emissions to the regions where the final consumption occurs, accounting for emissions embedded in international trade. In order to operationalise this concept and provide robust metrics to policymakers, a multitude of models and databases have been developed in the last decades (Wood et al., 2020).

Methodologically, since all accounting systems are derived from PBA, they inherit its uncertainties and face additional challenges related to the use of supplementary data (Steininger et al., 2015). In the case of CBA, methodologies rely on foreign trades data to allocate emissions to the countries of the final demand. UNFCCC inventories are modified to be consistent with the System of National Accounts (SNA) and are latter combined with Input-Output Tables (IOT, for which more theoretical

content will be given in 2.1.4) in order to take into account international transfers, thus removing export-related emissions and adding import-related emissions.

While each accounting system has its strengths and weaknesses, it is crucial to evaluate the outcomes of these systems comparatively. As an example, Figure 2.1 illustrates the distribution of fossil  $CO_2$  emissions for five geographical zones, using three methodologies: PBA, CBA and a cumulative approach of PBA since 1870. This comparison is further enriched by juxtaposing these emission metrics with the global population and gross domestic product (GDP) (both in Market Exchange Rates (MER) and Purchasing Power Parity (PPP)) figures for 2020.



**Figure 2.1:** Three perspectives on emission responsibility: cumulative, territorial and consumption-based emissions (Friedlingstein et al., 2023)

Such an analysis offers diverse perspectives based on the chosen emissions accounting methodology. As of 2022, employing the PBA method reveals that the top six emitters, constituting two-thirds of global emissions, are China (31%), the United States (14%), India (8%), the EU (7%), Russia (4%), and Japan (3%) (Friedlingstein et al., 2023). Notably, despite its substantial global population share, India contributes a relatively smaller fraction of emissions across all accounting systems. Conversely, the EU accounts for a significant portion of cumulative emissions, while its shares in PBA and CBA emissions are comparatively lower.

In conclusion, examining various emissions accounting systems in tandem is insightful, as they each offer unique insights. This multifaceted approach is particularly relevant in discussions of climate negotiations and climate justice, underscoring that no single system can be deemed universally superior (Steininger et al., 2020).

#### Specificity in the French context

As an Annex-I country and a European Union member, France is mandated to maintain a precise emissions accounting system and set specific emissions reduction targets over time. France's national inventory, recalculated annually, is conducted by the Technical Interprofessional Center for the Study of Atmospheric Pollution (CITEPA). This inventory serves as the primary source of emissions data. Based on this inventory, France employs various reporting formats that offer diverse geographic and sectoral breakdowns.

The SECTEN report (an acronym for *Secteur émetteur* and *énergie*) is pivotal in national policy frameworks like the National Low Carbon Strategy (SNBC). The data is published for year N-2, with an estimation for year N-1. It compiles data from inventories of atmospheric pollutants reported to the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE) and GHG data reported to the UNFCCC, with a different aggregation. It includes 31 air pollutants and GHGE that are classified by fuel type for seven sectors, each of which include subcategories:

- Energy (9 subcategories)
- Industry (9 subcategories)
- Agriculture (10 subcategories)
- Transportation (24 subcategories)
- Residential and tertiary (12 subcategories, 7 for residential and 5 for tertiary)
- Waste (4 subsectors)
- Land-use, land-use change and forestry (9 subsectors)

When moving to CBA, the responsibility falls to the French Statistical Data and Studies Department (SDES). The methodology for this approach is detailed in Baude (2020). This system has faced criticism for its inadequate detailed data for non-European countries, especially when compared to the more detailed Multi-Regional Input-Output (MRIO) databases used by countries like Sweden or the UK (Malliet, 2020) (Haut conseil pour le climat, 2020).

#### Corporate emissions accounting and net-zero framework

The surge in Non-State Actors (NSAs) climate pledges has been accompanied with significant methodological developments in emissions accounting, target-setting and net-zero strategies. The landscape of NSA climate action has been notably shaped by the Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi) and its Net Zero Standard (SBTi, 2020), alongside the United Nations recommendations for credible corporate climate targets (Nations, 2022), the ISO 14064 guidance for quantification and reporting of GHGE and removals and the ISO 14068 (ISO, 2018) guidelines for achieving and demonstrating carbon neutrality (ISO, 2023). These initiatives underscore the growing recognition of the need for standardised and credible climate targets. Numerous methods and frameworks are available to assist NSAs measure, report, and ultimately reduce their GHG emissions. Among them, the GHG Protocol, developed through collaboration between the World Resources Institute (WRI) and the World Business Council for Sustainable Development (WBCSD), stands as a the most widely used GHG accounting and reporting standards worldwide. In its Corporate Standard (GHG Protocol, 2004), it categorises emissions into three distinct scopes:

- Scope 1 encompassing direct emissions under a company's control
- **Scope 2** extending to emissions associated with purchased energy not directly owned but used in operations
- **Scope 3**, the broadest category, covering value-chain emissions stemming from the entity's activities, including those upstream and downstream.

The Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) standard (GHG Protocol, 2011) transitions from optional to mandatory inclusion of scope 3 emissions. They are further divided into 15 categories, covering eight upstream (such as purchased goods and services and capital goods) and seven downstream (such as use and end-of-life treatments of sold products) activities. It also helps companies set their organisational boundaries, using the equity share (GHG emissions from operations according to its share of equity in the operation), operational control or financial control consolidation approaches. The consolidation approach affects the categorisation of emissions in the different scope.

Other standards are tailored to estimate the GHG effects of policies and actions (GHG Protocol, 2016), or progress towards GHG reduction goals (GHG Protocol, 2017). In addition to its standards, the GHG Protocol offer several guidance reports tailored to various requirements and entities (e.g. corporations, cities, public organisation). For instance, the 'Scope 2 Guidance' (GHG Protocol, 2015) introduces two methods for reporting scope 2 emissions. The 'location-based' method uses average emissions factors based on regional or national electricity grids. In contrast, the 'marketbased' method accounts for specific emissions factors corresponding to the electricity that a company has intentionally procured through contractual instruments, such as renewable energy certificates (RECs) or power purchase agreements (PPA).

Alongside the GHG Protocol, the SBTi has emerged as a pivotal player in corporate environmental governance. Established in 2015 through a partnership between the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP), the United Nations Global Compact, the World Resources Institute (WRI), and the World Wildlife Fund (WWF), the SBTi aims to bridge the gap between global climate goals and corporate climate action. It creates the necessary infrastructure for the target-setting process, providing standards, tools, and certification programs. The primary outcome of this process is the formulation of specific science-based targets (SBTs), typically expressed as percentage reductions in emissions between a base year and a target year. Companies must establish Scope 3 targets if they account for at least 40% of their total Scope 1, 2, and 3 emissions. Furthermore, these targets must cover at least two-thirds of the company's Scope 3 emissions (SBTi, 2020). All SBTs must span a minimum of 5 years and a maximum of 15 years from the submission date to SBTi for approval. Typically, SBTs are expressed as percentage reductions in absolute emissions or emission intensities. Scope 2 targets also permit an alternative approach, targeting an increased procurement of renewable electricity. In the case of Scope 3, companies can opt for supplier or customer engagement targets, focusing on motivating partners to set their own SBTs. SBTi recommends two primary target-setting methods: the Absolute Contraction Approach (ACA) and the Sectoral Decarbonization Approach (SDA) (SBTi, 2021b). ACA entails each company reducing emissions at the same annual rate required globally to achieve a specific temperature goal, following the 'grandfathering' principle. Conversely, SDA relies on the 'Convergence' principle, assuming that all companies within a sector will converge toward a common emission intensity by 2050 (SBTi, 2015). ACA is broadly applicable, while SDA suits a select group of 'homogenous' sectors (SBTi, 2021a).

While evidence suggests that the adoption of SBTs aligns with effective climate action, several studies indicate the necessity for further research to expand methodological approaches. This research aims to ensure SBTs contribute to a safe and just future (Bjørn et al., 2022). Indeed, the governance framework of the SBTi has come under scrutiny (Tilsted et al., 2023). Critics highlight that the selection of scenarios and method development, along with stakeholder engagement, may be influenced by factors prioritising growth and profitability. This could restrict the variety of approaches and perpetuate existing emission patterns. Furthermore, the use of Renewable Energy Certificates (RECs) to meet SBTs has been criticized for lacking additionality, a fundamental criterion for offsets (Bjørn et al., 2022), which refers to GHG reductions that would not have occurred in the absence of the specific offset initiatives. The limited scope of SBTi's jurisdiction allows companies to meet their targets through diverse, sometimes questionable, means. This raises concerns about the feasibility of relying on untested nature-based and technological solutions instead of fundamental changes in business models. Another significant issue is the low adoption of SBTs in the most polluting industries and in low- and middle-income countries (Bjørn et al., 2022). Lastly, recent communications from the SBTi board regarding the use of offsets for managing an organisation's scope 3 emissions have raised significant concerns over the potential for greenwashing and the misapplication of the latest scientific findings (SBTi, 2024).

The Net Zero Initiative (NZI) proposes a distinct approach to net-zero strategies, centered around three main pillars, as depicted in Figure 2.2. This strategy aligns with a perspective in which the state of net-zero emissions should be defined at global and national levels rather than at the level of individual NSAs, a position also promoted by the French Agency for Ecological Transition (ADEME) (ADEME, 2021b) and the EU green claims directive (European Commission, 2023). As such, NSAs are encouraged not to focus solely on achieving an arithmetic state of net-zero through measures like heavy reliance on offsets. Instead, they should actively contribute to each of the three pillars as part of a broader, more holistic climate action strategy.

As illustrated in Figure 2.2, the NZI emphasises the importance of separately assessing, managing, and reporting on three distinct levers. These levers collectively aim to achieve two primary objectives: significantly reducing GHGE and enhancing the removal of carbon dioxide through carbon sinks.

• **Pillar A**, which aligns with the broader goal of global emissions reduction, focuses on an organization reducing its own emissions. This includes emissions within its direct control as well



Figure 2.2: Net Zero Initiative Dashboard (Carbone 4 et al., 2021)

as those upstream and downstream in its value chain. Tools like the GHG Protocol, *Bilan GES* and Bilan Carbone in the French context, ISO 14064 and ISO 14067, along with target-setting and performance tracking frameworks like the SBTi, support this pillar.

- **Pillar B** contributes to the global decrease in emissions by helping other entities reduce their emissions. It is associated with the concept of 'avoided emissions', which may manifest through the sales of goods and services or the financing of projects.
- **Pillar C** aims to increase global carbon removal solutions, thereby contributing to negative emissions both within and beyond the organization's value chain. A key aspect of this pillar is ensuring that an organization's carbon sink-to-emissions ratio consistently aligns with the sink-to-emissions ratio of the 1.5°C/2°C scenario relevant to its region.

The innovative aspect of the framework is particularly evident in Pillar B, which is associated with 'avoided emissions,' a concept not currently covered by the SBTi. This notion is increasingly prevalent among corporations making claims about the GHG impact of their products or services in comparison to a hypothetical scenario where these products or services do not exist. While Pillar A focuses on the principle of 'doing less harm,' Pillar B aligns with the concept of 'doing more good' and falls into the category of intervention accounting (Net Zero Initiative and WBCSD, 2023). However, methodological challenges exist in validating the relevance and credibility of such claims, especially in terms of assessing emissions and defining the counterfactual scenario. To qualify for avoided emissions claims, (Net Zero Initiative and WBCSD, 2023) outlines three critical steps:

• Climate action credibility: The company must have committed to clear, transparent, and fullscope emissions reporting.

- Alignment with latest climate science: The solution must align with current scientific recommendations (e.g., from the IPCC or IEA) and should not be applied to the fossil fuel supply chain.
- Contribution legitimacy: The solution should directly and significantly contribute to decarbonisation.

Furthermore, the NZI emphasizes the importance of reporting avoided emissions separately and clarifies that these should not be used to claim an individual state of net-zero. It advocates for solutions and reference scenarios to be evaluated from a life-cycle perspective, taking into account potential rebound effects and burden-shifting issues.

To assist stakeholders in navigating Pillar B, the NZI has developed additional guidelines to establish a 'Compatibility Score with the Paris Agreement' (Carbone 4 and Net Zero Initiative, 2022). This approach challenges organizations to evaluate whether their products and services contribute to the global net-zero goal. It distinguishes between solutions that decarbonise high-carbon activities, which may not be viable in a future low-carbon world, and those that enhance overall decarbonisation. The compatibility score is determined by comparing the GHGE footprint of a product or service (e.g., kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/m<sup>2</sup>/year for building usage) to the average global GHGE footprint derived from various prospective scenarios, such as those defined by the IEA.

The literature acknowledges various operational challenges and difficulties that organizations encounter in their emissions accounting and target-setting processes. A notable study by de Bortoli et al. (2023) identifies 24 specific challenges faced by organizations in these tasks. They propose addressing these challenges through a structured 'Measure-Reduce-Neutralise-Control' framework. Here, 'Control' specifically refers to tackling the issue of burden-shifting that often arises in mono-criterion environmental strategies, such as those focusing solely on carbon neutrality. They advocates for the field of industrial ecology to address the challenges by harmonising and updating standards, tools and databases to support robust accounting to ensure reliability, comparability, and transparency in emission metrics and targets. It comprises enhancing the development of comprehensive, open source and high quality life-cycle inventory databases that includes uncertainty qualification.

#### 2.1.2 Prospective techniques and scenarios

This section delves into scenario typologies and methodologies, including a detailed look at Integrated Assessment Models (IAMs). While it presents general concepts, the illustrations and examples are specifically applied to building activities.

#### Methods, techniques, typologies, challenges

Scenario development in future studies, a diverse and non-standardised field, embraces various methodologies without a universal consensus (Bishop et al., 2007). Future scenarios can adopt numerous approaches but typically unfold in five iterations phases presented in Figure 2.3.



Figure 2.3: Generic scenario typology from Bisinella et al. (2021)

The initial phase involves defining goals and scope using for instance Borjeson's typology (Börjeson et al., 2006)'s typology, which categorises scenarios into predictive (*'what will happen?'*), explorative (*'what can happen?'*), and normative (*'how can a specific target be reached?'*).

- **Predictive scenarios**, including forecasts and 'what-if' scenarios, attempt to predict future events, often using probability estimates. Forecasts hinge on the most likely developments, while 'what-if' scenarios consider the implications of specific near-future events.
- Explorative scenarios, divided into external and strategic types, explore possible situations or developments. External scenarios <sup>4</sup> examine the potential changes in external factors, while strategic scenarios focus on the outcomes of specific actions. These scenarios typically cover a broad range of possibilities to allow for significant structural changes over a long time horizon.
- Normative scenarios, differentiated by their treatment of system structure, include preserving and transforming types <sup>5</sup>. Preserving scenarios explore how targets can be achieved through adjustments to the current situation, suitable when goals appear attainable within the existing system structure. In contrast, transforming scenarios are relevant when systemic changes are necessary, often rejecting traditional structural modeling.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Bisinella et al. (2021) uses the term evolutive scenario

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Bisinella et al. (2021) uses the terms optimizing and backcasting scenarios

The subsequent phases illustrated in Figure 2.3 involve identifying key aspects and variables, assigning them future values quantitatively or qualitatively, combining these elements into consistent scenarios, and then distilling them into a manageable number for application to specific case studies.

Following the structured development of scenarios, a significant challenge emerges in comparing different future scenario studies. This difficulty arises from the diversity in methods, indicators, and scopes used, which are often tailored to specific questions and target audiences. Such diversity not only reflects the multidisciplinary nature of future studies but also introduces a degree of political influence. Future studies, aiming to impact political debates or decision-making processes, often embed ideologies and interests within complex computational models, sometimes obscuring their underlying assumptions. Recognising these challenges, experts advocate for a more integrated and transparent approach in energy and sustainable development scenarios. In particular, enhancing the integration of scientific principles is crucial for ensuring internal consistency in future studies. This includes a rigorous adherence to physical laws, recognition of planetary boundaries, and the inclusion of insights from social sciences (The Shift Project, 2019b). Additionally, fostering transparency in scenario development processes and promoting the involvement of stakeholders in both the production and reporting of scenarios are essential for broader acceptance and understanding. Uncertainty analysis is also a critical aspect that can enhance the robustness and relevance of scenario outputs (Guivarch et al., 2017). Indeed, a few highly detailed scenarios can create bias and mask other plausible alternative and the underlying uncertainties (DeCarolis, 2011). By addressing uncertainties explicitly, scenario developers can provide more reliable insights and guidance for decision-makers.

#### Integrated Assessment Models (IAMs)

Integrated Assessment Models (IAMs) are crucial tools in climate change scenarios, designed to understand the interplay between human development, societal choices, and the natural world, including climate change. These models are especially designed to capture the dynamics between human activities, such as energy use, land-use patterns, and technological development, and the biosphere, with a particular focus on climate change and its effects. IAMs are composed of linked modules representing the global economy, energy, land, and climate systems. The modules are then linked together through computer code ('hard-linking') or through data files ('soft-linking'), allowing results from one module to influence others.

In IAMs, inputs are assumptions about future developments in demographics, technology, economics and policy, which influence how societies and populations evolve. Outputs encompass economic outcomes, land-use changes, GHGE, and energy use and development pathways. To translate GHG and aerosols emissions into atmospheric concentrations, radiative forcing and global average temperature change, IAMs rely on simple climate models (also called 'emulators'). Some parts of IAMs are based partly on physical laws (e.g. climate models) while other rely on economic theory and historical data simulation. They often assume perfect information and rational decision-making by agents. For example, IAMs use economics to drive decisions based on prices, supply and demand, with 'agents' in various sectors making rational decisions to maximise welfare or minimise costs. IAMs can be either 'prescient'—taking into account all future decisions in choices made today—or 'myopic,' focusing only on current time steps without considering future decisions (Evans and Haus-father, 2018).

IAMs are sometimes criticised for a bias towards technological solutions and for simplifying modelling compared to dedicated sectoral models. They face challenges such as the need for improved integration of scientific disciplines and greater transparency. They have been criticised for missing important dynamics like climate damages, economic co-benefits of mitigation, demand-side responses, and rapid technological progress. Concerns also exist regarding their potential bias in exploring only a subset of relevant futures (Trutnevyte, 2016). It remains a constant challenge for IAMs to capture all relevant perspectives due to their very large scope. Notably, research is involving to include more focused on demand-side solutions, low-demand scenarios focusing on sufficiency, and less focus on technological and immature solutions like negative emissions (O'Neill et al., 2020). Future advancements in IAMs will likely focus on improving the representation of heterogeneous actors, technology diffusion, capital markets, and the interconnections between economic activities and environmental outcomes (Keppo et al., 2021).

From an industrial ecology standpoint, IAMs face significant criticism for their inadequate representation of the complex interactions between biophysical and economic systems (Pauliuk et al., 2017). A core critique is the fragmented portrayal of technological life-cycle impacts. Indeed, IAMs often fail to account for the comprehensive environmental effects of technologies throughout their entire life-cycle, from resource extraction and production to usage and disposal. This oversight particularly affects the understanding of indirect impacts associated with energy systems' material requirements and emissions during construction and manufacturing phases. Moreover, IAMs predominantly concentrate on energy flows, overlooking essential physical balances like material cycles, thus neglecting the wider environmental implications present in supply chains. Lastly, they tend to view the economy from a production-centric perspective limits the analysis of consumption-driven environmental effects and the intricate web of inter-sectoral relationships (Pauliuk et al., 2017). The links and further ongoing research between IAMs, Life-Cycle Assessment (LCA) and Input-Output Analysis (IOA) are further developed in Section 2.1.3 and 2.1.4 respectively.

#### 2.1.3 Life-Cycle Assessment (LCA)

This section 2.1.3 first reminds the theoretical framework in which LCA is rooted. It then explores the diversity of LCA approaches with a particular focus on future-oriented LCA. Finally, an overview of the application of LCA at the building level is proposed.

#### Introduction

Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) is an established methodology for evaluating the environmental impacts of products and services across their entire life cycle, from raw material extraction to end-oflife disposal. It is defined by the ISO 14040-44 standards as the 'compilation and evaluation of the inputs, outputs, and potential environmental impacts of a product system throughout its life cycle'. This methodological framework enables a comprehensive analysis of environmental burdens, addressing both direct and indirect impacts. It helps to quantify possible trade-offs between environmental impacts or life-cycle stages, and helps to provide recommendations for better conception at the product level that avoid sub-optimisation for a single step. LCA offers a structured approach encompassing four critical phases:

- 1. **Goal and scope definition**: This foundational phase establishes the objectives, system boundaries, and functional unit for the assessment. It determines the depth and breadth of the study, ensuring relevance and focus. The system boundary can range from cradle-to-grave (encompassing the entire life cycle from raw material extraction to disposal) to more specific scopes like cradle-to-gate (ending at the factory gate)
- 2. Life Cycle Inventory (LCI): This phase involves data collection and quantification of inputs and outputs within the system boundary. It includes all elementary flows such as raw material extraction, energy use, emissions, and waste generation, providing a detailed picture of the system's life cycle.
- 3. Life Cycle Impact Assessment (LCIA): Here, the elementary flows in the LCI are characterised into potential impacts using characterisation factors. This includes aspects like climate change, resource depletion, and ecosystem quality. Impacts are often categorising into midpoints (direct impacts) and endpoints (ultimate effects).
- 4. **Interpretation**: The final phase involves analyzing results, evaluating uncertainties, and formulating conclusions and recommendations. It provides insights into the most significant environmental impacts and identifies opportunities for environmental improvements.

The evolution of LCA since the 1970s highlights a transition from a variety of individualised approaches to a standardised practice, particularly evident from the 1990s. This standardisation, facilitated by the Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC) and the International Organisation for Standardisation (ISO), offered a common framework and language, though it was clear that ISO did not aim to define a single LCA methodology. Advancements continued into the early 2000s with the establishment of the Life Cycle Initiative, which underscored the increasing importance of LCA in policy-making, especially for climate mitigation. Recently, significant methodological developments have occurred within LCA, with a notable shift towards Life Cycle Sustainability Assessment (LCSA) to broaden the analysis scope and integrate economic and social dimensions, establishing LCSA as a *'transdisciplinary integration framework of models rather than a model in itself'* (Guinée et al., 2011).

Increasingly, LCA is applied well beyond its initial product-level focus. Methodologies like dynamic LCA, hybrid models combining LCA with Input-Output Analysis (IOA), and region-specific LCIA methods have address the need for more detailed and context-sensitive assessments (Hellweg and Milà i Canals, 2014). It is now being applied in sector-specific applications, such as in the building and construction sector, a prominent example being the new Environmental Regulation (RE2020) in France. At the economy-wide level, integrating LCA with other assessment tools, including future scenarios, significantly broadens its scope. This integration underscores LCA's capacity and potential to steer

transformative strategies towards environmental and sustainable development goals across various scales. However, the complexity of these tools also introduces challenges in standardisation, which are crucial to ensure the robustness and comparability of prospective studies encompassing multiple indicators (Hellweg et al., 2023).

#### **Computational structure of LCA**

The LCI stage is crucial in LCA and is often represented through process flow diagrams and matrix algebra. Matrix algebra, in particular, offers a structured approach to quantifying environmental impacts and is suitable for complex systems with multiple products and internal loops (Suh and Huppes, 2005). Table 2.1 provides standard notation and dimensions, along with descriptions for matrices and vectors typically employed in LCA.

Notation	Description	Dimension
А	Technology matrix representing process interactions	p  imes q
В	Intervention matrix detailing environmental exchanges	$r \times q$
С	Characterisation matrix for impact assessment	$p \times q$
f	Final demand vector in the context of the product system	$p \times 1$
h	Characterised inventory matrix or overall environmental impact	1 × 1
р	Number of products or commodities	-
q	Number of activities or processes	-
r	Number of elementary flows or environmental interventions	-

Table 2.1: Common notations in Life Cycle Assessment (LCA)

LCA seeks to assess the environmental impacts across a system's entire life cycle, from cradle to grave. The essence of LCA can be encapsulated in a single formula, which integrates these matrices and vectors:

$$h = CBA^{-1}f \tag{2.1}$$

In this equation, f represents the final demand for a product or service,  $A^{-1}f$  calculates the required inputs across the supply chain (life cycle inventory),  $BA^{-1}f$  quantifies the environmental interventions associated with satisfying this demand, and  $CBA^{-1}f$  characterises these interventions into measurable environmental impacts. To disaggregate the total environmental impact by process, enabling the identification of significant contributors or hotspots, the formula is adjusted as follows:

$$h_{\rm process} = CB \operatorname{diag}(A^{-1}f) \tag{2.2}$$

This modification allows for the allocation of the overall environmental burden to individual processes within the product system, highlighting areas where environmental performance improvements can have the most significant impact.

A key characteristic of the technology matrix is that it is often not square, reflecting the multifunctionality of product systems. Multi-functionality occurs when a process or a product system produces more than one function or output. In that case, there is a need for an allocation step that distributes the environmental burdens associated with the process or product system among its multiple outputs or functions (Finnveden et al., 2009). Allocation allows to transform a rectangular matrix into a square one to apply matrix inversion techniques. Several allocation approaches exist depending on the nature of the multi-functionality and the availability of data. They include:

- **Physical allocation** allocates environmental impacts based on physical relationships between the products. Common physical allocation bases include mass, volume, energy content, or other physical properties that reflect the causal relationship between the environmental burdens and the co-products.
- Economic allocation allocates environmental impacts based on the economic value of each co-product. This approach assumes that the economic value is a proxy for the environmental burden each product carries. Economic allocation is often used when physical relationships between the products do not adequately reflect their environmental burden distribution.
- **System expansion** also known as substitution or avoided burden, this method avoids allocation by expanding the system boundaries to include the additional functions of the co-products. The environmental benefits or burdens of the co-products are then accounted for within the expanded system, typically by crediting the system for avoiding the production of these functions elsewhere. It is closely associated with consequential LCA, as it better captures the environmental impacts of changes in system behavior over time.

#### A diversity of LCA approaches

LCA encompasses a variety of approaches, each tailored to specific objectives and methodological choices. Central to these approaches are attributional LCA (ALCA) and consequential LCA (CLCA), both core components of the ISO standards but differing in their focus and application. ALCA is primarily descriptive, aiming to quantify the environmental burdens associated with the physical flows in a product's life cycle and its subsystems. This approach typically uses average data representing the typical environmental impacts for producing a unit of a product or service within the system. It provides a snapshot of the environmental footprint of a product or service, based on existing production technologies and consumption patterns. In contrast, CLCA adopts a change-oriented perspective. It seeks to understand how environmental flows will vary in response to specific decisions or changes in the system. This approach often uses marginal data, focusing on the environmental effects of incremental changes in the output of goods or services. Consequential LCA is particularly relevant for policy analysis and decision-making, as it helps in understanding the environmental implications of potential changes in production or consumption patterns.

Туре	Description	Typical questions
Attributional LCA (ALCA)	Focuses on identifying global environmental impacts associated with a specific system's life cycle.	What is the current environmental impacts of a residential building in France?
Back-casting LCA (BLCA)	Aims to assess the life-cycle impacts of reaching a defined long-term target.	What is the necessary number of renovations operations in 2030 to reach an energy efficient building stock in 2050?
Consequential LCA (CLCA)	Aims to understand environmental consequences resulting from decisions, typically changes in product demand.	What are the consequences of an increased demand for timber construction?
Decisional LCA (DLCA)	Builds upon CLCA, using actual or expected financial interactions between economic agents for impact assessment.	Which effect does the decision to purchase an additional kWh of electricity have on the electricity market?
Integrated LCA (ILCA)	Integrates LCA with various modeling approaches (Input-Output Analysis, Integrated Assessment Models) to assess large-scale mitigation measures.	What is the economy-wide effects of a shift to 100% renewable electricity production in France?
Anticipatory LCA (NLCA)	A future-focused tool incorporating prospective models, decision theory, and diverse social perspectives.	What are the future environmental burdens associated with an emerging technology for extreme-case scenarios?
Prospective LCA (PLCA)	Estimates future life-cycle environmental impacts using scenario analysis.	What is the impacts of future buildings when accounting for the decarbonisation of electricity?
Scenario- based LCA (SLCA)	Uses scenarios for life-cycle, scenario, and valuation modeling to improve environmental performance.	What is the best scenario for improving the life-cycle performance of a single house in France?

**Table 2.2:** LCA approaches described in Guinée et al. (2018). Descriptions are generic while questions are focused on the building activities.

Beyond these two approaches, the LCA community has developed a diverse array of methodologies outside ISO and national standards, often referred to as an *'alphabet soup'* of LCA (Guinée et al., 2018). In particular, Guinée et al. (2018) propose a classification for explorative LCA methods, which focuses on future-oriented assessments. Table 2.2 outlines the main concepts behind the LCA method defined by Guinée et al. (2018), including typical questions.

Except for ALCA, all methods described aim to model the environmental effects of scenario-based changes, assessing the implications for future systems over varying timeframes. This perspective transcends the traditional dichotomy between ALCA and CLCA, allowing practitioners to select the methodology that best suits their needs for evaluating the consequences of modifications to current or future systems. In practice, LCA practitioners use methods that often blur the lines between these

different LCA categories. For example Maes et al. (2023) combines a consequential approach with a prospective perspective, specifically applied to the electricity sector.

While this typology focuses on future-oriented approaches, the combination of LCA with other methods has also emerged. Notably, LCA has been associated with absolute environmental sustainability assessments (AESA). This includes the development of LCIA methods based on environmental carrying capacities (Bjørn et al., 2015) and, subsequently, methods grounded in the Planetary Boundaries framework, known as PB-LCA (Ryberg et al., 2018).

#### **Prospective LCA**

Expanding the application of LCA to include guidance at macro level offers invaluable insights for understanding the environmental impacts of long-term changes, particularly in climate change mitigation efforts. Although traditional product-level consequential LCAs are effective in estimating indirect effects of changes, Guinée et al. (2011) note that *'It may be more realistic to start think-ing how more realistic, macroscopic scenarios for land use, water, resources and materials, and energy* (*top-down*) such as drafted by the IPCC [...] can be transposed to microscopic LCA scenarios'. This is increasingly relevant as systems evolve through technological advancements and efficiency gains, necessitating an understanding of both current and future impacts of low-carbon technologies on upstream energy generation and economic activities (Gibon et al., 2015). Thus, merging detailed LCA methods with broad scenarios presents a pragmatic path towards sustainable decision-making and long-term sustainability.

In LCA, variations in the model, input parameters, or external conditions are frequently described as scenarios thus blurring its meaning. Guidance on future-oriented LCA came from early studies and the efforts of the Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC). Notably, Fukushima and Hirao (2002) propose a first scenario-based LCA framework and Pesonen et al. (2000) define scenario in the context of LCA as 'a description of a possible future situation relevant for specific LCA applications, based on specific assumptions about the future, and (when relevant) also including the presentation of the development from the present to the future'. In this definition, scenarios encompass potential future situations, with each scenario potentially comprising one or more product alternatives for examination within the LCA framework. The frame of a scenario is included in the first step (goal and scope definition) and incorporates features like system boundary, technology levels, temporal or geographical aspects. The modelling of a scenario is incorporated within both the LCI and the LCIA phases. Pesonen et al. (2000) distinguish two basics approaches to scenario development in the LCA context:

• *'what-if'* scenarios. They are quantified, the topic is relatively simple and familiar to the modeler, and the objective is to investigate consequences of discrete assumptions and uncertainties. An example could relate to the assessment of using triple-glazed window instead of conventional window. Bisinella et al. (2021) notes that it can be misleading and lead to confusion as it is not aligned with the use of *'what-if'* by the foresight community, e.g. the definition given by Börjeson et al. (2006). • *'cornerstone'* scenarios. They have a more exploratory purpose, and are appropriate for new and complex fields, where the purpose is to gain knowledge and strategic information. An illustrative case might be the evaluation of adopting large-scale fungal insulation in building renovations.

They also distinguished **technology** scenarios, typically established in the LCI (for example, using traditional Portland cement versus alternative low-carbon cements in concrete production), and **environmental**, and **valuation** scenarios, defined in the LCIA, which refer to characterisation and weighting respectively. The characterisation step in LCIA involves quantifying and converting different environmental emissions and resource extractions into common impact indicators based on their potential environmental impacts. Weighting is a step that may follow characterisation, where different environmental impact categories are assigned relative importance or weights based on value choices. This process is more subjective and reflects societal, cultural, or individual preferences regarding the relative significance of different environmental impacts.

Since the first guidance, the evolution of LCA towards integrating scenarios stands as a crucial advancement over the last years. Indeed, the combined application of LCA and future-oriented studies has seen an exponential increase in interest, as half of the articles in this field were published after 2017, with the field of energy for large scale study being the most represented (Bisinella et al., 2021). Several recent literature review have been proposed such as Bisinella et al. (2021) and Arvidsson et al. (2023), while Thonemann et al. (2020), van der Giesen et al. (2020) and Moni et al. (2020) focusing on emerging technologies. However, the absence of formal guidance within ISO standard frameworks and the multiplication of studies have led to a proliferation of diverse practices, methods, terminologies, and concepts that lead to confusions. The first example is the use of the term 'scenario', which has been inconsistently applied, sometimes referring to technology alternatives or as a method to address uncertainty. Moreover, it is often not clear whether the foreground, the background or both are affected, and if the scenarios affect the present or a future point in time. Bisinella et al. (2021) propose a shared definition of scenario between the LCA and future studies communities defined as 'a set of aspects describing a specific situation at a specified time'. When the time frame reveals a future state, the scenario becomes a future scenario. In this case, any element in the LCA framework affected by future states should be communicated in a transparent fashion. The second example is the variety of terminologies used in the context of future-oriented LCA. In particular, how prospective and ex-ante LCA differ or are related lead to confusion inside the community, as in some cases, different terms refer to similar approaches, and in others, the same term is interpreted differently by different research groups (Bergerson et al., 2020). For example, the definition of prospective LCA used by Arvidsson et al. (2018) is aligned with the definition of ex-ante LCA used by Cucurachi et al. (2018). Arguably, the temporal positioning and technological maturity, often given in the reference to their Technology Readiness Level (TRL) are two key aspects that shape the terminology (Arvidsson et al., 2023), while the level of the maturity of the market in which the technology could be deployed also be included (Bergerson et al., 2020). In their review, Arvidsson et al. (2023) recommend to use the term prospective LCA and to keep others aspects (such as the TRL) for the goal and scope of the study.



Figure 2.4: Approaches for future-oriented scenario LCA (adapted from Bisinella et al. (2021))

Bisinella et al. (2021) provide an insightful analysis based on an extensive review of the literature on the integration of future studies and LCA methodologies. They observe that many studies fail to acknowledge or reference methodologies from future studies, leading to a gap in the comprehensive application of scenarios within the LCA framework. Specifically, a significant portion of these studies does not clearly define the type of scenario employed, even though 51% could be categorised as explorative and 42% as predictive. Additionally, there is a notable deficiency in the application of sensitivity and uncertainty analysis methods, which are rarely included. Based on these findings, they propose a structured framework to clarify how future studies and LCA methodologies can be coherently integrated. This framework outlines three principal approaches for incorporating future scenarios into LCA: input, output, and hybrid. The framework is illustrated in Figure 2.4.

As observed in the Figure, the classification depends on how LCA is positioned relative to the future scenarios, guiding the application of scenarios within the LCA process. Within each type (e.g. input, output, hybrid), specific subtypes (e.g., I1-I2-I3 for input, O1-O2-O3-O4 for output, and H1-H2-H3 for hybrid) are identified, based on the incorporation and role of additional models or databases. Among these, subtypes O1, O3, and H1 emerge as the most prevalent in the literature, accounting for 39%, 18%, and 16% of the articles reviewed, respectively.

A critical element in future-oriented LCA is maintaining consistency when applying changes to both the foreground system and the background system. Mendoza Beltran et al. (2018) emphasise the risk of temporal mismatches between these systems, which could lead to misleading outcomes and inappropriate recommendations for stakeholders. Methodologically, incorporating scenarios in prospective LCA necessitates modelers to consult additional, exogenous databases beyond traditional LCA resources. This approach aims to capture the evolution of future socio-economic and technological landscapes, thereby embracing uncertainties and enhancing temporal coherence in the LCA exercise.

The application of IAMs for scenario generation offers comprehensive global economic sector coverage, although challenges persist in aligning regional and sectoral specifics between IAMs and LCI databases, as well as extending environmental indicators beyond the typically emphasized climate metrics (Sacchi et al., 2022). This methodology has been successfully implemented across various domains, including battery and electric vehicles (Cox et al., 2018), mobility (Mendoza Beltran et al., 2018), building impacts (Zhang et al., 2024) and metal supplies (Harpprecht et al., 2021). However, oftentimes, only selected aspects (e.g., electricity) of the LCI database are modified. For a more accurate depiction of the future, ideally, comprehensive changes across all relevant aspects should be considered, accompanied by uncertainty and sensitivity analyses for both foreground and background systems (Mendoza Beltran et al., 2018).

The advent of prospective LCI databases marks a significant step forward in consistently representing future technologies and supply chains. These databases are created by blending existing LCI databases such as ecoinvent (Wernet et al., 2016) with scenario data from IAMs and additional sources. Typically, modifications to these databases cover three main aspects: the introduction of new technologies, the regionalisation of new or existing technologies, alterations to the market composition of existing technologies and changes in system efficiency (Sacchi et al., 2022). Given the number of processes potentially affected, manual updates are impractical. The THEMIS framework have introduced matrix multiplication method for updating the 2.2 ecoinvent version with IEA scenarios (Gibon et al., 2015). Recently, tools built on the Brightway2 suite (Mutel, 2017a) like wurst (Mutel, 2017b) and premise (Sacchi et al., 2022), enable modifications to the LCI database using information from two IAMs, namely IMAGE (van Vuuren et al., 2021) and REMIND (Baumstark et al., 2021). While these tools have undoubtedly improved the creation of prospective LCI databases, challenges persist in ensuring reproducibility and facilitating sharing among LCA practitioners, the IAM community, and public and private organizations. Initiatives like Futura (Joyce and Björklund, 2022) offer a solution by sharing a 'recipe file' that documents the changes made to the original database. Similarly, the unfold Python package (Sacchi, 2023b) employs data packages for this purpose. To accommodate the potential variety of background databases, the superstructure approach (Steubing and de Koning, 2021) simplifies the integration of different background databases within the Activity Browser interface (Steubing et al., 2020).

#### **Temporal issues in LCA**

The standard LCA methodology has traditionally been applied in a static manner. Temporal considerations are typically not modelled during the LCI stage. Subsequently environmental impacts are treated as occurring at a singular aggregated point in time (Beloin-Saint-Pierre et al., 2020). This approach overlooks the temporal dynamics of systems and environmental impacts, a limitation acknowledged within the ISO framework and tackled by pioneering studies. Notably, Levasseur et al. (2010) have introduced dynamic LCI considering the temporal profile of emissions as well as time-dependant characterisation factor.

Lueddeckens et al. (2020) provide a comprehensive review of temporal issues in LCA, identifying six main categories namely time horizon, discounting, temporal resolution of the inventory, time-

Term	Description
Time Horizon	'Relative temporal scope over which environmental impacts are summed up to provide LCA results.'
Dynamic LCI	'LCI that is calculated from supply and value chains where dynamic of systems or temporal differentiation is considered, resulting in temporal distributions to describe elementary flows.'
Dynamic LCIA	'Characterisation models of environmental mechanisms that account for the dynamic of ecosphere systems and can therefore use temporal information of DLCIs.'
Dynamic LCA	<i>'LCA studies where relevant dynamic of systems and/or temporal differentiation of flows are explicitly defined and considered.'</i>
Discounting	Changing value or importance of environmental impacts over time.
Dynamic weighting	Changing significance assigned to different environmental impact categories over time.
Dynamic normalisation	Updating the reference values against which LCA results are compared, reflecting changes in the broader environmental or societal context.

 Table 2.3: Glossary of terms relative to temporal issues in LCA inspired from (Beloin-Saint-Pierre et al., 2020)

dependent characterisation factor, dynamic weighting and time-dependent normalisation. Table 2.3 provides a glossary of terms relative to temporal issues in LCA.

The most important part of a dynamic LCA includes identifying time-dependent environmental impacts, selecting an appropriate temporal resolution, and compiling a LCI that accurately reflects time-specific data. These steps are crucial for capturing the dynamic interplay between a system and its environmental impacts over time, providing a more accurate representation of reality. Dynamic characterisation in LCA specifically refers to the process of assessing the environmental impact of an inventory item (such as 1t of  $CO_2$ ) using characterisation factors that take into account changes over time in how that emission affects the environment. This approach is based on the understanding that the environmental impact of a given emission can vary due to changes in environmental conditions, background concentrations, or the relative sensitivity of the environment and human health to that emission over time. For example, the impact of  $CO_2$  emissions on global warming might be modeled differently if the capacity of ecosystems to absorb  $CO_2$  changes over time, or if background levels of  $CO_2$  and other GHG vary, altering the overall contribution to climate change.

Addressing temporal issues in LCA adds complexity but significantly enhances the assessment's accuracy and relevance. By incorporating temporal considerations, LCA practitioners can better understand the environmental impacts of systems over time. The consensus within the research community highlights the enhancement of LCA methodologies through the inclusion of dynamic LCI data and time-dependent characterisation factor. Overlooking these temporal dimensions is acknowledged as a simplification that may occasionally result in bias decisions (Lueddeckens et al., 2020).

The significance of temporal dynamics is especially pronounced for long-lived assets like buildings. Negishi et al. (2018) highlights various time-sensitive and dynamic factors that influence these assets, including: a) the performance degradation of construction products over time, along with their replacement and the adoption of new technologies; b) similar degradation in energy equipment and the introduction of novel technologies for harnessing renewable resources; c) variations in occupant behaviour, such as changes in occupancy typology and thermal comfort preferences; d) shifts in the energy mix; e) advancements in end-of-life technologies, including the options for material disposal versus reuse and recycling; and f) the balance of carbon uptake and emissions, particularly in the context of biogenic carbon.

#### **Building LCA**

LCA is increasingly recognised in the building and construction industry as one of the main tools to provide a holistic accounting of environmental impacts. A prominent example is LCA's mandatory incorporation into France's Environmental Regulation (RE2020), which mandates the calculation of both operational and embodied environmental impacts for new construction projects. This integration testifies the growing importance of LCA in guiding sustainable construction practices and policy-making. This sub-section looks at building LCA from a micro-perspective, looking at LCA for construction products and individual buildings. Meso and macro analysis of building stocks are covered in Section 2.2.

To conduct a building LCA, data on construction products and equipment are essential. At the product level, Environmental Product Declarations (EPDs), guided by EN-15804 and ISO14025, offer vital environmental profiles for construction products, streamlining data collection and potentially overcoming barriers to the widespread adoption of LCA (Fnais et al., 2022). In France, the INIES database<sup>6</sup> serves as the national reference for building product EPDs.

Despite their utility, notable challenges have emerged, including the differences in environmental emission coefficients between EPDs and LCI databases (Lasvaux et al., 2015), as well as concerns regarding transparency and comparability (Moré et al., 2022). Furthermore, while 75% of data originate from process-based methodologies (Chae et al., 2023), Crawford et al. (2022) advocate for hybrid approaches (detailed in Section 2.1.5) with Australia's EPiC database, which provides hybrid coefficients for nearly 300 construction materials.

At the core of building LCA is the European Standard EN-15978, which offers a standardised methodology for the calculation of building LCA, delineating the life cycle into five distinct stages: Product, Construction, Use, End-of-life, and Benefits beyond the system boundary. Figure 6.3a illustrates these four distinct stages along with their sub-phases (e.g A1-A3, A4-A5, B1-B5, B6-B7, C1-C4 and D), and in relation to the life-cycle philosophy considered, e.g. from cradle to gate to cradle to cradle.

This standard clarifies the categorisation of operational and embodied impacts, facilitating a comprehensive analysis of a building's environmental footprint. Operational impacts typically fall under the Use stage (B6-B7), while embodied impacts encompass all other stages, where upfront impacts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>https://www.inies.fr/



Figure 2.5: EN-15978 modules and stages framed in the operational/embodied framework

cover product and construction stages. Research compiling hundreds of building LCA case studies highlights the increasing significance of embodied emissions, especially in new, energy-efficient buildings (Röck et al., 2018). It should be noted that the EN-15978 also stands for assessing the environmental impacts of building renovations.

Fnais et al. (2022) review current research, challenges, and future directions in building LCA. They particularly emphasise the need for greater integration with Building Information Modeling (BIM) alongside optimisation and machine learning techniques to manage uncertainties. The use of dynamic, regionalised, and temporally-explicit LCI data are notable challenges which can help improve building LCA's precision and consistency. The need to integrate LCA during the design phase is also critical for minimising embodied impacts.

## 2.1.4 Input-Output Analysis (IOA)

This section presents an overview of Input-Output Analysis (IOA), focusing particularly on its Multi-Regional variant. The application of IOA in forward-looking studies is also discussed.

#### Introduction

Input-Output Analysis (IOA) is a methodology that examines the interconnections and interdependencies of sectors within an economy, showing how outputs from one sector are inputs to other sectors. It is a well-established and extensively studied methodology, with Miller and Blair (2009) being widely recognised as a reference manual in the literature. Developed by economist Wassily Leontief in the 1930s, IOA was initially intended for economic production planning (Leontief, 1936). In the 1970s, the methodology evolves to include environmental and social assessments through satellite accounts, leading to the development of Environmentally-Extended Input-Output Tables (EE-IOT) (Leontief, 1970). This adaptation provides a comprehensive framework for understanding the environmental impacts of various production and consumption patterns.

IOA is not without limitations, which are well identified in literature. These includes:

- Aggregation issues: IOA often requires the aggregation of different industries and products into broader categories, which can mask the nuances and specificities of individual industries. This aggregation may lead to oversimplifications, affecting the precision of the analysis, especially in diverse and complex economies. For example, aggregating all agricultural commodities into a single 'Agriculture' sector can result in significant errors. Besides, in the context of EE-IOA, monetary IOT and satellite accounts may use different classifications systems which causes problems in their integration. Lenzen (2011) demonstrates that disaggregating monetary IOT is superior to aggregating environmental data in broad sectors in the context of determining multipliers.
- **Static nature**: Traditional IOA models are static and do not easily account for changes over time, such as technological advancements, shifts in consumer behavior, or policy interventions. This limitation makes it difficult to use IOA alone for forecasting or assessing dynamic economic processes.
- **Proportional assumptions**: A common assumption is that the input structure (i.e., the proportion of various inputs used) for a given sector is uniform across all outputs of that sector. For instance, if a sector produces multiple products, it is assumed that the proportion of raw materials, labor, and other inputs used to produce each product is the same.
- Data quality and availability: the accuracy of IOA depends heavily on the quality and availability of the underlying economic and environmental data. In some cases, especially for smaller or less-developed regions, data might be outdated, incomplete, or not detailed enough.

#### **Computational structure of IOA**

The foundational elements of Input-Output Tables (IOTs) are the Supply and Use Tables (SUTs), which meticulously detail the production and consumption patterns of products across various industries. The Supply Table catalogues the output from different industries alongside imports, whereas the Use Table delineates the distribution of these outputs across sectors and their ultimate consumption. Transitioning from SUTs to IOTs involves two principal methodologies (Eurostat, 2008):

- The commodity technology model assumes that products from an industry have uniform input structures, regardless of their usage.
- The industry technology model suggests that each industry produces a distinct product.

Environmental Extended Input-Output Analysis (EE-IOA) employs a series of matrices, detailed in Table 2.4, to model the economic and environmental interactions within an economy:

Notation	Description
X	Total output vector indicating the total production of each sector.
у	Final demand vector showing the demand for goods and services by external consumers.
Z	Inter-industry flow matrix showing how each sector's output is used as inputs by other sectors.
А	Technical coefficients matrix, derived from Z, representing the input required from each sector to produce one unit of output.
В	Environmental extension matrix indicating direct environmental impacts per unit of output from each sector.
F	Environmental footprint matrix that quantifies the total, direct and indirect, environmental impact associated with the final demand.
V	Value-added matrix representing the additional value created at each stage of production in each sector (e.g. capital, labor, taxes).

Table 2.4: Description of matrices in Input-Output Analysis

In IOA, these matrices are pivotal for conducting consumption-based impact accounting through the Leontief production framework and its extensions to environmental footprint assessments, embodied in the following equations:

$$x = Zx + y \tag{2.3}$$

This foundational IOA equation delineates that an economy's production (x) fulfills two primary roles: supplying inter-industry consumption (Zx) and meeting final consumption (y). Here, x and y are vectors, while Z is the inter-industry flow matrix, mapping out the utilisation of outputs as inputs across sectors. The Z matrix is then transformed into the Leontief inverse (I - A)<sup>-1</sup>, where Idenotes the identity matrix and A the technical coefficients matrix. The equation is then transformed to:

$$x = (I - A)^{-1}y \tag{2.4}$$

Where x calculates the total (direct and indirect) inputs required to satisfy a unit of final demand (y).

Finally, the equation that extends the model for environmental analysis by calculating the direct and indirect environmental impacts of production to meet final demand (y) is the following :

$$F = B(I - A)^{-1}y (2.5)$$

Where *F* represents the environmental footprint matrix, which quantifies the total environmental impact associated with the final demand *y*. *B* is the satellite matrix, indicating direct environmental burdens or impacts per unit of output from each sector (such as  $CO_2$  emissions per unit of output).

#### Environmentally-Extended Multi-Regional Input-Output (EE-MRIO)

Multi-Regional Input-Output Tables (MRIOT) expands the conventional input-output analysis framework to encompass multiple regions or countries, enhancing the capacity to analyze global trade impacts and inter-regional dependencies. Unlike standard IOA, which typically focuses on a single region, MRIOA integrates international trade by specifying the geographic origins of economic activities. This allows for a more comprehensive understanding of global supply chains and their environmental implications.

The transformation of the Z and Y matrices in MRIOT to include sub-matrices reflects this expanded scope. This refinement enables a detailed assessment of the origins and destinations of products and services across global networks. In a MRIOT, the Z matrix described in Table 2.4 contains sub matrices and is noted:

$$\mathbf{Z} = \begin{pmatrix} Z_{11} & Z_{12} & \cdots & Z_{1r} \\ Z_{21} & Z_{22} & \cdots & Z_{2r} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ Z_{r1} & Z_{r2} & \cdots & Z_{rr} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.6)

Where each sub-matrix  $Z_{i,i}$  represents the domestic interactions for each industry while off diagonal matrices  $Z_{i,j}$  describe the international trade from region *i* to region *j* for each industry.

Similarly, the y vector described in Table 2.4 is transformed into a matrix and is noted:

$$\mathbf{Y} = \begin{pmatrix} Y_{11} & Y_{12} & \cdots & Y_{1r} \\ Y_{21} & Y_{22} & \cdots & Y_{2r} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ Y_{r1} & Y_{r2} & \cdots & Y_{rr} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.7)

Where  $Y_{i,i}$  represents the final demand satisfied by domestic production and  $Y_{i,j}$  the direct imports from country *i* to satisfy final demand in country *j*.

The wider availability of economic and environmental data as well as the computational progress have enabled the development of multiple MRIO databases that bring more details (Wiedmann, 2009). The development of MRIO databases has enabled its growing use in environmental studies, particularly in calculating various environmental footprints like carbon, water, and resource use (Ma-lik et al., 2019). It has proven instrumental in tracing the origins of emissions or resource use across global supply chains, offering insights into the environmental pressures of energy use, greenhouse gas emissions, material use, water use, and land use. This approach has facilitated the assessment of both absolute and relative decoupling of these environmental indicators from economic growth and population, as well as the dynamics of consumption, trade, and environmental impacts over time (Wood et al., 2018b).

Several MRIO databases have been developed, each with unique features and scopes. These databases include the World Input-Output Database (WIOD) (Timmer et al., 2015), EORA (Lenzen and Rueda-
Cantuche, 2012), Global Trade Analysis Project (GTAP) (Aguiar et al., 2019), and Exiobase 3 (Stadler et al., 2018a), among others. Table 2.5 offers a comparison of these databases in relation to key indicators such as sectoral and geographical resolution, temporal coverage and environmental extensions.

Database	Developing team/project	Details			
WIOD	Consortium led by University of Groningen	56 sectors; 43 countries + RoW; Annually (1995-2014); Focus on manufacturing and business services sectors			
EORA	University of Sydney	Up to 400 sectors (by country); 187 countries; Annually (1990-2014); 35 environmental indicators; Social accounts			
GTAP	Center for Global Trade Analysis, Purdue University	57 sectors; 140 countries; Periodic updates; CO2 emissions and labor skill categories			
Exiobase 3	Developed under the EXIOPOL, CREEA, and DESIRE projects	200 sectors; 44 countries + 5 RoW; Annually (2000-2013); Detailed in agriculture, forestry, mining, and energy			

Table 2.5: Comparison of the main MRIO	databases
--	-----------

In terms of environmental extensions, Exiobase stands as particularly consistent (Malliet, 2020), and is used in several EU countries for official consumption-based accounts (Haut conseil pour le climat, 2020). While giving powerful information for policy-making, MRIO inherits from uncertainties from single region IO and introduces new ones that are detailed below:

- **Regional disaggregation**: This difficulty arises from the varying levels of economic development, industrial structures, and data availability across regions, potentially leading to inaccuracies in regional analysis.
- Exchange rate fluctuations: Exchange rates significantly impact the valuation of international trade in MRIO. Variability in currency values can skew import and export valuations, leading to discrepancies when comparing data over time or between countries. Adjustments, such as using a standard currency or purchasing power parity, are often necessary to normalise these fluctuations.
- Trade flow matrices: Accurately representing and recording trade flows between sectors and regions is crucial yet challenging. Discrepancies in trade data recording, classification standards, and data collection time lags can affect the precision of the results.
- Allocation principles: Notably, the choice for emission allocation between the residence principle, used in the System of National Accounts (SNA) and territorial principles, used in national emission inventory impacts MRIO results. The residence principle, which accounts for activ-

ities undertaken by a country's residents regardless of location, contrasts with the territorial principle that focuses on activities within a country's borders, irrespective of who conducts them. This choice affects how emissions are allocated within the emissions vector. The **territory principle**, used in UNFCCC greenhouse gas inventories, allocates emissions to the geographical location where they occur. This is appropriate for tracking emissions relative to national commitments and targets under international agreements. The **residence principle**, often used in MRIOA, allocates economic activity and emissions to the entities (individuals or corporations) responsible for them, regardless of where the emissions physically occur. This is useful for understanding the environmental impacts of consumption patterns, especially in a globalised economy where production and consumption can occur in different regions. The residence principle is recommended for consistency in consumption accounts (Owen et al., 2016).

• Harmonisation of satellite accounts: Harmonising satellite accounts shows that carbon footprint results for major economies disagree by less than 10% between MRIO models (Moran and Wood, 2014). However, differences in domestic emission inventories and consumption estimates are primary causes of variation.

Key areas of future research include the development of city and subnational MRIO databases, which can offer more localised insights into consumption impacts. An example is given by Wiedmann et al. (2016) with the concept of 'City Carbon Maps' for the city of Melbourne in Australia. Additionally, the integration of social indicators into MRIO databases opens new avenues for analysing supply-chain effects on employment, inequality, poverty, occupational health and safety, labor, and gender equity (Malik et al., 2019).

A significant challenge in applying IOA to LCI (see Section 2.1.5) is the scarcity of sector-specific environmental data in many countries. Available emission inventory databases, while useful, often differ in detail, base year, and industry classification, complicating the construction of comprehensive sectoral environmental datasets (Lenzen, 2011).

### **Prospective studies in IOA**

In the realm of IOA, prospective studies or scenario-based analyses necessitate methodologies that extend beyond the inherently static nature of traditional IOA, as discussed in Section 2.1.3. Scenarios in IOA are typically implemented by simulating an exogenous shock, affecting various matrices such as the technical coefficients matrix (A), final demand (Y), or environmental stressors (B). Tools like the MARIO module facilitate transparent simulations of these scenarios (Tahavori et al., 2023). Examples of transformation include for instance, incorporating changes in energy use, investment structures for energy technologies, or variations in household expenditure patterns (Wiebe et al., 2018).

Effective exploration of future implications requires coupling IOA with forward-looking models like IAMs (detailed in Section 2.1.2). The integration of IAMs with IOA, including hybrid methods that combine IOA and LCA, offers a comprehensive approach, merging the strengths of both methodolo-

gies. IAMs provide a forward-looking perspective, often with a focus on technological transformations, but they typically lack a life-cycle perspective and the detailed analysis of supply chains beyond energy systems. Conversely, IOA comprehensively captures environmental and economic dimensions of global supply chains but falls short in dynamic assessments and fails to account for technological advancements.

Lefèvre (2023) reviews the integration of IOA (including hybrid methods with an IOA focus) and IAMs, highlighting that this field is still in its nascent stages. The majority of studies use a softlinking approach in a unidirectional manner. One common application is integrating IAM results into IO models for prospective analysis. Examples include Wiebe et al. (2018), who applied IEA ETP 2°C and 6°C scenarios to modify the Exiobase 3 database, focusing on the energy sector. They implemented changes to energy use coefficients, investment structures for energy technologies, and household expenditure structures. Similarly, De Koning et al. (2016) implemented BAU, technological, and 2°C scenarios, including behavioral changes, in the Exiobase 2000 version. In the context of hybrid methods, studies like Hertwich et al. (2015) investigate the life-cycle environmental impacts of deploying low-carbon energy sources, incorporating energy technology developments. These studies extensively use the THEMIS model (Gibon et al., 2015), which represents a state-of-the-art integration of hybrid analysis and prospective models.

The less common approach involves applying IO results to IAMs, such as including life-cycle emission coefficients within IAMs (Pehl et al., 2017) or questioning the robustness of IAMs' optimal solutions when incorporating indirect emission factors (McDowall et al., 2018).

For future research directions, Lefèvre (2023) suggests focusing on the energy-industry nexus, integrating a broader range of environmental indicators aligned with the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), and incorporating social aspects related to justice. Additionally, the coupling makes possible to explore post-growth scenarios by including additional demand-side solutions in IAMs.

# 2.1.5 Hybrid LCA-IOA

This section explores the parallels and distinctions between IOA and LCA, leading to the development of hybrid methodologies that integrate the advantages of both frameworks.

## Introduction

Both IOA and LCA are essential tools for evaluating environmental impacts. LCA focuses on the impacts associated with specific products or services with its bottom-up approach. In contrast, IOA offers a broader perspective, encompassing entire economies through its top-down approach. They both share a common goal of understanding the total inputs required to produce a specific output including both direct and indirect contributions.

Hybrid methods emerge as a state-of-the-art solution to address the limitations of both IOA and LCA, as their strengths and weaknesses appear complementary (Suh and Huppes, 2005). In particular, they address the already mentioned issues related to sector aggregation in IOA and truncation errors in LCA, that are often due to data limitations or complexity, and which can lead to incomplete

assessments of environmental impacts and potentially misleading results. In particular, *upstream* truncations involves omitting certain stages or processes at the beginning of a system's supply chain due to constraints like time, budget, or data availability (e.g. extraction or initial processing stages of raw materials), *downstream* truncations occurs when intermediate manufacturing processes are not included in the analysis and *sideways* truncation happens when certain processes are excluded from analysis due to their perceived minor contribution, lack of data, or unawareness of their importance.

Table 2.6 offers a comparison of process-based, IO-based and hybrid LCI, detailed their advantages and disadvantages.

Method	Pros	Cons
Process-based LCI	Detailed and specific to the studied system. High accuracy for direct emissions and resource use. Specific to processes or materials.	Time-consuming. High potential for truncation error. Requires detailed process data.
IO-based LCI	Covers entire economy, minimising truncation error. Efficient for capturing indirect effects. Useful for large-scale and sectoral assessments.	Less detailed for specific products. Potential for aggregation error.
Hybrid LCI	Combines the strengths of both process-based and IO-based approaches. Improves accuracy for both direct and indirect emissions.	More complex and resource-intensive to conduct. Requires expertise in both process-based and IO-based methods. Potential issues with double-counting

### Table 2.6: Comparison of LCI methods

Hybrid methods aims to combine both IOA and LCA's strength, offering the comprehensive economic scope of IOA with the detailed product-specific analysis of LCA. By leveraging the strengths of both IOA and LCA, hybrid methods provide a more complete picture of environmental impacts. On one hand, hybrid models can disaggregate broad economic sectors into more specific categories, enhancing the precision of impact assessments. On the other hand, by incorporating broader economic data from IOA, hybrid methods can fill the gaps left by LCA's truncation issues, providing a more holistic view of environmental impacts. Notable limitations of hybrids methods are the complexity of such approaches, as well as potential issues with remaining truncations (Agez et al., 2021) and double-counting (Agez et al., 2020).

One notable limitation of IOA is its focus on the pre-consumer stages of a product's life cycle, leaving subsequent stages beyond its analytical boundary. Additionally, the data underpinning IO-based LCI often predates that of process-based approaches, owing to the extended timeline required to publish IO tables from industry surveys (Suh and Huppes, 2005).

Hybrid LCA seeks to overcome the constraints of sector-specific data scarcity and the temporal lag in IO table publication, merging process-based and IO-based LCA frameworks into a cohesive model. This model captures the microstructure of product systems alongside the macroeconomic environ-

ment, effectively bridging the gap between detailed process interdependencies and the broader economic interactions.

## **Reconciling LCA and IOA computational structure**

Both LCA and IOA share a common mathematical foundation in linear algebra that facilitates the development of hybrid models combining the detailed process analysis of LCA with the economic breadth of IOA. Heijungs et al. (2022) outlines how both process-based LCA and IO-based LCA use matrix computations to assess environmental impacts, but they apply different foundational matrices due to their distinct approaches to modelling the economy and environmental interactions.

Table 2.7 provides a comparison between the different elements of both LCA and IOA already presented respectively in Table 2.1 and Table 2.4.

Element	Description for LCA	Element	<b>Description for IOA</b>
A (technology matrix)	Commodity x process matrix (usually not square), representing direct inputs required for one unit of output in each process. Inputs are < 0, outputs are > 0	A (technical coefficient matrix)	Square matrix, (industry x industry or product x product), representing direct inputs required per unit of output. Only positive signs.
B (interven- tion matrix)	Matrix linking processes to emissions or resource extractions, quantifying environmental interventions per unit of process output.	B (satellite matrix)	Accounts for environmental or social externalities not priced in the market, linked to economic sectors, quantifying interventions per unit of economic activity.
f (functional unit)	Vector of final demand (n×1), defining the scope of the product system under study in terms of the output function.	y (final demand)	Vector of final consumption by households, government, and exports, driving the demand for industry outputs.
$A^{-1}f$ (life cycle inventory)	Calculation of total inputs and emissions across the life cycle for a given functional unit, based on the technology matrix inverse.	<i>x</i> (total production)	Vector of total output by each sector needed to meet final demand, calculated using the Leontief inverse.
A <sup>-1</sup>	Technology matrix inverse, used to calculate direct and indirect inputs per unit of process output.	$(I - A)^{-1}$	Leontief inverse, the matrix used to calculate total (direct and indirect) inputs required per unit of final demand.

Table 2.7: Comparison between LCA and IOA frameworks adapted from Heijungs and Suh (2002)

A notable analogy exists between LCA's technology matrix and IOA's transaction matrix (Heijungs and Suh, 2002). In LCA, the technology matrix aligns commodities (rows) with processes (columns). It details the inputs and outputs for each process in terms of product flows like fuel or electricity. This matrix captures both inputs and outputs, with outputs distinguished by negative signs. Conversely,

the transaction matrix in IOA records the inputs in terms of outputs from other processes. This matrix is process-oriented, with each column representing a process's inputs only, simplifying the outputs as a single aggregated output per process. A key difference lies in the structural configuration of the matrices: the square nature of the *A* matrix in IOA eliminates the need for further allocation steps required in LCA to convert a rectangular matrix into a square one. Also, the *A* matrix in LCA does not deal with annual transaction records, and is more focused on physical flows (Suh, 2004).

Furthermore, the Leontief inverse in IOA and the inverse of the technology matrix in LCA serve analogous roles but offer different perspectives: the former provides an economy-wide view, while the latter focuses on specific product supply chains. The concept of the functional unit in LCA is akin to the final demand vector in IOA, where the LCA's functional unit is represented as a zero vector except at one position, signifying the product of interest. Similarly, the LCI in LCA parallels the total production vector in IOA.

#### Typologies of hybrid methods

Despite being used for several decades, there is lack of consistent terminology to describe hybrid LCI methods which complicates the understanding of these methods and their applicability in life-cycle studies. Conventional terms like 'process-based' and 'input-output-based' to define hybrid methods can be misleading, as they are not precise enough to fully capture the essence of the hybridisation method employed.

Suh and Huppes (2005) provides a comprehensive comparison of different hybrid LCI methods including tiered hybrid analysis, IO-based hybrid analysis, and integrated hybrid analysis. Crawford et al. (2018) proposes an updated typology by placing them in the spectrum between process-based and IO-based which are seen as two extremes in hybrid methods. Figure 2.6 proposes a visualisation of the four described methods. Table 2.8 summarises the key elements of each technique displayed in Figure 2.6, along with their advantages and disadvantages. Crawford et al. (2018) points a lack of clarity in how hybrid methods are described in studies, making them hard to reproduce. Additionally, there is a general lack of awareness about the potential benefits of using hybrid methods over conventional approaches. The lack of tools or software for hybrid LCI methods poses additional barriers for non specialists.

### **Capital formation in IOA and LCA**

Capital goods are goods used during the production of goods and services that outlives the production process, such as factories, machineries or buildings. They play a pivotal role in production processes and significantly impact the environment. In national accounts, the treatment of capital goods involves key concepts like Gross Fixed Capital Formation (GFCF), Consumption of Fixed Capital (CFC), and Gross Capital Stock (GCS). GFCF refers to the value of a producer's new acquisitions of fixed assets, CFC represents the value reduction in fixed assets used in production, and GCS indicates the value of all fixed assets still in use at current prices, regardless of the assets' age (Eurostat, 2008). In short, the GFCF contains the new additions to the capital stock that will be used in the production of future goods and services, while the CFC describes the depreciation of the capital stock



Figure 2.6: Hybrid LCI methods from Crawford et al. (2018)
Notations: (a) Tiered, (b) Path Exchange, (c) Matrix Augmentation - sector disaggregation, (d) Matrix augmentation - new sector, (e) Integrated

Method	Description	Pros	Cons
Tiered Hybrid	Integrates process and input-output data, using process data for specific analyses and input-output data for broader economic impacts.	Flexible system boundaries, reduces truncation error.	Potential for double counting, subjective boundary definitions.
Path Exchange Hybrid	Disaggregates the input-output matrix for customisation of the supply chain, modifying specific nodes with process data.	Enables detailed supply chain customisation.	Complex and time-consuming.
Matrix Augmentation	Modifies the input-output matrix by adding new sectors or disaggregating existing ones for specific product/service analysis.	Resolves aggregation error, precise assessment.	Potential reverberation issues, assumes similar output structure for new sectors.
Integrated Hybrid	Combines process and input-output data within a single matrix, linking detailed process data with broader economic sectors.	Comprehensive analysis, detailed integration.	Computational complexity, potential for double counting.

Table 2.8: Summary of hybrid LCI methods described in Crawford et al. (2018)

currently in use (Agez et al., 2021). In national accounts, both CFC and GFCF are aggregated by product type without stating the destination sector, and the statistics about which sectors use which capital stock is inexistent.

Capital goods play a crucial role in production processes and have significant environmental impacts. In 2015, GFCF was comparable to the direct emissions from industry globally (Hertwich and Wood, 2018) and is a more important final-demand category driver of emissions than household and government consumption (Hertwich, 2021). In the context of a transition towards more renewables integration, which are known to be more capital intensive (Hertwich et al., 2015), the integration of capital formation and its dynamics in prospective environmental assessments is particularly important (Andrieu et al., 2023).

Yet, the environmental impacts of capital goods, which often last several years, are accounted for differently in IOA and LCA. In process-based LCA, capital inputs are included within unit process inventories, with their impacts allocated over the total output they help produce during their lifetime. In contrast, IOA treats capital goods separately from the manufacture of products/services. Indeed, the GFCF is reported in a separate final demand category, while the CFC is reported in the value added matrix. Consequently, even though capital goods are essential to production processes akin to intermediate goods, they are not allocated to the products/services using these capital goods (Agez et al., 2021). This discrepancy may lead to underestimations of impacts in the footprint calculations of products involved in supply chains heavily reliant on significant capital goods (Steubing and

de Koning, 2021). This allocation also contrasts with a life-cycle perspective, wherein the impacts of production are encompassed within the final footprint of the sector or products (Södersten et al., 2018a).

Recent developments in MRIOA have addressed this by endogenising (e.g. integrating) capital transactions in the Exiobase database (Södersten et al., 2018a). This approach allocates emissions from capital goods to final consumption, revealing that incorporating capital goods significantly increases the carbon footprint of final consumption, as seen in several countries, and amplifies current patterns of bilaterally traded emissions (Södersten et al., 2018b). In practice, the endogenisation of capital goods lies in the integration of a capital matrix (*K*) alongside the traditional transaction matrix (*A*), linking capital formation emissions directly to production. Environmental impacts due to capital formation are thus connected to the production of products in IO by adding *A* and *K*.

# 2.2 Life-cycle modelling of building stocks

This section delves into building stock modelling techniques with an emphasis on bottom-up methodologies. It examines the challenges involved in accurately representing buildings across diverse scales and outlines approaches for linking these approaches with the previously described environmental assessment methods in order to calculate both operational and embodied impacts. Additionally, it discusses the significance of spatial and temporal dynamics within the context of the life-cycle modelling of building stocks.

## 2.2.1 Introduction

Building Stock Models (BSMs) provide a method for evaluating the environmental impacts associated with building inventories. They also facilitate the identification of opportunities for mitigation by considering the demands for energy and materials alongside technological solutions at the stock level (Nägeli et al., 2018). They have emerged as pivotal tools for assessing the environmental impacts of buildings and devising mitigation strategies to understand policy implications (Sandberg et al., 2021). When used in static analysis, the term 'building stock' refers to the existing buildings in the stock at a particular point in time, while flows correspond to the addition (e.g. new construction), modification (e.g. renovation) or removal (e.g. demolition) of buildings within the stock. In dynamic analysis, the building stock encompasses not only the existing buildings but also includes the new construction and renovation flows, as they are accounted in the stock in subsequent years (Lanau et al., 2019).

Comprehensive reviews, such as Mastrucci et al. (2017) and Röck et al. (2021), have explored BSMs in conjunction with LCA, predominantly focusing on residential buildings at multiple scales. Urban studies, which in addition to building stocks often include mobility, have been reviewed by Lotteau et al. (2015) and Mirabella et al. (2019). In the realm of building stock energy models and Urban Building Energy Models (UBEM), notable recent reviews include Langevin et al. (2020) and Johari et al. (2020). While the number of studies is rising, research is still needed to provide high quality information at large scale (Stephan, 2022).

Mastrucci et al. (2017) delineate three critical components essential for the environmental analysis of building stocks: building stock aggregation, energy modeling, and LCA. Building stock aggregation encompasses the delineation of the buildings or archetypes under study, their categorisation, and the extrapolation of their results. Röck et al. (2021) structure their review around 22 studies, selected for their environmental modeling of building stocks and the examination of spatio-temporal dynamics pertinent to future development. They identify six primary modules integral to this analysis:

- 1. **Building stock characterisation** involves defining representative buildings or archetypes, and, when necessary, data processing for a building-by-building aggregation approach.
- 2. **Building stock aggregation** aggregates information from materials and energy modeling, scaling up to the building stock level.
- 3. Material modelling focuses on modeling building components and materials.
- 4. Energy modelling helps to determines the operational energy demand.
- 5. Life-cycle impact assessment quantifies environmental impacts using characterisation factors.
- 6. Visualisation and reporting it enhances understanding and communication of findings.

The next section will focus on building stock characterisation and aggregation, material and energy modelling. It will also address the spatial and temporal dynamics of building stocks, which are particularly important in the context of prospective studies.

# 2.2.2 Methods for building stock characterisation and aggregation

The process of building stock aggregation emerges as a critical approach for evaluating the environmental impacts of buildings at broader scale, transitioning from the granularity of individual buildings to the broad scope of urban, regional, national and even transnational building stocks. It answers to the question: *how to describe the entire building stock under study?* 

This process is generally categorised into top-down and bottom-up approaches. Top-down methods leverage macro-economic or other aggregated statistics for a broad-strokes view of building stocks. Bottom-up approaches delve into the specifics of individual stock components, later extrapolating these detailed analyses to represent larger stocks. They provide a more detailed and localised understanding of energy and material usage (Müller et al., 2014). Within the bottom-up paradigm, two primary methodologies stand out: the archetypes approach and the building-by-building approach. Table 2.9 describes the main characteristics, strengths and limits of both approaches.

The choice of aggregation approach for building stock modelling is significantly influenced by the size of the stock. According to Röck et al. (2021), the archetype approach currently predominates, with larger stocks tending to utilise fewer archetypes relative to the number of buildings. This raises questions about the methods used to define archetypes and whether they are sufficiently detailed to capture the stock's heterogeneity. Building-by-building approaches are typically applied at smaller scales. However, the increasing availability of granular data, such as building geometry data, could

gation		
	Archetype approach	Building-by-building approach
Description	Classifies the building stock into a set of representative archetypes based on common characteristics like age, size, and house type.	Analyses either each building individually or a representative sample of them, and aggregates the results to represent the entire stock.
Strengths		
	• Simplifies the analysis of diverse building stocks.	• Provides detailed, building-specific insights.
	• Facilitates scenario planning and estimation of	• Captures the variability within the stock more accurately.
	environmental impacts for large populations.	• Enables precise environmental performance assessments.
	• Minimises data requirement.	
Limits		
	Potential over-simplification.	• Data-intensive and potentially impractical for large stocks.
	<ul> <li>Might not capture the full diversity and variability of the</li> </ul>	• Challenges in scaling and
	building stock.	aggregating results.
	• Relies on assumptions for archetype classification.	• Requires extensive databases and can be time-consuming.

Table 2.9:	Comparison of archetype and building-by-building approaches for building stock aggre-
	gation

facilitate the application of this approach at larger scales. The sample approach described by Swan and Ugursal (2009) also enables to reduce the number of building into consideration by taking a representative sample of the building stock, and latter up-scaling the results to the entire stock. In both the archetype and building-by-building approaches, the balance between capturing heterogeneity and the manageability of conducting LCA calculations is also a critical consideration in determining the number of buildings to include in the analysis.

Johari et al. (2020) highlight three methods for classifying buildings into sub-groups which can be applied for both archetypes and building-by-building approaches:

1. **Deterministic classification** involves categorising buildings based on specific and known parameters. Construction year and building type are the most commonly used characteristics, either individually or in combination, with size and climate characteristics also being crucial factors (Röck et al., 2021).

- 2. **Probabilistic classification** groups buildings based on energy demand data, which may be more relevant for Urban Building Energy Models (UBEM) rather than comprehensive life-cycle modelling of building stock.
- 3. **Clustering** employs unsupervised data-mining techniques to reveal hidden structures within datasets. This approach doesn't group buildings into predefined categories but clusters them based on similarities identified by the algorithm.

Deterministic classification, despite its simplicity and widespread use, has been criticised for potentially failing to capture the diversity within a building stock, such as variations in heating systems or key materials. The subjective nature of this classification can introduce bias (Borges et al., 2022), making it a starting point or suitable for broad-scale studies, but less reliable for detailed analysis. Probabilistic classification and clustering offer improved capture of building diversity, with clustering particularly effective at managing multiple variables (Verellen and Allacker, 2020). In the context of renovation policies, clustering has been used to prioritise buildings for energy consumption and/or GHGE reduction. For example, Geyer et al. (2017) developed clusters based on initial and postrenovation potentials to identify high-priority buildings for renovation in Switzerland. Similarly, Verellen (2022) proposed a method to identify clusters of buildings with similar renovation potentials within specific geographical areas (e.g., districts), incorporating both building parameters and occupant behaviours. Lastly, Gomes et al. (2022) tested different clustering algorithms (namely K-Means, K-Medoids and Hierarchical clustering) on a group of 300 buildings. A concise overview of these algorithms, including their advantages and limitations, is presented in Table 2.10. For further insights into these and additional clustering methods, the documentation of *scikit-learn*<sup>7</sup> offers comprehensive descriptions and visualisations of various clustering techniques.

# 2.2.3 Energy modelling

The objective of the energy modelling phase is to estimate the energy demand of building stocks. The larger scope include energy demand for heating, domestic hot water, cooling, ventilation, lighting and other appliances. The energy demands for these services serve as crucial inputs that would be later derived into operational impacts. Given the detailed level of analysis required, a bottom-up approach to energy modeling is predominantly adopted in LCAs of building stocks (Mastrucci et al., 2017).

Numerous bottom-up energy building models exist and have been classified. Notably the typology defined by Swan and Ugursal (2009) is often used and is presented in Table 2.11. Engineering-based methods are capable of modeling new technologies and energy savings predictions. However, they require detailed input data and rely on assumptions that may not reflect reality, notably concerning occupant behaviors. Statistical techniques can better reflects real condition with available consumption data. They are however limited in modelling the impacts of the introduction of new technologies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>https://scikit-learn.org/stable/modules/clustering.html

Algorithm	Description	Strengths	Limitations
K-Means	Partitions datasets into K clusters by minimising the variance within each cluster.	<ul><li> Efficient for large datasets.</li><li> Easy to implement.</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Requires specifying K.</li> <li>Sensitive to initial centroids.</li> </ul>
K-Medoids	Similar to K-Means but uses actual data points as cluster centers, enhancing robustness to outliers.	• Robust to noise and outliers.	<ul> <li>Computationally more expensive than K-Means.</li> <li>Still requires specifying K.</li> </ul>
Hierarchical	Builds clusters step by step, either by merging smaller clusters into larger ones or splitting larger clusters into smaller ones.	<ul> <li>Does not require specifying K.</li> <li>Dendrogram provides insightful visual representation.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Computationally intensive for large datasets.</li> <li>Sensitive to noise and outliers.</li> </ul>

Table 2.10: Comparison of K-Means, K-Medoids and Hierarchical Clustering algorithms

Langevin et al. (2020) introduces a new classification framework for building stock energy models, organised into four main quadrants based on their design approach (top-down or bottom-up) and transparency (black-box or white-box):

- 1. **Top-down/Black-box (Q1)**: Models in this quadrant use sector-wide historical variables, such as demographics or economic indicators, to estimate building stock energy without detailed end-use energy attribution. They are split into econometric models, which forecast outcomes based on economic indicators, and technological models, which consider technological characteristics of the building stock.
- 2. **Top-down/White-box (Q2)**: This category includes models that represent physical causality at an aggregate level. An example is system dynamics, which models aggregate-level building and technology stocks and flows with feedback loops.
- 3. Bottom-up/Black-box (Q3): These models attribute building energy use to specific end-uses based on historical information, assuming model prediction space mirrors the training space. Classical statistical techniques and machine learning fall under this quadrant, offering predictive accuracy from large datasets.

Approach type	Subtype	Description
Engineering Methods	Distributions	Uses probabilistic models to represent the variability of parameters affecting energy
		consumption.
	Archetypes	Develops detailed models based on representative building types to estimate energy use.
	Samples	Involves the analysis of detailed energy use data from a sample of buildings to extrapolate findings to a larger population.
Statistical Techniques	Regression Analysis	Uses historical data to establish relationships between dwelling characteristics and energy consumption.
	Conditional Demand Analysis	Focuses on the demand for energy based on the presence and characteristics of specific appliances and systems within homes.
	Neural Networks	Employs machine learning to model complex, non-linear relationships between inputs (e.g., household characteristics) and energy consumption.

Table 2.11: Typology of bottom-up energy modelling according to Swan and Ugursal (2009)

4. **Bottom-up/White-box (Q4)**: Encompasses models that simulate the physical relationships of processes at the building or end-use level, including physics-simulation models and agent-based models (ABMs). These models are recognized for their detailed simulation capabilities, supported by advances in computing.

## 2.2.4 Material inventory of building stocks

The increasing significance of embodied emissions in the whole-life carbon footprint of buildings underscores the necessity for meticulous accounting, modelling, and representing material stocks. Precise material stock modelling is crucial for evaluating environmental impacts of the different building elements and facilitating strategies for urban mining and the circular economy.

The modelling material stock can be approached from two directions: top-down and bottom-up. Top-down approaches offer a broad perspective, aggregating material stocks through the analysis of annual net additions, relying on data related to construction and demolition activities. Conversely, bottom-up approaches dissect the stock in a more granular manner, categorising the stock element by element, and applying Material Intensity Coefficients (MIC) for a detailed analysis of both the quantity and quality of materials involved (Lanau et al., 2019). By coupling MICs with data from

Geographic Information Systems (GIS), it is possible to spatially map material stocks in buildings (Augiseau and Barles, 2017) and have estimates of materials stocks and impacts, even at large scales (e.g. cities, regions, countries). Several studies have developed MICs for buildings and infrastructure in countries (e.g. Haberl et al. (2021) in Austria and Germany), cities (e.g. Kleemann et al. (2017) in Vienna, Augiseau and Kim (2021) in Paris, Mao et al. (2020) in Beijing and Lanau and Liu (2020) in Odense). The emergence of open databases that aggregate this information is a significant advancement in the understanding of material stocks (Heeren and Fishman, 2019).

The quest for applications at finer scales has highlighted the limitations of MICs, particularly their failure to fully capture the diversity and nuances of material stocks. Criticisms have been leveled at MICs for their lack of consideration for the geometric and constructional complexities of buildings, which can introduce significant uncertainties in the outcomes (Stephan and Athanassiadis, 2018). Moreover, for applications such as circular economy and urban mining, MICs fall short in providing the requisite level of detail to accurately identify available materials (Tirado et al., 2021). An emerging solution involves the integration of geometrical data with expert insights to meticulously reconstitute a building's material composition, an approach often described as creating 'material passports' (Lanau et al., 2019). These detailed material profiles, when further associated with environmental impact data, can enable a thorough assessment of environmental impacts. Illustrative of this innovative approach are the efforts in Melbourne, as documented by Stephan and Athanassiadis (2018), where building footprints and assemblies for 48 defined archetypes (characterised by land use, building age, and height) were combined. This methodology was further refined in the 'Nested Phoenix' tool, detailed by Stephan et al. (2022). Similarly, the 'macro component' approach, as implemented in the *Ile-de-France* region by Tirado et al. (2021) exemplifies another practical application. This method decomposes buildings into their primary components-such as floors, walls, roofs, and windows-and calculates the material composition for each based on the archetype's characteristics and supplementary data, including energy performance certificates (EPC). Tirado et al. (2021) defines a 'macro component' as a collective of components and assemblies, allowing for the proportional estimation of each component's quantity within a building. Stephan et al. (2022) discusses 'construction assemblies'-comprising elements like outer walls, roofs, windows, and internal walls-made from various materials, and the 'bill of quantities' or material inventory generated through the integration of construction assemblies with GIS data, offering a more granular and precise perspective on building material stocks. While these advanced approaches offer greater accuracy and detail, they require a significant collection of data, including GIS data, environmental data, and, notably, databases of construction assemblies, which are often compiled on a project basis and are scarce.

# 2.2.5 Spatial and temporal dimensions

Spatio-temporal dynamics answer the question of *'where and when material stocks cause flows and in what volume'* and *'how much flow will occur'* (Tanikawa et al., 2015). These dynamics are essential for understanding the distribution of building materials over time and across different locations.

Röck et al. (2021) underscore the importance of spatialising results for decision-making. The use of GIS offers a promising avenue for addressing the spatial analysis challenges associated with large-

scale LCA by identifying reduction hotspots and support urban planning decisions. Understanding the location of materials, identifying buildings requiring renovation, and pinpointing energyintensive areas are vital queries that digital models integrated with GIS can address, adding a spatial dimension to environmental assessments (Tanikawa et al., 2015).

The time-related concept of static and dynamic models refers to the approach used to model a system over time, although it can also refer to the accounting of environmental impacts over time in the LCIA (described in Section 2.1.3). Static models provide a snapshot of the state of the system at a specific point in time, or compare the current state with a hypothetical future state. On the other hand, dynamic models consider the evolution of the system over time, using scenarios to project potential changes. Although most of the studies adopt static approaches (Lanau et al., 2019), dynamic models offer a nuanced view of the system's interaction within broader contexts, significantly enhancing our understanding of complex dynamics. They are particularly suitable to assess the effectiveness of mitigation strategies on future environmental impacts (Lanau et al., 2021). Dynamic perspectives are frequently incorporated via dynamic Material Flow Analysis (MFA), which offers a structured evaluation of flows and stock within a defined spatio-temporal system (Brunner and Rechberger, 2004). This method effectively connects stock and flows by considering the removal of materials from stocks at the end of their life-cycle, along with incorporating probability functions for renovation and demolition activities (Müller, 2005). Additionally, it can be aligned with optimisation strategies, such as identifying and prioritising the renovation of the most energy-inefficient houses (Pauliuk et al., 2013a).

Dynamic MFA is further divided between activity-driven approaches and stock-driven approaches. The former relies on exogenous stock-level activities rates (e.g. construction/demolition/renovation rates), mainly from historical data. The second focus on the concept of service-demand provision in which the stock is considered as the drivers of the flows (Augiseau and Barles, 2017). It considers the changing needs and preferences of the population in terms of building size, type and functionality as the main driver of the stock (Lauinger et al., 2021). By analysing the stock-flow-service nexus, it is possible to obtain a more holistic understanding of the building stock role in providing essential services to society (Haberl et al., 2017). It regards the demand for end products not as an end it itself, but as a mean to acquire and maintain a stock in use that fulfils the changing needs for services.

# 2.3 Summary of methods and their applications to building stocks

This Chapter proposes an in-depth literature review which delineates the current state-of-the-art, identifying both the strengths and gaps within environmental assessment methods, building stock modelling and their integration.

First, this review highlighted several key insights relative to environmental assessment methods:

• Emission accounting methods follow well-defined guidelines for production-based accounting (PBA) at national level (e.g. through IPCC guidelines) and for Non-State Actors (e.g. through GHG Protocol, ISO14064/14067/14068). While the literature clearly identifies their strength and weaknesses, alternative approaches like consumption-based accounting (CBA) lack universally accepted guidelines, affecting comparability between countries. Traditional emission accounting methods also often fail to provide detailed insights into cross-sectoral and cross-border activities, limiting their ability to pinpoint supply-chain hotspots.

- Input-Output Analysis (IOA), and in particular its Environmental-Extended Multi-Regional (EE-MRIO) variant is well-suited to identify supply-chain environmental impacts, offering insights into cross-sectoral and international impacts. In the context of the building activities, aggregation issues can be problematic, making it more suitable for macro-scale studies. As a static method, IOA needs to be integrated with prospective tools for forward-looking analysis.
- Life-Cycle Assessment (LCA) is a standardised methodology which is widely used in the context of building environmental assessments. Despite its wide application, LCA has notable and well-identified limitations, especially concerning its time dimension, which impacts its utility as an emissions accounting tool. A diverse array of approaches have flourished in the LCA community, facilitated by its integration with prospective and integrated tools and models. This coupling has paved the way for its application in broader macro-scale and prospective studies offering the possibility to expand its scientific and policy relevance.
- Hybrid-LCA represents a state-of-the-art solution to couple the strength of IOA and LCA (e.g. completeness and accuracy respectively) while aiming to mitigate their limitations (e.g. aggregation and truncation respectively). However, it remains complex and largely within the purview of experts, with data availability being a significant constraint.
- **Prospective studies** and in particular scenario analysis is sometimes being called a 'very fuzzy multi-field' (Börjeson et al., 2006), due to its lack of consistency, with no standardisation or guidelines receiving unanimous approval. Despite this, certain scenario typologies provide a framework for understanding the objectives of different scenarios, facilitating clearer aims in prospective studies. The integration of the prospective field, which is diverse and multi-disciplinary, with the industrial ecology community would benefit from increased cohesion to enhance the depth and breadth of forward-looking environmental assessments.

Secondly, the review concentrates on building stock modelling (BSM), a field experiencing significant evolution due to the growing availability of data. This expansion is matched by the development of increasingly sophisticated methods. Moreover, there's a notable trend towards enhanced coupling and integration with the environmental assessment methods outlined earlier. The advancements within this field specifically cover the following areas: :

- Building stock characterisation and aggregation leans towards a more data-driven, buildingby-building approaches as the number of databases and information of building stock are growing. Yet, the archetype approach still remains predominant.
- **Material inventory** has traditionally relied on Material Intensity Coefficients (MICs) for its execution. However, increasingly advanced methods are emerging, which combine geometrical data with material passports to refine the modelling of building components and equipment further. This approach opens new avenues for enhancing circular economy studies by offer-

ing more detailed insights into stocks and flows, thereby increasing its utility for policymakers and construction industry stakeholders. Nonetheless, the accessibility of detailed construction assemblies data often remains limited to specific projects or locations, hindering broader adoption within the field.

• **Spatial and temporal dynamics** integrate building stock modelling (BSM) techniques and environmental assessment methods, in particular LCA, scenario analysis and Material Flow Analysis. This coupling broadens the range of impacts considered, offering a more holistic view and facilitating forward-looking studies that leverage the precision of BSM approaches.

Table 2.12 provides a summary of the key characteristics of the methods discussed in this chapter. It begins by identifying the actors or disciplines involved in the production and utilisation of these methods, along with the scopes of their application. The table also details the extent of standardisation or available guidelines, reflecting the methods' maturity and the scientific community's consensus on their applicability. Finally, aspects of transparency and data quality are highlighted, shedding light on the potential for integration with other approaches, tools, and methods.

	Actors	Scope	Standardisation / Guidelines	Maturity	Transparency
National emission accounting	Statistical agencies	National, top-down	IPCC guidelines used in the UNFCCC framework for production-based accounting. Non-standardised for other approaches	Well mature and used	Wide availability for production- based accounting, more scattered for consumption- based accounting
NSA's emission accounting	Consultancy firms, non-profit organisations	Cities, companies	Standardised through GHG Protocol and ISO 14064/14067/14068	Well mature and used, although data can be old and non-actualised	Variable
Prospective studies	Governmental agencies, non-profit organisations	From economy- wide or sectoral studies to organisa- tional level	Non-standardised, non widely recognised guidelines	Very diverse, as the field is non-organised	Dependent on the actors
Life-Cycle Assessment (LCA)	Consultancy firms, industrial ecology researchers	From micro to macro scale	Standardised through ISO 14040-044 for attributional and consequential LCA. Non-standardised for other LCA approaches.	Attributional LCA is well mature and used in legislation. Forward- looking LCA approaches are more recents and under development.	Dependent on studies, which can share their underlying data (e.g. life-cycle inventory). Most life-cycle inventory data are not free (e.g. ecoinvent).
Input-Output Analysis (IOA)	Statistical agencies, industrial ecology researchers, economists	National, top-down	Eurostat guidelines are applied for monetary Input-Output Tables. Satellite accounts depend follow well-established guidelines.	Well-mature and used	Dependent on the databases, as they are not always free
Hybrid-LCA	Industrial ecology researchers	From micro to macro scale	Non-standardised	Reserved for LCA/IOA experts	Data availability issues for most regions.
BSM	Building activities researchers	From meso scale to macro scale	Non-standardised	Data-expertise and/or building or architecture expertise required	Dependent on data availability of the specific location studied

Table 2.12: Summar	v of environmental ass	essments and building	g stock modelling methods

3

# State of the art of climate change and decarbonisation scenarios

# Contents

3.1	Introd	uction	71	
3.2	2 Panorama of scenarios			
	3.2.1	Climate change scenarios	71	
	3.2.2	IEA scenarios	74	
	3.2.3	Building activities scenarios	76	
	3.2.4	French scenarios	79	
3.3	Frami	ng of decarbonisation solutions	86	
3.4	Summ	ary of scenarios assessed	86	

This chapter presents an in-depth overview of the scenarios underpinning this thesis. Initially, it delves into the evolution of prospective studies, with a particular emphasis on the development of environmental and sustainability scenarios post-1970s. A comprehensive section is dedicated to climate change scenarios, focusing notably on the IPCC scenario families and the IEA's scenarios that are extensively referenced in Chapter 5 and 7. The chapter also reviews literature on building activities, encompassing both global studies and more granular studies. and introduces scenarios specific to the French context, highlighting scenarios from ADEME and RTE which play a crucial role in Chapter 6. For convenience, Table 3.4 summarises these different scenarios, serving as recap and aiding in navigation of the content. Lastly, different framing of decarbonisation solutions used by the scientific community are presented.

# 3.1 Introduction

The field of future studies, rich in history and methodologies, spans from early visions of ideal societies like Thomas Moore's 'Utopia' to mathematical advancements in statistics that have shaped modern predictive techniques (Bell, 2017). In the post-World War II era, future studies evolved into a distinct discipline. In the United States, Herman Kahn introduced the term 'scenario' in the context of military and strategic planning in the RAND Corporation, further popularised the concept in the social and political arena as the director of the Hudston Institute (Kahn, 1962). In France, Gaston Berger created and popularised the concept of '*prospective*' (Berger, 1964). In the corporate realm, companies like Shell pioneered the use of future studies in strategic planning, in order to analyse decisions and investments in a systemic way along with their long-term implications (Wack, 1985). This practice has since become increasingly prevalent in organisational and company strategy (The Shift Project, 2019a). Notably, the STEEP (Social, Technological, Economic, Environmental, Political) framework, which categorises external macro domains affecting organisations enables to examine factors influencing strategic decision-making.

This period also saw a shift from the 1950s and 1960s' trend stationary to the dynamic crises of the 1970s, which challenged the assumptions of continuous economic growth and predictability. The 1970s witnessed a surge in interest regarding the use of scenario to study the environmental impacts of globalisation. These studies were focused on the exploration of long-term sustainability of natural resources and the impacts of energy use in various environmental indicators such as GHGE (Leontief, 1977). A landmark development was the Club of Rome's World3 model, which used systems dynamics to explore human societal development across five domains: population, agriculture, natural resources, industry, and pollution. The resulting 'Limits to Growth' report (Meadows et al., 1972) outlined twelve scenarios extending to 2100, with most suggesting a pattern of 'overshoot and collapse.' The report posited that stabilising population and industrial capital could prevent such outcomes. A recent comparison of the 30's year update with empirical data have reaffirmed the model's relevance and prescience in understanding global dynamics (Herrington, 2021).

# 3.2 Panorama of scenarios

### 3.2.1 Climate change scenarios

Future scenarios are increasingly vital in strategic decision-making, especially in addressing global environmental challenges like climate change (Swart et al., 2004). When applied in this context, scenarios help to evaluate uncertainties about the response of the Earth system to human substances affecting the radiation balance, the impacts of future climates, and the implications of different mitigation and adaptation policies (Moss et al., 2010). They are essential for comprehending and responding to climate change as they encompass various dimensions, including energy use, land management, socio-economic factors, and institutional aspects (Guivarch et al., 2022). They serve to explore the causal chain from socio-economic developments to energy and land-use to GHGE to changes in atmospheric concentration to changes in global mean temperatures and finally impacts

on socio-economic conditions, closing the loop of analysis across different research communities (O'Neill et al., 2020).

In particular, emissions scenarios are descriptions of future substances that affect the planet radiation balance (e.g. GHG and aerosols). In addition to information on land-use, they are an input to climate models, that are the main tools to simulate the physics of the carbon sinks (e.g. atmosphere, land and oceans). Emissions scenarios are produced with Integrated Assessment Models (IAMs) that produce among other things energy and GHGE outputs with inputs such as population growth, GDP and sets of technologies. As every type of scenarios, they are not forecasts or predictions, but exploration of possible evolution of GHGE based on expert judgments and their illustration in IAMS.

Climate change scenarios are closely linked to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), its assessment reports (ARs) and organisation into three Working Groups (WGs) which deals respectively with (1) the physical scientific aspects of the climate system and climate change, (2) the impacts, adaptation strategies, and vulnerabilities associated with climate change and (3) the strategies and policies relative to climate change mitigation and their broader socio-economic and environmental impacts. For this reason, it is important to understand how the scenario framework have evolved over time. Figure 3.1 from Moss et al. (2010) illustrates this change.



Figure 3.1: The new climate change scenario framework from Moss et al. (2010)

In early assessment reports (ARs), the IPCC commissioned and approved several sets of emissions scenarios produced by a small amounts of models. These model-based scenarios were solely focused on hypothesis on future increases of GHGE. The Special Report on Emission Scenarios (SRES) were later developed, with a more open process. They incorporated socio-economic and energy drivers and featured four scenario families of population, economic growth and greenhouse gas emissions (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2000). This so-called 'sequential approach' (illustrated in Figure 3.1a) was however time consuming and did not facilitate a fast integration across scales and disciplines. Moreover, there was interests in the exploration of additional mitigation scenarios, more than the 'no climate' scenarios, as well as overshoot scenarios, where radiation forcing peaks and then targets to reach a target. What's more, the already visible impacts of climate change has increased in interested in climate adaptation, with a need for more detailed spatial and temporal resolution, as well as socioeconomic scenarios that would make possible the assessment of climate vulnerability.

Against these issues and challenges, the scientific community developed a so-called 'parallel process' (illustrated in Figure 3.1b) with a new scenario framework (Moss et al., 2010). This started with the creation of the Representative Concentration Pathways (RCPs), detailing five emissions and atmospheric composition pathways with different radiative forcing levels by 2100 (2.6, 4.5, 6.0 and  $8.5W/m^2$ ) (van Vuuren et al., 2011), which were the central scenarios in AR5. Purposefully, RCPs do not include any socioeconomic narratives. In the same time, the Shared Socio-economic Pathways (SSPs)<sup>1</sup>, five narratives based on a detailed description of future socioeconomic trends, were developed, providing visions of the world where mitigation and adaptation policy range from low to high in the absence of climate policy (O'Neill et al., 2017b). SSP1 ('Sustainability') and SSP5 ('Fossilfuel Development') are optimistic in terms of human development indicators such as education and health, yet differ a lot in what drives these trends. SSP1 assumes a shift towards sustainable practice while SP5 assumes this development will be fossil-based and energy-intensive. SSP3 ('Regional Rivalry') and SSP4 ('Inequality') are pessimistic in terms of human development with bad ecocomic and social indicators coupled with fast-growing population and increasing inequalities. SPP2 ('Middle of the Road') assumes continuation of historical patterns by the end of the century (Riahi et al., 2017).

The integration of SSPs and their radiative forcing outcomes (e.g. RCPs) form a scenario matrix representing possible integrated scenarios (van Vuuren et al., 2012) (Van Vuuren and Carter, 2014). They are often referred as 'SSPx-y' where x is the SSP scenario (from 1 to 5) and y represents the forcing pathway by the end of the century (similar to RCPs). SSPs scenarios are assessed by Integrated Assessment Models (IAMs). Modelers assess baseline scenarios (e.g. without additional policies) as well as mitigation scenarios which explore additional mitigation and adaptation policies. For this, they used Shared Policy Assumptions (SPA) (Kriegler et al., 2014) around how quickly international collaboration on climate policy could occur within each SSP, as well as respecting limitations imposed by the underlying assumptions around population growth, economic activity and technological development in each pathway.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Carbon Brief offers a detailed explanation of SSPs https://www.carbonbrief.org/ explainer-how-shared-socioeconomic-pathways-explore-future-climate-change/



A large amount of IAMs have quantified SSP scenarios. Six IAMs were chosen and a single 'marker' scenarios were chosen to be used in climate models (O'Neill et al., 2016). Figure 3.2

Figure 3.2: The scenario matrix and the SSPx-y chosen in AR6 (Chen et al., 2021)

The matrix at the right of Figure 3.2 shows the SSPs scenarios in the x axis along with their radiative forcing in the y axis. The original RCPs scenarios are shown at the right, and the combination of SSPs and RCPs are present in the matrix, with arrow indicating the possible radiative forcing from a single SSP from baseline to mitigation scenarios (where no solution is found from IAMs, the matrix indicates 'n/a'). Five SSPx-y scenarios are assessed by WGI in climate models represented in the left of Figure 3.2. They were chosen to fill the gaps of RCPs scenarios, notably to provide additionnal 'no policy' scenarios (with SSP3-7.0) and scenario that reach the 1.5°C goal of the Paris Agreement (with SSP1-1.9).

While WGI assesses a selected number of scenario, IAMs can potentially produce thousands of scenarios. For this reason, WGIII also introduced climate categories (C1 to C8) based on projected global warming by the end of the century, with seven Illustrative Pathways (IPs). They are illustrated in Figure 3.3.

Among the Illustrative Pathways (IPs), two reference pathways ('CurPol' and 'ModAct') illustrate high emissions that would arise from current policies and five illustrative mitigation pathways (IMPs) illustrate mitigation policies with different focus, for example renewables (IMP-Ren), carbon dioxide removal (IMD-Neg), low-demand and efficient resource-use (IMP-LD). Other IMPs illustrate the gradual strengthening of current policies in the (IMP-GS) as well as with sustainable development goals (IMP-SD). Carbon Brief proposes an interactive tool that enables to naviguate through the different climate categories, illustrative pathways and illustrative mitigation pathways. <sup>2</sup> Additionally, the IPCC scenario database hosted by the International Institute for Applied Systems Analaysis (IIASA) compiles a large number of scenarios from different IAMs.

# 3.2.2 IEA scenarios

Founded in response to the 1973 oil crisis, the IEA was established in 1974 within the framework of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) to help its member countries

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Available at https://interactive.carbonbrief.org/one-point-five-pathways/index.html



Figure 3.3: Climate categories and illustrative pathways from WGIII (Riahi et al., 2022)

coordinate a collective response to major disruptions in oil supply. Over the years, the IEA's role has expanded beyond oil market analysis to encompass a broader energy mandate, including energy security, economic development and environmental issues. The analysis of decarbonisation scenarios began in 2006 with the ETP Accelerated Technology (ACT) Scenarios, which aimed to mitigate emissions growth by reducing emissions to 2005 levels by 2050. This effort was advanced with the ETP BLUE Map Scenario in 2008, targeting a 50% cut in CO2 emissions by 2050, and was further refined into the 2°C Scenario (2DS).

In terms of modelling capabilities, the IEA introduced the World Energy Model (WEM) in 1993, a comprehensive simulation framework designed to mirror the dynamics of energy markets. A decade on, the Energy Technology Perspectives (ETP) model was introduced. This model, rich in technological detail and employing a bottom-up approach, was developed to complement the WEM. In 2021, both models were integrated in the Global Energy and Climate (GEC) model (IEA, 2023b), now the cornerstone for generating detailed, long-term scenarios on a sectoral and regional basis across IEA publications. The GEC Model synergises the analytical strengths of the WEM and ETP models into a comprehensive bottom-up, partial-optimisation modelling framework. This framework offers deep insights into energy markets, technological trends, policy impacts, and investment requirements crucial for meeting climate objectives. It spans the entire energy system, including demand, transformation, and supply, underpinned by a partial equilibrium approach that enables to calculate sectoral and cross-sectoral energy and emission balances. It traces the flow of primary energy through the supply chain to meet the final service demand by end-users, employing a dynamic, soft-linking method across various supply, transformation, and demand modules.

The IEA's key publications include the World Energy Outlook (WEO) (IEA, 2023c) and Energy Technology Perspectives (ETP) (IEA, 2023a). The WEO is the IEA's flagship publication, released annually to provide analysis and insights into the trends, opportunities, and challenges facing the global energy markets. It examines the future of energy supply and demand based on different policy and technological scenarios, assessing their implications for energy security, environmental outcomes, and economic development. The WEO scenarios are instrumental in understanding potential pathways for the energy sector, influencing policymakers, industry leaders, and financial institutions worldwide. The ETP complements the WEO by focusing on the technology side of energy transitions. It analyses energy technologies and their potential to enhance energy efficiency, reduce emissions, and support sustainable energy systems. The ETP examines various technology-driven scenarios, highlighting innovation gaps and investment needs to achieve global energy and climate goals.

The WEO and ETP, along with their associated reports, delve into the nuances of three main scenarios. Table 3.1 provides a summary of their key objectives, while Figure 3.4 displays their  $CO_2$  emissions and temperature outcomes (computed through the MAGICC climate emulator) by the end of the century.

The Net Zero Emissions by 2050 Scenario (NZE Scenario) is prescriptive, designed with the goal of following an emissions trajectory that keeps the global temperature rise by 2100 under 1.5°C (with a minimum 50% likelihood), aiming for minimal overshoot. This scenario also targets universal access to modern energy services by 2030 and significant improvements in air quality, delineating a roadmap to achieve these objectives. Conversely, the Announced Pledges Scenario (APS) and the Stated Policies Scenario (STEPS) are exploratory. They establish initial conditions based on current policies and targets to observe their future implications, reflecting market dynamics and technological advancements in their energy system models. In addition to these three scenarios, the IEA developed the Sustainable Development Scenario (SDS) to envision a future energy system aligned with global energy-related sustainable development goals, which is not included in the WEO2023.

## 3.2.3 Building activities scenarios

In the IPCC's building chapter (Cabeza et al., 2022), four scenarios based on four models are assessed to project future building sector trends and impacts:

- 1. IEA's Net Zero Emission by 2050 Scenario (NZE)
- 2. IEA's Sustainable Development Scenario (SDS)
- 3. **IMAGE-Lifestyle-Renewable (LiRE) Scenario**: Based on the SSP2 baseline, this scenario incorporates lifestyle changes to reduce environmental impacts, modeling a shift towards renewable energy adoption. It reaches a RCP 2.6.
- 4. **Resource Efficiency and Climate Change-Low Energy Demand (RECC-LED) scenario**: Unique for being produced by a bottom-up model, the ODYM-RECC model (Pauliuk et al., 2021), this scenario focuses on the energy and material flows within the residential building stock using a





(b) Temperature outcome by 2100 in  $^\circ \! C$ 

Figure 3.4:  $CO_2$  emissions and temperature outcomes of the four IEA scenarios

Aspect	Net Zero Emissions by 2050 Scenario	Announced Pledges Scenario	Stated Policies Scenario
Scenario type	Normative	Exploratory	Exploratory
Definition	A pathway for the global energy sector to achieve net-zero CO2 emissions by 2050, focusing on reductions within the energy sector itself. Ensures universal access to electricity and clean cooking by 2030.	Assumes all climate commitments by governments and industries worldwide as of August 2023, including Nationally Determined Contributions and net zero targets, will be met in full and on time.	Reflects energy-related policies in place or under development as of August 2023, considering planned capacities for clean energy technologies.
Objectives	To delineate the necessary sector-wide actions and timelines for achieving net-zero energy-related CO2 emissions by 2050 and other sustainable development goals, like universal energy access.	To evaluate how current pledges align with the target of limiting global warming to 1.5°C, identifying the ämbition gap"between this scenario and the NZE Scenario, and assessing progress towards universal energy access.	To serve as a benchmark for the impact and limitations of recent energy and climate policies, highlighting the ïmplementation gapnneeded to meet announced decarbonisation targets.

Table 3.1: Comparison of IEA scenarios in the WEO 2023

stock-driven approach. It builds on the principles of the Low Energy Demand (LED) scenario (Grubler et al., 2018).

The analysis includes variables such as per *capita* floor area, final energy demand by energy carrier and end-use, and both operational and embodied greenhouse gas emissions (GHGE), with the latter being exclusive to the RECC model. Results are presented by decade for nine geographical regions. The attribution of changes in energy and GHGE is assessed using the Log Mean Divisia Decomposition Analysis (LMDI) method (Ang, 2005) and the Sufficiency-Efficiency-Renewables (SER) framework (Saheb, 2021). The ODYM-RECC model is the only bottom-up model under study. Using it in combination with the SSP1-2 and LED scenarios, Pauliuk et al. (2021) and Fishman et al. (2021) focus on residential buildings with an emphasis on material efficiency strategies,

Apart from the four scenarios assessed in the IPCC's chapter, notable other global studies have focused on material requirements from buildings using SSP scenarios. For example, using the IMAGE's SSP2 scenario as baseline, Deetman et al. (2020) uses a dynamic stock model and a building material database from Marinova et al. (2020) to study the annual demand for construction materials (e.g. concrete, steel, aluminium, copper, wood and glass) and the availability of waste materials for residential and service sector buildings. Similarly, Le Boulzec et al. (2023) use a stock-flow model in combination with multiple SSPs-RCPs combination, as well as IEA's scenario, that are used to emphasise the energy-material nexus, thus accounting for potential changes in the embodied energy of building infrastructures. These two studies however do not estimate the GHGE from stock and flows. In terms of energy and operational GHGE, Mastrucci et al. (2021) uses the MESSAGEix-Buildings model (Huppmann et al., 2019) to estimate the energy and operational GHGE from space heating and cooling across SSPs1-3.

Due to their large coverage, global studies tend to lack granularity compared to smaller scales studies, especially on the building stock characteristics. The scale of the studies often differ from geographical scales (e.g. continents, countries, cities, portfolio), as well as stock-level activities (e.g. renovation, new construction, demolition) and scopes of emissions (operational, embodied or whole-life) or other environmental impacts considered (Röck et al., 2021). Multiple national scenarios are available for example in the USA (Berrill et al., 2022) (Arehart et al., 2022), Switzerland (Heeren and Hellweg, 2019), Sweden (Österbring et al., 2019) (Peñaloza et al., 2018), Australia (Stephan and Athanassiadis, 2017), Luxembourg (Mastrucci et al., 2020b) and Norway (Pauliuk et al., 2013b).

At EU level, Ramboll et al. (2023) uses building archetypes and stock-level activities to scale up the emission for the entire European building stock. They design three scenarios (BAU, "Tech" and "Life") with the help of the EU Calc tool <sup>3</sup> which provides prospective carbon intensity factors for space heating as well as decarbonisation scenarios for construction materials. With a baseline of 1360 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq, among which 79% are operational GHGE and 21% embodied GHGE, the BAU scenario reaches 920 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq while the Tech scenarios reaches 438 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq and the Life scenario reaches 344MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq in 2050.

## 3.2.4 French scenarios

In 2022, in the context of the presidential election and to inform the French Strategy for Energy-Climate and its components (including the SNBC), various governmental agencies, institutions, and NGOs have proposed decarbonisation scenarios with a goal of reaching net-zero emissions by 2050. Among these, ADEME's comprehensive economy-wide scenarios and RTE's focused projections on the electricity sector have emerged as flagship scenarios. Other notable studies include the négaWatt scenario (négawatt and Solagro, 2021) which promotes the Sufficiency-Efficiency-Renewable framework (Saheb, 2021). Their analysis emphasises the demand-side mitigation levers, and integrate detailed resources on the emissions and material footprints of the French economy. Other examples include the work from the Shift Project who crafted a low-carbon plan for the French economy, including detailed resources on the residential sector (The Shift Project, 2021).

When focusing on the building activities, the need for a massive renovation wave is well documented in every scenarios that achieve carbon neutrality by 2050 (ADEME et al., 2022). Nonetheless, be-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Available at http://tool.european-calculator.eu/intro

cause of their reliance on the national GHGE inventory format, they do not represent building activities in a holistic way and mostly focus on direct operational emissions. Scenarios that aim to fulfill the SNBC's goals envision that buildings exclusively uses low-carbon energy carriers. For individual buildings, the primary focus is on heat pumps, with limited use of biomass due to resource constraints. Collective dwellings are expected to connect to renewable energy-powered district heating systems where feasible, or use heat pumps otherwise. In the SNBC scenario, it is anticipated that 85% of new dwellings will switch to electricity, with the remaining 15% adopting biomass or district heating. For existing dwellings, the projected shift is 80% towards electricity and 20% towards a combination of biomass, district heating, and gas (DGEC, 2021).

### **ADEME** scenarios

ADEME's 'Transitions 2050' presents four consistent scenarios offering a path to achieve a state of net-zero emissions by 2050 e.g. *Frugal generation (S1)*, *Regional cooperation (S2)*, *Green technologies (S3)*, *Restoration gamble (S4)* (ADEME, 2021a). Although based on the same macroeconomic, demographic and climate change scenarios, they differentiate themselves by the emphasis they make on the different levers among sufficiency, efficiency, decarbonisation and carbon sinks to reach a state of net-zero by 2050 (Gaspard et al., 2023). In addition to the main report, 17 supplementary reports have been developed to explore various sector-specific or detailed environmental, social, and economic considerations. Notably, one report is dedicated to new construction (ADEME, 2022), with a special focus on S2 and S3 scenarios. Further enriching this comprehensive analysis, an updated synthesis (ADEME, 2024a) and executive summary (ADEME, 2024b) have been released in March 2024.

The four scenarios were designed through a process that combined narratives with quantitative analysis across various economic and social sectors with the use of sectoral models. In summary the key features of each scenarios are the following:

- 1. **S1**: significant societal changes lead to increased sufficiency. Only natural sinks capture the unabated emissions.
- 2. S2: society embarks towards a mix of efficiency and sufficiency.
- 3. **S3**: society puts its faith in technological progress to answer environmental challenges, without significant changes in the way of life.
- 4. **S4**: society gambles on technological progress, heavily relying on carbon capture and storage and negative emissions.

These scenarios present a diverse range of approaches to technological advancement and societal transformation, both recognised as significant challenges. Given the substantial socio-technical changes required across all scenarios, ADEME emphasises the critical need for immediate action. Figure 3.5 depicts the four distinct scenarios, providing key insights into how each scenario envisions changes in lifestyles (food consumption, housing, mobility), macro economics, technical and industrial metrics. The scenarios comprehensively cover sectors including construction, transporta-

SOCIE	TY IN 2050	** ¥ 550				
		ST FRUGAL GENERATION	$\mathbb{S2}^{\text{REGIONAL}}$	SB GREEN TECHNOLOGIES	SA RESTORATION GAMBLE	
LIFESTYLES	Society	Search for meaning     Frugality chosen but also imposed     Preference for local sourcing     Nature protected	Sustainable changes in lifestyles     Sharing economy     Fairness     Preservation of nature enshrined in law	New technologies rather than reduced consumption     Green* consumerism for the benefit of well-off populations, connected society     Services provided by Nature are optimised	Mass consumption lifestyles safeguarded     Nature is a resource to be exploited     Confidence in the ability to repair     damage to ecosystems	Society
	Food	Meat consumption reduced by a factor of 3 Share of organic: 70%	Meat consumption halved     share of organic: 50%	30% reduction in meat consumption     Share of organic: 30%	Meat consumption almost stable (10% decrease), supplemented by alternative synthetic or plant proteins	Food E
	Housing	Massive and rapid renovation     Strong limits on new construction     (conversion of vacant housing     and second homes into primary residences)	<ul> <li>Massive renovation, gradual but profound changes in lifestyle (growth in cohabitation and the size of housing adapted to household size)</li> </ul>	Large-scale demolition and rebuilding of housing     All homes renovated but not efficiently: only half undergo deep renovation	New construction maintained     Only half of the housing stock renovated. When renovated, houses undergo deep renovation     Appliances multiply, combining technological innovation and energy efficiency	Housing ISTYLES
	Personal mobility	Strong reduction in mobility     Distance travelled per perso     reduced by one-third     Half of all journeys on foot     or by bicycle	Managed mobility     Distance travelled     per person reduced by 17%     Nearly half of all journes     on foot or by bicycle	Mobility managed with State suppo infrastructure, widespread telework car-pooling ••13% in distance traveled per person 30% of journeys on foot or by bicycle	Strong increase in mobility     +28% in distance travelled     per person     People prioritise speed     20% of journeys on foot or by bic	Personal mobility
Relation	Technical hship to progress, digital, R&D	Organisational and technical innovation     Provalence of low-tech, reuse and repair     Digital collaboration     Stable data centre consumption     due to stabilisation of flows	Massive investment (energy efficiency, renewable energy and infrastructure)     Digital technology in support of regional development     Stable data centre consumption due to stabilisation of flows	Targeting of the most competitive technologies to decarbonise     Digital technology in support of optimisation     Data centres consume 10 times more energy than in 2020	Innovation on all fronts     Capture, storage or use     capture dcarbon essential     Pervasive presence of the Internet     dThings and Artificial Intelligence:     data centres consume 15 times     more energy than in 2020	Technical Relationship to progress, digital, R&D
Decision	Governance n-making ladders, international cooperation	Local decision-making, little international cooperation     Regulation, prohibition and rationing via quotas	Shared governance     Environmental taxation     and redistribution     National decisions and     European cooperation	Minimum regulatory framework for the private sector     Government as planner     Targeted carbon tax	Supply-side support     Strong and targeted international     cooperation in a few key sectors     Centralised planning of the     energy system	Governance Decision-making ladders, international cooperation
	Region Rural-urban mix – land degradation	<ul> <li>Important role for the region in terms of resources and taking action</li> <li>"De-urbanisation" in favour of medium-sized cities and rural areas</li> </ul>	Demographic recovery of medium-sized cities Cooperation between regions Regional energy planning and land policies	Urbanisation, competition between regions, functional cities	Low involvement by regions, urban sprawl, intensive agriculture	<b>Region</b> Rural-urban mix – land degradation
M ecor OO CON ECO ND	Macro- economy	New prosperity indicators (income paps, quality of life, etc. Contraction in international trade	<ul> <li>Qualitative growth, "re-industrialisation" of key sectors in conjunction with the regions</li> <li>Regulated international trade</li> </ul>	Green growth, innovation driven by technology Regional specialisation International competition and globalisation of trade	• Carbon-based economic growth • Minimal and targeted carbon tax • Globalisation of the economy	Macro- economy O
	Industry	<ul> <li>Production as close as possible to needs</li> <li>70% of steel, aluminium, glass, paper, cardboard and plastic sourced from recycled materials</li> </ul>	Production of value rather than volume     Oynamic local markets     #0% of steel, alvminium, glass, paper, cardboard and plastic sourced from recycled materials	Energy decarbonisation     60% of steel, aluminium, glass,     paper, cardboard and plastic     sourced from recycled materials	Decarbonisation of industry relying on carbon capture and storage     45% of steel, aluminium, glass, paper, cardboard and plastic sourced from recycled materials	کم M Industry

Figure 3.5: The four ADEME's 'Transition(s) 2050' scenarios (ADEME, 2021a)

tion (passenger and freight), food, agriculture, forestry, industry, waste management, and energy services (fossil fuels, bio-energy, gas, hydrogen, heat, and electricity). Key parameters studied include energy demand, water consumption for irrigation, building materials, agricultural inputs, land use, waste generation and management, energy production, energy mix composition, imports and exports, and the balance of greenhouse gases and carbon sinks.

While the variables in the different scenarios show considerable variations, a consistent theme across all scenarios is the reduction of energy demand, which ranges from 23% to 55% compared to 2015 levels, and the substantial increase in renewable energy penetration, accounting for 70% to 88% of the gross final energy demand. Table 3.2 outlines the key features of each scenarios, providing a clear comparison of their distinct characteristics with a focus on the variables relevant to the building activities.

In addition, to these key features, the full report details the following metrics for the four scenarios:

- Number of main residence per type of heating generator (by decade)
- Energy consumption by usage and energy carrier for residential and tertiary buildings (by decade)
- Energy consumption of seven industries for fulfilling the building needs (in 2050)
- Energy consumption of construction works (by decade)

Scenario name	Residential stock dynamics	Energy consumption and GHGE in 2050	Material consumption in Mt (2015-2050)
S1	<ul> <li>111,000 new dwellings/year, 64,000 demolished dwellings/year (2015-2050 average)</li> <li>100% of 2015 dwellings renovated in 2050 (79% BBC)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>228 TWh (residential), 146 TWh (tertiary)</li> <li>3.3 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq (residential &amp; tertiary, scope 1&amp;2)</li> <li>4.2 MtCO2eq sequestred in wood products</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>525 (new construction, residential), 122 (new construction, tertiary)</li> <li>74 (BBC renovation, residential)</li> </ul>
S2	<ul> <li>149,000 new dwellings/year, 91,000 demolished dwellings/year (2015-2050 average)</li> <li>100% of 2015 dwellings renovated in 2050 (81% BBC)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>247 TWh (residential), 149 TWh (tertiary)</li> <li>3.7 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq (residential &amp; tertiary, scope 1&amp;2)</li> <li>4.8 MtCO2eq sequestred in wood products</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>671 (new construction, residential), 114 (new construction, tertiary)</li> <li>75 (BBC renovation, residential)</li> </ul>
S3	<ul> <li>348,000 new dwellings/year, 169,000 demolished dwellings/year (2015-2050 average)</li> <li>99% of 2015 dwellings renovated in 2050 (22% BBC)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>312 TWh (residential), 207 TWh (tertiary)</li> <li>3.9 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq (residential &amp; tertiary, scope 1&amp;2), 3.5 MtCO2eq sequestred in wood products</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>1,289 (new construction, residential), 131 (new construction, tertiary)</li> <li>18 (BBC renovation, residential)</li> </ul>
S4	<ul> <li>282,000 new dwellings/year, 91,000 demolished dwellings/year (2015-2050 average)</li> <li>99% of 2015 dwellings renovated in 2050 (41% BBC)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>356 TWh (residential), 254 TWh (tertiary)</li> <li>17.1 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq (residential &amp; tertiary, scope 1&amp;2)</li> <li>3.4 MtCO2eq sequestred in wood products</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>1,144 (new construction, residential), 160 (new construction, tertiary)</li> <li>32 (BBC renovation, residential)</li> </ul>

Table 3.2: ADEME's scenarios main features and distinctions relative to building activities

- Consumption of 21 types of materials for new construction and BBC renovation (cumulated 2015-2050)
- Waste production by stock-level activities (in 2050).

Lastly, a data portal <sup>4</sup> enables to download these key metrics.

## **RTE scenarios**

Taking a focus on the electricity sector, RTE's 'Futurs Énergétiques 2050' provides an in-depth exploration of France's potential energy futures, focusing on the transformation of electricity production and consumption (RTE, 2021). The study introduces three primary consumption trajectories: one follow the SNBC hypothesis, a trajectory emphasising enhanced sufficiency adoption measures, and another is centered on profound re-industrialisation. These are further expanded with four variants examining the impacts of varying degrees of electrification, energy efficiency, and the generation of decarbonised hydrogen. The baseline electricity consumption reaches 645 TWh in 2050 (against 530 TWh in 2019), with a range extending from 555 TWh in scenarios prioritising sufficiency, to as high as 754 TWh in scenarios heavily reliant on hydrogen (RTE, 2022a). In terms of electricity production, the study evaluates six distinct scenarios, each reflecting varying degrees of dependency on nuclear power, alongside similar projections for hydropower, marine, and bio-energies. Despite the apparent contrasts between these production patterns, scenarios focusing mainly or solely on renewable ("M" scenarios) and those proposing a diverse mix of renewable and new nuclear reactors ("N" scenarios), the study highlights their similarities, notably their high share of renewable energy and the predominance of investments costs over operating costs (RTE, 2022c).

The study underscores that all scenarios necessitate re imagining a power system vastly different from today's. Whether completely renewable or a combination of renewables and nuclear, the future system will operate on principles distinct from those France has known for the past three decades. This transformation will be propelled by technological advancements reducing unit consumption, proactive public policies like building renovations, and the electrification of various end-uses, thereby enhancing overall energy efficiency. Furthermore, the anticipated increase in electricity demand, substituting fossil fuel energy, requires the French power system to be capable of accommodating this surge, even with substantial gains in energy efficiency and sufficiency. Maintaining a sizeable nuclear fleet would contribute significantly to decarbonisation but alone is insufficient for achieving carbon neutrality. Consequently, the development of considerable renewable energy capacity is deemed essential, irrespective of the scenario. The study also points out that achieving a 100% renewable energy scenario would necessitate broad acceptance of renewable energies and a rapid increase in their development. It emphasizes the importance of starting now to adapt the power system to potential climate change effects, such as changes in water resources, heat waves, and wind patterns. Despite the life-cycle carbon footprint of infrastructure, electricity in France is projected to remain largely decarbonised, significantly contributing to carbon neutrality by replacing fossil fuel energy. The electrification of end-uses alone is expected to reduce France's emissions by 35% by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>https://data-transitions2050.ademe.fr/

2050. The study also notes potential tensions around the supply of certain metals, crucial in the energy transition, and stresses the need for strategic planning in this area.

The scenarios are analysed across four critical dimensions: technical, economic, environmental, and societal. Technically, it examines the entire energy system, incorporating aspects like low-carbon hydrogen production and sector coupling, and aligns with IPCC's RCP scenarios while considering climate resilience. Economically, the study compares the comprehensive costs of various scenarios, factoring in all components of the electrical system. Environmentally, it extends beyond greenhouse gas emissions to address broader impacts such as mineral resource consumption, land use, and air pollution. Societally, the study explores the effects of these energy scenarios on French lifestyles, focusing on their acceptability, energy sufficiency, and the need for flexibility.

Table 3.3 summarises the main philosophy and metrics from the six production scenario, with GHGE referring to the baseline scenario.

An interactive website <sup>5</sup> enables to navigate through the different production and consumption scenarios, as well as the main results (production capacity, energy production, costs, GHGE, resource consumption...).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>https://rte-futursenergetiques2050.com

Production scenario	Key features	Share of production technologies and life-cycle GHGE in 2050
МО	Fast decommissioning of existing nuclear reactors. Maximum deployment rate of RES.	<ul><li> 100% RES</li><li> 12.1 MtCO2eq</li></ul>
M1	Fast and distributed development of RES, in particular solar	<ul><li>87% RES / 13% nuclear</li><li>11.4 MtCO2eq</li></ul>
M23	Fast development of all RES, notably large onshore and offshore wind farms. Economic and geographic optimisation to target highest efficiency	<ul><li>87% RES / 13% nuclear</li><li>10.4 MtCO2eq</li></ul>
N1	New nuclear reactors program, developed in pairs on existing sites every 5 years starting in 2035. Robust RES development.	<ul> <li>74% RES / 26% nuclear</li> <li>9 MtCO2eq</li> </ul>
N2	Launch of a programme calling for the faster development of new reactors (a pair every three years) from 2035 with a gradual ramp-up. RES development continues but at a slower pace.	<ul> <li>64% RES / 36% nuclear</li> <li>9 MtCO2eq</li> </ul>
N3	Existing nuclear power plants in service are kept for as long as possible along with fast development of new nuclear (EPR2 and SMR).	<ul> <li>50% RES / 50% nuclear</li> <li>8.4 MtCO2eq</li> </ul>

Table 3.3: RTE's scenario main features and metrics

# 3.3 Framing of decarbonisation solutions

The landscape of decarbonisation solutions in the building sector is diverse and can be categorised through various frameworks. They provide a structured way to address different aspects of GHGE reduction and highlight the importance of considering a range of strategies that address the different stages of buildings life-cycle. Inside each category, specific carbon reduction solutions can then be detailed. Among them the Demand-side/Supply-side (Creutzig et al., 2018) (Creutzig et al., 2021), Sufficiency/Efficiency/Renewable (Saheb, 2021), and Avoid/Improve/Shift (Creutzig et al., 2022) frameworks offer structured approaches to understanding and addressing the complex challenge of reducing GHGE within the building activities supply chain.

The first one distinguishes between two primary strategies for decarbonisation. Supply-side measures involve transitioning to low-carbon energy sources and materials while *demand-side* measures focus on reducing energy consumption through building design, technology enhancements as well as behavioral changes. It is well designed for holistic approaches and often used in energy system optimisation models. The second one, inspired by Negawatt's motto (négaWatt, 2022) categorizes solutions based on three approaches. Sufficiency emphasizes reducing demand by designing buildings that inherently require less energy. Efficiency focuses on optimizing energy use within buildings through improved systems and technologies. Renewable advocates for the adoption of low-carbon energy sources. The last one, endorsed by the IPCC (Cabeza et al., 2022), the UNEP (UNEP, 2023) and EU studies (Ramboll et al., 2023), emphasises three key strategies. Avoid involves make the best-use of the existing stock in order to avoid production of materials and design buildings with low-energy demand. Shift entails transitioning to low-carbon energy sources and materials, reducing both operational and embodied emissions. *Improve* centers on enhancing the energy efficiency of existing buildings through upgrades and retrofits, and improving conventional materials and use them only when necessary. Avoid solutions can be limited by social factors, Shift solutions are often limited by resource availability and Improve solutions are limited by innovation and access to market.

# 3.4 Summary of scenarios assessed

This Chapter presents an in-depth literature review of comprehensive scenarios from the IPCC and IEA, along with a focus on national scenarios by ADEME and RTE. Table 3.4 summarises the key characteristics of the scenarios discussed in this chapter. It starts by listing the various scenarios from these entities, followed by their geographical scales and specific sectoral focuses. The Table then assesses data availability and quality, and includes links to the relevant data portals for convenience.
	IPCC	IEA	ADEME	RTE
Key scenarios	• SSPx-RCPx	• Stated Policies Sce-•	S1 •	МО
and/or scenarios frameworks	<ul> <li>C1-C8 categories</li> <li>Illustrative Miti-</li> </ul>	nario (SPS)	S2 •	M1
		• Announced Pledges Scenario (APS)	S3 •	M23
	(IMPs)	Net Zero Scenario•	S4 •	N1
		(NZS)	•	N2
			•	N3
Geographical scale	World, with different geographical regions depending on models	World, with 15+ geographical regions	France	France
Focus	Climate change and socio-economic projections	Energy and industrial sectors	All macro-economic sectors in the main report, separate focus in 17 dedicated reports	Electricity sector
Data availability and quality	AR6 database offering IAMs input and output data	Free data do not offer full access to datasets	Data portal giving access to variables for specific years (2015 and 2050), by decades or cumulated (2015-2050)	Interactive website offering vast array of data by decades
Data portals	https://data.ene. iiasa.ac.at/ar6/#/ login?redirect= %2Fworkspaces	https: //www.iea.org/ data-and-statistics/ data-sets?filter= scenarios	https:// data-transitions2050. ademe.fr/datasets? topics= rdBL564dt8E4m7XCs	https:// rte-futursenergetiques: com/ 4sx4

 Table 3.4: Summary of scenarios assessed in the Chapter

4

#### Linking state of the art to applied methods

#### Contents

This chapter serves as a bridge between the state-of-the-art methods for environmental assessment and building stock modelling (Chapter 2) and existing scenarios (Chapter 3) and the subsequent chapters that will present their practical application, justifying their relevance and and their contributions towards achieving the research objectives outlined in Chapter 1. Specifically, it details the application of emissions accounting methods and Input-Output Analysis, along with IEA's scenarios as foundational elements for the analysis in Chapter 5. Furthermore, it discusses how Life-Cycle Assessment and building stock modelling methods, coupled with scenarios specific to the French context and from Integrated Assessment Models, underpin the studies presented respectively in Chapter 6 and Chapter 7.

### 4.1 Connecting theory to applied methods developed in the doctoral thesis

In the next three chapters, various methods and scenarios respectively presented in Chapter 2 and 3 are combined. They represent the core methodological bone of the doctoral thesis. They are applied to different scopes that are linked to the three research questions outlined in Chapter 1. Table 4.1 illustrates them for the different chapters, along with their precised scopes.

	Chapter 5	Chapter 6	Chapter 7
Objective	Representing the Whole-Life-Carbon of the building activities at national level, Expanding existing sectoral carbon budgets, Creation of an holistic carbon budget	Exploring how residential activities can meet or deviate from the carbon budgets, leveraging stock-level activities dynamics as well as current and future performance levels for both operational and embodied emissions	Exploring the current and future embodied performance of new building typologies through integration of Integrated Assessment Models scenarios, Assessing their comparison with future target values
Scope	Building activities	Residential activities	New residential construction activities
Modelling approach	Top-down	Comparison top-down / bottom-up	Bottom-up
Methods	Input-Output Analysis; Life-Cycle Assessment; Scenario analysis	Building-by-building energy simulation; Demand-driven construction; Bottom-up dynamics; Building LCA; Scenario analysis	Building stock aggregation; Clustering; Association rule mining; Building LCA; Prospective LCA
Scenarios	SNBC; IEA	ADEME; RTE	Integrated Assessment Models scenarios from IMAGE and REMIND

Table 4.1: Summary of the next chapters methodologies

Chapter 5, which focuses on the building activities in their entirety, provides a framework for integrating elements of process-based LCA (through the coupling of energy carriers statistics and life-cycle emission factors) with input-output based LCA (by using the Exiobase database). The objective of this integration is to form a robust and holistic accounting framework at national level that leverages the strengths of both life-cycle inventory approaches, thus addressing system boundaries issues, truncation errors and minimising aggregation error that have been documented in Chapter 2. This methodology adopts a top-down approach, focusing on quantifying emissions in an inventory fashion, rather than using building stock modelling techniques like archetype or building-by-building modelling. Instead, it details all building activities-related emissions and identify hotspots in terms of energy carriers and upstream sectors. To project Whole-Life-Carbon budgets, national scenarios from the Low-Carbon National Strategy (SNBC) and international scenarios from the IEA are used respectively for operational and embodied emissions.

Chapter 6 adopts a bottom-up approach to model several decarbonisation pathways and assess their compatibility with the top-down carbon budgets established in Chapter 5. This requires detailed data to characterise the current building stock, such as energy consumption, energy carriers used, renovation potential, and materiality, which are readily available only for the residential sector through comprehensive databases like the French Building National Database (BDNB). For this reason, this chapter narrows its scope to residential activities compared to the previous one that encompasses all building activities. It proposes a dynamic modelling of the residential building stock from 2020 to 2050. It integrates detailed energy results from the BDNB, derived from a national-level buildingby-building energy simulation conducted using a bottom-up engineering-based energy model. These results are aggregated into a matrix that tracks the surface area per energy performance label before and after renovation, detailed by the energy carriers used. This matrix is central to the dynamic modelling of renovations and demolitions, transitioning from a pure building-by-building approach to a hybrid approach where surface areas are tracked based on their potential post-renovation and the ambition of the scenarios regarding the number of renovation and demolition operations per year. For new constructions, the analysis adopts a demand-driven approach, influenced by population growth and per *capita* square meter requirements. The embodied emissions of new constructions, renovations, and demolitions are assessed using statistical analysis from a building LCA database that incorporates process-based Environmental Product Declarations (EPDs). French scenarios from RTE (for electricity), INSEE (for population), and ADEME (for various variables, including gas and district heating networks).

Chapter 7 applies a prospective LCA methodology to a national building LCA database to evaluate how the future embodied performance of various building typologies might align with future target values established in Chapter 6. This analysis specifically focuses on new residential buildings, given that comprehensive databases are currently available predominantly for new construction. Initially, the chapter details a method to select archetype buildings that are representative in terms of geometry and materiality characteristics. This method leverages building stock characterisation methods described in Chapter 2, traditionally used in building stock databases, and adapts them for use in a building LCA database. The process begins with a stratification approach based on building type and main structural material. It then employs association rule mining and clustering to refine the selection of representative typologies. Subsequently, three distinct building typologies of individual housing are characterized using prospective LCA methods. This includes the use of the *premise* package to incorporate scenarios from two Integrated Assessment Models, enhancing the analysis with forward-looking environmental impact assessments.

To sum up, Figure 4.1 provides a visual representation of the scopes of the different Chapters, e.g. from all building activities to new residential construction buildings, as well as their main methodological approach, from top-down to bottom-up.



**Figure 4.1:** Visual representation of the scope and methodological approaches developed in Chapters 5, 6 and 7

# 5

### Integrating consumption-based metrics into sectoral carbon budgets to enhance sustainability monitoring of building activities

#### Contents

5.1	Highli	ghts	94
5.2	Abstra	let	94
5.3	Introd	uction	94
	5.3.1	GHGE accounting systems	95
	5.3.2	Buildings in the need-activities-sectors framework	95
	5.3.3	The need for embodied GHGE budget	97
	5.3.4	Contribution of the paper	97
5.4	Mater	ials and methods	98
	5.4.1	System boundary	98
	5.4.2	GHGE accounting methods	99
	5.4.3	Scenarios and WLC budgets	104
5.5	Result	S	106
	5.5.1	GHGE accounting	106
	5.5.2	Scenarios and WLC budgets	110
5.6	Discus	sions	112
5.7	Conclu	usion	115

This chapter introduces the first journal article of the PhD thesis. The paper has been published in 'Sustainability' and can be found at https://doi.org/10.3390/su16166762. It is reproduced

here as it is, while formatting might change. Please refer to Appendix 9.4 for the Supporting Information accompanying this publication.

#### CONTRIBUTIONS

- Marin Pellan Conceptualisation, Data analysis, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Writing - original draft
- Denise Almeida Conceptualisation, Supervision, Validation, Writing review & editing
- Mathilde Louërat Conceptualisation, Supervision, Validation, Writing review & editing
- Guillaume Habert Conceptualisation, Supervision, Validation, Writing review & editing

#### 5.1 Highlights

- New methodology to represent WLC at national level.
- In 2019, French building stock emits 162MtCO2eq: 64% operational emissions, 20% abroad.
- WLC budgets merge 2019 data with 2050 national targets and global scenarios.
- By 2040, embodied emissions might be the predominant scope.
- Climate policies need to address broader emissions for buildings.

#### 5.2 Abstract

Climate policies such as sectoral carbon budgets use national greenhouse gases emissions inventories to track the decarbonisation of sectors. While they provide an important compass to guide climate action, the accounting framework in which they are embedded lack flexibility for activities that are international and at the crossroads of different sectors. The building activities, as being largely linked with important upstream emitters such as energy production or industrial activities, which can take place outside of national borders, are such an example. As legislation increasingly addresses the whole life carbon emissions of buildings, it is vital to develop cross-sectoral accounting methods that effectively measure and monitor the overall impact of buildings. Such methods are essential for creating sound and holistic decarbonisation pathways that align with sustainability policies. This article aims to provide a consistent approach for depicting the life-cycle emissions of buildings at the national level, using France as a case study. By integrating the different emission scopes with decarbonisation pathways, this approach also enables the creation of comprehensive whole-life carbon budgets. Results show that the French building stock footprint reaches 162 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq in 2019, with 64% attributed to operational emissions, primarily from fossil fuel combustion, and the remainder to embodied emissions, mainly from upstream industrial and energy sectors. Overall, 20% of emissions happen outside of national borders. Under various global decarbonisation pathways, the significance of embodied emissions is projected to increase, potentially comprising 78% of life-cycle emissions by 2050 under current policies. This underscores the necessity for climate policies to address emissions beyond territorial and operational boundaries.

**Keywords**: climate change; sustainability monitoring; emissions accounting; carbon budgets; climate policies; whole-life carbon; cross-sectoral approach

#### 5.3 Introduction

Human activities are warming the Earth at an alarming rate that is unprecedented in the last 2000 years. The last decade saw the higher global net anthropogenic greenhouse gases emissions (GHGE) in human history (Dhakal et al., 2022). In order to reduce the risks and impacts of climate change, the next decades are critical in order to pursue the well below 2°C objective of the Paris Agreements (United Nations, 2015). The 1992 Rio Conference is one of the first responses from the international community to address climate change. It marks the creation of the United Nations Framework

Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) whose primary objective is to stabilise "greenhouse gas concentrations in the atmosphere at a level that would prevent dangerous anthropogenic interference with the climate system" (UNFCCC, 1992).

#### 5.3.1 GHGE accounting systems

In 1997, the Kyoto Protocol operationalises the UNFCCC by establishing legally binding emissions reduction targets for Annex-I countries. Article 5 also introduces an emission accounting system which includes rules for measuring, reporting, and verifying emissions (UNFCCC, 1998). It follows a production-based accounting (PBA) system which is framed by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) methodology (IPCC, 2006). In this framework, GHGE emissions are attributed to the sectors and regions where they physically occur. One of the main limits of a PBA system is that it does not identify the (potentially) increasing imported emissions that are due to globalisation. In parallel, other accounting systems have been developed (Steininger et al., 2015), the most widely used being the consumption-based accounting (CBA) system (Hertwich and Wood, 2018), where impacts are attributed to the region where the final demand occurs and to the sector at the end of the supply chain (Cabernard et al., 2019). As a result, in most developed countries, using a CBA system reveal much larger GHGE and can change the repartition between sectors (Steininger et al., 2018).

Besides, another limitation concerning current accounting methods relates to the sectoral breakdown used in the UNFCCC process. The IPCC guidelines for national greenhouse gas emissions define four main sectors for reporting the GHGE namely (1) energy, (2) industrial processes and product use, (3) agriculture, forestry and other land use (AFOLU), and (4) waste, that can be further subdivided (for example, the energy sector is divided into mobile, stationary, including the emissions from housing heating, and fugitive emissions). In France, the SECTEN format used for the Low-Carbon National Strategy (SNBC) uses a slightly modified breakdown based on seven macroeconomic sectors namely: (a) industry, (b) residential and tertiary, (c) energy, (d) transport, (e) agriculture, (f) waste, (g) land-use, land-use change and forestry (LULUCF) (CITEPA, 2022b).

While they are straightforward for reporting purposes, these classifications do not enable to clearly point out and acknowledge high emitting activities for which emissions are split across different sectors and countries. With 37% of  $CO_2$  emissions worldwide in 2021 (UNEP, 2022), the building and construction activities are such an example. Indeed, in PBA systems, buildings emissions are the ones associated with the combustion of fossil fuels (e.g. for heating, hot water or cooling) in the use stage, as they are the only type of emissions that physically occur within them. In the UNFCCC format, they appear within the Energy sector (under *Other sectors* that differentiates commercial, institutional and residential buildings) while the SECTEN format displays a separate *Residential and tertiary* sector which represents 17,9% of national emissions in 2021 (CITEPA, 2022b).

#### 5.3.2 Buildings in the need-activities-sectors framework

In building environmental assessments, emissions are analysed using life-cycle assessment (LCA) methods which aim to quantify the environmental impacts through the entire life-cycle of buildings,

from the production of building materials to its end-of-life as well as the operation of the buildings. In France, it has been introduced in the new environmental regulation (RE2020) for new buildings, that integrates limit values for embodied and operational carbon emissions (Ministère de la Transition Ecologique, 2021).

If a life-cycle perspective would be transposed to a PBA system, buildings would be associated with emissions from multiple sectors, in particular, the industry sector (e.g. for the production of buildings materials and equipment) and the energy sector (e.g. for electricity and heat production). For this reason, the term *activities* might better suit and has been proposed in recent studies (Habert et al., 2020b) (Lützkendorf, 2021). Figure 5.1 illustrates this framework.



Figure 5.1: The needs-activities-sectors framework, as described by Habert et al. (2020b)

The building *activities* serves the *needs* of housing and shelter and contains multiple *activities* that are involved at different stages of a building life-cycle. To answer to these activities, several *economic sectors* are involved in the supply-chain. This framework acknowledges the significant influence that stakeholders from diverse sectors exert on the emissions associated with building activities. Given the limitations of the narrowly defined 'building' sector in national emission inventories, a comprehensive understanding of emissions and their potential for mitigation is essential.

The footprint of the construction and building activities has been investigated for various environmental impacts and at different geographical scopes. For GHGE, some studies handle global scale (Onat and Kucukvar, 2020) (Huang et al., 2018) (Hertwich and Wood, 2018) (Crawford, 2022) while others focus on national scale, for example in Ireland (Acquaye and Duffy, 2010) (O'Hegarty et al., 2022) in Australia (Yu et al., 2017) in Switzerland, (Frischknecht et al., 2020) and for India, Italy, South Africa and the UK (Pomponi and Stephan, 2021). Nevertheless, it is difficult to compare these results as the scope of what building or construction means is not homogeneous between studies. Most focus on the footprint of *construction* as an economic sector which includes buildings and infrastructure according to the Statistical Classification of Economic Activities (NACE) (Eurostat, 2008), also referred to as the *built environment*. As such, they target the emissions arising from the construction materials and equipment life-cycle, but omit to integrate emissions from the different energy carriers used during buildings use stage. (O'Hegarty et al., 2022) gather in a single methodology the whole-life carbon (WLC) emissions, but target all the built environment. They propose two methods for embodied GHGE accounting, the sector summation method, which uses floor area and average GHGE intensities and the commodity accounting method, which relies on various national and international statistics. However, they do not use Input-Output Analysis (IOA) which has

been largely used to calculate footprint indicators (Minx et al., 2009) (Wiedmann et al., 2016) and to identify cross-sectoral impacts (Baynes and Wiedmann, 2012), not only for GHGE but also for water, resources or land-use changes. IOA has also played a significant role in quantifying imported emissions, a dimension typically absent from conventional sectoral carbon budgets. This approach offers additional consumption-based metrics that hold particular relevance in the context of construction activities, given the fragmentation of international supply chains for construction materials and equipment (Steininger et al., 2020).

#### 5.3.3 The need for embodied GHGE budget

In recent years, there has been a notable shift in focus towards embodied GHGE which has been rising in relative and absolute terms, especially for new buildings (Röck et al., 2020). While they represent 25% of WLC emissions globally today, their share is expected to reach 49% by 2050 under a BAU scenario (UNEP, 2023). At the EU level, significant efforts have been deployed to represent WLC baselines and embodied GHGE pathway (Röck et al., 2022b). In their efforts to downscale WLC budgets for buildings in Switzerland and Denmark, (Priore et al., 2023) and (Horup et al., 2023) both use results from previous IOA studies to account for the baseline proportion of embodied GHGE and their imported share. However, they do not provide a detailed breakdown of the contributions from specific regions and sectors regarding these embodied emissions. Other studies have undertaken supply-chain decomposition, in particular (Pomponi and Stephan, 2021) and (Crawford, 2022) with the use of Structural Path Analysis (SPA). Nevertheless, they do not project emissions in the future with the combination of international sectoral scenarios.

#### 5.3.4 Contribution of the paper

This article builds upon the need-activities-sectors framework and aims to reconcile the various methods of emissions accounting in order to prepare for appropriate carbon budgets for buildings (Habert et al., 2020b) (Pálenský and Lupíšek, 2019). It intends to clarify the different types of emissions that arise during buildings life-cycle and highlights the most important contributors in terms of energy carriers, upstream sectors and geographical regions. Through the integration of national operational GHGE scenario with scenarios for the decarbonisation of upstream sectors responsible for embodied emissions, this study tends to promote a more comprehensive approach to the decarbonisation of the building activities. Consequently, the goal is to better link climate policies and sectoral legislation and to propose additional consumption-based metrics for national building activities, which can help to reduce GHGE through the supply-chain (Wood et al., 2018a).

It raises two main questions:

- At national level, how to account for the life-cycle emissions of buildings as a cross-sectoral and cross-border activity?
- How to apply suitable decarbonisation pathways to the different scope of emissions identified, in particular embodied GHGE, to complement the coverage of existing sectoral budgets?

#### 5.4 Materials and methods

In France, there has been no precise quantification of the full scope of emissions that occur during buildings life-cycle. Yet, France is an interesting case as the Environmental Regulation (RE2020) for new buildings now integrates thresholds for embodied and operational carbon (Ministère de la Transition Ecologique, 2021), while the Law for Ecological Transition and Green Growth (LTECV) (Ministère de la Transition Écologique et Solidaire, 2015b) aims to achieve a level of energy performance in accordance with 'low-energy building' standard for the entire building stock by 2050. A deep understanding and follow-up of buildings GHGE are then essential to link buildings LCA with a more holistic vision at the building stock level. Expanding the scope of emissions considerations in climate policies, e.g. the SNBC, is also needed. This expansion is necessary because the latter focus on operational GHGE and do not explicitly provide pathways and reduction strategies for embodied GHGE, which is a rising concern at planetary (UNEP, 2023) and European level (Ramboll et al., 2023).

In order to answer these issues, the methodology developed in this article consists of two parts, displayed in Figure 5.2a. The system boundary of the study is displayed using the EN-15978 stages in Figure 5.2b, while delineating the life-cycle inventory methods applied for both operational and embodied GHGE.

Firstly, the study introduces an accounting method for separately calculating distinct emission scopes at the national level, using 2019 as the reference year. This method also facilitates the quantification of imported emissions, which are traditionally absent from national statistics and climate policies for the building activities. Subsequently, the results are projected until 2050 using different decarbonisation pathways. National scenario for operational GHGE is combined with different scenarios that reflect decarbonisation pathways for the supply-chain sectors responsible for the embodied GHGE of the building activities.

#### 5.4.1 System boundary

Regarding the system boundary, the study adopts a comprehensive cradle-to-grave analysis that covers all life-cycle stages. For operational GHGE, the method integrates a top-down statistical approach with elements of process-based LCA. This involves combing detailed information on energy carriers used in both residential and non-residential buildings with life-cycle emission factors. Conversely, the embodied GHGE calculation adopts an Input-Output Life-Cycle Inventory (IO-LCI) approach, leveraging the Exiobase database (Stadler et al., 2018b). The main advantage of this approach is the minimisation of truncation errors, which refers to the omission of relevant processes or sectors from the analysis, a significant concern in process-based LCA (Suh and Huppes, 2005). For macrolevel analysis, IO-based LCI is often preferred to avoid issues with system boundary definitions (Onat and Kucukvar, 2020). One of the main disadvantages of the IO-LCI approach is the aggregation issue, referring to the consolidation of different industries into broader sectors, potentially masking the nuances and specificities of individual industries. Exiobase is chosen for its extensive coverage of products, facilitating an economy-wide view that minimises aggregation errors. Ultimately, the



(a) Methodology for GHGE accounting and decarbonisation pathways



Top-down energy carriers statistics \* Life-cycle emission factors + F-Gases

(b) System boundary and LCI methods for operational and embodied emissions

Figure 5.2: Methodology and system boundary for GHGE accounting and decarbonisation pathways

study aggregates results for operational and embodied GHGE to represent whole-life cycle (WLC) emissions, thereby merging the accuracy of national energy use statistics with the comprehensive perspective of IO-LCI for embodied impacts.

#### 5.4.2 GHGE accounting methods

At the building level, the EN15978 (AFNOR, 2012) provides a consistent and standardised methodology for LCA calculations. The four life-cycle stages (e.g. modules A-B-C-D) are often grouped into *operational* and *embodied* GHGE. The first ones refer to the B6-B7 stages and can be further decomposed in *direct* operational GHGE, which occur at buildings site (e.g. fossil fuels and biomass combustion, gas-leaks from heat pumps), and *indirect* operational GHGE, which are the results of electricity and district heating production. On the other hand, embodied GHGE are associated with the construction materials and equipment's life-cycle GHGE (Lützkendorf and Frischknecht, 2020).

Another standardised methodology for GHGE accounting is the scope 1-2-3 inherited from the GHG Protocol (GHG Protocol, 2011). While primarily designed for organizations, it has been used to classify building life-cycle GHGE (Onat et al., 2014) (Onat and Kucukvar, 2020). However, the two systems are not necessarily equivalent. Indeed, two types of emission factors (EF) can be used for energy carriers : direct emission factors (D-EF) - which calculate GHGE for the combustion process - and life-cycle emission factors (LC-EF) - which also include upstream processes, such as transport. When using LC-EF, the upstream part of the GHGE could hence be classified as a scope 3 instead of a scope 1 emission.

The relation between these two classifications and the sectoral approaches presented in the IPCC guidelines and French SECTEN format is shown in Table 5.1.

	Direct operational GHGE	Indirect operational GHGE	Embodied GHGE
GHG Protocol	Scope 1	Scope 2	Scope 3
EN15978		B6-B7	A1-A5 B1-B5 C1-C4
IPCC	Residential (1.A.4.b), Commercial /institutional (1.A.4.a)	Public electricity, heat production (1.A.1.a)	All others
SECTEN	Residential Tertiary	Energy	Industry Transport Waste LULUCF Agriculture

Table 5.1: Relation between GHGE accounting methods

When looking at national inventories, building activities GHGE are heterogeneous as they are crosssectoral. Nevertheless, coupling standardised methodology at the building level with the national inventory process can close the gap between climate policies and building environmental assessment methods. Therefore, in this study the operational-embodied framework is transposed to the national level to depict the whole-life GHGE of the building activities.

The SECTEN format is not an official UNFCCC reporting format but it is used at national level for climate policies, e.g. the SNBC. It aims to be better understandable by economic stakeholders and is

specific to the French context. It covers GHGE and air pollutants with annual time-series available from 1990. Inside each sectors, the source of GHG and air pollutants are reported by Selected Nomenclature for Air Pollutants (SNAP) code that correspond to a detailed level (CITEPA, 2022a).

#### **Operational GHGE calculation**

The calculation of operational GHGE starts from a detailed knowledge on the energy carriers used in buildings. At national level, the energy balance provides information on the extraction of energy from the environment to its transformation and consumption by the different economic sectors. In France, the energy balance is given by the Statistical Data and Studies Department (SDES) (SDES, 2021) which specifies energy flows for different sectors, including the *residential and tertiary* sectors. Additionally, the French electricity transmission system operator (RTE) offers granular data on electricity consumption by usage (e.g. heating, domestic hot water, air conditioning, lighting, other usages) (RTE, 2022a). The energy flows are then converted into GHGE by applying emission factors from the Base Carbone (ADEME, 2020). Operational GHGE also include fugitive fluorinated gases (F-gases) (used as refrigerant gas in heat pumps and air conditioning systems). These emissions are taken directly from the national GHGE inventory (CITEPA, 2022b).

Table 5.2 provide values for both direct emission factors (D-EF) and life-cycle emission factors (LC-EF).

,,		
	D-EF	LC-EF
Biomass	0	0.0288
Geothermy	0	0.045
Solar thermal	0	0.055
Biogas	0.0428	0.044
Electricity (average)	0.0418	0.0607
Heat	0.107	0.132
Natural gas	0.204	0.227
LPG	0.233	0.272
Oil products	0.272	0.325
Coal	0.345	0.377

**Table 5.2:** Emission factors of energy carriers in 2019 in kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/kWh taken from the Base Carbone (ADEME, 2020)

In the method, life cycle emission factors (LC-EF) are employed to include upstream emissions attributed to the entire life-cycle of energy infrastructure (e.g. extraction, production, transportation, and losses). Consequently, the utilisation of LC-EF leads to greater operational GHGE compared to studies that conventionally rely on D-EF (SDES, 2022). Compared to other countries, it should be noted that the French electricity emission factor is quite low, thanks to a large reliance on nuclear and hydropower production. The average emission factor is given in Table 5.2, with specific values for the different usages detailed in Annex 9.4.

To encapsulate the method in a formula, operational GHGE for a given year t can be calculated as follows:

$$\theta(t) = \sum_{k}^{n} (E_k(t) * f_k(t)) + \Gamma(t)$$
(5.1)

Where  $E_k(t)$  represents the energy consumption of energy carrier k in kWh derived from the energy balance for the year t,  $f_k(t)$  denotes the life-cycle emission factor of energy carrier k in kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/kWh as sourced from the Base Carbone for the year t and  $\Gamma(t)$  accounts for the F-Gases as reported in the national GHGE inventory, measured in MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq for the year t.

#### **Embodied GHGE calculation at national level**

Recently, embodied carbon is receiving growing attention (Röck et al., 2020) (Röck et al., 2022b) and numerous studies are trying to quantify the weight of supply-chain emissions. Embodied emissions are generally a blind spot of buildings policies (UNEP, 2022). At the building level, embodied GHGE are usually quantified using process-based LCA. However, at national level, the process becomes more challenging. Indeed, buildings LCA are only available for a couple of new buildings, with no equivalent for renovation and demolition projects. Another method would be to study the physical flows from sectors which produce the necessary inputs of the building activities. Alas, detailed material flow statistics on the supply and use of different construction materials and equipment are lacking (Heeren and Fishman, 2019) and it is thus difficult to assess the GHGE of selected materials at national level.

To overcome these limitations, this study follows a top-down approach for the embodied GHGE calculation. It is enabled by the use of Input-Output Analysis (IOA), which has been widely used to estimate scope 3 GHGE (Baynes and Wiedmann, 2012). IOA looks at how different sectors of the economy are interconnected through their production and consumption patterns. It dates back to the 1930's (Leontief, 1936) and it has been used in environmental assessments since the 1970's (Leontief, 1970), giving rise to Environmentally Extended Input-Output Tables (EE-IOT). If it is not adequate to study the GHGE impact of buildings use stage because of the lack of information on energy carriers used (de Koning et al., 2013), it is frequently used for macro-scale assessments (Hertwich and Wood, 2018), in particular with the use of Multi-Regional Input-Output (MRIO) databases which have been flourishing in the last decades. Among the different MRIO databases available, Exiobase (Stadler et al., 2018b) is used in this study thanks to its large sectoral decomposition (163 sectors, 200 products) and set of environmental extensions.

In IOA, direct and total impact multipliers (DIMs and TIMs) depict respectively the direct and total attribution of impacts from production to one unit of final demand (Wiedmann, 2017). TIMs are given by:

$$m = (F \cdot X^{-1}) \cdot (I - A)^{-1} = f \cdot L$$
(5.2)

where F represents the total impact matrix, A is the inter-industry coefficients matrix, I is the identity matrix, X is the total output, f is a matrix of DIMs, and L is the Leontief Inverse.

In order to better understand the origins of GHGE along the supply chain, a diagonal matrix of DIMs is created and multiplied by the Leontief inverse (L). By multiplying it with the vector of final demand for the French *Construction* sector (y), the footprint is calculated:

$$FP_C = \hat{f} \cdot L \cdot y \tag{5.3}$$

where  $FP_C$  is the construction footprint. As such, it is possible to assess the contribution of the various sectors of the supply chain in the GHGE footprint of the *Construction* sector, and identify GHGE hotspots (Wiedmann, 2017).

However, this study focuses on buildings activities and not the all built environment. Thus, one last step concerns the subdivision of the *Construction* sector in order to remove the civil engineering GHGE (e.g. associated with infrastructure such as bridges). As Exiobase does not differentiate the subsectors inside the *Construction* sector, this study relies on a 139 symmetric IO table provided by the French statistical office (INSEE) to get additional information. It includes a subdivision of the NACE *Construction* sector in four subgroups namely *Development of building projects* (F41.a NACE code, 75<sup>th</sup> sector in the IOT), *Construction of residential and non-residential buildings* (F41.b NACE code, 76<sup>th</sup> sector in the IOT), *Civil engineering* (F42 NACE code, 77<sup>th</sup> sector in the IOT) and *Specialised construction activities* (F43 NACE code, 78<sup>th</sup> sector in the IOT). The Z transaction matrix describes the inter-sectoral exchanges in France, where rows represent the supplying sectors and columns depict demanding sectors:

$$Z = \begin{bmatrix} Z_{1,1} & Z_{1,2} & \cdots & Z_{1,139} \\ Z_{2,1} & Z_{2,2} & \cdots & Z_{2,139} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ Z_{139,1} & Z_{139,2} & \cdots & Z_{139,139} \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.4)

where each  $Z_{i,i}$  (e.g. on the main diagonal) represents intra-sectoral exchanges and each  $Z_{i,j}$  represents economic transactions from sector i to j.

The following equations are then employed to get the share of the *Civil engineering* subsector in the *Construction* sector in the Z matrix:

$$r = \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{139} Z_{k,77}}{\sum_{k=1}^{139} (Z_{k,75} + Z_{k,76} + Z_{k,77} + Z_{k,78})}$$
(5.5)

where *r* symbolises the ratio of the total economic transactions involving the *Civil engineering* subsector and all economic sectors to the sum of economic transactions involving the entire *Construction* sector (e.g. containing the four subsectors previously mentioned) and all economic sectors.

Subsequently, this ratio is used as a proxy to remove the *civil engineering* associated GHGE to finaly calculate the building activities footprint  $FP_B$ :

$$FP_B = \hat{f} \cdot L \cdot y \cdot (1 - r) \tag{5.6}$$

The decomposition of regions and sectors in Exiobase helps to provide a more comprehensive and accurate picture of the environmental impacts of upstream sectors across different geographical regions. Although it gives detailed information, aggregations can also be useful to better interpretate the results. In this study, aggregation is done using concordances matrices (detailed in Annex 9.4). In particular, the 44 regions x 200 products classification are linked with two formats:

- A 3 regions x 8 sectors classification. It enables to couple the results with the SECTEN format used by the SNBC. An additional *Services* sector and the intra-sectoral exchanges of the *Construction* sector replace the *Residential and tertiary*. France, the European Union and an aggregated Rest of the World (RoW) are represented in terms of geographical regions.
- A 15 regions x 19 sectors classification. It is inspired from the traditional aggregation in 17 sectors in IO tables, with additional custom sectors for which the IEA scenarios give detailed pathways by 2050.

#### 5.4.3 Scenarios and WLC budgets

Complex and uncertain factors shape the decarbonisation of the economy in the next decades. In this context, scenario analysis is a useful tool to address alternative future pathways (Fishman et al., 2021). In the methodology, scenarios are used to understand the complex and interconnected factors that will shape the decarbonisation of buildings. They are not considered as forecasts, but rather taken as insights to quantify the possible evolution of the buildings GHGE in the next 30 years. It is then possible to identify over the years and in the different scenario the contribution of the different scopes of emissions, including the sectors involved in the building activities supply-chain, by assuming that the economic structure remains the same.

On one hand, operational GHGE are regulated by the Low Carbon National Strategy (SNBC), which is the national translation of the Paris agreement. It aims to reduce GHGE and monitor the transition to a low-carbon economy to reach a state of net-zero emissions by 2050. In Figure 5.3, historical GHGE are given from 1990 to 2021 along with the SNBC pathways by sectors used in the SECTEN format.

A sharp decline is planned for all sectors. What's more, carbon sinks need to increase in order to get to a balance state in 2050. In the study, direct operational GHGE follows the *Residential and tertiary* sectors pathway whereas indirect operational GHGE follows the *Energy* sector pathway. The two sectors have aggressive reduction pathways, with reduction are to happen quickly, e.g. in the next years, compared to sector like *Transport* where they are to happen in the next decades. Thus, only the *residential and tertiary* pathway for direct operational emissions and the *energy* pathway for indirect operational emissions are considered.



Figure 5.3: Historical GHGE from 1990 to 2021 and SNBC pathways by 2050

On the other hand, embodied GHGE happen in different geographical regions and are caused by multiple sectors. In that case, it is interesting to explore scenarios that display different pathways for regions and sectors. In the methodology, three IEA scenarios, displayed in Table 5.3, are used.

	Scenario category	Scenario type
Net Zero 2050 (NZS)	Normative	Transforming
Announced Pledges Scenario (APS)	Predictive	What-if
Stated Policies Scenario (STEPS)	Predictive	Forecasts

 Table 5.3: IEA scenarios used for embodied carbon pathways.

The scenario typology described by Börjeson et al. (2006) is used to qualify the nature of each scenario. IEA scenarios are fully documented in the 2023 World Energy Outlooks (IEA, 2023c). The rationale behind each of them is the following:

- Net Zero Emissions Scenario : it reaches a state of net-zero emissions in 2050 globally. It is compatible with a 1.5°C temperature rise in 2100 with limited overshoot.
- Announced Pledges Scenario (APS) : it assumes that the policies and targets announced by countries will be implemented fully and on time, including their long term Nationally Determined Contributions (NDC) pledges. It is associated with a 1.7°C temperature rise in 2100.
- Stated Policies Scenario (STEPS) : it considers a wide range of policies and measures that are currently in place or under development in different countries. It is associated with a 2.4°C temperature rise in 2100.

In practice, the different scenario pathways (in % of reduction compared to 2019) are applied to the 2019 results for operational and embodied GHGE:

$$GWP(t) = GWP(2019) \cdot a(t) \tag{5.7}$$

where GWP(2019) is the calculated GHGE in 2019, GWP(t) is the GHGE at year *t* and  $\alpha$  is the annual reduction rate at year *t*.

The SNBC (used for operational GHGE pathways) provides annual reduction percentages up to 2050, while IEA scenarios (used for embodied GHGE pathways) only offer for 2030, 2035, 2040 and 2050. To address this gap, linear regression is employed to estimate values for the intervening years. The graphs are generated using the pyam package (Huppmann, Daniel et al., 2021).

To establish decarbonisation pathways for WLC assessment, the SNBC operational GHGE pathway is integrated with the pathways of embodied GHGE from the three IEA scenarios. This integration not only yields a more comprehensive and holistic idea of the future possible GHGE arising from the building activities, but it also enables to assess the distribution of the different scopes of emissions across scenarios.

#### 5.5 Results

According to the method describe above, the GHGE of the French building activities can be estimated for year 2019. Then the decarbonisation pathways given by the SNBC and IEA can be applied to deduce WLC budgets for buildings by 2050.

#### 5.5.1 GHGE accounting

#### **Operational GHGE**

In 2019, the French building stock operational GHGE represent 104 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq with 79% being direct operational (e.g. 83 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq) and 21% being indirect operational GHGE (e.g. 21 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq). The results differ compared to national statistics given by the SDES, which gives a value of 55 MtCO<sub>2</sub> for operational GHGE (SDES, 2022). The two main differences are the accounting of all GHGE and not just CO<sub>2</sub>, and the use of LC-EF instead of D-EF. Indeed, using LC-EF add nearly 20% of the footprint.

Figure 5.4 illustrates the relative importance of the different energy carriers in the total energy consumption 5.4a and operational GHGE 5.4b of residential and tertiary buildings from 2011 to 2020.

By juxtaposing the two sub-figures 5.4a and 5.4b, a comparative analysis of the impact of each energy carrier on energy consumption and the resultant operational GHGE can be conducted. For instance, in 2019, electricity accounted for 41% of the energy consumption but only 17% of the operational GHGE. This disparity can be attributed to the predominantly low-carbon sources used in French electricity production, such as nuclear and hydropower. A similar pattern is observable for the 'Renewable energy and waste' category, which constituted 15% of energy consumption (primarily in residential buildings) but only 2% of operational GHGE. In contrast, even though natural gas and oil products have modest proportions in energy consumption, at 24% and 12% respectively, they substantially influence operational GHGE. Natural gas contributes to 44%, and oil products to 26% of the total operational GHGE.

In terms of building types, residential buildings emerge as the dominant contributors both for energy consumption and operational GHGE. In 2019, they account for 64% of the energy consumption and



(a) Energy consumption per energy carriers in TWh



(b) Operational GHGE per energy carriers in MtCO2eq

Figure 5.4: Evolution of energy carriers use in residential and tertiary buildings

60% of operational GHGE, due to their reduced emission of F-Gases compared to tertiary buildings. When looking at trends from 2011, 2013 was the peak year. Then, a decrease is seen which can be partly explained by the 2012 Thermic Regulation (RT2012) and the climate severity index (CITEPA, 2022a). The share of the different energy carriers are quite stable between 2011 and 2020. For operational GHGE, the biggest differences are for natural gas, which rises from 38% to 44% while oil products decrease from 30% to 27%. F-gases has been fluctuating, reaching a peak in 2014 with 10.2 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq and decreasing since then to reach 6.5 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq in 2020.

108

#### **Embodied GHG emissions**

Embodied GHGE represent 57.9 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq in 2019. After calculation (detailed in section 5.4.2), results are available in a 200 products x 44 regions format. This detailed disaggregation allows mapping the most impacting sectors and the regions where they occur. Results show that the GHGE footprint of the French construction sector is quite concentrated, with 20 combination of sector-region representing half of the impact. Table 5.4 displays the top ten combination of regions and sectors, representing their absolute and relative shares of the total embodied GHGE (in MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq and % respectively).

Region	Sector	MtCO <sub>2</sub> eq	%
France	Cement, lime and plaster	9.14	15.8%
France	Construction work	2.14	3.7%
France	Stone	1.74	3%
France	Supporting and auxiliary transport services	1.14	2%
France	Waste for treatment: Landfill	1	1.7%
RoW Africa	Cement, lime and plaster	0.9	1.6%
China	Basic iron & steel	0.79	1.4%
China	Electricity by coal	0.77	1.3%
France	Basic iron & Steel	0.75	1.3%
France	Transportation services	0.64	1.1%

Table 5.4: Top ten couple of country-products contributors to embodied GHGE in 2019

The French *Cement, lime and plaster* sector stands out as particularly impacting, with 15.8% of the GHGE footprint alone, when the second most impacting sector, the French *Construction* sector (e.g. representing the intra-sectoral exchanges) is far behind, representing 3.7% of the embodied GHGE.

Figure 5.5 allows to further analyse the global supply-chains emissions. The results and aggregation for sectors are illustrated with a Sankey diagram (5.5a) while the outcomes and aggregation for regions are presented through a sunburst plot (5.5b). In the analysis of sectoral distribution within a framework encompassing 200 sectors, the primary contributors identified are *Cement, lime and plaster, Basic iron & steel* and *Electricity by coal*. This finding aligns with previous research indicating that mineral production—especially cement—and metals such as steel are predominant factors in the construction footprint (C40 et al., 2019). Upon consolidating these 200 sectors into broader macrosectors, the critical role of industry and upstream emissions related to energy becomes apparent, accounting for approximately 70% of the total embodied emissions. Additionally, emissions from transport and within the construction sector emerge as notably significant at the national scale. From a geographical perspective, with consideration to a division into 44 regions, the leading international sources of emissions are China, alongside the combined regions of Asia and Africa. When the data



(a) Sankey diagram aggregation from 200 products to 8 sectors



is further aggregated, it reveals that 42% of the footprint is located in France, with the European Union and the Rest of the World (RoW) responsible for 22% and 36% of the footprint respectively.

#### Whole-life GHGE

After aggregating operation and embodied GHGE, the whole-life GHGE of the French building stock emits 162  $MtCO_2eq$  in 2019. Operational emissions dominate the GHG footprint of buildings at national scale. However, embodied GHGE are already quite important, representing already one third of the footprint. As a whole, 20% of the French building stock GHGE are located outside of national borders.

#### 5.5.2 Scenarios and WLC budgets

#### **Operation GHGE budgets**

Applying the SNBC pathways, the results show that operational GHGE should reach  $6.6 \text{ MtCO}_2$ eq in order to be aligned with the SNBC, mainly represented by direct operational GHGE with  $5.7 \text{ MtCO}_2$ eq. It represents a 94% decrease from 2019 to 2050.

#### **Embodied GHGE budgets**

Embodied GHGE are located in various geographical regions and sectors displayed in Figure 5.5. The IEA scenarios give detailed pathways for these geographical regions and sectors, but not the pair of geographical region-sector (e.g. the Chinese cement sector). For this reason, the 2019 results are projected using sectoral pathways in Figure 5.6 for the Stated Policies, Announced Pledges and Net Zero scenarios. When applying sectoral pathways, there is a high discrepancy between the results because the scenarios do not follow the same objective as detailed in 5.4.3. In 2030, the embodied GHGE would reach 60 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq under the STEPS, 52 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq under the APS and 44 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq under the NZS. The difference is bigger in 2050 with 56 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq under the STEPS, 22 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq under the APS and 2.2 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq under the NZS.

The assignment of specific pathways to each sector is detailed in Annex 9.4. As they are applied to emissions from sectors within the *construction* supply-chain, the overall embodied pathway (e.g. the 'Total' black line in 5.6) is not necessarily equal to the GHGE pathway of each IEA scenario for the all economy. Indeed, the share of industry-related GHGE is substantial in the embodied GHGE of buildings, and such sectors typically have more modest decarbonisation pathways. For instance, the pathways for 'Cement' and 'Iron & Steel' are often less aggressive, mirroring the 'hard to abate' character of industrial sectors (Davis et al., 2018). Conversely, the 'Electricity & Heat' sector has always steep and rapid decarbonisation, even in the Stated Policies Scenario.

#### WLC emissions budgets

In order to provide WLC emission budgets, the SNBC scenario for operational GHGE is combined with the different decarbonisation pathways for embodied GHGE, resulting in the creation of three combined scenarios, displayed in Figure 5.7.



Figure 5.6: Embodied carbon pathways with IEA global sectoral scenarios

In 2030, the WLC emissions would reach 124 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq under the SNBC-STEPS, 116 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq under the SNBC-APS and 108 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq under the SNBC-NZS. In 2050, the figures will decrease respectively to 62 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq, 28 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq and 8 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq. Regarding the distribution of emission scopes, in both SNBC-STEPS and SNBC-APS scenarios, embodied GHGE are anticipated to approach operational levels by 2030 and reach respectively 90% and 78% of WLC emissions by 2050. Due to the rapid decarbonisation of all economic sectors in the NZS, these proportions differ significantly, with embodied GHGE accounting for 41% in 2030 and only 26% in 2050.

Considering that the Announced Pledges Scenario aligns with the policy targets of different countries, it may be the most logical scenario to couple with the SNBC, which represents France's long-term commitment to reach a state of net-zero emission.



Figure 5.7: WLC pathways combining SNBC and IEA scenarios

#### 5.6 Discussions

This study contributes to the body of work on the construction sector's carbon footprint and global supply chain analysis, discussed in Section 5.3.2. However, it is important to acknowledge the absence of a formal validation process, which constitutes a key limitation of this study. The results align well with findings from previous research, including (SDES, 2022) who highlight the predominant role of fossil fuel combustion in operational GHGE, (Huang et al., 2018) who emphasise the significant role of indirect emissions within the construction sector, (O'Hegarty et al., 2022) who report that one-third of whole-life carbon emissions in Ireland are embodied GHGE, and (?) who project that embodied emissions could constitute up to 75% of life-cycle GHGE in a Business-As-Usual scenario. However, this alignment with existing studies does not replace the need for rigorous validation. Validation could involve comparing these results with those obtained from other methodologies, such

113

as bottom-up approaches, although such studies are rare at the national level. While incorporating quantitative indicators for measuring errors, such as sensitivity analysis within the MRIO framework, could also be beneficial, this process is complex and resource-intensive as it involves extensive computational work to evaluate the impact of each variable on the results. Additionally, the inherent challenges of sector aggregation, economic data discrepancies, and the assumptions about global supply chains add further layers of complexity to such an analysis (Crawford et al., 2018). Given these challenges, the scope of the current study was focused on establishing a robust methodological framework rather than extending into comprehensive validation. Future research could build on this foundation by developing and applying advanced validation techniques to address these challenges and enhance the robustness of the findings.

Despite this limitation, the study's findings remain valuable for informing policy decisions and advancing the understanding of whole-life carbon emissions in the construction sector by leveraging the strengths of various LCI methods to overcome the limitations inherent in each. It also addresses the noted scarcity of comprehensive macro-level studies, particularly those using MRIO databases for capturing both direct and indirect impacts, a gap especially pronounced in EU countries (Onat and Kucukvar, 2020), with no study specifically addressing France. This shortfall is particularly significant given France's advanced policy framework, exemplified by the SNBC and the RE2020. Indeed, this study adopts a more policy-oriented perspective, since its accounting methodology is designed to broaden the scope of existing sectoral carbon budgets. In the majority of studies that focus on establishing WLC budgets for national building activities (such as (Priore et al., 2023), (Horup et al., 2023) and (Horup et al., 2022)), the approach leans towards absolute sustainability. This involves an initial step to downscale the global remaining carbon budgets to national level, using different allocation principles. In this study, carbon budgets are conceived more as a policy target, defined by the SNBC and complemented by consumption-based metrics. As such, this approach does not address the issue of fairness, but can be seen as more relevant for defining environmental policies (Heijungs et al., 2014). Such analysis can also provide guidance in the context of international climate negotiation by highlighting the necessity of pursuing emissions reductions not only within the construction industry itself but also across its global supply chains, thereby identifying diverse opportunities for reduction.

In the WLC pathways, the share of embodied GHGE become more and more important, and should outpace operational GHGE in the next decades in the STEPS and APS. Indeed, when dealing with a large transformation of the building stock, either via retrofits or reconstruction, material-related impacts can become more important than energy-related impacts (de Oliveira Fernandes et al., 2021) (Verhagen et al., 2021). This finding is particularly true for France, where the indirect operational GHGE are relatively low, thanks to a low-carbon electricity mix. Worldwide, this assertion might not stand since indirect operational GHGE represent 57% of buildings life-cycle emissions in 2019 (?), thus it is likely that operational GHGE remain predominant. However, the importance of tackling embodied GHGE should be clearly acknowledged by building policies in order to avoid a displacement of GHGE from buildings to industrial sectors that produce construction materials and equipment. Using the suggested accounting framework sheds light on emission reduction potentials across the

supply chain and the interconnection between industrial sectors and building demand. The cement and concrete value chain serves as a prime example, due to the significant role of the 'Cement, lime and plaster' sector in embodied GHGE that illustrates the strong link between construction activities and these upstream industrial chains. Beyond the technical and upstream decarbonisation levers outlined in Appendix 9.4.5, the necessity of adopting a value chain reduction approach is underscored, proposing strategies from clinker production to structural applications in buildings (Habert et al., 2020a). This unified approach accentuates the intrinsic link between construction activities and the decarbonisation of cement and concrete, highlighting the vast potential for emission reduction through demand-side measures. Construction sector professionals are encouraged to demand the creation of lower CO<sub>2</sub> content in concrete, necessitating a concerted focus on emissions during the construction phase that involves a broad spectrum of stakeholders. By mandating progressive reductions in embodied emissions with limit values set for 2031, the new environmental regulation (RE2020) in France is a good example of such policies, even if it applies for new construction only. In terms of broader policy implications, the findings support the need for additional policies based on sufficiency measures, such as policies that encourage a reduction in floor area per *capita* and the optimisation of existing spaces by addressing vacant housing (Morfeldt et al., 2023).

Previous studies have attempted to apply scenarios to IO models by changing various parts of the IO system based on exogenous assumptions (De Koning et al., 2016) (Wiebe et al., 2018) (Donati et al., 2020). They have often focused on the electricity sector (Gibon et al., 2015) (Hertwich et al., 2015). In this study, the economic structure (e.g. inter-sectoral exchanges) is assumed to remain constant. Indeed, this study applies exogenous scenarios to IO results by using the IEA sectoral CO<sub>2</sub> pathways, similar to how operational results are combined with SNBC pathways. It is worth mentioning that IEA scenarios do not publicly provide prospective data on economic exchanges among sectors. Thus, if the approach is arguably less sophisticated, future studies would need to incorporate additional models to modify the economic structure. For the time being, the study is more concentrated on ongoing work at EU level focused on the creation of WLC and embodied carbon budgets for buildings (Röck et al., 2022b) (Ramboll et al., 2023), and represents a novel contribution by depicting budgets that depend on the decarbonisation of upstream sectors within the supply chain. However, this method would not be suitable to examine the effect of certain policies on the structural dependencies between economic sectors, such as circular economy measures or economic incentives, nor to address the effect on prices in the economy. These aspects are generally the focus of dynamic models, such as Computable General Equilibrium (CGE) models, while IO models are more conventionally regarded as accounting tools (Wiebe et al., 2018).

Additionally, while IOA offers a cross-sectoral and international vision of embodied GHGE, facilitating the minimisation of truncation errors, it does not come without limitations (Lenzen, 2008). In particular, the issues of sector aggregation and materials specific data are important when it comes to buildings (Teh et al., 2018). For example, the *construction* sector is aggregated in MRIO tables and its decomposition between *buildings* and *civil engineering* GHGE brings additional uncertainties. In this study, it is done through national statistics by using economic transactions as proxy. Matrix augmentation, which consists of sub-dividing an economic sector using process data, can be a more robust option (Crawford et al., 2018). It should be noted that this issue does not arise when the all built environment is considered.

Another major issue of IOA regarding embodied GHGE calculation is that it does not distinguish the building usages (e.g. residential and non-residential buildings) and typologies (e.g. new construction, renovation, demolition). However, the present work can serve as budget-based targets and be coupled with a LCA bottom-up building stock model, which aims to provide a holistic environmental assessment of the different building stages (Mastrucci et al., 2017). It would enable to model the transformation of the building stock through the years with respect to the top-down targets identified. Indeed, the idea of combining top-down and bottom-up modelling approaches for the building activities bring promising ideas (Hollberg et al., 2019). Yet, one of the challenges to be unravelled is the potential temporal mismatch between static LCA results and budget-based targets.

#### 5.7 Conclusion

The development of sound GHGE accounting methods for cross-sectoral activities is urgent to better link climate policies such as sectoral carbon budgets with industrial and public policies. It can enhance the development of scalable carbon budgets that are needed to better shape stakeholders decarbonisation strategies. The article builds upon the needs-activities-sectors framework to present a methodology that enables to capture the whole-life GHGE of buildings at national level. It supplements the traditional sectoral approach of GHGE accounting by bringing a cross-sectoral and international perspective on national buildings activity. Alongside the GHGE of the different energy carriers used during buildings use stage, geographical and sectoral embodied GHGE hot spots are highlighted. This holistic approach better recognises the complexity of buildings GHGE and can help to activate decarbonisation levers along the supply-chain. The French case study shows that operational GHGE are dominant today with 66% of buildings GHGE footprint, and are mainly caused by gas and oil combustion. Nevertheless, the weight of embodied GHGE is already significant today and is likely to become predominant in the next decades in almost every studied scenarios. Thus, the results show that strict limit on embodied GHGE should be enforce to better regulate the whole-life GHGE of buildings and avoid carbon leakages.

# 6

## From limit values to carbon budgets: assessing comprehensive decarbonisation strategies

#### Contents

6.1	Highli	ghts
6.2	Abstra	ct
6.3	Introd	uction
	6.3.1	Benchmark systems and studies
	6.3.2	Scenario analysis and framing of decarbonisation levers
	6.3.3	Climate and sectoral policies
	6.3.4	Contribution of the paper 122
6.4	Literat	ture review
	6.4.1	A lack of benchmark values for renovation operations
	6.4.2	Existing scenario analysis and roadmaps 124
6.5	Metho	d 125
	6.5.1	Dwelling stock database 126
	6.5.2	Dynamics of the dwelling stock
	6.5.3	Energy and operational GHGE calculations and energy carriers decarbonisation 130
	6.5.4	Embodied GHGE calculation and scenarios for future limit values 132
	6.5.5	Framing of solutions for each parameters
	6.5.6	Selected scenarios
	6.5.7	Comparing bottom-up pathways with top-down targets 135
6.6	Result	s 137
	6.6.1	Results for selected scenarios 137
	6.6.2	Sensitivity analysis on upstream sectors decarbonisation pathways 140

	6.6.3 WLC emissions and comparison with top-down budgets	142
6.7	Discussions	144
6.8	Conclusion	146

This chapter introduces the second journal article of the PhD thesis. The paper has been published in 'Building and Environment' and can be found at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv. 2024.111505. It is reproduced here as it is, while formatting might change. Please refer to Appendix 9.5 for the 'Supporting Information' accompanying this publication.

#### CONTRIBUTIONS

- Marin Pellan Conceptualisation, Data analysis, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Writing - original draft
- Denise Almeida Conceptualisation, Supervision, Validation, Writing review & editing
- Mathilde Louërat Conceptualisation, Supervision, Validation, Writing review & editing
- Guillaume Habert Conceptualisation, Supervision, Validation, Writing review & editing

#### 6.1 Highlights

- New GHGE pathways methodology from open-source dwelling stock database.
- Comparison of WLC emissions with carbon budgets.
- Results highlight efficiency of fossil fuel reduction policies.
- Embodied GHGE become predominant in ambitious scenarios.
- Emphasis on stock efficiency, deep decarbonisation and sufficiency levers.

#### 6.2 Abstract

Several countries are moving towards imposing mandatory limit values that consider the life-cycle greenhouse gases emissions (GHGE) of new construction projects. While they offer valuable guidance towards low-carbon practices, they may not be sufficient to ensure the building activities alignment with ambitious climate goals. To do so, it is imperative to integrate all stock-level activities dynamics and consider the evolving nature of limit values influenced by the decarbonisation efforts in the energy and industry sectors.

This article introduces a methodological framework designed to explore the potential evolution of the dwelling stock GHGE, with the ultimate goal of assessing their alignment with climate objectives. By using a national building stock database, alongside drivers of stock-level activities and scenarios for the decarbonisation of upstream sectors, it facilitates the creation of multiple scenarios and the calculation of yearly and cumulative Whole-Life Carbon (WLC) emissions.

France is taken as a case study to investigate the compatibility of its recent implementation of climate and sectoral policies. The findings suggest that prioritising the elimination of fossil fuel usage emerges as an optimal strategy for decreasing operational GHGE. Regarding embodied GHGE, the more ambitious the scenario, the greater its relative contribution, potentially accounting for up to half of the WLC emissions by 2050. In addition to the ambitious transformation of energy-inefficient dwellings, the deep decarbonisation of energy carriers and construction materials plays a pivotal role in the overall decarbonisation of the dwelling stock, while sufficiency measures significantly impact embodied GHGE.

**Keywords**: environmental benchmarks; stock dynamics; scenario analysis; whole-life carbon; life-cycle assessment; carbon budgets

#### 6.3 Introduction

Building activities are significant contributors to climate change, responsible for 21% of global greenhouse gases emissions (GHGE), emitting 12 Gt  $CO_2eq$  annually (Cabeza et al., 2022). With an expected 75% increase in the floor area in the Global South and while a large part of the existing building stock is energy inefficiency in the Global North (IEA, 2021), the projected trajectories are alarming in the context of a shrinking remaining carbon budget to keep on the commitments of the Paris Agreement (United Nations, 2015). The development of scalable carbon budgets, from construction products to cities and national building stocks and its implementation into mandatory targets is then a prerequisite for achieving sound climate objectives (Habert et al., 2020b).

For many years, the spotlight in research and policy discussions had primarily been on operational GHGE. They have rightly received significant attention as buildings are long-term assets, and their energy use contribute substantially to climate change over their lifespan. However, there has been a notable shift in focus towards embodied GHGE which has been rising in relative and absolute terms, especially for new buildings (Röck et al., 2020). While they represent 25% of Whole-Life Carbon (WLC) emissions today, their share is expected to reach 49% by 2050 (UNEP, 2023). Between 1995 and 2015, emissions from material production increase by 120% between 1995 and 2015, with two-fifths of the footprint caused by construction (Hertwich, 2021). Thus, understanding the prospective dynamics of the stock in use is vital for effective environmental policy-making (Haberl et al., 2017).

#### 6.3.1 Benchmark systems and studies

To address the urgent need for GHGE reduction, the development of robust WLC benchmarks in the building sector is essential. They should serve as crucial tools for assessing buildings environmental performance and help policymakers establish mandatory limit values. Beyond assessing the starting point, they should also help to specify future targets and reduction pathways that need to be dynamically updated to take into account new insights (e.g. planetary boundaries and technological advancements for example) (Lützkendorf et al., 2023). The International Standard on sustainability in buildings and civil engineering works (ISO 21678:2020) defines a framework for establishing benchmarks on sustainability in buildings. Three types are proposed : limit values ('upper or lower acceptable performance level'), reference values (best practice) and target values. The latter derives from top-down (TD) benchmark, while the first two types derive from bottom-up (BU) benchmark.

On one hand, bottom-up (BU) benchmarks relate to the values of the existing level of GHGE based on an empirical dataset. They are developed at a granular level, considering specific characteristics of buildings, and delve into factors like building size, age, materials and energy consumption patterns. When considering the building level, multiple studies have contributed to the field (Birgisdottir et al., 2023). Their strength lies in their ability to offer practical and tailored decarbonisation strategies. Nevertheless, BU benchmarks demand considerable time and resources for data collection and assessment, and there might be a lack of standardised comparison mechanisms across diverse contexts (e.g. geographic regions and building types). Data completeness and availability are also key challenges (Röck et al., 2022b). Another limitation is that they often rely on a limited set of case studies or archetypes buildings, focusing mainly on new construction, although recent trends indicate a shift towards data-driven approaches (Mouton et al., 2023). What's more, BU benchmarks only enable to compare metrics between different elements (e.g. components, buildings) but are not enough to ensure their alignment with planetary boundaries. There is indeed a gap in translating the stocklevel activities (e.g. construction, deconstruction and renovation flows) from the individual building scale to the entire building stock. On the other hand, top-down (TD) benchmarks encompass carbon reduction targets across various geographical regions and economic sectors. With the rising concerns related to planetary boundaries trespassing (Richardson et al., 2023), they draw inspiration from international climate agreements, such as the Paris Agreement (United Nations, 2015), and considerations related to the remaining carbon budget, which quantifies the total amount of carbon dioxide emissions that can be released into the atmosphere while still keeping global warming below a specific temperature target (Matthews et al., 2020), as well as national climate action plans. Several studies have proposed to downscale the remaining carbon budget down to national buildings activities, building stocks, individual buildings, life-cycle stages and components, for example in Switzerland (Priore et al., 2023) and Denmark (Horup et al., 2023). They generally aim to set scalable science-based target values (for instance per building floor area, e.g.  $kgCO_2eq/m^2$ , taking into account the dynamic evolution of the building stock which are scenario-dependant. Given the growing urgency of GHGE reductions, an approach based on top-down target values serves to underscore the magnitude of the transition required. However, challenges arise in the context of the ongoing debates concerning the fair allocation of budgets at both national and sectoral levels, which gives rise to ethical questions that are largely debated in the literature (Höhne et al., 2014) (Robiou Du Pont et al., 2016) (Steininger et al., 2021) (Hjalsted et al., 2021). Additionally, the translation of these targets into actionable measures at the building level presents inherent complexities.

The integration of TD and BU approaches emerges as a powerful strategy for comprehensive building stock decarbonisation. While TD benchmarks provide the overarching vision and motivation for action, BU benchmarks help to define ambitious limit values and supply tailored insights and solutions aligned with the characteristics of individual buildings or components. However, examples of such coupling are still scarce in the literature and rarely encompass all stock-level activities. In Switzer-land, Hollberg et al. (2019) compare derived TD targets with BU benchmarks at component level in order to identify potential for environmental optimisation in the design process. In the UK, Li et al. (2022) the focus is on assessing different renovation strategies with national carbon budgets. In New Zealand (Chandrakumar et al., 2020b) and Denmark (Andersen et al., 2020), the emphasis is on comparing current performance at the building level with future target values, aiming to quantify the existing environmental performance gap.

#### 6.3.2 Scenario analysis and framing of decarbonisation levers

BU benchmarks need to be coupled with stock-level activities dynamics at the building stock level in order to assess their compatibility with TD benchmarks. In that matter, scenario analysis offer a valuable tool into potential future developments of parameters shaping the trajectory of the building activities towards a low-carbon future. By combining the use of narratives, like the Shared Socioeconomic Pathways (SSP) scenario family (O'Neill et al., 2014) (Riahi et al., 2017), with industrial ecology techniques such as Material Flow Analysis (MFA) and Life-Cycle Assessment (LCA), one can explore a range of possibilities and devise targeted strategies to reduce WLC emissions. Alas, if numerous scenarios recognise and integrate buildings GHGE, they often focus mainly operational GHGE. As a result, building activities are not precisely integrated in decarbonisation pathways. This poor representation and lack of explicit holistic pathways prevent to have clear pathways for WLC emissions (Giesekam et al., 2018b).

In terms of levers, scenario and decarbonisation roadmaps tend to focus on efficiency and technological solutions in the use phase. It traduces the three pillars of decarbonisation usually represented in Integrated Assessment Models (IAMs), e.g. energy efficiency, decarbonisation of energy carriers and end-use switch (Waisman et al., 2019). Studies that take a more holistic approaches tend to add material efficiency to these strategies (Pauliuk et al., 2021). Sufficiency, behavioural measures and life-cycle perspectives solutions have been largely overlooked, despite their advantages in terms of economic, social and environmental benefits (Mata et al., 2020) (Cabeza et al., 2022). Several frameworks provide a structured way to address different aspects of GHGE reduction, underscoring the necessity of considering a range of strategies across multiple levels. Among them the Demandside/Supply-side (Creutzig et al., 2018) (Creutzig et al., 2021), Sufficiency/Efficiency/Renewable (Saheb, 2021), and Avoid/Improve/Shift (Creutzig et al., 2022) frameworks have been previously used. The latter endorsed by the IPCC (Cabeza et al., 2022), the UNEP (UNEP, 2023) and EU studies (Ramboll et al., 2023), emphasises three key strategies when applied to the building activities. Avoid involves make the best-use of the existing stock in order to avoid production of materials and design buildings with low-energy demand. Shift entails transitioning to low-carbon energy sources and materials, reducing both operational and embodied emissions. Improve centers on enhancing the energy efficiency of existing buildings through upgrades and retrofits, and improving conventional materials and use them only when necessary. Avoid solutions can be limited by social factors, Shift solutions are often limited by resource availability and Improve solutions are limited by innovation and access to market.

#### 6.3.3 Climate and sectoral policies

Several European Union (EU) countries, such as the Netherlands, Denmark, Finland, Sweden, and France, have recently implemented comprehensive GHGE requirements for new buildings in national standards (Buildings Performance Institute Europe, 2021). For example, in France, the new Environmental Regulation (RE2020) have established GHGE limit values for new construction (CEREMA, 2024) with decreasing targets by 2031 for both operational and embodied GHGE. In order to effectively advance the decarbonisation of the building activities, it is imperative to closely monitor the evolution of these standards in relation to science-based targets and to identify the key factors contributing to their achievement (Mata et al., 2020).

France's recent climate policy implementations present a notable case for study. These policies include the National Low-Carbon Strategy (SNBC) (Ministère de la Transition Écologique et Solidaire, 2020a) and the development of sectoral decarbonisation roadmaps (officiel de la République française, 2021), Building-focused policies also play a significant role, such as the new energy performance certificate (EPC) labelling method and the gradual ban on renting out energy-inefficient housing (MTES, 2021). First, the SNBC is the decarbonisation compass to achieve a state of net-zero emissions by 2050 (Ministère de la Transition Écologique et Solidaire, 2020a). It distributes sectoralcarbon budgets based on the SECTEN national GHGE inventory format (CITEPA, 2023). However, it falls short in providing comprehensive pathways for building activities, particularly due to its limited guidance on embodied GHGE (Pellan et al., 2023b). Additionally, the building sectoral decarbonisation roadmap (CSTB, Plan Bâtiment Durable, 2023) have underlined the need to use different levers, among which the renovation lever (Pellan et al., 2023a), without proposing clear pathways for their implementation. Furthermore, there is a diversity of scenarios concerning the dynamics of

for their implementation. Furthermore, there is a diversity of scenarios concerning the dynamics of the building stock and the decarbonisation of many economic sectors (ADEME, 2021a) (RTE, 2022b) (négaWatt, 2022) (The Shift Project, 2021). Lastly, the Climate & Resilience Law (Journal officiel de la République Française, 2021) introduces a phased rental ban on energy-inefficient housing, with staggered deadlines (2025 for G, 2028 for F and 2034 for E). While this strategy undeniably brings energy and social benefits, the approach of renovating or demolishing buildings based on their EPC label has not been thoroughly examined in terms of WLC emissions. Moreover, it has not been compared with other strategies, such as those targeting the installation of fossil fuels. Notably, since 2022, the installation of new oil boilers for heating and hot water has been prohibited, aligning with the SNBC's objective to eliminate heating systems using coal and oil products by 2028. At the same time, the RE2020 imposes limits on operational GHGE, thereby constraining the use of natural gas primarily in new constructions. This presents a challenge, as a significant portion of the existing building stock continues to depend heavily on natural gas.

Thus, there remains a significant gap in integrating these elements into a comprehensive framework, hindering the ability to explore WLC emissions for multiple future projections. Furthermore, comparing these scenarios to life-cycle top-down budgets remains methodologically challenging. Indeed, they do not have the same granularity and do not always integrate the same scope of emissions. Additionally, these methodologies may not consistently align in terms of their temporal accounting systems.

#### 6.3.4 Contribution of the paper

The socio-economic drivers influencing residential buildings differ significantly from those affecting non-residential buildings. Indeed, based on the concept of service provision, population and lifestyles (in particular floor area *per capita*), are often used to characterise prospective environmental impacts from dwellings (Müller, 2005). Our understanding of building stocks reveals a greater emphasis on residential buildings: building stock models and studies tend to focus on residential buildings (Röck et al., 2021), which can be attributed to the availability of more comprehensive databases related to the dwelling stock. What's more, residential buildings contribute the most to operational GHGE with 19% of global energy and process emissions, while non-residential buildings contribute 11% (UNEP, 2022).

Given these considerations, the study focuses on residential buildings and sets out to explore the complex interplay among diverse stock-level activities dynamics (including their socio-economic and policy determinants) and the decarbonisation of supply sectors that influence the future WLC limit values. This exploration is crucial for understanding how these factors collectively shape future WLC emissions, and how they compare with top-down budget constraints. This investigation gives rise to three central questions:
- What are the annual and cumulative WLC emissions of the dwelling stock when considering different combinations of prospective parameters for stock dynamics and upstream sectors transformation?
- Which targeted policies, in particular for renovation operations, should be preferred to maximise the decarbonisation of the dwelling stock?
- Which scenarios demonstrate compatibility with top-down budget constraints, and what are the key variables that have the most influence on the WLC emissions in the next decades?

### 6.4 Literature review

#### 6.4.1 A lack of benchmark values for renovation operations

The necessity of establishing BU benchmark values for their association with stock-level activities dynamics motivates the evaluation and comparison of values for the different activities (e.g. new construction, renovation and demolition). As outlined in the introduction, several studies have proposed BU benchmarks, ranging from the component level to the assessment of hundreds of buildings. As an example, a recent analysis in five European countries have shown average values and data variability around different building use and building structures for different life-cycle stages. For residential buildings, embodied GHGE show a median value of 600 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/m<sup>2</sup>, ranging from 400 to 800 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/m<sup>2</sup>. For non-residential buildings, they show a median values of 600 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/m<sup>2</sup>, but with higher variability between 100 to 1200 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/m<sup>2</sup> (Röck et al., 2022a).

Yet, often BU values are limited to new construction. For renovation, the scarcity of the data can be attributed to the lack of mandatory requirements. Additionally, there exists a diversity of classification for renovation operations (e.g. light or shallow renovation, deep renovation, energy renovation, etc) which often depends on the extent and parts of the building being renovated. As a result, it is difficult to have benchmarks values for different types of renovation works and their associated energy savings. Generally, higher embodied per  $m^2$  are observed for individual dwelling than collective dwelling or office buildings. Technical and electrical systems usually accounts for more than half of the impact (Ramboll et al., 2023). Yet, various studies have underscored that the transition from fossil-fuel-based heating systems exerts the most substantial impact on GHGE and should be prioritised in renovation efforts (Galimshina et al., 2021). In practice, the concept of payback times, indicating the number of years required to offset the embodied GHGE investment through associated operational GHGE savings, is often used in studies. However, estimates for payback times vary widely, ranging from 6 to 70 years (HQE, 2022). Some studies calculate payback times based on the amount of embodied GHGE investment per jump in energy performance certificate (EPC) labels. For instance, they use values like  $60 \text{kgCO}_2 \text{eq}/\text{m}^2$  for a single EPC label jump and 150 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/m<sup>2</sup> for two to three EPC label jump (RTE and ADEME, 2020).

#### 6.4.2 Existing scenario analysis and roadmaps

#### At global and EU level

Numerous studies investigate the potential development of the building activities in the next decades. The scale of the studies often differ from geographical scales (e.g. continents, countries, cities, portfolio), as well as stock-level activities (e.g. renovation, new construction, demolition) and scopes of GHGE (operational, embodied or whole-life) or other environmental impacts considered (Röck et al., 2021). Global scenarios exist for residential buildings that focus on GHGE from space heating and cooling (Mastrucci et al., 2021) or material efficiency strategies (Pauliuk et al., 2021) (Fishman et al., 2021), while multiple national scenarios are available for example in the USA (Berrill et al., 2022) (Arehart et al., 2022), Switzerland (Heeren and Hellweg, 2019), Sweden (Österbring et al., 2019) (Peñaloza et al., 2018), Australia (Stephan and Athanassiadis, 2017), Luxembourg (Mastrucci et al., 2020a) and Norway (Pauliuk et al., 2013b). At EU level, (Ramboll et al., 2023) use building archetypes and stock-level activities to scale up the emission for the entire European building stock. They design three scenarios (BAU, 'Tech' and 'Life') with the help of the EU Calc tool <sup>1</sup> which provides prospective carbon intensity factors for space heating as well as decarbonisation scenarios for construction materials. With a baseline of 1360 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq, among which 79% are operational GHGE and 21% embodied GHGE, the BAU scenario reaches 920 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq while the Tech scenarios reaches 438 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq and the Life scenario reaches 344MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq in 2050.

#### Focus on existing French scenarios

In France, various organisations have proposed decarbonisation across all sectors, among which the French Agency for Ecological Transition (ADEME) (ADEME, 2021a), Negawatt (négaWatt, 2022) and The Shift Project (The Shift Project, 2021). In particular, ADEME in its 'Transition(s) 2050' propose a set of four scenarios, e.g. *Frugal generation (S1), Regional cooperation (S2), Green technologies (S3), Restoration gamble (S4)* (Gaspard et al., 2023). When moving to the energy sectors, the French Transmission System Operator (RTE) provides in depth scenarios for the transformation of electricity grid in order to be aligned with ambitious climate goals (RTE, 2022b).

In the context of the building sector, there is unanimous agreement on the necessity of extensively renovating existing buildings to achieve carbon neutrality in France by 2050 (ADEME et al., 2022). Nonetheless, because of their reliance on the national GHGE inventory format, scenarios do not represent building activities in a holistic way and mostly focus on direct operational GHGE. Scenarios that aim to fulfill the SNBC's goals envision that buildings exclusively use low-carbon energy carriers by 2050. For individual buildings, the primary focus is on heat pumps, with limited use of biomass due to resource constraints. Collective dwellings are expected to connect to renewable energy-powered district heating systems where feasible, or use heat pumps otherwise. In the SNBC scenario, it is anticipated that 85% of new dwellings will switch to electricity, with the remaining 15% adopting biomass or district heating. For existing dwellings, the projected shift is 80% towards electricity and 20% towards a combination of biomass, district heating, and biogas (DGEC, 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Available at http://tool.european-calculator.eu/intro

# 6.5 Method

As discussed in Section 6.3.1, the integration of TD and BU approaches in the context of stock-level activities, their drivers, and the decarbonisation of upstream sectors is relatively unexplored. Moreover, national level scenarios often fail to connect with building stock and building LCA databases, missing an opportunity to leverage bottom-up information for a comprehensive assessment and tracking of the dwellings GHGE from a well-founded baseline.

To address this gap, the proposed methodology introduces a modular framework designed to investigate the potential drivers behind the evolution of the WLC emissions in residential dwelling stock, with the ultimate goal of dynamically assess their alignment with top-down carbon budgets. The versatility of the approach allows to create multiple scenarios and to highlight the key parameters which have the most substantial impact on WLC emissions. Its novelty lies in harnessing both advanced bottom-up stock and flow data alongside indicators from national scenarios, effectively bridging the gap between bottom-up and top-down methodologies. While specifically tailored to the French context, the versatility and applicability of this method to other nations with similar datasets underscore its value and potential contribution to the scientific community engaged in evaluating WLC emissions reduction strategies.

Figure 6.1 displays the different elements of the modeling framework. Initially, it presents the dwelling stock database along with the dynamics associated with different stock-level activities. Following this, the calculation of operational and embodied GHGE, and the respective prospective pathways for supply activities are introduced. The model parameters are then classified using the 'Avoid-Improve-Shift' framework. Subsequently, a selected set of family scenarios is presented to il-lustrate the possible combination of parameters, and their alignment with top-down carbon budgets.



Figure 6.1: Methodology for stock dynamics and integration of energy carriers and construction materials

#### 6.5.1 Dwelling stock database

#### Presentation of the BDNB and its indicators

The Base de Données Nationale des Bâtiments (BDNB)<sup>2</sup> is the French national building stock database. It is the result of geospatial merging of more than twenty databases from public organisations. The core of the BDNB is based on the matching of land taxes files ("Fichiers Fonciers" from the Centre for Studies on Risks, the Environment, Mobility and Urban Planning (CEREMA)), a 3D vectorial description of the buildings with a metric precision (BD TOPO from the National Institute of Geographic and Forest Information (IGN)), and a cadastral database (from Etalab, a department of the Inter-ministerial Directorate for Digital Affairs). It contains information such as the morphology of the buildings (surfaces, heights, number of floors), its materiality, the usage (e.g. individual or collective housing, office buildings, schools, etc). This information is meticulously compiled for each building, providing extensive detail crucial for accurate modeling. Moreover, the BDNB includes data on energy consumption and carbon performance in use. These data originates from the Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) label database managed by ADEME, which encompasses over seven million residential buildings, accounting for approximately 20% of the housing stock. For buildings lacking energy data, the BDNB employs probabilistic predictions using statistical and physical models. These innovative predictions focus on generating input data (such as thermal performance of walls) for subsequent simulations in physical models (Schetelat et al., 2020) (Schetelat, 2023).

This study primarily concentrates on the energy and carbon information from the database, for which detailed graphs for the year 2020 are presented in Annex 9.5. However, the BDNB not only provides information on the current state of the dwelling stock but also facilitates predictions of future potential energy performance following renovations on millions of dwellings. These predictions are based on potential changes in heating and hot water systems, as well as improvements in the performance of walls, roofs, floors, and windows (detailed in SI 9.5.6). Figure 6.2 provides the number of dwellings passing from a EPC<sup>3</sup> label *i* to *j* for collective 6.2a and individual dwelling 6.2b respectively. For both types, the majority of dwellings are projected to achieve at least a C label post-renovation. The greatest shift is anticipated from D to B labels, largely due to the substantial number of dwellings currently at D. Such insights are valuable for assessing the potential future distribution of EPC labels on a national scale.

#### Calibration of energy values

At national level, the energy balance specifies energy flows for different sectors, including the *residential* sector. In France, it is given by the Statistical Data and Studies Department (SDES) (SDES, 2023). It aggregates energy data for all residential dwellings without differentiating by dwelling type or EPC label. The BDNB complements this dataset by providing these specific distinctions. In this study, these two data sources are integrated with the ultimate aim of determining the final energy consumption by energy carrier for each combination of dwelling type and EPC label. This calibration

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Available at https://gitlab.com/BDNB/base\_nationale\_batiment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>the EPC labels are taking into account both energy and carbon performance according to the new legislation (MTES, 2021)



Figure 6.2: Change of EPC label per dwelling type according to the BDNB

process is pivotal for enabling comparisons between results obtained from the BDNB and those from national studies, which often rely on the energy balance. Specifically, it has been used for calculating the operational GHGE of the French building stock (Pellan et al., 2023b). Accordingly, the calibration ensures a consistent baseline, essential for monitoring emission trends over the coming decades. The following equation is employed to get the calibrated results:

$$E_{f,dwt,epc,n,calibrated} = E_{f,dwt,epc,n,bdnb} * \frac{E_{f,n,sdes}}{E_{f,n,bdnb}}$$
(6.1)

Where  $E_{f,n,sdes}$  and  $E_{f,n,bdnb}$  are respectively the final energy consumption of energy carrier n given by the SDES and the BDNB,  $E_{f,dwt,epc,n,bdnb}$  is the final energy consumption by energy carrier n for each combination of dwelling type dwt and EPC label epc given by the BDNB, and  $E_{f,dwt,epc,n,calibrated}$ is the calibrated final energy consumption by energy carrier n for each combination of dwelling type dwt and EPC label epc. There are two dwt (individual and collective), seven epc (from A to G) and seven n (electricity, natural gas, biomass, oil products, district heating, LPG and coal).

Finally, to get the primary energy consumption, the final energy consumption is multiplied by the primary energy factor :

$$E_{p,dwt,epc,n,calibrated} = E_{f,dwt,epc,n,calibrated} * PEF$$
(6.2)

Where *PEF* is the is the primary energy factor of energy carrier *n*,  $E_{f,dwt,epc,n,calibrated}$  is the final energy consumption of dwelling type *dwt*, label *epc* and energy carrier *n* and  $E_{p,dwt,epc,n,calibrated}$  is the primary energy consumption of dwelling type *dwt*, label *epc* and energy carrier *n*, which is the calibrated value considered in the further calculations to obtain the results.

At the end, it is possible to obtain the ratio of primary energy by m<sup>2</sup> for all combination of dwelling type and EPC label:

$$e_{p,dwt,epc} = \frac{\sum_{n} E_{p,dwt,epc,n}}{S_{dwt,epc}}$$
(6.3)

Where  $\sum E_{p,dwt,epc}$  is the sum of primary energy consumption of all energy carriers in dwelling type dwt and label epc,  $S_{dwt,epc}$  is the sum of surface in m<sup>2</sup> for dwelling type dwt and label epc and  $e_{p,dwt,epc}$  is the ratio of primary energy by m<sup>2</sup> for all combination of dwelling type dwt and label epc.

#### 6.5.2 Dynamics of the dwelling stock

In the study, yearly stock dynamics result from a combination of renovation and demolition potentials obtained from the BDNB. It is paired with a demand-driven approach for new construction.

#### **Renovation and demolition potential**

From the BDNB, a transition matrix (TM) that represents a numerical representation of Fig. 6.2 is created to represent the potential number of dwellings (and associated surface) transitioning from one specific EPC label before renovation to another EPC label after undergoing renovation:

$$TM = \begin{bmatrix} Dw_{A,A} & Dw_{A,B} & \cdots & Dw_{A,G} \\ Dw_{B,A} & Dw_{B,B} & \cdots & Dw_{B,G} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ Dw_{G,A} & Dw_{G,B} & \cdots & Dw_{G,G} \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.4)

Where rows represent the EPC label before renovation and columns represent the EPC label after renovation. Each  $Dw_{i,j}$  represents the number of dwellings (or surface) passing from a EPC label *i* to *j*. As it is assumed that dwellings cannot experience a degradation in their EPC label over the time period, all  $Dw_{i,j}$  where  $i \le j$  are empty.

The scenario rationales are then constructed from reaching certain yearly level or targeting certain segments  $Dw_{i,j}$ . Two main scenarios are defined for renovation and demolition:

- High Renovation Scenario (HRS): an equivalent of 750,000 dwellings is renovated per year. It results in more than 23 million dwellings renovated by 2050, representing two-third of the actual dwelling stock.
- Medium Renovation Scenario (MRS): an equivalent of 250,000 dwellings is renovated per year. It results in less than 8 million dwellings renovated by 2050, representing 22% of the actual dwelling stock.
- High Demolition Scenario (HDS): all dwellings Dw<sub>i,j</sub> where G ≤ i ≤ D and G ≤ j ≤ D, plus Dw<sub>G,C</sub> and Dw<sub>F,C</sub> are demolished. It results in around 150,000 dwellings or 10,059,233 m<sup>2</sup> demolished per year, focused on dwellings which have poor performance and relatively low surface area (see SI 9.5.2).
- Medium Demolition Scenario (MDS): all dwellings  $Dw_{i,j}$  where  $G \le i \le D$  and  $G \le j \le D$ , plus  $Dw_{G,C}$  are demolished. It results in around 90,000 dwellings or 5,776,370 m<sup>2</sup> demolished per year.

#### **Renovation and demolition dynamics**

After determining the renovation potential and demolition potential over the specified time frame, these potentials are then combined with distribution functions. These functions are designed to allocate the potentials across the time period (e.g. 2020 to 2050) to create renovation and demolition paces. This allocation may follow different dynamics, such as a constant number of annual operations, a linear increase of operations fostered by renovation policies or a linear increase followed by a plateau signaling a potential technical or socio-economic limitation on further annual renovations. In order to calibrate the renovation data from 2020 to 2022, this study relies on the number of renovations accounted in the Effinergie+ database (Effinergie, 2023). It only accounts for deep and efficient renovation ('*BBC renovation*'), which is consistent with the logic of starting with the biggest renovation in the modelling order. The repartition of renovation operations between the different dwelling type (e.g. collective and individual dwellings) is based on the current repartition in number of dwelling of the stock (e.g. 55% individual dwellings and 45% collective dwellings).

#### Targeting renovation strategies

Subsequently, to distribute these annual rates to specific dwellings, two distinct targeting strategies are examined. The first strategy aligns with the phased rental ban on energy-inefficient housing (MTES, 2021). It initially focuses on the lowest EPC labels (e.g. with the worst performance), progressively moving towards the higher ones. In terms of renovation, the approach begins with segments that offer the highest potential for energy savings (e.g.,  $Dw_{G,A}$ ). Conversely, for demolition, the focus is first on segments with the lowest ratings and no prospects of energy performance improvement (e.g.,  $Dw_{G,G}$ ). The second strategy is designed to evaluate alternative policies aimed at phasing out fossil fuel utilisation. Following the elimination of F and G labels, which are to happen in the next decade, the focus shifts to eradicating fossil fuel dependence in dwellings rated E to C. After this phase, the targeting strategy reverts to the standard order.

#### Energy carriers changes in renovation operations

To reduce operational GHGE due to buildings operation and diminish reliance on fossil fuels, scenarios and policies frequently focus on three primary of low-carbon energy carriers: biomass, district heating, and electricity. Electricity, often used in conjunction with heat pumps, is by far the most prevalent of these. This study takes advantage of the French scenarios presented in 6.4.2 to apply percentage changes in energy sources depending on the dwelling type. For collective dwellings, it is assumed that 80% will transition to electricity and 20% to district heating. For individual dwellings, the expected shift is 80% to electricity and 20% to biomass.

#### **Construction dynamics**

For new construction, the method follows a demand-driven approach that require several steps. First, the surface area required to meet population needs on an annual basis is calculated each year until 2050. Subsequently, the projected potential growth in demand during two years (e.g. between t

and t+1) is summed with the surface area demolished during year t to determine the construction surface during year t. The following equations are employed:

$$S_{needs}(t) = K(t) * P(t)$$
(6.5)

$$S_{new}(t) = S_{needs}(t+1) - S_{needs}(t) + S_{dem}(t)$$
 (6.6)

Where  $S_{needs}(t)$  is the surface needs in year t, K(t) is the number of m<sup>2</sup> per capita in year t, P(t) is the national population in year t,  $S_{new}(t)$  is the constructed surface in year t and  $S_{dem}(t)$  is the demolished surface in year t from the transition matrix.

Later, the construction needs in surface are split between dwelling type, (e.g. individual housing and collective housing):

$$S_{new,dwt}(t) = S_{new}(t) * p_{dwt}(t)$$
(6.7)

Where  $p_{dwt}(t)$  is the share of dwelling type dwt in year t from the total new constructed surface  $S_{new}(t)$  in year t, and  $S_{new,dwt}(t)$  is the new constructed surface of dwelling type dwt in year t.

Finally, the newly constructed surfaces are translated into constructed dwellings:

$$Dw_{dwt}(t) = \frac{S_{new,dwt}(t)}{S_{average,dwt}(t)}$$
(6.8)

Where  $S_{average,dwt}(t)$  is the average surface of dwelling type dwt in year t and  $Dw_{dwt}(t)$  is the number of construction dwellings dwt in year t.

#### 6.5.3 Energy and operational GHGE calculations and energy carriers decarbonisation

#### **Energy and operational GHGE calculation**

To calculate operational GHGE of the stock, final energy consumption per energy carriers (expressed in kWh) needs to be coupled with emission factors (in  $kgCO_2eq/kWh$ ) for each dwelling type and EPC label. First, the primary energy consumption for each energy carrier *n* resulting from renovation and demolition activities is given yearly by:

$$E_{p,dwt,epc,n}(t+1) = E_{p,dwt,epc,n}(t)$$

$$-(S_{ren,dwt,epc}(t) \cdot e_{p,epc,bren})(t)$$

$$+(S_{ren,dwt,epc}(t) \cdot e_{p,epc,aren})(t)$$

$$-(S_{dem,dwt,epc}(t) \cdot e_{p,epc})(t)$$
(6.9)

Where  $E_{p,dwt,epc,n}(t)$  and  $E_{p,dwt,epc,n}(t+1)$  represent the primary energy consumption of dwelling type *dwt* with label *epc* and energy carrier *n* respectively in year *t* and t + 1,  $S_{ren,dwt,epc}(t)$  is the renovated surface of dwelling type *dwt* with label *epc* in year *t*,  $S_{dem,dwt,epc}(t)$  is the demolished surface of dwelling type *dwt* with label *epc* in year *t*.  $e_{p,epc,bren}(t)$  and  $e_{p,epc,aren}(t)$  are respectively the primary energy consumption per m<sup>2</sup> for label *epc* before and after renovation.

For new construction, the surface per dwelling type is multiplied by the primary energy consumption per m<sup>2</sup> per dwelling type given by the RE2020:

$$E_{p,dwt,new,n}(t) = S_{new,dwt,n}(t) * e_{p,dwt,new}$$
(6.10)

Where  $e_{p,dwt,new}$  is the primary energy consumption per m<sup>2</sup> for new constructed dwelling type dwt,  $S_{new,dwt,n}(t)$  is the new constructed surface in m<sup>2</sup> of dwelling type dwt with energy carrier n in year t and  $E_{p,dwt,new,n}(t)$  is the primary energy consumption of dwelling type dwt with energy carrier nin year t.  $e_{p,dwt,new}$  is equal to 70kWh/m<sup>2</sup>/year for collective dwelling and 55kWh/m<sup>2</sup>/year. It is assumed that 90% of new collective dwelling are using electricity, and 10% are connected to district heating, while for new individual dwelling it is assumed that 80% are using electricity and 20% are using biomass.

At last, it is possible to calculate the operational GHGE of the entire stock at time t, by summing the final energy consumption of the remaining stock and the new constructed surface for each energy carrier n:

$$\theta(t) = \sum_{dwt, epc,n} (E_{f,dwt,epc,n}(t) + E_{f,dwt,new,n}(t)) * f_{\theta,dwt,n}(t)$$
(6.11)

Where  $f_{\theta,n}(t)$  is the operational emission factor of energy carrier n,  $E_{f,dwt,new,n}(t)$  is the final energy consumption of new constructed dwelling type dwt with energy carrier n in year t and  $E_{f,dwt,epc,n}(t)$  is the final energy consumption of dwelling type dwt with label epc and energy carrier n in year t.  $\theta(t)$  is the operational GHGE of the entire stock at time t, expressed in MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq in the results.

#### **Energy carriers decarbonisation**

This study introduces three scenarios to investigate the evolving emission factors of critical energy carriers over time. The analysis specifically concentrates on electricity, district heating, and gas (through the integration of biogas in the gas network). These energy carriers are emphasised due to their projected dominance in future energy mixes, with electricity expected to play a particularly central role. Additionally, they represent significant decarbonisation opportunities in the coming years, making them pivotal in the context of reducing greenhouse gas emissions. However, it is still important to note that the emission factor for electricity in France is already low, primarily due to its production from low-carbon sources such as nuclear and hydropower. Despite this, the generation of electricity from gas power plants, a significant contributor to GHGE today, offers considerable opportunities for further decarbonisation.

In this study, three scenarios are employed for exploratory purposes. The 'Constant' scenario serves as a conservative baseline, assuming that emission factors remain unchanged from their 2022 levels. In contrast, the 'SNBC' scenario envisions highly ambitious pathways for electricity, natural gas, and district heating, aligned with the objectives of the SNBC. Additionally, a 'Half' scenario is introduced as a moderate option, representing a middle ground between the two extremes.

#### 6.5.4 Embodied GHGE calculation and scenarios for future limit values

#### Statistical analysis of the RE2020 building LCA database

To calculate embodied GHGE at time *t*, new constructed, renovated and demolished surfaces are coupled with GHGE values per m<sup>2</sup>. These values are derived from a statistical analysis of the RE2020 building LCA database (more information is provided in Annex 9.5). The database aggregates building LCA data compiled in accordance with the EN15978 Standard. This process-based approach often underestimates environmental impacts due to truncation issues (Crawford et al., 2018). Specifically, in the building context, employing various methods for the compilation of Life Cycle Inventory (LCI) data has demonstrated considerable variability in outcomes (Venkatraj and Dixit, 2021). However, the availability of building LCA using hybrid coefficients is limited, posing a challenge to the adoption of such comprehensive methods.

Figure 6.3 presents the GHGE values per square meter for individual and collective dwellings, broken down by life-cycle stages according to the EN-15978 standard.

The A1-A3 life-cycle stage is identified as the most impactful, whereas the C stage has the lowest impact. On average, collective dwellings exhibit a higher environmental impact per square meter compared to individual dwellings, although the difference is relatively modest.

In this study, median values from life-cycle stages A and B are aggregated to determine the embodied emissions for new constructions. For demolitions, the median value from life-cycle stage C is used. For renovations, all life-cycle stages are accounted. This approach assumes that they encompass the end-of-life considerations for existing components within the building and any additional components introduced during renovation. A more detailed analysis is employed to have the values broken down by building component groups as outlined in the RE2020 (more information is given in SI 9.6). The performance level of the renovation, assessed based on the number of jumps in EPC label jumps, dictates which specific building component groups are affected. This methodology closely aligns with the approach used in the French *Quartier Energie Carbone* study (CSTB et al., 2022).

#### **Calculation of embodied GHGE**

The calculation of embodied GHGE then follows the following logic:

$$e(t) = \sum_{dwt} \left( S_{new,dwt}(t) \cdot f_{\varepsilon,new,dwt} + S_{dem,dwt}(t) \cdot f_{\varepsilon,dem,dwt} \right) + \sum_{dwt,epc jump} S_{ren,dwt,epc jump}(t) \cdot f_{\varepsilon,ren,dwt,epc jump}$$
(6.12)

Where  $S_{new,dwt}(t)$  is the new constructed surface of dwelling type dwt in year t,  $S_{dem,dwt}(t)$  is the demolished surface of dwelling type dwt in year t,  $S_{ren,dwt,epcjump}(t)$  is the renovated surface of dwelling type dwt for EPC label jump epc jump in year t, while  $f_{\varepsilon,new,dwt}$ ,  $f_{\varepsilon,dem,dwt}$  and  $f_{\varepsilon,ren,epcjump}$  are respectively the values of embodied emissions (in kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/m<sup>2</sup>) for new construction, demolition





Figure 6.3: Embodied values per life-cycle stages

and renovation per dwelling type dwt and per EPC label jump for  $f_{\varepsilon,ren,epcjump}$ . Finally, e(t) is the embodied GHGE of the entire stock at time t, expressed in MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq in the results.

#### **Evolution of limit values**

To model different trajectories of embodied GHGE limits in stock-level activities (e.g.  $f_{\varepsilon,new}$ ,  $f_{\varepsilon,dem}$ ,  $f_{\varepsilon,ren}$ ), two scenarios are constructed. The first scenario, 'RE2020', is based on the currently planned declining GHGE limit values by 2031 of the RE2020. After this date, it assumes these values will plateau, indicating a technological stagnation where further reductions in GHGE are not feasible. The second scenario, 'RE2020+', is more ambitious as it extrapolates the decline in GHGE limits observed from 2022 to 2031 up to 2050. This scenario envisions the advent of breakthrough technologies or the widespread adoption of low-carbon materials, like bio-based materials or circular solutions. These scenarios are applied to  $f_{\varepsilon,new}$  and  $f_{\varepsilon,ren}$  while  $f_{\epsilon,dem}$  is assumed constant over the period.

#### 6.5.5 Framing of solutions for each parameters

The parameters used in the modelling process are classified in Table 6.1 using the Avoid/Shift/Improve framework presented in section 6.3.2 accompanied by examples of solutions for each category.

 Table 6.1: Framing of model parameters in the 'Avoid-Improve-Shift' framework and examples of solutions

	Avoid	Improve	Shift
Parameters in the modelling framework	P, K, S <sub>dem</sub>	S <sub>ren</sub>	$f_{ heta}, f_{arepsilon}, p_{dwt}, \ S_{average,dwt}$
Example of solutions	Optimising the use of existing space	Extending building and components lifespan	Using bio-based materials and renewable energy

For 'Avoid' solutions, population (*P*), floor area *per capita* (*K*) and demolition potential ( $S_{dem}$ ) are three variables that enable to modify the new construction surface. Thus, by applying low values to these parameters, it is possible to avoid new constructed surface and their associated GHGE, in particular the embodied GHGE which are preponderant in new construction (Röck et al., 2020). Solutions encompass optimising the use of existing stock , for instance, through the promotion of co-living arrangements or re-purposing unoccupied offices into residential spaces (Gaspard et al., 2023). For 'Improve' solutions, renovation potential plays a crucial role in enhancing the energy efficiency of dwellings. A higher renovation rate aligns with 'Improve' strategies aimed at improving the performance of existing structures. Examples of solutions include extending the lifespan of buildings and their components to spread their environmental impacts over a longer duration or adopting light construction techniques that adhere to material efficiency principles.

For 'Shift' solutions, operational ( $\theta$ ) and embodied ( $\varepsilon$ ) limit values represent 'Shift' strategies, indicating a transition toward lower-carbon energy sources and materials. These transformation implies deep decarbonisation in the energy and industry sectors respectively. This shift also entails a change in current practices to increase the market share of low-carbon or carbon-negative options (Carcassi et al., 2022). Lastly, variables like the proportion of dwelling types ( $p_{dwt}$ ) and the average size of dwellings ( $S_{average,dwt}$ ) can also be viewed as 'Shift' strategies, though they closely align with 'Avoid' solutions. Indeed, prioritising collective dwellings and opting for smaller dwelling sizes can embody sufficiency strategies, fulfilling population needs while minimising environmental footprints. Collective dwellings typically depict smaller impact per *capita* when compared to individual dwellings. Encouraging smaller size dwellings also aligns with the core needs, preventing excessive energy and material consumption.

#### 6.5.6 Selected scenarios

To manage the complexity arising from the numerous possible scenarios generated by various combinations of parameters in WLC emissions calculations, two primary sets of scenarios are studied: 'BAU' (Business As Usual) and 'AMB' (Ambitious). In the context of the study, 'BAU' represents outcomes based on existing policies, while 'AMB' models more ambitious outcomes aligned with the pledges announced by the SNBC. In both scenarios presented in this study, the 'Central' scenario for population growth projection provided by INSEE (INSEE, 2021) is used. This choice is motivated by the fact that population growth is exogenous from building activities, and therefore should not serve as an underlying lever for achieving ambitious decarbonisation targets. Beyond this commonality, the scenarios diverge in terms of square meters per *capita* (*K*), the proportion of dwelling types  $(p_{dwt})$ , and the average size of dwellings  $(S_{average,dwt})$ . Two assumptions are made regarding K(t): either maintaining a constant number of m<sup>2</sup> per capita at the current level or enacting a linear decrease to reach 42 m<sup>2</sup> per capita inspired by values suggested by Negawatt and the IPCC (négaWatt, 2022) (Cabeza et al., 2022). The BAU scenario maintains the existing distribution of new construction between collective and individual dwellings and preserves the current average dwelling size. In contrast, the AMB scenario favors collective dwellings and gradually reduces the average dwelling size, reflecting an implementation of sufficiency measures. The BAU scenario not only demonstrates a higher construction and demolition rate but also exhibits fewer renovation activities that linearly grows by 2050. It also adopts more conservative pathways for energy carriers and construction materials decarbonisation. Conversely, the AMB scenario feature higher rates of renovation which plateau by 2040, and more ambitious trajectories for energy carriers and construction materials decarbonisation.

Table 6.2 provides a comprehensive list of the parameters that differ between these scenarios. Additionally the plotted stock-dynamics is available in Annex 9.5.

While displaying contrasting scenarios provides valuable insights, it is equally important to assess the parameters which have the most significant impact on WLC emission. To address this, the study introduces a sensitivity analysis in a second step to delve deeper into the impact of specific variables. To this end, this analysis integrates the dynamics of stock-level activities from both scenario sets and examines various decarbonisation pathways for energy carriers ('Constant', 'Half' and 'SNBC') and construction materials ('RE2020' and 'RE2020+'). The ultimate aim of the sensibility analysis is to determine whether the degree of supply-side decarbonisation significantly influences the outcomes across diverse scenarios for stock-level dynamics.

#### 6.5.7 Comparing bottom-up pathways with top-down targets

To assess whether the dynamics of the dwelling stock align with climate objectives, this study proposes to combine the results of the described approach with previous work that focuses on defining scenario-based top-down budgets (Pellan et al., 2023b). The comparison helps to quantify performance gaps and illustrates in which top-down scenarios the dwelling stock scenarios may fit into. In Pellan et al. (2023b), budgets are allocated for all building activities, without specific differentiation by building type. Consequently, when comparing the outcome of the dwelling stock scenarios with

	BAU	AMB
Renovation potential	250,000 dwellings/yr	750,000 dwellings/yr
Renovation pace	Linear rising until 2050	Plateau in 2040
Demolition	150,000 dwellings/yr	90,000 dwellings/yr
Population	Central (INSEE)	Central (INSEE)
m <sup>2</sup>	43 (constant)	42 by 2050 (linear decrease)
Pdwt	41% individual 59% collective (constant)	25% individual 75% collective (linear decrease by 2050)
S <sub>average,dwt</sub>	107 individual 57 collective (constant)	100 individual 57 collective (linear decrease by 2050)
Construction materials scenario	RE2020	RE2020+
Energy carriers scenario	Constant	SNBC

Table 6.2: Description of parameters used in 'BAU' and 'AMB' scenarios

the allocation budgets, it is important to remember that a portion of these budgets is also designed for non-residential buildings. Table 6.3 provides values for the different scenarios and scopes of GHGE.

	Operational GHGE (MtCO2eq)	Embodied GHGE (MtCO2eq)
SNBC scenario	63.7 in 2030 34.9 in 2040 6 in 2050	x
Announced Pledges Scenario	х	52.4 in 2030 34.4 in 2040 21.7 in 2050
Net Zero Scenario	X	44.2 in 2030 17.8 in 2040 2.2 in 2050

Table 6.3: Top-down annual budgets values in MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq derived from Pellan et al. (2023b)

The budgets are based on the SNBC pathways for operational GHGE while embodied GHGE pathways are based on scenarios designed by the International Energy Agency (IEA). In particular, the original study focuses on three IEA scenarios: the Stated-Policies Scenario (STEPS), the Announced Pledges Scenario (APS), which is a predictive what-if scenario, and the Net-Zero Scenario (NZS), a normative transformative scenarios. The latter two are of particular interest in the present study, given their ambitious nature and close alignment with the climate objectives established in the Paris

Agreement. The APS assumes that climate targets made by countries are implemented fully and on time and is associated with a 1.7°C temperature rise in 2100, while the NZS is compatible with a 1.5°C temperature rise in 2100 with limited overshoot.

# 6.6 Results

Based on the description provided in 6.5.6, the first results highlight contrasted scenarios for the two proposed targeting strategies presented in Section 6.5.2. They are displayed on an annual basis to track their evolution over time, and cumulatively to align with the concept of the remaining carbon budget. Operational GHGE are delineated by EPC labels and energy carriers, while embodied GHGE are differentiated between the different stock-level activities (e.g. construction, renovation and demolition). In a second step, the result of the sensitivity analysis is shown to assess the evolution of the different stock-dynamics to different decarbonisation scenarios of supply sectors. Lastly, the results are compared to top-down annual carbon budgets to assess their compatibility with overall climate goals.

#### 6.6.1 Results for selected scenarios

#### **Operational GHGE results for the EPC targeting variant**

In Figure 6.4, the BAU and AMB scenarios operational GHGE results by energy carriers and EPC labels are provided both for yearly results from 2020 to 2050 (top four graphs) and cumulatively (bottom four graphs).

The two scenarios show similar results with respect to three observations. Firstly, the share of the worst EPC labels and highest-emitting energy carriers decrease over the next decades as their renovation or demolition is addressed first. Secondly, there is a significant impact on cumulative operational GHGE from buildings with 'C' and 'D' labels and those relying on fossil fuels, especially natural gas. Thirdly, the contribution of newly constructed dwellings to both annual and cumulative GHGE is minimal in both scenarios.

Despite these similarities, the scenarios exhibit notable differences in GHGE trends. In the BAU scenario, starting from a baseline of 58 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq, there is a gradual decrease in annual GHGE, reaching 34 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq after 30 years, equating to a 41% reduction. This decrease in GHGE, however, begins to plateau by 2040. The plateau is attributed to many dwellings undergoing renovation with relatively poor energy performance to better performance (e.g.,  $Dw_{E,B}$  and  $Dw_{E,C}$ ) while already relying low-carbon energy sources, thereby limiting further reductions in GHGE momentarily. In contrast, the AMB scenario displays a steep decrease in annual GHGE to reach 8 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq (e.g. a 86% decrease in 30 years). This scenario experiences two plateau phases, one between 2035 and 2040, and another between 2045 and 2050, for similar reasons as in the BAU scenario. However, due to a higher number of annual renovations targeting different dwelling segments, the overall GHGE reduction is more substantial. As a result, in the BAU scenario, cumulative operational GHGE continue to rise quite linearly, whereas in the AMB scenario, there is a slower increase starting from 2035, almost reaching a plateau by 2045. By 2050, the cumulative operational GHGE reaches 1334 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq in



**Figure 6.4:** Evolution of yearly and cumulated operational GHGE by energy carriers and EPC labels for BAU and AMB scenarios

the BAU scenario compared to 924  $MtCO_2eq$  in the AMB scenario. This difference of 410  $MtCO_2eq$  is roughly equivalent to France's territorial GHGE in 2020.

#### Operational GHGE results for the fossil fuel targeting variant

When looking at Figure 6.4, both scenarios experience plateaus that are attributable to the renovation of dwellings that, despite their relatively poor energy performance, already rely on low-carbon energy carriers. This observation suggests that a renovation strategy focused solely on targeting dwellings based on their EPC labels may be suboptimal for reducing operational GHGE. Figure 6.5 presents yearly operational GHGE for the alternative strategy of phasing out fossil fuels for E-D-C labels after addressing the most inefficient ones (e.g. F-G), as described in Section 6.5.2. These results should be analysed in conjunction with those from Figure 6.4 to discern the comparative effectiveness of these strategies.



Figure 6.5: Evolution of yealy GHGE by energy carriers and EPC in the fossil fuel targeting alternative scenario

In the BAU scenario, unlike the anticipated plateau, a more pronounced decrease is observed after 2035. This reduction is largely attributed to the diminishing use of natural gas and oil products,

the latter being phased out by 2047. In 2050, the annual operational GHGE reach 22  $MtCO_2eq$ , e.g. a 35% decrease compared to Figure 6.4 for the same year. On the other hand, there is a higher share of 'E' labels, reflecting a less intensive effort towards their removal. The results show a similar pattern for the AMB scenario. The expected plateau in 2035 does not materialize, and instead, there is a sharp decline until 2041, coinciding with the complete phase-out of all fossil fuels. In the final decade, the residual operational GHGE predominantly arise from low-carbon energy carriers, such as electricity, district heating, and biomass.

#### **Embodied GHGE results for selected scenarios**

Turning to embodied GHGE, the disparities between the different targeting variants are relatively minor. Consequently, only the results for the second variant are discussed, since it demonstrates superior performance.

Compared to operational GHGE results, the difference between the BAU and AMB scenarios is less pronounced in absolute terms. Yet the repartition of GHGE between the different stock-level activities is very different between the two scenarios. Figure 6.6 presents both the annual (top) and cumulative (bottom) results for the two scenarios.

In the BAU scenario, the higher rate of construction significantly influences embodied GHGE. Here, new construction accounts for 67% of the cumulative embodied GHGE, with annual contributions never falling below 40%. Conversely, in the AMB scenario, new construction makes up only 40% of the cumulative GHGE, and its yearly contribution decreases over time. In this scenario, renovation activities begin to dominate by 2030, eventually stabilizing at around 70%. In both scenarios, the impact of demolition remains consistent due to a fixed demolition rate, contributing relatively minor amounts to the total embodied GHGE.

#### 6.6.2 Sensitivity analysis on upstream sectors decarbonisation pathways

By combining the two set of family scenarios for stock-dynamics with different energy carriers and construction materials decarbonisation scenarios described in Section 6.5.3, the sensitivity analysis displays distinct outcomes. They are presented for the fossil fuel targeting variant and are designed to illustrate the influence of the supply-side parameters on the yearly operational and embodied GHGE for a same stock-dynamics scenario. The sensitivity analysis also incorporates the two variants of renovation paces described in Section 6.5.2.

The analysis results in six variants for operational results (e.g. 'Constant', 'Half' or 'SNBC' pathways combined with 'Linear' or 'Plateau' renovation paces), and four variants for embodied results (e.g. 'RE2020' and 'RE2020+' combined with 'Linear' or 'Plateau' renovation paces). Figure 6.7 provides the yearly operational GHGE (top) and embodied GHGE (bottom) sensitivity results. In examining operational GHGE, significant variations are observed across both BAU and AMB scenarios compared to previous results, where the BAU scenario aligned with less ambitious targets and the AMB scenario corresponded to more ambitious ones, as detailed in Table 6.2. Here, the sensitivity results differ for a same stock-dynamics scenario. For instance in 2050, the BAU scenarios project operational GHGE



Figure 6.6: Evolution of yearly and cumulated embodied GHGE by stock-level activities for BAU and AMB scenarios

at 22, 14, or 6 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq under the 'Constant', 'Half', and 'Quarter' energy carriers scenarios respectively. In contrast, the AMB scenarios anticipates 12, 8, or 4 MtCO<sub>2</sub>eq. This disparity highlights the pivotal role of energy carriers in the decarbonisation process and their potential impact on reducing operational GHGE. Nevertheless, only the most ambitious scenario (e.g. 'SNBC') paired with the BAU attain similar GHGE levels as the AMB scenarios. This coupling might however be considered very unlikely, as a more energy-efficient stock is also a prerequisite for the successful decarbonisation of the energy sectors. This outcome highlights the significance of stock-dynamics, particularly the impact of extensive renovation activities, exemplified by an annual difference of 500,000 dwellings between the BAU and AMB scenarios. Regarding the pace of renovation, the distribution model that reaches a plateau by 2040 unsurprisingly exhibits superior overall performance. This finding supports the notion that initiating ambitious renovations policies as early as possible yields beneficial outcomes in terms of operational GHGE reduction. Turning to embodied GHGE, a notable difference starts from 2031 between the 'RE2020' and 'RE2020+' pathways. When examining the pace of renovations, the linear increase trend GHGE surpasses the plateau trend GHGE between 2035 and



Figure 6.7: Sensibility analysis for BAU and AMB scenarios with different energy carriers and construction materials decarbonisation scenarios

2040. By this date, the number of renovation operations is higher but the construction materials have already begun their decarbonisation process, showing already lower impact. Also, the deeper renovations (in terms of EPC label jump) have already happened.

#### 6.6.3 WLC emissions and comparison with top-down budgets

Ultimately, by integrating operational and embodied results, it is possible to represent WLC emissions of the residential dwelling stock. Figure 6.8 illustrates WLC emissions results for the two scenarios in the year 2050 and on the cumulative 2020-2050 period. The GHGE are categorised into direct operational GHGE, indirect operational GHGE, and embodied GHGE, corresponding to Scope 1-2-3 respectively in the GHG Protocol (GHG Protocol, 2011).

When examining operational GHGE in 2050, both scenarios reveal a growing proportion of indirect operational GHGE. Compared to the initial situation in 2020, where direct operational GHGE represent 80% of operational GHGE (Pellan et al., 2023b), they represent only half of the total in both



(a) WLC emissions in 2050





Figure 6.8: 2050 and cumulative WLC emissions for BAU and AMB scenarios

scenarios in 2050. The growing importance of indirect operational GHGE is due to the replacement of fossil fuel to electricity and district heating.

Another observation is the importance of embodied GHGE, which are heavily influenced by renovation rates and construction activities. The more ambitious the scenario, the largest the share of embodied GHGE in the WLC emissions. Indeed, the drastic reduction of operational GHGE enabled by the renovation activities and demolition-reconstruction activities have backlashes in terms of the materials needed especially for renovation. In the AMB scenario, embodied surpasses 50% of WLC emissions in 2050. These trends align closely with EU studies and TECH/LIFE scenarios in EU studies, where embodied GHGE surpasses operational GHGE between 2040 and 2045 (Ramboll et al., 2023).

When compared to the top-down budgets, the AMB scenario presents values that are well lower the combined SNBC-APS values and that align with the SNBC-NZS values. In contrast, the BAU scenario outpaces the combined SNBC-APS values. As the budgets encompass all building activities, that would mean that residential activities are consuming all or more than the entire budgets. Thus, the SNBC-APS budget appear reachable but would necessarily require an ambitious policies for stock-dynamics, notably a reduction of construction activities and an increase of renovation activities targeting the right dwellings and using low-carbon materials. To reach the more ambitious goal defined by the SNBC-NZS combined pathways, a more profound decarbonisation of supply sectors might be necessary, as well as a deeper decrease of new construction in order to decrease the embodied GHGE. As for the operational GHGE, it seems unrealistic to reach renovation paces higher than those from the AMB scenario, which already reach 750,000 dwellings per year.

# 6.7 Discussions

A primary advantage of the method is its ability to present results on a large scale (e.g. national level), while simultaneously providing a detailed representation of the dwelling stock. This capability is facilitated by using the BDNB, an open-source national building database. It offers a comprehensive picture of actual buildings energy performance, encompassing details like EPC labels and the distribution of energy carriers by dwelling type. Moreover, the method's capacity to model targeted policies over time is of substantial policy relevance, as it assists in guiding the direction of future policy-making efforts towards optimal decarbonisation. For example, the study uncovers that policies targeting fossil fuel yield considerably greater emission reductions compared to strategies solely focusing on renovations based on EPC labels. This finding underscores the importance of prioritising fossil fuel reduction in residential buildings as a more effective approach for decarbonisation. Yet, relying on the BDNB for its renovation scenarios remains a limit of the study. Indeed, the choice of renovations in this analysis reflects an energy-focused perspective rather than a more holistic WLC emissions view, where the sequencing of renovations would be guided by factors such as the carbon payback time.

Advancements in building stock modeling techniques could provide a more thorough analysis of dwellings' materiality which can be greatly beneficial for assessing the embodied GHGE of the dif-

ferent stock-level activities. In particular, it would be valuable for renovations, where different operations can potentially yield similar operational energy savings while having very different embodied GHGE depending on the materials used. Emerging modeling techniques that use bill of quantities or macro components (such as detailed material descriptions, construction assemblies, and building systems) are gaining attention (Tirado et al., 2021) (Stephan et al., 2022). However, applying these methods on a national scale presents significant challenges. Indeed, the complexity of creating detailed archetypes at such a scale and the extensive data required for an in-depth bottom-up analysis are notable obstacles. To extend building stock analyses into the future, a comprehensive approach would also involve assessing the decarbonisation potential of upstream sectors and how this could influence the future environmental performance of energy sources and construction materials in buildings. In this context, prospective LCA holds promise for integrating both foreground and background modifications (Mendoza Beltran et al., 2018) (Sacchi et al., 2022). Yet, it requires detailed information, including life-cycle inventory (LCI) data that are needed to describe the bill of quantities in different building types.

In the method, relying on the statistical analysis of the RE2020 LCA database allows for the derivation of realistic GHGE values per square meters that are applicable on a large scale. This approach not only streamlines the evaluation of the relative impact of different stock-level activities on embodied GHGE but also facilitates the assessment of various emission scopes in relation to WLC emissions framework. Additionally, the adaptability of employing the same LCA database for both new constructions and renovations aligns well with modern construction practices, enhancing the practicality and relevance of the methodology. As for the prospective pathways, the ability to rely on existing national scenarios and expected legislation facilitates the assessment of future values.

The simplified treatment of embodied GHGE timing is also a limitation of the study. In a more detailed analysis, the GHGE from module 'B' in construction and renovation activities should be distributed over time to accurately reflect the replacements of the various components at the end of their lifetime. While such a detailed approach might alter the profile of annual GHGE, suggesting a potential shift of emissions to later years, it is important to note that this would not significantly affect the total cumulative emissions over time. Yet, it is important to note that maintenance-related renovations, such as the replacement of heating systems at the end of their lifetime, are not included in the study for dwellings that are not impacted by renovation operations in the transition matrix. For instance, the maintenance of 'A', 'B' and 'C' dwellings initially is not considered in this analysis. Consequently, the actual share of embodied GHGE in WLC emissions might be underestimated in this study, suggesting that embodied GHGE could constitute a larger portion of the WLC emissions.

While decarbonisation levers are classified in the 'Avoid-Improve-Shift' framework, there are still limited modelling parameters for sufficiency measures, and they only have an influence on embodied GHGE. It's worth noting that this limitation is not unique to the current study, as research on lifestyle changes and sufficiency policies is comparatively underrepresented in modelling when compared to techno-economic aspects (Saujot et al., 2021) (Saheb, 2021) (Ellsworth-Krebs, 2020). Future investigations focused on new construction could prioritise the modelling of additional 'Avoid' solutions, such as optimising vacant spaces and exploring changes in building usage. Additionally, the energy modelling of 'Avoid' solutions in relation to operational GHGE should be expanded to encompass low energy consumption behaviors. An alternative approach to assessing GHGE could also prioritise metrics based on per *capita* or per dwelling rather than the conventional per square meter metrics. For instance, while collective dwellings typically show higher  $CO_2eq/m^2$  values, their average size per dwelling is significantly smaller compared to individual dwellings. Adopting these alternative metrics could encourage a reduction in dwelling sizes, which aligns with the principles of sufficiency policies.

Finally, another area for future research lies in examining the interplay among the three mitigation levers—'Avoid,' 'Improve,' and 'Shift'—especially how 'Avoid' and 'Improve' strategies impact 'Shift' measures. Within the context of building activities, these dynamics could be explored in relation to stock-dynamics. Specifically, the research could focus on determining the optimal extent of new construction avoidance and the level of ambition required in renovations to ensure the availability of low-carbon energy carriers and construction materials. This approach would be particularly relevant to operational GHGE considerations in electricity, biomass, and biogas, as well as to embodied GHGE in the context of biomass.

# 6.8 Conclusion

The imperative connection between sectoral and climate policies becomes evident in ensuring alignment with climate objectives such as carbon budgets. Alas, they are still today often designed in isolation from one another. Additionally, sectoral policies often overlook the life-cycle impacts of their activities, concentrating primarily on specific life-cycle stages or stock-level activities, rather than adopting a more holistic approach.

This article aims to address this gap by introducing a modular framework designed to explore the potential evolution of the dwelling stock GHGE and assess its alignment with top-down carbon budgets in the French context. Taking advantage of a national building stock database alongside prospective drivers of stock-level activities, the framework enables the creation of multiple stock-dynamics scenarios. These scenarios encompass varying levels of new construction, renovation, and demolition activities. Additionally, they include targeted approaches for existing stock, focusing on their energy performance or their main energy carriers. The framework also incorporates scenarios for the decarbonisation of energy carriers used in dwellings, as well as for the limit values designed for construction, renovation, and demolition activities. This approach facilitates the generation of multiple scenarios thereby enabling the identification of ranges in WLC emissions and discerning the key factors driving it.

The results indicate that the most ambitious scenario showcased in this study demonstrates significant progress in decarbonisation, offering a potential pathway in line with ambitious carbon budgets. In terms of levers, a substantial transformation of the existing stock is essential for the successful decarbonisation of the dwelling stock. The deep decarbonisation of energy carriers and construction materials play a pivotal role to achieve ambitious targets for operational and embodied GHGE respectively. Additionally, the implementation of sufficiency measures is critical in minimising the environmental impact associated with new constructions.

This research highlights the necessity of a comprehensive approach in addressing future GHGE in the building activities. It emphasises the importance of integrating both operational and embodied, yearly and cumulative GHGE to ensure sectoral policies are aligned with climate policies.

# 7

# Assessing current and future embodied emissions of new buildings: a prospective analysis through a building LCA database

# Contents

7.1	Highli	ghts	150
7.2	Abstra	let	150
7.3	Introd	uction	151
	7.3.1	Context	151
	7.3.2	Life-cycle assessment of new construction	151
	7.3.3	Prospective LCA for buildings	153
	7.3.4	Contribution of the study	154
7.4	Metho	od	154
	7.4.1	RE2020 building LCA database	155
	7.4.2	Method for building typologies identification	156
	7.4.3	Prospective pathways for upstream sectors	159
	7.4.4	Timing of embodied GHGE calculation	162
	7.4.5	Comparison with target values	163
7.5	Result	S	164
	7.5.1	Current benchmarks	164
	7.5.2	Identification of building typologies	164
	7.5.3	LCA calculations	167
7.6	Discus	ssions	174
	7.6.1	Building stock characterisation	174
	7.6.2	Environmental data	174

	7.6.3	Beyond's upstream sectors decarbonisation	 175
7.7	Conclu	usion	 175

This chapter introduces the third journal article of the PhD thesis which has been submitted in the 'Journal of Cleaner Production'. It might be subject to modifications in the coming months as part of the peer-review process. Please refer to Appendix 9.6 for the Supporting Information accompanying this publication.

#### CONTRIBUTIONS

- Marin Pellan Conceptualisation, Data analysis, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Writing - original draft
- Félix Dubois Software (database)
- Denise Almeida Conceptualisation, Supervision, Validation, Writing review & editing
- Mathilde Louërat Conceptualisation, Supervision, Validation, Writing review & editing
- Guillaume Habert Conceptualisation, Supervision, Validation, Writing review & editing

# 7.1 Highlights

- Prospective LCA from national building LCA database.
- Building typologies identification through association rule mining and clustering.
- Integration of IAMs scenarios for construction materials production phase.
- Results highlight substantial decarbonisation potential of upstream sectors.
- Current construction practices will not enable with stringent carbon budgets.

# 7.2 Abstract

In the building sector, evolving legislation increasingly mandates the implementation of Life-Cycle Assessment (LCA) during the construction phase. This includes setting evolving limit values for greenhouse gas emissions (GHGE), encompassing both operational and often-overlooked embodied emissions. The advent of mandatory LCA completion has fostered the growth of building LCA databases, enhancing analyses of energy consumption, materiality and geometry for new constructions. However, traditional static LCA approaches do not account for the timing of emissions nor the dynamic changes in upstream sectors like energy and industry, crucial for assessing building typologies against future performance benchmarks.

This paper presents a methodology that combines a data-driven analysis of a building LCA database with a prospective LCA framework. Leveraging the French RE2020 building LCA database, this approach evaluates the embodied GHGE of various building typologies against both current and anticipated future benchmark values. Initially, the method integrates advanced building stock aggregation techniques, such as association rule mining and clustering, to identify representative buildings based on their material and geometric characteristics. Subsequently, it models the impact of decarbonising upstream sectors on the embodied performance of these typologies.

The research offers insights into how different building typologies align with evolving environmental performance standards. It highlights the current gap in embodied GHGE between building typologies, notably those using bio-based materials. The prospective findings underscore the significant decarbonisation potential within industrial sectors. Yet, meeting ambitious environmental targets necessitates a paradigm shift in construction practices, highlighting the imperative to refine modelling approaches to include material efficiency strategies and prioritising the use of low-carbon materials.

**Keywords**: *new construction, building archetypes, bottom-up modelling, life-cycle assessment, prospective studies, clustering* 

# 7.3 Introduction

#### 7.3.1 Context

Building activities are significant contributors to climate change, responsible for 21% of global greenhouse gases emissions (GHGE), emitting 12 Gt  $CO_2eq$  annually (Cabeza et al., 2022). Buildings generate two types of emissions. On the one hand, operational GHGE result from energy consumption within buildings and are further classified as *direct* operational GHGE, which originate from onsite combustion and the release of fluorinated gases, and *indirect* operational GHGE, stemming from the offsite generation of electricity and heat. On the other hand, embodied GHGE are associated with the entire life-cycle of buildings, encompassing stages from resource extraction to end-of-life (Cabeza et al., 2022).

Traditionally, attention has predominantly centered on the operational GHGE of buildings. This focus is attributable to their generally poor energy performance and the extensive use of fossil fuels, factors that contribute to substantial emissions throughout their extended lifespans. Yet, recent shifts in research and policy have spotlighted the critical issue of embodied GHGE which has been rising in relative and absolute terms. This is particularly evident in new buildings, where embodied GHGE can constitute up to 90% of Whole-Life Carbon (WLC) emissions (Röck et al., 2020). At the building stock level, embodied GHGE currently account for 25% of WLC, but predictions suggest this could double by 2050 under a BAU scenario (UNEP, 2023). Strategies for reducing building GHGE are often categorised within the Avoid-Improve-Shift framework (Creutzig et al., 2022). 'Avoid' encompasses efforts aimed at reducing the overall demand for building space, 'Improve' focuses on enhancing material efficiency, building design, and energy performance, and 'Shift' involves adopting low-carbon materials and energy carriers (UNEP, 2023). Operational GHGE have been considered more straightforward to address through measures like energy-efficient systems and low-carbon energy sources, enabling the achievement of net-zero operational carbon buildings (WBCSD and Arup, 2021). In contrast, embodied GHGE linked with hard-to-abate sectors (Davis et al., 2018) such as cement and steel production, present more significant decarbonisation challenges and costs. While the adoption of low-carbon materials, such as bio-based or earth-based materials, along with circular economy strategies can help reduce embodied GHGE, conventional materials remain necessary in certain building parts, such as building structure.

#### 7.3.2 Life-cycle assessment of new construction

Today, new construction represents 70% of building stock embodied GHGE in the EU context, largely due to low renovation rate. Of these emissions, 70% are emitted upfront at the time of construction (Röck et al., 2022c). In response, several countries such as the Netherlands, Denmark, Finland, Sweden, and France have taken pioneering steps by incorporating GHGE standards for new buildings into national regulations (Buildings Performance Institute Europe, 2021). France's Environmental Regulation (RE2020) (CEREMA, 2024), for example, sets declining mandatory limit values for reducing both operational and embodied GHGE by 2031. Two years after its implementation, the

RE2020 observatory <sup>1</sup> provides a platform for sharing analyses on new construction, notable for the extensive number of data available.

Life-cycle assessment (LCA) has rapidly emerged as the preferred approach for evaluating the WLC emissions and other environmental impacts of buildings. Standardised by ISO 14040-14044, LCA provides a comprehensive framework for assessing the environmental impacts across all stages of a system's life cycle (Hellweg and Milà i Canals, 2014). This comprehensive approach aims to support informed and comparative decisions, and helps to identify environmental impacts hotspots for further improvements. Within the European Union, the standard EN15978 serves as the primary guideline for assessing building impacts, while the standard EN15804 guides the creation of the environmental product declarations (EPDs) for construction products. While LCAs have traditionally focused on the scale of individual buildings, there is a growing trend towards applying these studies at larger scales, from urban districts to cross-national regions (Mastrucci et al., 2017). This shift towards macro-level LCA studies is crucial for evaluating the aggregate environmental impacts and guiding national policies on energy efficiency and sustainable building practices.

Recent research has evolved from establishing benchmarks through a limited set of case studies, often characterised by diverse methodologies and data sources (Birgisdottir et al., 2023), to using expansive databases like energy performance certificates (EPC) and building LCA databases that offer a broader view. A notable example includes the aggregation of hundreds of building LCAs from five European countries, revealing average values and ranges of variability for embodied GHGE (Röck et al., 2022c). This research found that residential buildings typically exhibit an average embodied GHGE of 600 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/m<sup>2</sup>, with a variability ranging from 400 to 800 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/m<sup>2</sup>. Non-residential buildings, while also averaging 600 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/m<sup>2</sup>, display a much wider variability, from 100 to 1200 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/m<sup>2</sup>. The challenges related to data availability, completeness, cleaning and harmonisation are essential for enhancing the accuracy and reliability of LCA studies, thereby facilitating more effective environmental assessments and influence on policy-making (Röck et al., 2022d). Indeed, due to different system boundaries and lack of documentation, it is often difficult to compare LCA results (Resch and Andresen, 2018).

Methodologically, ISO 21678:2020 (ISO, 2020) provides a comprehensive framework to guide the creation of sustainability frameworks, adaptable through either a top-down or a bottom-up approach. Top-down benchmarks are informed by absolute targets such as the remaining carbon budgets (IPCC, 2022), while bottom-up benchmarks derive from a statistical analysis of an empirical dataset. It is critical to understand that benchmarks focus on performance without favoring specific products or technologies, maintaining neutrality towards the types of buildings or materials required to achieve certain performance levels (Lützkendorf et al., 2023). They distinguish three types of values namely *limit values* ('upper or lower acceptable performance level'), *reference values* (best practice) and *target values* (often determined through top-down approaches).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://re-batiment2020.cstb.fr/opee/

#### 7.3.3 Prospective LCA for buildings

The static approach of LCA has faced criticism, particularly when applied to buildings, which are assets with long lifespans (Fnais et al., 2022). Notably, the critique centers on the fact that emissions occur at various stages over time, with embodied GHGE presenting in spikes, and operational GHGE recurring over the operational life of the building. Recognising the temporal dynamics of emissions is crucial (Lueddeckens et al., 2020), necessitating the consideration of different projection years for construction, operation, renovation, and demolition phases, as these activities extend across several decades. In addition, it is essential to align the timing of emissions accurately with the corresponding socio-economic and technical systems, reflecting the broader temporal context in which construction, operation, and demolition unfold over an extended period (Mendoza Beltran et al., 2018).

Traditionally, assessments of the production and end-of-life stages for buildings have depended on static databases, capturing the current state of GHG emissions embodied in construction materials. However, the production and processing of these materials, especially energy-intensive ones like cement and steel, are closely linked to the energy used in manufacturing and are subject to continuous changes and expected future transformations. Despite this, the dynamic nature of these factors is often overlooked in evaluating embodied GHG emissions at the building stock level over a multi-decade horizon. Prospective LCA, defined as a 'LCA that models the product system at a future point in time relative to the time at which the study is conducted' (Arvidsson et al., 2023) introduces a methodology for assessing environmental impacts at a future point, incorporating technological and socio-economic forecasts. By evaluating product systems into scenarios that account for future technological and socio-economic contexts, prospective LCA aims to understand the uncertainty inherent in forecasting the future. Methodologically, incorporating scenarios in prospective LCA necessitates modelers to consult additional, exogenous databases beyond traditional LCA resources. The integration of scenarios narratives and metrics from Integrated Assessment Models (IAMs), which offers global coverage, enable the representation of potential futures in a systemic manner. Recently, the premise Python package (Sacchi et al., 2022) built on the Brightway2 suite (Mutel, 2017a) enables to automatically modify the ecoinvent life-cycle inventory (LCI) database (Wernet et al., 2016) with information from two IAMs, namely IMAGE and REMIND.

Although buildings have not been the primary focus in prospective LCA studies, which have predominantly concentrated on energy and mobility sectors (Bisinella et al., 2021), recent research has started to bridge this gap. For example, (Bruhn et al., 2023) has compiled a comprehensive literature review and provided guidelines for applying prospective LCA specifically to the building sector. (Alaux et al., 2023) investigated mitigation strategies for production materials and its influence in new building construction, but do not integrate IAMs scenarios systematically to change the background. In a detailed study, (Zhang et al., 2024) consider background changes for electricity, steel and cement. They couple national LCI databases (e.g. UVEK and KBOB) with ecoinvent (Wernet et al., 2016). They further enriched their analysis with material flows for Switzerland from (Heeren and Fishman, 2019) to display future impacts of different building types at national level.

# 7.3.4 Contribution of the study

Recent studies have attempted to bridge the gap between top-down carbon budgets and bottom-up approaches that integrate stock dynamics, as seen in the UK (Li et al., 2022), New Zealand (Chandrakumar et al., 2020a) or France (Pellan et al., 2024). However, a comprehensive analysis leveraging a full-scale building LCA database to explore how various building typologies align with both top-down and bottom-up environmental benchmarks remains to be conducted. Additionally, the application of prospective LCA in new construction is still nascent, despite its emerging recognition as a leading methodology capable of accurately forecasting future building emissions. This approach could crucially enable the evaluation of building carbon performance relative to future benchmarks (Lützkendorf et al., 2023).

For this purpose, this study seeks to harness the RE2020 database to evaluate the current and future embodied GHGE of new buildings in France. It specifically focuses on modelling *Improve*' strategies by analysing the effects of decarbonising the upstream sectors involved in buildings construction on the GHGE performance across different building typologies. This research aims to answer three pivotal questions:

- How can the identification of building typologies through a building LCA database be streamlined using data-driven techniques?
- How can these identified building typologies compare to current benchmarks?
- Considering the anticipating changes derived from IAMs, how might these building typologies perform against future benchmarks?

# 7.4 Method

The methodological framework of this study leverages a building LCA database to examine the performance of distinct building typologies, defined by their construction assemblies and geometries. First, a statistical analysis of their current embodied GHGE is conducted. Then, their future embodied GHGE is modelled under prospective scenarios that impact the production phase of construction materials and equipments over time. The overarching goal is to evaluate how the future performance of these typologies stands in relation to predetermined target values derived from (Pellan et al., 2024), offering insights into potential areas for improvement and alignment with climate goals.

Figure 7.1 provides a visual summary of the methodological steps proposed. The process begins with an overview of the building LCA database, detailing the selection criteria for the study's sample. It then progresses to the identification of building typologies through the analysis of construction assemblies combined with geometric characteristics, through a combination of statistical and machine learning techniques. Subsequent stages focus on selecting decarbonisation pathways for construction materials and integrating these pathways into the LCA calculation of buildings. This integration is critical for assessing the anticipated performance of each building typology under future scenarios, facilitating their comparison with target values.



Figure 7.1: Overview of the proposed method

# 7.4.1 RE2020 building LCA database

#### Presentation of the RE2020 database

The RE2020 mandates the completion of a building LCA for new construction of residential, office and education buildings in accordance with the EN15978 standard, with minor national adaptations (additional information on the RE2020 is provided in the Supplementary Information). They should encompass the production stage (A1-A3), construction stage (A4-A5), in-use stage (B1-B7), end-oflife stage (C1-C4) and the beyond building life cycle stage (D). Carbon calculations are conducted across four areas: building components and equipment and construction site activities, which are the focus of this study, as well as energy consumption and water usage. The regulation details 13 categories of building components and equipment outlined in Table 7.1.

For each category, Environmental Product Declarations (EPDs) from the INIES database <sup>2</sup> are employed to model the life-cycle impacts of products, including their lifespan. The INIES database serves as the primary source of EPD data for construction materials in France, featuring both collective EPDs (representing multiple manufacturers) and individual EPDs (specific to a single manufacturer). In instances where an EPD is not available, modelers may resort to 'default data' which incurs a 30% penalty that serves as a security coefficient.

In this study, all building LCAs submitted as of September 2023 were extracted from the database, amounting to 13,477 entries. To enable the identification of building archetypes, a filtering process was applied to retain only those buildings with complete information on materiality, such as structural, roof, and wall types. After applying these criteria, the dataset was refined to 6,007 building LCAs, corresponding to 10,739 dwellings. Notably, the distribution between housing types is uneven, with a significant majority of 5,858 cases (accounting for 6,169 dwellings) being individual housing, in stark contrast to the 149 entries for collective housing (encompassing 4,570 dwellings),

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://www.inies.fr/

Groups	Name	Macro groups
1	Roadwork and diverse	-
2	Foundations and infrastructure	Structural work
3	Structure and masonry	Structural work
4	Roof and cover	Second work
5	Interior partitions, suspended ceilings,	Second work
	components and joineries	
6	Exterior surfaces (facades),	Second work
	components (doors and windows) and	
	joineries	
7	Interior coatings (floors, walls, and	Second work
	ceilings)	
8	HVAC equipment	
9	Sanitary installations	Technical groups
10	Electrical equipment	Technical groups
11	Special electrical equipment (systems,	Technical groups
	controls, and communication)	
12	Interior transport equipment	Technical groups
	(elevators, etc.)	
13	Local electricity production equipment	Technical groups

Table 7.1: RE2020's groups and macro groups

highlighting a disparity in the focus of current LCA submissions. For this reason, this study focuses primarily on individual housing.

#### 7.4.2 Method for building typologies identification

Characterisation and aggregation of building stock are fundamental processes in building stock modelling (Mastrucci et al., 2017) (Röck et al., 2021). As this study uses a building LCA database, the material and energy modelling phases are consequently streamlined thanks to the presence of EPDs. They offer data that helps in the detailed characterisation of building materials along with their impacts, as well as final energy consumption calculated for each energy carrier (e.g. electricity, natural gas, biomass, oil products and heat from district heating). Yet, the important number of buildings still requires a sound method for characterisation.

A prevalent method for stratifying building stocks into uniform subgroups involves segmentation based on categorical variables. Construction year and building type are frequently used variables for segmentation, with building size, climate zone, and renovation needs also being common criteria (Röck et al., 2021). While this deterministic approach yields valuable insights into building characteristics and performance, it has faced criticism for its potential to miss the diversity present within a building stock. The subjective nature of such classifications can also introduce bias (Borges et al., 2022), suggesting that while useful for overarching studies, it may not be as effective for in-depth analysis. Additionally, such deterministic methods might not detect less obvious patterns or correlations not directly defined by the chosen variables. In contrast, clustering is a machine learning technique that provides a more nuanced capture of buildings diversity, especially when managing

multiple variables (Gomes et al., 2022). Clustering algorithms, which partition a dataset into groups or clusters without prior knowledge of group membership, are designed to uncover hidden structures and recognise similarities among data points. In the context of building stock modelling, clustering has been largely employed in Urban Building Energy Modelling (UBEM) (Johari et al., 2020) and in studies that aim to identify buildings with high renovation potential (Verellen and Allacker, 2020). However, its application in building LCA studies remains limited, primarily due to the lack of comprehensive databases that can support such detailed analysis. This gap indicates a significant opportunity for advancing building LCA methodologies through the adoption of clustering or hybrid approaches that can more accurately reflect the complexities and diversities of building stocks (Gomes et al., 2022). Combined with identified building typologies defined by material passports (Lanau et al., 2019), it could facilitate the creation of building archetypes that combines materiality, geometry and energy metrics.



Figure 7.2: Method for finding building typologies

Figure 7.2 illustrates the chosen method to determine building typologies and choose representative buildings for latter LCA application. The sample formation marks the initial step in the method, which then employs statistical techniques to analyse the material composition of buildings and seeks correlations among five key structural elements. Using association rule mining, the method identifies significant associations among these elements, effectively pinpointing combinations that frequently occur together. This process facilitates the identification of building typologies based on common construction features. Subsequent to identifying these key associations, the method applies hierarchical clustering within each identified group to categorise buildings further based on their geometric attributes. This step ensures buildings with similar structural and geometric characteristics are grouped together, enhancing the specificity of the typologies. Finally, within each group, the method selects the medoid (e.g. the building whose sum of dissimilarities to all the buildings in the cluster is minimal) of the largest cluster as the representative for that typology for subsequent LCA calculations. This approach aims to ensures that the chosen representative building closely mirrors the common characteristics of the group, providing a solid basis for accurate LCA analysis.

#### Unveiling material associations in building typologies

In this study, the classification of buildings as either individual or collective forms the initial step, using a deterministic process for preliminary segmentation. For each building type, the study focuses on the material characteristics of buildings by examining five key variables: the main structure, the structural material as well as the roof, floor, and foundation types. To uncover relationships between these variables within the dataset, the study employs association rules mining. This technique generates rules that depict the likelihood of associations between variables, facilitating the identification of recurring construction archetype patterns within the database. Key metrics in association rule mining include support, confidence, and lift. The support of an itemset *X* measures the frequency of variable association within the dataset and is given by:

$$Support(X) = \frac{\text{Number of transactions containing } X}{\text{Total number of transactions}}$$
(7.1)

Later, the confidence measures the probability of seeing the consequent given the antecedent and is calculated as follow:

$$Confidence(X \Rightarrow Y) = \frac{Support(X \cup Y)}{Support(X)}$$
(7.2)

Finally, the lift evaluates how much more frequently the antecedent and consequent co-occur than would be expected under statistical independence :

$$Lift(X \Rightarrow Y) = \frac{Confidence(X \Rightarrow Y)}{Support(Y)}$$
(7.3)

These metrics enable a comprehensive examination of material combinations and associations, significantly enhancing the study's contributions to construction assembly archetype development. In the study, the *apriori* algorithm implemented through the *mlextend* library (Raschka, 2018) facilitates this analysis by first identifying individual items that meet a minimum support threshold, then combining them into larger sets that maintain the required support level. It helps to indicate combinations of building characteristics that commonly coexist beyond the minimum support threshold.

#### Clustering analysis for geometrical representation

Upon the identification of building archetypes through association rule mining, the next step involves pinpointing representative geometries. Indeed, the database offers rich geometric variables for buildings, such as surface area, height, and specific areas for the building's bay, wall and floor. The objective is to select geometries that, when combined with building archetypes, produce representative models for further analysis. To identify representative geometries within the building LCA database, hierarchical clustering is employed. The Euclidean distance, which measures the spatial distance between two points in multidimensional space as the square root of the sum of squared differences between corresponding elements, is used to quantify the similarity between buildings. This metric is chosen for its precision in reflecting the physical differences among various building geometries. Following this, an agglomerative approach is adopted, where the Ward linkage method is applied to iteratively merge clusters. This method is particularly effective in minimizing variance
within clusters, thereby ensuring their homogeneity. Its selection is due to its capability to generate compact and distinct clusters, which are crucial for the meaningfulness of this study. To ascertain the optimal number of clusters, the Elbow method is applied. This involves analyzing the within-cluster sum of squares to identify the 'elbow point', e.g. the stage at which the addition of more clusters ceases to significantly enhance within-cluster homogeneity. These calculations are facilitated by the *scipy* library (Virtanen et al., 2020).

#### 7.4.3 Prospective pathways for upstream sectors

#### Prospective trajectories with premise

The derivation of decarbonisation pathways in this research is facilitated by the use of the *premise* package (Sacchi et al., 2022), which transforms the ecoinvent database (Wernet et al., 2016) using data from IAM scenarios. Modifications made to the database typically address three key areas: the introduction of novel technologies, the regionalisation of new or existing technologies, and alterations in the market composition and system efficiency of current technologies. For instance, in transforming the cement sector, premise adjusts both the energy-related GHGE and the calcination GHGE. The adjustment in energy-related GHGE is achieved by altering the distribution of kiln technology across regions and their energy consumption, which is then adjusted by a scaling factor to mirror improvements in energy efficiency. For the calcination GHGE, the changes involve incorporating a Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS) LCI dataset into the clinker production activities within ecoinvent, accounting for its energy demand. More information on the transformation of the different sectors is available from the *premise* documentation<sup>3</sup>.

Relying on *premise* enables the generation of prospective data for all activities and products within the ecoinvent database, tailored to specific IAM scenarios. In this study, two well-established IAMs are employed namely, IMAGE (van Vuuren et al., 2021) and REMIND (Baumstark et al., 2021). Table 7.2 summarises the scenarios associated with each model, and their global mean surface temperature (GMST) increase by 2100.

Table 7.2: IAM scenarios used in the study			
SSP-RCP scenarios	Model	GMST increase by 2100	
SSP2-RCP19	IMAGE	1.2-1.4 °C	
SSP2-RCP26	IMAGE	1.6-1.8 °C	
SSP2-x (NDC)	REMIND	2.5 °C	
SSP2-RCP19 (PkBudg500)	REMIND	1.2-1.4 °C	
SSP2-RCP26 (PkBudg1150)	REMIND	1.6-1.8 °C	

In a visual representation shown in Figure 7.3, cement and reinforcing steel, as key activities related to construction, are depicted to highlight the potential discrepancies that can arise across different

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://premise.readthedocs.io/en/latest/transform.html

models and scenarios. The values per functional unit are standardised to a baseline index of 100 for the year 2020, with linear interpolation applied between decades.



**Figure 7.3:** Illustrative examples of decarbonisation pathways for cement and reinforcing steel production using IAM scenarios described in Table 7.2.

A notable observation is that the decarbonisation pathways may significantly diverge between models, even among scenarios that project a similar GMST increase by 2100, such as IMAGE RCP2.6 and REMIND PkBudg1150. For instance, the IMAGE model predicts an early and substantial decarbonisation of the cement sector, attributed to the widespread adoption of CCS technology. Consequently, incorporating a variety of scenarios from different IAMs is beneficial for sensitivity analysis. An interactive dashboard<sup>4</sup> developed by the *premise* developers facilitates the exploration of different variables for each IAM, which can help explain the variation between them.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>https://premisedash-6f5a0259c487.herokuapp.com/

#### Association of ecoinvent activities and EPDs

Building LCAs within the RE2020 database are composed of EPDs. However, EPDs typically do not disclose their detailed LCI data for direct use and transformation by practitioners. This lack of transparency can stem from proprietary concerns, as manufacturers may consider detailed LCI data to be sensitive or competitive information. Reconstructing LCI data from EPDs presents significant challenges due to the aggregated nature of the information they provide. Indeed, EPDs summarise the environmental footprint of a product across various impact categories, without offering the granular data on material compositions, energy consumption, or specific process emissions that would be necessary for a detailed life-cycle analysis. Therefore, attempting to reverse-engineer LCI data from the summary information in an EPD presents significant challenge and is prone to inaccuracies. Given the expansive number of buildings catalogued in databases like RE2020, which aggregate countless EPDs for different materials, the task of individually reconstructing LCI data for each EPD becomes unfeasible.

To navigate the complexities of correlating the decarbonisation pathways of construction materials with their EPDs, a streamlined approach has been developed in this study. This approach assigns each EPD to the predominant material type found within the EPD, subsequently linking it to a corresponding ecoinvent activity. Such a connection facilitates the association of EPDs with the modified ecoinvent activities conducted by the premise package, effectively mapping them onto appropriate decarbonisation pathways. In this study, the material classification system within the INIES database is used. This strategy mirrors the concept of employing 'surrogate data' found in simplified LCA methodologies (Gradin and Björklund, 2021). However, in this context, it specifically involves assigning 'proxy' decarbonisation pathways to various EPDs, based on their INIES nomenclature and corresponding activities in ecoinvent. Given that EPDs provide a comprehensive view of a product's life cycle, finding a single econvent activity that captures this holistic perspective would generally be overly simplistic and potentially compromise the robustness of the analysis. In this method, a focus is placed on aligning the production phase of the EPDs (e.g., phases A1-A3) with similar production activities in ecoinvent. This matching process is relatively straightforward and significantly encompasses a substantial share of life-cycle impacts, since the production phase typically accounts for a considerable proportion of the overall environmental footprint of construction materials. Consequently, the method adjusts the production phase emissions of each EPD according to the decarbonisation factors associated with the relevant ecoinvent activities, as defined by the most recent INIES product classification. In instances where direct mapping is not feasible, an average decarbonisation factor derived from all other activities within the specific model-scenario coupling is used. For EPDs that report negative values due to carbon sequestration, a conservative approach is adopted by not applying any decarbonisation factor, considering that the EPDs do not differentiate between emissions and sequestration within the A1-A3 phase. Details on the mapping between ecoinvent activities and INIES product categories are provided in the SI in the pyam format (Huppmann, Daniel et al., 2021).

#### 7.4.4 Timing of embodied GHGE calculation

The computation of embodied GHGE for buildings adheres to the EN15978 standard, yet the emissions are annualised to reflect their occurrence over time. This includes emissions from the year of construction, emissions associated with the replacement and maintenance of various products in accordance with their lifespan, as well as emissions from the end-of-life phase. Table 7.3 outlines the timing of these emissions, aligned with the modules specified in the EN15978. In the RE2020, the reference period is set to 50 years. Notably, it is hypothesised that the GHGE from module A are assumed to occur in year 0.

EN-15978 Module	Time	Description
A1-A3	t = 0	Raw material extraction, transport & manufacturing
A4-A5	t = 0	Transport & Construction
B1-B5	$t \in [1, 50]$	Maintenance and repair, depending on the components lifetime
B6-B7	$t \in [1, 50]$	Energy & water use
C1-C4	t = 50	End-of-life treatment

Table 7.3: Timing of emissions in WLC emissions calculation

The calculation of embodied is decomposed in four main phases, e.g. (1) the emissions that occur before and at building construction, represented in module A, (2) the emissions that occur during building construction lifetime due to use, maintenance or repair, represented in module B (3) the emissions due to the replacement of construction materials and equipment, represented in module B and (4) end-of-life emissions, represented in module C.

For the *A* phase, the embodied emissions  $\varepsilon^A$  of any building at time *t* is calculated as follow:

$$\varepsilon_{building}^{A}(t) = \sum_{p} Q_{p} * \left( \left( f_{\varepsilon,p}^{A1-A3} * \Delta(t) \right) + f_{\varepsilon,p}^{A4-A5} \right)$$
(7.4)

Where  $Q_p$  is the quantity of product p in the relevant unit defined by the EPD,  $f_{\varepsilon,p}^n$  is the emission factor of product p for the relevant n phase and  $\Delta(t)$  is the decarbonisation factor impacting only the A1-A3 phases in this study.

For the B1-B5 phases, the embodied emissions  $\varepsilon^{B1-B5}$  of any building at time *t* should take into account the lifetime, maintenance and replacement of the different products and equipments. The number of replacements during the 50 year lifetime of the building is given by:

$$R_p = Max(1, \frac{Lt_{building}}{Lt_p})$$
(7.5)

Where  $R_p$  is the number of replacement of product *p* occurring during the building lifespan  $Lt_{building}$  (fixed at 50 years), and  $Lt_p$  represents the lifetime of product *p*.

As a result, the embodied emissions  $\varepsilon^{B1-B5}$  of any building at time *t* is calculated as follow:

$$\varepsilon_{building}^{B1-B5}(t) = \sum_{p} \left( Q_p \cdot f_{\varepsilon,p}^{B1-B5} \cdot \frac{Lt_{building}}{Lt_p^2} \right) + \sum_{p} \left( (R_p - 1) \cdot \left( (f_{\varepsilon,p}^{A1-A3} \cdot \Delta(t)) + f_{\varepsilon,p}^{A4-A5} + f_{\varepsilon,p}^{C1-C4} \right) \cdot \Psi(t, Lt_p, R_p) \right)$$
(7.6)

Where  $\Psi(t, Lt_p, R_p)$  is a conditional function indicating whether a replacement occurs at time t, based on the lifetime  $Lt_p$  of product p and the total number of replacements  $R_p$  over the building's lifespan. This function is applied to reflect the conditionality of replacements and their impact on the embodied emissions calculation at time t. When replacements do not occur at time t or when  $R_p \leq 1$ , only the emissions associated with maintenance, which are amortised over the lifetime of the products, are considered.

Finally, for the C phase the embodied emissions  $\varepsilon^{C}$  of any building at time *t* is calculated as follow:

$$\varepsilon_{building}^{C}(t) = \sum_{p} Q_{p} * f_{\varepsilon,p}^{C1-C4}$$
(7.7)

#### 7.4.5 Comparison with target values

After determining the annual embodied GHGE for the various building typologies, the method's concluding step involves comparing these calculated emissions with the target values sourced from (Pellan et al., 2024). Table 9.5 presents these target values, categorised by dwelling type and life-cycle stage per decade, including specific figures for the year 2022.

**Table 7.4:** Target values per dwelling type and life-cycle stages in kgCO2eq/m² derived from Pellanet al. (2024)

Dwelling type	LC-stage	2022	2030	2040	2050
Collective	A1-A3	413	324	198	103
Collective	A4-A5	97	76	46	24
Collective	B1-B5	260	204	124	65
Collective	С	49	38	23	12
Individual	A1-A3	330	245	155	81
Individual	A4-A5	67	50	31	16
Individual	B1-B5	223	166	104	55
Individual	С	60	45	28	15

Given that decarbonisation pathways predominantly influence the A1-A3 production phase, as detailed in the preceding section, prospective comparisons are logically limited to this phase. This phase encapsulates emissions occurring in the initial year of each construction project, aligning with the focus on upstream impacts.

## 7.5 Results

First, the results showcase current benchmarks derived from the curated database, highlighting embodied results categorised by RE2020 groups for both individual and collective buildings. Due to the uneven number of building types in the sample, subsequent results focus on individual buildings as they represent the major part of the sample. Results are structured in line with the established methodology, sequentially detailing the insights from association rule mining, hierarchical clustering, and prospective LCA calculations.

#### 7.5.1 Current benchmarks

Figure 7.4 showcases the GHGE performance in  $kgCO_2eq/m^2$  for both individual and collective housing types for the 13 groups specified in Table 7.1. Additionally, the median values for the 13 groups are given in Supplementary Information.

For individual buildings, 'Structure and masonry' and 'HVAC equipment' emerge as the most significant contributors to the embodied GHGE. This pattern holds true for collective housing as well, although with 'Foundations and infrastructure' and 'Exterior surfaces, components and joineries' also contributing substantially to the overall impact in this category. Further analysis on energy indicators reveals distinct preferences for energy carriers and systems between housing types (a Sankey diagram is provided in the Supplementary Information). This divergence can be attributed to the varying limit values established by the RE2020 regulation for different building types, with individual buildings subjected to more stringent requirements compared to collective buildings. In individual buildings, a clear preference for electricity as the primary energy carrier for both heating and hot water is evident, as it being present in approximately 95% of instances for both applications. Heat pumps are the overwhelmingly preferred heating solution, being used in 95% of cases. As for hot water systems, there is a nearly even split in preference, with storage tanks being used in 50% of cases, closely followed by heat pumps at 48%. Conversely, the energy landscape for collective buildings is more balanced. In terms of energy carriers, electricity accounts for 41% of heating solutions but is more closely followed by natural gas, renewable energy systems (including solar and biomass), and district heating networks accounting for 23%, 17%, and 19% of the heating solutions, respectively. When it comes to heating and hot water generation, heat pumps and boilers lead, constituting 41% and 34% of heating solutions, and 27% and 33% of hot water solutions, respectively. However, it is important to note that these findings for collective buildings may not fully mirror the actual situation due to the limited number of collective buildings in the sample.

#### 7.5.2 Identification of building typologies

#### Material associations and correlation analysis

In the sample, the distribution of choices within each variable is highly uneven. For instance, masonry constitutes nearly 90% of the main structural solutions, with concrete and clay brick make up 60% and 30% of structural material choices, respectively. Hollow beams and spinner soles dominate the floor and foundation categories, accounting for 80% and 70% of selections.



**Figure 7.4:** Median values per RE2020 groups outlined in Table 7.1 in kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq per m<sup>2</sup> of living area for individual and collective buildings. Values are proposed using the semidynamic RE2020 LCA method (see Supplementary Information)

Given these distributions, the main structural element (e.g. concrete, clay brick or wood) is chosen in addition to the building type for further categorisation due to its influence on the 'Structure and masonry' emissions, which are one of the largest of the 13 groups. By applying the *apriori* algorithm (Raschka, 2018) across all individual buildings, and separately within the three primary categories of structural materials, the analysis enables the evaluation of support, confidence, and lift metrics for each category, as illustrated in Figure 7.5.

These metrics reveal distinct patterns among the structural material types, particularly in terms of support and lift. Concrete and clay brick structures, due to their prevalence in the sample, exhibit significantly higher support levels than wood structures. Conversely, wood structures demonstrate higher lift values, suggesting that while less common overall, wood is strongly associated with certain building characteristics or uses. Confidence levels for all three typologies range from 0.5 to nearly 1, underscoring the reliability of these associations. High confidence values imply that when a building is constructed with one of these materials, there is a strong likelihood that it will also exhibit the associated characteristics identified by the rules. For instance, a high confidence value in the context of wood structures could indicate a robust association with certain types of flooring or roofing, reinforcing the material's specific application or appeal within certain construction practices.

While support offers insight into current market shares, it is not the primary criterion for selecting typologies in this study. Instead, confidence and lift serve as more pertinent metrics for identifying associations among the five building elements due to their ability to highlight meaningful relationships. To select representative buildings based on these elements, rules with the highest number of elements, alongside superior lift and confidence scores, are selected. This process culminates in the identification of three distinct categories, detailed in Table 7.5.

	Concrete buildings	Clay brick buildings	Wood buildings
Main structure	Masonry	Masonry	Frame
Roof	Monopent	3 panels	2 panels
Floors	Hollow beam	Solid slab	Hollow beam
Foundation	Spinner soles	Deep walls	Spinner soles

 

 Table 7.5: Association of the key elements for the three building types based on their main structural material

#### Hierarchical clustering of geometrical attributes

Figure 7.6 showcases dendrograms for the three distinct building typologies, illustrating the variance in cluster formation and distances among them. In hierarchical clustering, the dendrogram serves as a key visualisation tool, mapping the process of cluster formation in a tree-like diagram. It illustrates the sequence and distances of cluster mergers, with the merge height on the Y-axis indicating the distance or dissimilarity between two combined clusters. The dashed line across the Y-axis signifies the optimal cluster count as determined by the Elbow method, a point where adding more clusters leads to diminishing returns in terms of reducing within-cluster variance. At the dendrogram's base

(X-axis), each leaf signifies an individual data point (e.g. a building in the analysis). Notably, the dendrogram for clay brick buildings indicates a higher degree of dissimilarity among them, and thus a larger optimal number of clusters. This suggests a wider variation in the geometrical attributes within clay brick buildings compared to other types. On the contrary, wood buildings exhibit lower merge distances, implying a greater homogeneity in their geometrical attributes. This observed homogeneity could also partially stem from their fewer numbers in the dataset, which naturally results in fewer opportunities for variance.

#### 7.5.3 LCA calculations

#### Timeline of embodied GHGE per building typologies

In Figure 7.7, the embodied GHGE are shown by RE2020 groups as they occur overtime, while the dashed line show the cumulative values. The first peak corresponds to upstream emissions, e.g. at the year of construction, the small peaks correspond to replacements of the different construction elements that reach their end of lifetime. The peak at the end corresponds to end-of-life emissions.

In terms of upstream GHGE, the concrete and clay brick buildings demonstrate exhibit similar embodied emissions levels, with approximately  $500 \text{kgCO}_2 \text{eq}/\text{m}^2$  emitted in the construction year. Conversely, the wooden building display lower embodied emissions with around  $300 \text{kgCO}_2 \text{eq}/\text{m}^2$ . When considering the cumulated GHGE over the 50 year reference period, the concrete building report values close to  $1000 \text{kgCO}_2 \text{eq}/\text{m}^2$  while the clay brick and wood buildings report values close to  $800 \text{kgCO}_2 \text{eq}/\text{m}^2$ , the latter demonstrating significant end-of-life emissions.

#### Prospective calculations and comparison with target values

Figure 7.8 displays upstream GHGE (e.g. corresponding to module A emissions in the EN15978) results under the RCP 1.9 scenario, as projected by the IMAGE model. This visualisation compares the construction of the same building in different years (2020, 2030, 2040, and 2050), assuming the quantity of construction materials remains unchanged. The aim is to explore the decarbonisation potential for each typologies through adjustments in upstream sectors as defined by the IAM scenario. The IMAGE RCP1.9 scenario predicts very aggressive decarbonisation pathways up to 2030, followed by a more moderate decline from 2030 to 2050. This transition explains the less pronounced emissions reduction observed post-2030. For example, concrete and steel, key materials in construction, exhibit significant decreases in emissions, with concrete showing a steep decline (e.g., 53% from 2020 to 2030 and 60% by 2050 ) and steel following a rapid reduction (e.g., 34% from 2020 to 2030 and 47% by 2050). This is due to the predominant role of CCS in the IMAGE model for these sectors. Overall, relative to the 2020 baseline values, the three building typologies demonstrate GHGE reductions of 34%, 39%, and 40% for the concrete building, 27%, 31%, and 32% for the clay brick building, and 35%, 43%, and 43% for the wooden building by 2030, 2040, and 2050, respectively. The smaller emissions reductions observed for clay brick buildings can be linked to the significant emissions contributions from aluminium and ceramic, materials which exhibit minimal emissions reduction according to the IAM scenario. Among the three distinct building typologies analysed, wooden buildings demonstrate a notable presence of negative values. This outcome is

attributed to the carbon sequestration benefits associated with wood as a structural material in this typology.

These observations highlight the considerable influence of upstream decarbonisation on the embodied footprint of building constructions, underscoring the importance of material-specific pathways for comprehensively model the future environmental performance of new buildings. Nevertheless, when compared to the target values displayed in Table 9.5, only the wooden building demonstrate lower values, except for the year 2050. For concrete and clay brick buildings, a discrepancy from the target values is observed starting from 2020, which significantly increases over the years, except for 2030 where concrete buildings almost perfectly match the target values. These findings indicate that aligning with broader climate targets, such as carbon budgets established for the entirety of building activities (Pellan et al., 2023b), necessitates a shift in the market share distribution among different building typologies, favoring those with performance similar to wooden buildings or better.

#### Sensitivity analysis on IAMs scenarios

The different IAMs do not display identical decarbonisation pathways across different sectors to achieve the GMST targets set by RCP scenarios. In the Method section, Figure 7.3 illustrated how outcomes for various activities diverge significantly, depending on whether the IMAGE or REMIND model is employed, despite both scenarios aiming for the same GMST by the end of the century. Thus, investigating the implications of employing these distinct models and scenarios becomes crucial to assess the differences across the IAMs employed. To do that, Figure 7.9 offers a sensitivity analysis based on the models and scenarios outlined in Table 7.2, focusing on the net upstream emissions from all materials and equipment, specifically for 2030 and 2050.

Across all building typologies, the IMAGE RCP1.9 scenario demonstrates the lowest emissions for both 2030 and 2050. Additionally, a consistent order among scenarios is observed for both years across all typologies, with the exception of the concrete archetype. For this archetype, the alignment shifts from being closest to REMIND's NDC and PkBudg1150 scenarios in 2030, to mirroring the IMAGE RCP1.9 scenario by 2050. These findings underscore the importance of incorporating a range of IAM scenarios in prospective LCA analyses to capture a comprehensive view of potential future emissions.



Figure 7.5: Association rules results for all individual housing and for three types of structural material



Figure 7.6: Dendrogram for the three building typologies



Figure 7.7: Temporal profile of embodied GHGE for the three



(c) Individual housing, wood

**Figure 7.8:** Illustration of upstream embodied GHGE for the three individual building typologies under the IMAGE RCP1.9 scenario. Results are displayed by decades by 2050. The dashed lines per decades indicate the target values defined in Table 9.5



Figure 7.9: Sensitivity analysis on IAM models and scenarios for the three building typologies for 2030 and 2050

## 7.6 Discussions

#### 7.6.1 Building stock characterisation

The method is one of the first step to apply detailed characterisation on a building LCA database. These types of data-driven and hybrid approaches have mainly focused on energy studies. By following these steps, it enables to take a more holistic approach, targeting embodied GHGE of buildings which have been largely overlooked. Nonetheless, future studies could use the same type of approaches to study other type of environmental impacts. The more buildings in the LCA database (e.g. the RE2020 database), the richer the analysis derived from the association and clustering would be, enabling to have more differentiation. In this study, a small set of variables have been put in both steps. Enlarging these to more variables would enable to take a broader perspective.

#### 7.6.2 Environmental data

#### premise

In theory, a perfect alignment exists between IAM scenarios and prospective LCI databases when all variables and projections from the IAM are fully incorporated into the database. However, the current integration facilitated by the premise package falls short of this ideal, as it incorporates only a subset of IAM variables. Specifically, premise focuses on variables related to power, steel, cement, fuel production, and transport. Consequently, significant sectors which impact construction materials industry like heat production or chemicals remain unaddressed. Moreover, the integration of considered sectors into the *premise*-generated databases is not without its limitations. This is partly because certain IAM variables may not be readily available, such as specific efficiency metrics, or sometimes they are not included in the *premise* transformations, like the fuel mix used in cement production. As a result, databases produced through *premise* do not achieve full consistency with IAM scenarios, particularly regarding climate targets. Especially when ambitious climate targets are in place, relying on premise-generated databases could likely lead to an overestimation of GHGE, since sectors anticipated to undergo significant mitigation measures remain unchanged in the model (Sacchi, 2023a). Therefore, while *premise* offers valuable insights for integrating decarbonisation pathways into prospective LCA, it is essential to recognise its current limitations and the potential implications for accurately projecting GHG emissions in line with IAM scenarios.

#### EPD data

The use of EPD data presents a nuanced picture. On one hand, EPDs significantly streamline the completion and comparison of building LCAs against both regulatory limits and benchmarks derived from bottom-up and top-down methodologies. This advantage is particularly evident in this research, as it allows for reliance on the LCAs of a broad range of buildings. This approach circumvents the common challenge in many studies of justifying the representativeness of specific buildings due to limited LCA data availability. Furthermore, EPDs facilitate the calculation of WLC emissions and the establishment of current benchmarks, offering precise insights into the GHG impact at present time. On the other hand, the lack of access to underlying LCI data poses significant limitations, particularly

for conducting detailed prospective and dynamic LCA studies. This barrier, along with the absence of uncertainty assessments, is well-established (Marsh et al., 2023) Moreover, the unavailability of such data impedes transparency and reproducibility, benefits typically afforded by studies with access to LCI data, as seen in Switzerland (Zhang et al., 2024). To address this gap, the current study attempts to align ecoinvent activities with EPD categories using the INIES nomenclature. While this method enables a rapid evaluation of the decarbonisation potential across different building typologies, thereby offering valuable insights for policymakers and stakeholders, it also complicates the direct application of the resulting LCI database. Direct access to an LCI database would further elucidate the impact of changes in background activities, such as electricity or transport, on various sectors. An additional challenge stems from the use of process-based LCI data, which tends to underestimate impacts due to truncation issues (Crawford et al., 2018). In response, hybrid LCI databases represent the state-of-the-art, as demonstrated in Australia with the EPIC database (Crawford et al., 2022). However, the lack of such databases in the French and EU contexts poses challenges to their adoption in research. Thus, securing access to LCI data or creating LCI archetypes emerges as a logical direction for future studies, although with its own set of hurdles.

#### 7.6.3 Beyond's upstream sectors decarbonisation

This study centers on evaluating the decarbonisation potential resulting from changes in upstream sectors. However, it is important to note that various other decarbonisation strategies exist, such as material efficiency and sufficiency strategies, which are starting to be quantitatively assessed (Ipsen et al., 2024). Integrating these levers more accurately would provide a fuller understanding of the decarbonisation capabilities inherent within building activities.

Furthermore, to extrapolate these findings to a national scale, incorporating scenarios that reflect varying market shares of different building typologies could offer insights into the impacts of favoring certain types of construction. This approach would not only broaden the scope of analysis but also inform policy decisions by highlighting the environmental implications of promoting specific construction practices.

## 7.7 Conclusion

This paper introduces a methodology that combines a data-driven analysis of a building LCA database with prospective life-cycle assessment (LCA) techniques. Utilising the French RE2020 building LCA database alongside scenarios from Integrated Assessment Models (IAMs), this approach aims to provide a nuanced understanding of how different building typologies may align with evolving target values.

Significant emphasis is placed on employing advanced building stock aggregation methods such as association rule mining and clustering to identify buildings that exemplify specific material compositions and geometric characteristics. While such methods have been applied previously in building stock databases, transferring these approaches to a building LCA database represents a novel approach. As building LCA databases become more prevalent, this work represents an important step towards a data-driven approach to LCA analysis. To project future impacts, detailed modelling correlates material-specific decarbonisation pathways from IAMs with the material specifics listed in Environmental Product Declarations (EPDs).

This research not only reaffirms the well-documented variations in embodied performance across different building typologies but also underscores the significant influence that decarbonisation of upstream sectors has on the embodied footprint of building constructions. It highlights the critical need for material-specific pathways to accurately model the future embodied performance of new buildings. Results indicate substantial potential for decarbonisation from upstream sectors, with reductions reaching up to 60% in the most ambitious scenarios. Achieving more demanding targets will require finely tuned modelling of demand-side solutions, such as material efficiency strategies, which are not integrated in this work. Furthermore, at a national level, meeting ambitious carbon budgets would necessitate a shift in current construction practices, particularly in the market share of different building typologies, as the least environmentally performant ones currently dominate and will not meet future ambitious target values.

# 8

## Discussions

## Contents

8.1	Introd	uction	179	
8.2	Extending the scope of emissions accounting			
	8.2.1	Integration of land-use change emissions associated with buildings	181	
	8.2.2	Carbon storage and sequestration associated with the building activities	181	
8.3	Budge	ts setting	182	
8.4	Building stock dynamics			
8.5	Bottor	n-up building stock modelling	184	
	8.5.1	Building stock characterisation	184	
	8.5.2	Energy simulation	185	
	8.5.3	Material inventory modelling	186	
	8.5.4	Coupling and comparing optimisation and explorative approaches	186	
8.6	Impro	vement of prospective LCA methods for building stocks	187	
	8.6.1	Lack of LCI data	187	
	8.6.2	Towards consequential prospective approaches	188	
8.7	Impro	vement of bottom-up benchmarks	188	
	8.7.1	Bottom-up benchmarks for renovation	188	
	8.7.2	Beyond carbon benchmarks	189	
8.8	Decarl	bonisation levers inter-dependencies	189	

This chapter critically evaluates the conducted research and its outcomes, aiming to present a thorough analysis of the main limitations encountered within the approaches detailed in previous chapters, while also delineating clear avenues for future research. Initially, the discussion focuses on extending the scope of emissions accounting and enhancing top-down carbon bud-

get methods by incorporating a more detailed integration of scenario analysis within the inputoutput matrix. Additionally, the applicability of these methods to assess other environmental impacts is examined. Following this, the chapter highlights a range of possibilities for future development in bottom-up building stock modeling, emphasising the potential for more advanced refined modelling. Finally, the strengths and limitations of using a building LCA database along with prospective LCA methods is critically reviewed, with an eye towards understanding how these tools can be improved or expanded to better assess the environmental impacts of buildings.

## 8.1 Introduction

This chapter seeks to critically assess the methodologies used and the results disclosed in the preceding three chapters. It particularly highlights the shortcomings of the existing approaches, elucidates the underlying reasons for these limitations, and suggests directions for future research to enhance the robustness of the assessments.

Table 8.1 summarises the various issues discussed, alongside their corresponding chapters and the topics for future investigation. Each topic identified has a dedicated section in this chapter, ensuring a structured and comprehensive evaluation of the research conducted.

empreis		
Topics	Related chapter(s)	Identified limits and avenues for future research
Emissions accounting	Chapter 5	<ul> <li>Bottom-up accounting of land-use change emissions caused by buildings</li> <li>Estimation of carbon storage and sequestration</li> </ul>
Budget setting	Chapter 5	<ul><li>Prospective modification of the IO structure</li><li>Regionalisation of IO table</li></ul>
Stock dynamics	Chapter 6 and 7	<ul> <li>Regionalisation</li> <li>Additional sufficiency levers</li> <li>Integrating qualitative scenarios</li> </ul>
Building stock modelling	Chapter 6 and 7	<ul> <li>Coupling optimisation and exploration modelling</li> <li>Hybrid methods for building stock characterisation, particularly for renovation and demolition targeting</li> <li>Demand side solutions</li> </ul>
Improvement of prospective LCA methods	Chapter 7	<ul> <li>Automation or creation of LCI archetypes</li> <li>Use of hybrid coefficients</li> <li>Lean towards consequential approaches</li> </ul>
Improvement of benchmarks	Chapters 6 and 7	<ul><li>Benchmarks for renovation</li><li>Benchmark for other environmental impacts</li></ul>
Decarbonisation levers inter-dependencies	Chapter 5, 6, and 7	<ul> <li>Levels of dependencies between Avoid-Improve-Shift levers, in particular with electricity and biomass resources</li> <li>Potential competition between technologies</li> </ul>

 Table 8.1: Summary of identified limits in the thesis and avenues for future research in the different

 Chapters

## 8.2 Extending the scope of emissions accounting

#### 8.2.1 Integration of land-use change emissions associated with buildings

In Chapter 5, the developed accounting framework provides a comprehensive analysis of both operational and embodied greenhouse gas emissions (GHGE) arising from building activities. However, it does not address land-use emissions, which arise from changes such as the transformation of agricultural or forested areas into urban developments. This topic is also absent from the IPCC's Building chapter (Cabeza et al., 2022), which does not discuss emissions from land-use change, indicating a significant research gap.

Indeed, these changes can lead to significant emissions of CO<sub>2</sub>, primarily from the alteration or destruction of biomass and soil carbon stocks. National emission inventories track these emissions using the IPCC's six land use categories (e.g. forest land, cropland, grassland, wetlands, settlements, and other lands) and a resulting matrix that tracks the 36 possible transitions (CITEPA, 2023). In France, land-use emissions have been quantified at approximately 4.8MtCO<sub>2</sub> (Haut Conseil pour le Climat, 2023) in 2022. However, this framework lacks the granularity to specifically identify emissions from building activities. At a time where policies like France's *Zéro Artificialisation Nette (ZAN)* aim to mitigate land transformation, future research can take advantage of emerging databases <sup>1</sup> to provide a bottom-up estimation of land-use emissions caused by buildings. These analysis can be further enriched with details by regions and building types. These potential results would be valuable to add in the accounting framework developed as part of Chapter 5, thus providing a complete picture of the emissions caused by buildings that include land-use change emissions.

#### 8.2.2 Carbon storage and sequestration associated with the building activities

In Chapter 5, the carbon storage benefits associated with the use of bio-based materials (e.g. through photosynthesis) and the carbon sequestration associated with cementitious materials that occur along buildings lifetime (e.g. through carbonation) have not been quantified and integrated in the accounting framework. While carbon storage from bio-based materials is typically accounted for in national emission inventories under the land-use, land-use change, and forestry (LULUCF) sector, there are no specific details about the proportion attributable to buildings or their components. Conversely, carbon sequestration from cementitious materials during their life cycle is generally not included in national inventories (Xi et al., 2016). While some research suggest buildings could act as carbon sinks (Churkina et al., 2020), a more detailed characterisation of the global building stock's current and future potential as a carbon sink is needed (Arehart et al., 2021). Moreover, concerns about net losses in forest carbon due to poor forest management and deforestation underscore the complexity of this issue (Pomponi et al., 2020).

Enhancing the quantification and understanding of these mechanisms could enrich the emissionsfocused accounting framework of this thesis. Through a prospective bottom-up life-cycle modelling of building stocks, it can become possible to capture when and where carbon storage and sequestration occur, possibly down to specific building components. This presents a promising research direction.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>See https://artificialisation.developpement-durable.gouv.fr/ in the French context

However, careful selection of LCA methodologies is crucial, especially in accounting for biogenic carbon, as methodological choices can significantly impact outcomes (Hoxha et al., 2020).

## 8.3 Budgets setting

#### Research opportunities and challenges in Input-Output models

In Chapter 4, the discussion centers on the challenges and opportunities of coupling inherently static Input-Output (IO) models with dynamic scenarios from Integrated Assessment Models (IAMs), notably using the comprehensive review proposed by Lefèvre (2023). The primary hurdle identified in this thesis is related to data availability rather than methodological issues. Chapter 5 introduces an approach for integrating contribution analysis results with decarbonisation pathway rates from various industries, according to the scenarios provided by the IEA. This approach may seem simplistic when compared to other studies mentioned in Chapter 5, which adapt the IO model's structure based on exogenous assumptions, often concentrating on the electricity sector. Such adjustments involve modifications to the inter-industry flow matrix (Z), the environmental matrix (B), or the final demand vector (y), as implemented by Wiebe et al. (2018) using IEA's detailed data from 2015, which is not open source. It is important to note that the 2023 IEA data set freely available <sup>2</sup>, including scenarios like STEPS, APS, and NZS (which are documented in Chapter 3), does not freely provide this type of detailed information, which makes it difficult to implement on a large scale in a database such as Exiobase.

Another significant challenge is downscaling IO data to regional or city levels, which would significantly increase policy relevance by supporting sub-national actions. Despite the general scarcity of data at these more granular scales, instances exist, as evidenced by studies in Brussels (Athanassiadis et al., 2018) and method developed by Wiedmann et al. (2021) for several cities, indicating the potential and ongoing efforts to surmount these data constraints.

#### **Beyond carbon budgets**

As discussed in the Introduction, the Remaining Carbon Budget (RCB) emerges as one of the most studied Planetary Boundaries (PBs). While this thesis predominantly concentrates on refining the RCB through a downscaling process, it is pertinent to consider the extension of this approach to other identified PBs. However, unlike climate change or stratospheric ozone depletion, which are global issues, certain PBs manifest more prominently at regional or local scales (e.g. land system change or freshwater use). Consequently, the methodology for integrating these PBs may necessitate a shift from downscaling to potentially upscaling from bottom-up studies (Bai et al., 2024). Additionally, the national scale might appear less relevant for downscaling or upscaling for certain PBs, an example being the freshwater use where catchment areas provide a more meaningful scope of analysis. If refining the scope of downscaling or upscaling are scientific challenges, the issues of allocation remain again ethical and political questions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/data-product/world-energy-outlook-2023-free-dataset-2

If it remains a largely accepted framework, the PB framework has encountered criticism on several fronts: (a) from earth system scientists, concerning the determination of boundaries, the omission of critical boundaries, and the subjective nature of some established values; (b) regarding the framework's predominant Global North perspective, which overlooks issues of global equity; and (c) the critique concerning the democratic legitimacy of the PBs, which have largely been delineated by natural scientists without broad societal participation (Biermann and Kim, 2020).

## 8.4 Building stock dynamics

In Chapter 6, the dynamics of the building stock by 2050, including renovation, demolition, and new construction, are quantitatively assessed. The annual rates of renovation and demolition are determined by the number of dwellings or the surface area affected each year. Targeted buildings for these interventions are identified based on their placement within the transition matrix. This matrix maps out changes in Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) labels, specifically noting differences pre-renovation and post-renovation. New construction, on the other hand, adopts a demand-driven approach, predicated on three factors namely population growth, per *capita* square meter demand, and demolition rates, with projections extending to 2050.

This methodological framework, while functional, could be perceived as overly simplified. A more nuanced approach might incorporate additional variables suggested by the *'Imaginons les bâtiments de demain'* initiative (ADEME and CSTB, 2022)<sup>3</sup>, which outlines 22 factors within four categories: context, supply, demand, and policies. In particular for new construction, incorporating measures of sufficiency into the model represents another avenue for research. Existing scenarios incorporate a variety of sufficiency levers, as outlined by Gaspard et al. (2023). These measures could include, but are not limited to, changes in building usage (e.g., converting office spaces into residential units), segmentation of large buildings into smaller units, promotion of co-living arrangements across different generations, reduction in the number of secondary residences, and lowering vacancy rates.

Additionally, the analysis of new construction is currently conducted at a national scale within the thesis. A significant opportunity for enhancement lies in the regionalisation of stock dynamics, introducing data on a more granular level to reflect regional or city-specific trends. This would allow for the simulation of regional variations in development attractiveness based on factors such as employment opportunities or anticipated climatic conditions.

Lastly, integrating elements of social science and qualitative dimensions into quantitative models presents a challenge, yet it is a crucial endeavor. Such integration is often cited as a limitation in net-zero scenarios, highlighting the need for a more comprehensive approach that balances quantitative rigor with qualitative insights (Saujot et al., 2021). For instance, as explored in Chapters 2 and 3, Integrated Assessment Models (IAMs) exhibit limited capacity to represent societal transformations, such as behavioral dynamics, temporal transformation processes, and societal heterogeneity (Trutnevyte et al., 2019). Enhancing collaboration between modelers and social scientists could yield more realistic models, generate innovative solutions to climate mitigation, and improve the model-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://www.batimentdemain.fr/

ing of public acceptance (Trutnevyte et al., 2019). The development of the Shared Socioeconomic Pathways (SSPs) (O'Neill et al., 2017a), documented in Chapter 3, exemplifies efforts to integrate qualitative narratives into Integrated Assessment Models (IAMs). However, bridging the gap between disciplines such as economics and engineering, which lean towards positivist approaches, and social sciences, which often embrace constructivist methodologies, presents intrinsic challenges due to their differing epistemological foundations. Positivist models in economics and engineering focus on quantifiable data, rational choices, and deterministic laws, seeking to predict human behavior through mathematical formulations. These models value objective analysis but may oversimplify complex social interactions. In contrast, constructivist approaches in qualitative research prioritise understanding human experiences and behaviors within their specific contexts. These methods yield detailed, context-specific insights that highlight the subjective nature of reality but often resist broad generalisation that may be necessary for policy modeling (Elsawah et al., 2020).

#### 8.5 Bottom-up building stock modelling

As highlighted in Chapter 2.2, data availability has significantly improved the capabilities for enhanced modelling of the building stock. However, existing models still struggle with the challenge of delivering reliable information on a macro scale (Stephan, 2022). Chapter 6 leverages data from the French National Building Stock Database (BDNB), which provides detailed insights into the renovation potential and characteristics of the building stock. A more sophisticated framework was introduced as a proof of concept in Pellan et al. (2023a). The subsequent subsections will detail the challenges identified by this thesis and that could be addressed by future bottom-up building stock models.

#### 8.5.1 Building stock characterisation

In Chapter 2, both archetype and building-by-building modelling approaches are discussed. The extensive data available on millions of buildings enhances the potential to refine these methods for more precise characterisation of building stocks. Access to such detailed data supports the selection and modeling of archetypes and expands the scope of building-by-building analyses, assuming computational challenges are addressed.

In the thesis, buildings are characterised on a national scale in Chapter 6 by taking advantage of a building-by-building energy simulation conducted and stored within the French National Building LCA database (BDNB). Buildings are then aggregated according to their Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) label before and after renovation. This method differs from a strict building-by-building approach, which would involve tracking and monitoring the life-cycle performance of individual buildings over time. Chapter 7, further explores how archetypes for LCA modelling are selected using a data-driven approach from a building LCA database. This method diverges from traditional methods that often depend on building stock databases rather than building LCA database.

For future research, the primary challenge involves incorporating sufficient data to accurately reflect the stock and capture the heterogeneity among buildings, ideally introducing socio-economic data along traditional physical metrics. In this context, hybrid methods that blend deterministic classifications with clustering approaches could offer a robust solution by leveraging the strengths of both strategies (Borges et al., 2022). This approach has been implemented in Chapter 7 but could ideally be conducted in a more complete building stock database such as the BDNB. For example, modellers could initially categorise the building stock into known groups (e.g., by building types, climate zones) and then apply clustering algorithms within each category to account for the diversity in building attributes such as geometry, energy consumption, or wall insulation performance. Such hybrid techniques would allow for specific modelling of the varied combinations of categories and clusters. From a computational standpoint, they offer the benefit of applying resource-intensive methods, such as Hierarchical Clustering or K-Medoids, by segmenting the original datasets into distinct strata. The key challenge lies in selecting which parameters to incorporate, aligning with the objectives of the study while recognising variations without generating an overly large number of clusters. Furthermore, forthcoming research should undertake comparisons of the results yielded by various algorithms to evaluate their appropriateness.

#### 8.5.2 Energy simulation

The analysis of building stock energy demand forms the cornerstone for calculating operational GHGE as argued in Chapter 2. In the thesis, Chapter 5 first adopts a top-down approach by relying on the national energy balance to calculate the baseline operational emissions and the underlying carbon budgets outlined by the SNBC. This approach provides a macro view of energy consumption across the building sector. Subsequently, Chapter 6, shifts the focus to a more granular analysis by examining the energy demand of individual buildings. This is achieved using data from previous simulations conducted under the BDNB, which applies a linear energy simulation model to each building. This method allows for detailed, building-specific insights into energy usage and efficiency improvements.

From the literature review done in Chapter 2, it is advisable to use engineering-based models that encompass all forms of energy demand, such as heating, domestic hot water, cooling, ventilation, lighting, and other appliances. These models are better suited for simulating various renovation types. They should be able to include operations that may incorporate novel construction materials and equipment with increased efficiency. Yet, a significant challenge exists in the aspect of time calculation. At the level of building stock, employing linear programming techniques has been proven to markedly enhance performance, as it enables the modelling of the entirety of French buildings within a reasonable time frame (Rit et al., 2023). Consequently, this approach opens up the possibility of modelling multiple stock dynamics scenarios, encompassing detailed renovations and demolition operations on a building-by-building basis. Such detailed information could then be integrated with a Life-Cycle Assessment (LCA), as it has been done in Chapter 6.

A critical direction for future research involves incorporating prospective weather conditions using weather forecast files in the modelling framework. This would allow for an in-depth analysis of the implications for heating and cooling demands, which are likely to undergo significant changes across different regions as a result of increasing temperatures due to climate change. Such an approach

would enhance the accuracy and relevance of building performance simulations, reflecting the evolving climate realities more closely. Moreover, incorporating agent behaviour and socio-economic conditions into the model could significantly improve its accuracy by reflecting actual behaviours more closely. This adjustment could, for instance, improve the modelling of rebound effects. Currently, the reliance on EPC labels, while simplifying the analysis and providing an initial estimate, has been criticised for its lack of realism when compared to actual data on energy consumption (Conseil d'analyse économique, 2024). A vital direction for future research involves comparing model predictions with actual energy consumption, as verified through measurement campaigns. This comparative analysis should span across various building typologies and extend to different socio-economic contexts to ensure a comprehensive understanding of energy use patterns. Such studies would not only validate the accuracy of predictive models but also illuminate how diverse conditions influence building energy performance.

#### 8.5.3 Material inventory modelling

Chapter 7 takes advantage of a building LCA database that offers comprehensive material inventory, although limited to new construction. At the building stock level, the majority of studies rely on Material Intensity Coefficient (MIC), as highlighted in Chapter 2.2, while detailed information at a more granular level, such as component and assembly levels, remains scarce. There is a pressing need for more comprehensive compilation of databases on construction assemblies. In line with efforts to create MIC databases (Heeren and Fishman, 2019), a similar approach should be applied to construction assemblies. Enhancing the accuracy of construction assembly data through improved building stock characterisation, by integrating not just building age and geometry but also energy performance metrics, could significantly contribute to the field. This approach is equally applicable to renovations, where detailed modelling could facilitate more nuanced analyses of the embodied impacts associated with various renovation strategies. Additionally, the application of expert rules is crucial for accurately reflecting the suitability of different renovation packages to diverse buildings. Such rules should take into account real-world factors like architectural heritage, heating, and ventilation systems, ensuring renovation approaches are both effectively possible and effective.

#### 8.5.4 Coupling and comparing optimisation and explorative approaches

Modelling approaches are typically categorised into two main types: simulation (or exploration) and optimisation (Guivarch et al., 2022). The methodologies developed in Chapter 6 and 7 predominantly align with the first category. However, the strategy for sequencing renovations and demolitions in Chapter 6 incorporate elements of optimisation, as the approach prioritises the renovation or demolition of the most energy-consuming buildings first, although not through an optimisation model.

Integrating and contrasting both approaches can offer deeper insights. Within the context of building stocks, extensive research has demonstrated the advantages of prioritising renovation and demolition operations, a finding corroborated by the outcomes presented in Chapter 6. Therefore, a more sophisticated optimisation approach could be developed to specifically target certain dwellings. This

method could either be integrated with or contrasted against exploratory scenarios to underline the differences in outcomes. Optimisation could focus on a single objective, such as cost, energy consumption, or GHGE, or it could encompass multiple objectives to create a Pareto front. The latter approach enhances decision-making by illustrating trade-offs between competing objectives but requires additional decision-support methodologies, like Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis (MCDA), to effectively parse and prioritise these objectives.

## 8.6 Improvement of prospective LCA methods for building stocks

#### 8.6.1 Lack of LCI data

In Chapter 7, one of the principal limitations identified in integrating building stock assessments with product-level analyses is the availability of life-cycle inventory (LCI) data. This issue is particularly pronounced in this thesis, as the primary data source for building LCA are the Environmental Product Declarations (EPDs) available in the INIES database. Unlike comprehensive LCI data, EPDs typically do not disclose their underlying inventory details. This lack of transparency creates a substantial obstacle for applying detailed prospective LCA methodologies in the extensive array of building LCA data available in the RE2020 database. Indeed, transforming LCI data with inputs from IAMs is crucial for modeling the evolution of building activities and assessing the role of different sectors in the decarbonisation process. Furthermore, the absence of comprehensive LCI data hinders the application of advanced dynamic LCA frameworks, limiting the scope of sustainability assessments in the building sector.

A potential solution to this challenge is the manual creation of LCI databases for various categories of building materials and components. However, this approach is inherently labor-intensive and likely to be incomplete, potentially overlooking specific product differences crucial for accurate environmental assessments. The challenge is compounded by the complexity involved in capturing the nuanced environmental impacts of diverse building materials. Automation presents an alternative solution, often viewed as a means to manage the complexity encountered with numerous technology scenarios and a vast array of components, leading to a multitude of modeling choices (Steubing et al., 2016) (Haun et al., 2022). Zhang et al. (2024) demonstrated the use of a simple fuzzy lookup function to align the Swiss LCI database with Ecoinvent. However, applying similar automation techniques for matching products from the INIES database to ecoinvent is problematic due to significant differences in terminology.

Lastly, the example of Australia's EPiC database (Crawford et al., 2022) illustrates the potential benefits of using hybrid coefficients in the building context. Future research could explore how the application of hybrid LCI data influences the environmental impact assessments of different building typologies compared to traditional process-based methods. Such investigations are currently limited by the scarcity of hybrid LCI databases, underscoring the need for more comprehensive data resources in this area.

#### 8.6.2 Towards consequential prospective approaches

The integration of Integrated Assessment Models (IAMs) with industrial ecology tools (e.g. LCA, IOA) have opened promising avenues for future research as extensively documented in Chapter 2. In the LCA landscapes, attributional approaches have traditionally dominated the field. Nonetheless, consequential approaches have been recognised for their aptitude in evaluating the broad adoption of public policies, including their indirect effects (Almeida, 2022). In the context of a net-zero economy, substantial efforts across all economic sectors are imperative, with expected significant impacts on both production and consumption landscapes. Therefore, it becomes crucial to adopt large-scale approaches capable of identifying marginal suppliers. Such approaches are essential for implementing a life-cycle sustainability assessment framework (Guinée et al., 2011). This framework should not only consider environmental aspects but also integrate economic and social evaluations to ensure a holistic assessment of sustainability

Although the integration of IAMs with attributional LCI databases was the initial focus, recent efforts have extended to encompass consequential LCI databases (Maes et al., 2023). Applying these advanced methodologies to building activities offers a promising path forward, particularly in light of the imperative Renovation Wave. This approach enables not only the examination of the direct environmental impacts associated with building activities but also the exploration of the broader, large-scale indirect effects that such policy initiatives could exert on the economy.

## 8.7 Improvement of bottom-up benchmarks

#### 8.7.1 Bottom-up benchmarks for renovation

In Chapter 6, the use of the French building LCA database (RE2020 database) facilitates the creation of bottom-up benchmarks for new construction, with the analysis encompassing a significant number of buildings, although predominantly focused on individual housing. For renovation benchmarks, the hypothesis is that the extent of renovation, as indicated by the improvement in Energy Performance Certificate label, influences the building components (e.g. building groups as indicated by the RE2020) touched by renovation operations. Consequently, renovation benchmarks are extrapolated from new construction values.

This methodological simplification arises primarily from the data scarcity concerning renovation activities, which hampers the establishment of distinct benchmarks for renovation projects. The scarcity of the data can be attributed to the lack of mandatory requirements. Additionally, there exists a varied classification of renovation types (e.g. light or shallow renovation, deep renovation, energy renovation, etc) which often depends on the extent and parts of the building being renovated. As a result, it is difficult to have benchmark values for different types of renovation works and their associated energy savings. Access to a comprehensive dataset detailing various renovation operations across multiple building types could allow for the generation of statistical analyses, leading to the formulation of limit, reference, and target values for renovations tailored to specific building typologies. Such an approach would facilitate a deeper understanding of how renovations of a comparable nature in terms of operational GHGE savings can entail varied levels of embodied GHGE investments. In practice, the concept of payback times, indicating the number of years required to offset the embodied GHGE investment through associated operational GHGE savings, is often used in studies. However, estimates for payback times vary widely, ranging from 6 to 70 years (HQE, 2022). This variation underscores the need for a more refined approach to developing bottom-up benchmarks for renovations, which would allow for adjustments to be more accurately tailored to the unique characteristics of buildings. Employing a combination of hybrid techniques, including deterministic and clustering classification, could facilitate the revision of currently outdated and imprecise benchmarks. An example of such imprecision can be seen in the values cited by RTE and ADEME (2020) which suggests  $60 \text{kgCO}_2 \text{eq}/\text{m}^2$  for a single EPC label jump and 150 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/m<sup>2</sup> for two to three EPC label jump.

Ideally, these improvements could culminate in the establishment of compulsory limit values for renovations, akin to those set for new constructions under France's RE2020 framework. However, a more concerted effort is required to monitor renovation activities and gather LCA data from these operations. Should these renovation benchmarks become available, a methodology similar to that detailed in Chapter 7 could be later employed for renovation analysis. This entails the use of prospective bottom-up stock modelling, incorporating both an energy simulation model and a component-based model, to evaluate how various renovation strategies align with the established limit, reference, and target values.

#### 8.7.2 Beyond carbon benchmarks

In terms of benchmarks, an exclusive focus on carbon could inadvertently lead to a 'carbon tunnel vision,' overlooking other physical constraints that may interact with the goal of decarbonising building activities. For example, constraints related to metals, particularly relevant in the energy and transport sectors (de Koning et al., 2018), yet intrinsically linked to building activities decarbonisation, highlight the necessity of developing comprehensive benchmarks. These benchmarks should not only encompass carbon but also extend to various metals and mineral materials used within the building sector (Bendahmane, 2024). Such an approach could facilitate the establishment of mandatory limit values, similar to those developed for carbon in the RE2020 regulation. While the growing availability of data, for instance through building LCA databases, may simplify the creation of bottom-up benchmarks, devising top-down benchmarks presents more challenges, due to the difficulties of having absolute targets.

## 8.8 Decarbonisation levers inter-dependencies

Decarbonisation strategies are commonly conceptualised within the Avoid/Improve/Shift or Demandside/Supply-side frameworks, as discussed in Chapter 3. While this conceptualisation aids in clarification, the inter-dependencies among these strategies are less frequently examined, yet they are critical. However, there is often an implicit relationship between decarbonisation levers, with the success of one being contingent upon the activation of another. In the realm of building activities, the decarbonisation of electricity and the supply of biomass, especially wood, serve as illustrative examples. The adoption of low-carbon electricity is fundamental in all decarbonisation scenarios, to decrease operational GHGE of buildings. However, the success of the decarbonisation of electricity significantly depends on the performance of the building stock, particularly the rate and effectiveness of renovations which are needed to reduce overall electricity demand. Some studies focused on the electricity sector have incorporated sensitivity analysis on the performance of the building stock to investigate its impact from a security, environmental and economic point of view (RTE and ADEME, 2020). In the thesis, Chapter 6 explores the impact of different decarbonisation pathways for electricity for a same stock scenario, assessing the potential consequences of failing to decarbonise the electricity grid on the operational GHGE of the building stock. Future research should delve deeper into these connections. Similarly, regarding biomass, the level of new construction that supports a sustainable timber supply, facilitating responsible forest management, warrants scrutiny. Various studies have indicated that the large adoption of timber construction is limited by the availability of sustainably managed forest products (Göswein et al., 2022). Further integrated analysis that combines forest management with sophisticated models for new construction could offer insights into the sustainable level of new construction that balances climate goals with other environmental pressures, such as biodiversity.

Analysing the decarbonisation strategies of various sectors in isolation, especially within activities that depend on multiple sectors, risks missing a holistic view. To address this, there's a need for a deeper analysis of the prerequisites for major decarbonisation levers, employing integrated models that consider the demand for key low-carbon solutions across all sectors to determine the feasibility of their supply. For instance, recent research has highlighted that decarbonisation strategies for steel and cement are significantly contingent on the availability of CO<sub>2</sub> transport and storage infrastructure, ample renewable electricity, and low-carbon hydrogen (Watari et al., 2023). Future studies should incorporate uncertainty analysis and scenarios that envisage failures in these strategies to evaluate their implications for building activities.

From an economic perspective, achieving deep decarbonisation, particularly in sectors that are challenging to decarbonise, becomes exponentially costly. This is especially true when the decarbonisation effort is focused on the production side and heavily relies on carbon capture and storage technologies (Favier et al., 2018). Exploring the willingness and capacity of companies to invest in the face of a significant demand reduction could provide valuable insights.

Furthermore, the competition and inter-dependencies between technologies for the same decarbonisation lever warrant examination. Under varying system-level conditions, identifying which technologies are crucial for achieving decarbonisation, whether they depend on other critical technologies, or if they compete with each other, is essential (Pye et al., 2019). Such analysis can offer guidance for the planning of public policies.



# Conclusion

## Contents

9.1	Summary	192
9.2	Contributions and implications	194
9.3	Perspective and outlooks	195

The conclusion chapter completes the thesis by summarising the insights offered in the different chapters. It then outlines the contributions and implications of the results for both the scientific community and policy makers. Finally, it summarises the perspectives and outlooks that future research could examine.

## 9.1 Summary

The primary objective of this doctoral dissertation was to develop life-cycle carbon budgets and to model explorative scenarios that enables the quantification of the French building activities life-cycle emissions. Guided by three pivotal research questions (e.g. 1, 2 and 3) introduced in Chapter 1, this research navigated through the complex landscape of emission accounting, scenario analysis, and the prospective Whole-Life Carbon (WLC) emissions calculation of the building activities through three main questions:

- 1. **Emission accounting and carbon budgets**: how to extend existing approaches to capture the entire scope related to building activities?
- 2. Scenario analysis, stock-dynamics and benchmark values: how to compare prospective bottom-up WLC emissions and top-down derived carbon budgets?
- 3. **New construction and prospective LCA**: how to consider and model the impact of the decarbonisation of upstream sectors for different building typologies?

An initial literature review presented in Chapter 2 delineated the current state-of-the-art, identifying both the strengths and gaps within environmental assessment methods, building stock modelling and their integration in Chapter 2. Furthermore, an examination of existing scenarios, both internation-ally and within the French context, was provided in Chapter 3, underscoring the wealth of literature and hypotheses from which this dissertation benefits. Both reviews highlighted several key insights:

- Emission accounting: established guidelines for emission accounting exist, yet they often do not adequately address cross-sectoral and cross-border impacts. Due to this gap, a more comprehensive approach had to be developed to address Research Question 1.
- **Prospective analysis**: this approach, characterised by its diversity and lesser degree of standardisation, offers critical guidance into future scenarios. However, its integration with industrial ecology needs strengthening. Scenario analysis, a critical component in addressing research questions 1, 2 and 3, has been extensively discussed in Chapter 3.
- Input-Output Analysis (IOA): IOA provides significant insights for examining supply-chain impacts at a macro scale. However, to facilitate forward-looking studies, such as future carbon budget analyses pertaining to Research Question 1, it must be integrated with other tools and methods. This integration has been developed in Chapter 5.
- Life Cycle Assessment (LCA): As a standardised method widely used in building environmental assessments, LCA enables the establishment of sound bottom-up benchmarks, relevant to Research Question 2. Despite its widespread use, limitations related to the temporal dimension persist. Nevertheless, recent advancements in linking LCA with prospective tools have broadened its applicability in forward-looking studies, especially relevant in the context of research question 3.

- Hybrid-LCA: Combining the strengths of IOA and LCA, hybrid-LCA remains a complex methodology, predominantly accessible to experts. Data availability, particularly in the French context, presents a significant challenge to its application within this thesis.
- **Building Stock Modelling (BSM)**: The efficacy of BSM techniques hinges on data accessibility, which is crucial for enhancing building stock representation through sophisticated material modelling. The integration of construction assemblies libraries further refines this modelling process. Importantly, coupling BSM with environmental assessment methods markedly improves the coherence and consistency of building environmental assessments.

Informed by these insights, the thesis systematically addressed the research questions through detailed analyses presented in three independent research papers encapsulated in Chapters 5, 6 and 7. The analysis progressively narrowed its focus, beginning with the entire spectrum of building activities and culminating in considerations applied in the specific context of new construction.

- 1. Initially, a detailed accounting methodology was outlined, facilitating the extension of sectoral carbon budgets, which are inherently limited in scope. This involved employing various life-cycle inventory methodologies to capture the WLC emissions of French buildings, including a detailed assessment of embodied GHGE, which are often overlooked in policy discussions and global scenarios. Subsequently, this accounting framework was integrated with both national and international scenarios to illustrate varying ambitions in carbon budgeting, implying different levels of decarbonisation across all economic sectors.
- 2. Adopting a top-down approach to carbon budgeting at the level of building activities, the exploration of scenarios was then conducted at the residential activities level. This focus was chosen due to the availability of detailed data for the residential building stock, e.g. the BDNB in the French context, which provides comprehensive information on buildings, including usage, living surface area, materiality, and energy consumption before or after potential renovations. With this detailed baseline, a modelling framework was introduced to project the evolution of the stock and its associated WLC emissions. Alongside a robust baseline, this framework incorporated multiple national scenarios concerning variables such as the emission factors of energy carriers, the number of square meter per *capita* or the possible evolution of embodied impacts per square meter in stock-level activities. Ultimately, this methodology enabled the visualisation of a scenarios aligning with ambitious carbon budgets, paving the way for more detailed analyses concerning which building typologies could meet such stringent criteria. Subsequently, this study aligns material profiles derived from Environmental Product Declarations (EPDs) with modified Life-Cycle Inventory (LCI) data that reflects future Integrated Assessment Models (IAMs) scenarios. This approach was intended to provide a detailed understanding of how various building typologies might align with (or deviate from) evolving environmental performance benchmarks.
- 3. The final aspect of this research concentrated on new construction, developing a methodology that marries a data-driven analysis of building typologies with prospective LCA techniques. Leveraging the French RE2020 building LCA database, this approach was designed to evaluate

the environmental performance of various building typologies against both current and anticipated future performance levels, determined in the previous chapter. A particular emphasis was made on the integration of sophisticated building stock aggregation methods, including association rule mining and clustering, to identify buildings that are representative in terms of material composition and geometric characteristics. Subsequently, the material composition of these selected buildings was analysed through their lists of Environmental Product Declarations (EPDs) which provide a detailed account of their constituent materials. This analysis facilitated a direct comparison with Life-Cycle Inventory (LCI) data, enabling the incorporation of prospective modifications based on scenarios assessed by Integrated Assessment Models (IAMs).

Building on these analyses, the following key findings summarises the central outcomes and implications of each research phase:

- 1. The French building stock emitted 162  $MtCO_2$ eq in 2019, with embodied GHGE accounting for 36% of this total. 20% of total emissions occurred outside national borders, indicating that existing climate policies are overly narrow and should incorporate a broader spectrum of emissions. In the future decades, embodied GHGE are projected to become the predominant scope of emissions by 2040 under the current decarbonisation policies.
- 2. A significant gap in Greenhouse Gases Emissions (GHGE) can result from different targeting strategies for renovation. In particular, policies targeting fossil fuel prove most effective in reducing operational GHGE than those focusing only on energy performance label. In ambitious scenarios with high renovation rates, embodied GHGE become predominant by 2040. A combination of sufficiency (e.g. through lower square meter per *capita*) and deep decarbonisation of energy carriers and construction materials is necessary to achieve the most ambitious carbon budgets.
- 3. Prospective LCA modelling of new construction suggests a high decarbonisation potential from upstream sectors, with reductions of around 60% in the most ambitious scenarios, in terms of emissions per square meter at the building level. When extrapolated to the national level, these findings seem to indicate that current market share between different building typologies do not enable alignment with ambitious carbon budgets, pointing to the need for further deployment and modelling of additional demand-side mitigation strategies.

## 9.2 Contributions and implications

The contributions of this study span both the scientific community and policy-making spheres, reflecting the applied facet of the research undertaken. It underscores the importance of recognising buildings as cross-sectoral activities, both in accounting frameworks and in decarbonisation pathways. By employing a diverse array of methods, this research harmoniously integrates top-down and bottom-up approaches, offering a contribution to enhance linkages across scales, from building components (micro scale) to national building stocks and sectoral roadmaps (macro scale).
Initially, the thesis presents a novel approach to extending carbon budgets applicable in EU countries and potentially worldwide. This method offers an opportunity to integrate such extended carbon budgets into broader climate planning across all sectors, for example in the revision of the Low-Carbon National Strategy (SNBC) in France. This aspect not only enriches policy discussions but also lays the groundwork for more integrated sectoral decarbonisation strategies. Furthermore, the initial effort to link carbon budgets with the decarbonisation of upstream sectors marks a step in this research domain. Although this represents an initial implementation, such advancements promise to deepen the scientific understanding of sectoral inter-dependencies in carbon budgeting. The research also demonstrates the capability to calculate WLC emissions based on a robust bottom-up baseline augmented by extensive scenario-based assumptions. This approach not only broadens the analytical capabilities for both scientists and policymakers but also facilitates a nuanced exploration of trade-offs between operational and embodied impacts. Such investigations, which are seldom conducted, are crucial to prevent the displacement of impacts to upstream industrial sectors Moreover, the research leverages a comprehensive dataset of building LCAs, mitigating the risk of reliance on limited data sets that may not accurately represent current practices. This significant data foundation supports the identification of building archetypes, offering a method that could be generalised across different building stock databases, despite challenges related to data gaps. The prospective analysis initiated in this part serves as a foundational step towards bridging the gap between building stock level assessments and product-level analyses. From a policy perspective, the insights into which building typologies can meet stringent environmental performance criteria equips policymakers and industry stakeholders with the necessary information to set realistic, impactful environmental standards.

Collectively, these contributions underscore the thesis's relevance and potential impact, offering both theoretical advancements and practical applications that bridge the gap between scientific research and policy-making in the context of building activities and decarbonisation pathways in general.

### 9.3 Perspective and outlooks

The methodologies employed and the diverse scopes explored in this doctoral dissertation lay the groundwork for numerous future research opportunities.

- **Top-down modelling enhancements:** There is a significant opportunity to strengthen the linkage between Input-Output Analysis (IOA) and prospective models, aiming for a more nuanced understanding of how scenarios impact supply-chain effects. Additionally, the concept of environmental budgets could be expanded beyond the current focus on greenhouse gas emissions (GHGE), although this exploration is not without its challenges.
- Advancing stock dynamics understanding: Enriching the modelling and comprehension of building stock dynamics, especially by including more socio-economic drivers and sufficiency levers, emerges as a crucial area for future research. This advancement is paralleled by the need to effectively integrate quantitative and qualitative dimensions of prospective assess-

ments. Furthermore, the regionalisation of these dynamics promises increased relevance for stakeholders and policymakers, albeit contingent upon the availability of data.

- **Building stock modelling developments:** The growing availability of raw data is set to support the development of robust and widely applicable methods for assessing the environmental impacts of buildings, from the meso to macro scale. This data enables a holistic yet precise bottom-up perspective of operational and embodied impacts. There is also a potential to more effectively marry explorative and optimisation approaches, facilitating the planning of trajectories that optimise the chances of meeting climate objectives.
- Bridging gaps in prospective analysis: A primary barrier to expanding prospective analysis from the component scale to the macro scale is the widespread availability of LCI data. Future research should focus on bridging this gap, fully leveraging advanced methods across scales, and incorporating consequential approaches to explore the broader effects of specific policies.
- Interdependencies among decarbonisation levers: The intricate web of interdependencies between decarbonisation strategies across different sectors presents both challenges and opportunities. Future work should adopt integrated models that consider the demand and supply dynamics of low-carbon solutions, critically assessing the feasibility of meeting ambitious decarbonisation goals within the limits of available resources and technologies.

# List of Figures

1.1	The Great Acceleration (Steffen et al., 2015)	2
1.2	2023 Updated status on the nine planetary boundaries (Richardson et al., 2023)	3
1.3	Perspectives on the remaining carbon budgets	5
1.4	Global building and construction life-cycle $CO_2$ emissions (UNEP, 2023)	6
1.5	The French National Low-Carbon National Strategy (SNBC) pathway, defined by car-	
	bon budgets and the 2050 carbon neutrality objective	11
1.6	Sectors, area of activities and areas of need in the downscaling process (Habert et al.,	
	2020b)	15
1.7	Performance levels in ISO21678	16
1.8	Trade-offs across scales (adapted from Allacker et al. (2019))	19
2.1	Three perspectives on emission responsibility: cumulative, territorial and consumption-	
	based emissions (Friedlingstein et al., 2023)	28
2.2	Net Zero Initiative Dashboard (Carbone 4 et al., 2021)	32
2.3	Generic scenario typology from Bisinella et al. (2021)	34
2.4	Approaches for future-oriented scenario LCA (adapted from Bisinella et al. (2021)) .	43
2.5	EN-15978 modules and stages framed in the operational/embodied framework	47
2.6	Hybrid LCI methods from Crawford et al. (2018)	57
3.1	The new climate change scenario framework from Moss et al. (2010)	72
3.2	The scenario matrix and the SSPx-y chosen in AR6 (Chen et al., 2021)	74
3.3	Climate categories and illustrative pathways from WGIII (Riahi et al., 2022)	75
3.4	$CO_2$ emissions and temperature outcomes of the four IEA scenarios	77
3.5	The four ADEME's 'Transition(s) 2050' scenarios (ADEME, 2021a)	81
4.1	Visual representation of the scope and methodological approaches developed in Chap-	
	ters 5, 6 and 7	91
5.1	The needs-activities-sectors framework, as described by Habert et al. (2020b)	96
5.2	Methodology and system boundary for GHGE accounting and decarbonisation pathways	s 99
5.3	Historical GHGE from 1990 to 2021 and SNBC pathways by 2050	105
5.4	Evolution of energy carriers use in residential and tertiary buildings	107
5.5	Sectoral and geographical repartition of embodied emissions in 2019	109
5.6	Embodied carbon pathways with IEA global sectoral scenarios	111
5.7	WLC pathways combining SNBC and IEA scenarios	112
6.1	Methodology for stock dynamics and integration of energy carriers and construction	
	materials	125
6.2	Change of EPC label per dwelling type according to the BDNB	127
6.3	Embodied values per life-cycle stages	133

6.4	Evolution of yearly and cumulated operational GHGE by energy carriers and EPC la- bels for BALL and AMB scenarios	138
65	Evolution of yealy GHGE by energy carriers and EPC in the fossil fuel targeting alter-	150
0.0	native scenario	139
6.6	Evolution of yearly and cumulated embodied GHGE by stock-level activities for BAU	107
0.0	and AMB scenarios	141
6.7	Sensibility analysis for BAU and AMB scenarios with different energy carriers and	± 1±
	construction materials decarbonisation scenarios	142
6.8	2050 and cumulative WLC emissions for BAU and AMB scenarios	143
7.1	Overview of the proposed method	155
7.2	Method for finding building typologies	157
7.3	Illustrative examples of decarbonisation pathways for cement and reinforcing steel	
	production using IAM scenarios described in Table 7.2	160
7.4	Median values per RE2020 groups outlined in Table 7.1 in kgCO <sub>2</sub> eq per $m^2$ of liv-	
	ing area for individual and collective buildings. Values are proposed using the semi-	
	dynamic RE2020 LCA method (see Supplementary Information)	165
7.5	Association rules results for all individual housing and for three types of structural	
	material	169
7.6	Dendrogram for the three building typologies	170
7.7	Temporal profile of embodied GHGE for the three	171
7.8	Illustration of upstream embodied GHGE for the three individual building typologies	
	under the IMAGE RCP1.9 scenario. Results are displayed by decades by 2050. The	
	dashed lines per decades indicate the target values defined in Table 9.5	172
7.9	Sensitivity analysis on IAM models and scenarios for the three building typologies for	
	2030 and 2050	173
9.1	Number of dwellings and surface (in $m^2$ ) per dwelling type and EPC double label $\ . \ .$	204
9.2	Dwelling type per EPC label in number of dwellings and m2	205
9.3	Number of dwellings with EPC energy and GHGE	206
9.4	Average surface per EPC label and dwelling type in $m^2$	207
9.5	Stock-level activities and population growth in the 'BAU' and 'AMB' scenarios	210
9.6	Energy carrier and generator type used for heating and hot water	212

## List of Tables

1.1	Effort-sharing approaches in Bai et al. (2024)	8
2.1	Common notations in Life Cycle Assessment (LCA)	38
2.2	LCA approaches described in Guinée et al. (2018). Descriptions are generic while	
	questions are focused on the building activities.	40
2.3	Glossary of terms relative to temporal issues in LCA inspired from (Beloin-Saint-Pierre	
	et al., 2020)	45
2.4	Description of matrices in Input-Output Analysis	49
2.5	Comparison of the main MRIO databases	51
2.6	Comparison of LCI methods	54
2.7	Comparison between LCA and IOA frameworks adapted from Heijungs and Suh (2002)	55
2.8	Summary of hybrid LCI methods described in Crawford et al. (2018)	58
2.9	Comparison of archetype and building-by-building approaches for building stock ag-	
	gregation	61
2.10	Comparison of K-Means, K-Medoids and Hierarchical Clustering algorithms	63
2.11	Typology of bottom-up energy modelling according to Swan and Ugursal (2009)	64
2.12	Summary of environmental assessments and building stock modelling methods	69
3.1	Comparison of IEA scenarios in the WEO 2023	78
3.2	ADEME's scenarios main features and distinctions relative to building activities	82
3.3	RTE's scenario main features and metrics	85
3.4	Summary of scenarios assessed in the Chapter	87
4.1	Summary of the next chapters methodologies	89
5.1	Relation between GHGE accounting methods	100
5.2	Emission factors of energy carriers in 2019 in $kgCO_2eq/kWh$ taken from the Base	
	Carbone (ADEME, 2020)	101
5.3	IEA scenarios used for embodied carbon pathways.	105
5.4	Top ten couple of country-products contributors to embodied GHGE in 2019	108
6.1	Framing of model parameters in the 'Avoid-Improve-Shift' framework and examples	
	of solutions	134
6.2	Description of parameters used in 'BAU' and 'AMB' scenarios	136
6.3	Top-down annual budgets values in $MtCO_2$ eq derived from Pellan et al. (2023b)	136
7.1	RE2020's groups and macro groups	156
7.2	IAM scenarios used in the study	159
7.3	Timing of emissions in WLC emissions calculation	162
7.4	Target values per dwelling type and life-cycle stages in $kgCO_2eq/m^2$ derived from	
	Pellan et al. (2024)	163

7.5	Association of the key elements for the three building types based on their main struc-	
	tural material	166
8.1	Summary of identified limits in the thesis and avenues for future research in the dif-	
	ferent Chapters	180
9.1	Emission factors of electricity by usage in 2019 in kgCO <sub>2</sub> eq/kWh in the Base Carbone	
	(ADEME, 2020)	203
9.2	Concordances between the 19 sectors aggregation and the IEA scenario pathways $\ . \ .$	203
9.3	EPC regulation	205
9.4	Limit values in the RE2020 in $kgCO_2eq/m^2/year$	207
9.5	Median values per dwelling type and life-cycle stages in $kgCO_2eq/m^2/year$	208
9.6	Embodied GHGE per m <sup>2</sup> per EPC label jump $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	209

Appendices

## 9.4 Appendix A: Supplementary information to Chapter 5

## 9.4.1 Supporting data

The supporting data for this Chapter can be found at: https://github.com/marpellan/French\_WLC\_budgets.

## 9.4.2 SECTEN format

The *residential and tertiary* sector in the Secten format includes emissions from residential and non-residential buildings use phase including:

- Heating, domestic hot water and cooking
- Air conditioning
- Refrigeration
- Use of products (e.g. paints, aerosols)
- Domestic machinery (e.g. gardening)
- Burning and sewage
- Other domestic activities

For non residential buildings, subsections include:

- Heating, domestic hot water and cooking
- Air conditioning
- Refrigeration
- Use of products (e.g. paints, aerosols)
- Other tertiary activities

They do not take into account emissions associated with the use of electricity and heat from district networks, which are included in the *energy* sector.

## 9.4.3 Emission factor of electricity

In France, the Base Carbone provides emission factors by usage for electricity consumption in residential and non-residential buildings. Table 9.1 summarises them, both D-EF and LC-EF for the year 2019.

## 9.4.4 Concordance matrices

Due to the large number of sectors and regions in Exiobase, the concordances matrices used to aggregate them are available as Excel files in the Github repository. Additionally, in Table 9.2 the concordances between the 19 sectors aggregation and the IEA scenario pathways is given.

. , ,		
Usage	D-EF (kgCO <sub>2</sub> eq/kWh)	LC-EF (kgCO <sub>2</sub> eq/kWh)
Average	0.0418	0.0607
Heating	0.0524	0.0717
Hot water	0.0414	0.0595
Lighting	0.0447	0.0631
Air conditioning	0.0407	0.041
Other usages	0.0414	0.0587

 Table 9.1: Emission factors of electricity by usage in 2019 in kgCO2eq/kWh in the Base Carbone (ADEME, 2020)

Table 9.2: Concordances between the 19 sectors aggregation and the IEA scenario pathways

IEA Pathways	Sectors
Oil	Petroleum products
Natural gas	Gas
Final consumption	Agriculture, hunting, forestry & fishing; Electrical
	& machinery
Industry	Construction;
	Manufacturing & recycling;
	Metal & metal products;
	Mining & quarrying;
	Other non-metallic products;
	Others
Iron & Steel	Iron & Steel
Cement	Cement
Transport (road)	Transport
Services Public administration; Financial intermed	
	business activity

#### 9.4.5 Cement and concrete value chain decarbonisation lever

Although this study does not aim to develop a detailed mitigation roadmap, it offers an overview of mitigation opportunities within the cement and concrete value chains sector due to the significant role of the '*Cement, lime and plaster*' in embodied GHGE as illustrated in Section 5.5.1. The global cement sector, responsible for 7% of  $CO_2$  emissions, faces challenges in decarbonisation, with two-thirds of its GHGE stemming from the inherent process of limestone calcination (IEA, 2021). Previous research has often focused narrowly on production stages, resource use, or cement's end-of-life, predominantly examining fuel switching and production efficiency (Miller et al., 2021). Notably, upstream energy and emission efficiencies have been more thoroughly quantified than downstream and material efficiency strategies (Pamenter and Myers, 2021). Yet, the value chain reduction's importance is increasingly recognised, with strategies ranging from clinker, cement, and concrete levels to structural applications (Favier et al., 2018). At the clinker production stage, shifts towards energy efficiency and alternative fuels, including biomass and waste, are crucial for  $CO_2$  reduction. Cement production's move towards supplementary cementitious materials (SCMs) like fly ash, slag, and calcined clays reduces emissions and promotes a circular economy by utilising waste materi-

als. The concrete production phase highlights the need for optimised mix designs that incorporate SCMs, enhancing strength and durability while minimising cement content. These approaches are integral to structural design and building activities, advocating for durability, material efficiency, and recycling principles. This strategy aligns with the reduction ethos promoted by (Habert et al., 2020a): less clinker in cement, less cement in concrete, less concrete in structure and fewer structure replacements.

In the French context, the Sectoral Transition Plan for the cement industry (ADEME, 2021c) outlines a detailed decarbonisation roadmap, identifying five emission reduction levers: plant upgrades, fuel mix changes, clinker content reduction in cement, incremental changes, and carbon capture and storage (CCS). It presents a reference scenario predicting a 54% CO<sub>2</sub> emission reduction by 2050 (compared to 2015 levels) alongside a 13% demand decrease, and two decarbonisation scenarios focusing respectively on demand-side shifts and technology advancements, projecting up to an 83%  $CO_2$  reduction.

## 9.5 Appendix B: Supplementary information to Chapter 6

#### 9.5.1 Supporting data

The supporting data for this Chapter can be found at: https://github.com/marpellan/Scenario\_explorer.

## 9.5.2 Stock in 2020 from the BDNB

#### **General figures**



In Figure 9.1, the repartition of EPC label is given in number of dwellings (left side 9.1a) and by surface in  $m^2$  (right side 9.1b).

Figure 9.1: Number of dwellings and surface (in m<sup>2</sup>) per dwelling type and EPC double label

A substantial portion of the dwelling stock falls under the C, D, and E labels. The D label is notably prevalent, encompassing 41% of dwellings and 44% of the total surface area. Meanwhile, F and G labels collectively account for approximately 5.5 million dwellings, which represents about 16% of the entire dwelling stock. In contrast, A and B labels are extremely scarce.

It is also insightful to examine the energy mix within each category of dwelling type and EPC label. An analysis conducted by dwelling type and EPC labels reveal that electricity and natural gas are the most dominant energy vectors in the dwelling stock. Electricity prevails in dwellings with the highest energy performance certificates (EPCs), such as A and B labels. Besides, district heating also has a significant role in collective dwellings. Natural gas, on the other hand, is predominantly used in dwellings with C to F labels and is the major contributor of operational emissions (Pellan et al., 2023b). The usage of oil products is mainly found in dwellings with the poorest EPCs, particularly in individual dwellings.

#### **EPC energy vs GHGE**

Under the new EPC labeling method, dwellings are now categorised based on the inferior of two labels: either for energy consumption or GHGE (MTES, 2021). Table 9.3 details the values for both labels given by by the legislation.

Table 9.3: EPC regulation				
Rating EPC Energy (kWh/m <sup>2</sup> )		EPC GHGE (kgCO <sub>2</sub> eq/m <sup>2</sup> )		
А	0-70	0-6		
В	70-110	6-11		
С	110-180	11-30		
D	180-250	30-50		
E	250-330	50-70		
F	330-420	70-100		
G	>420	>100		

Using data from the BDNB, it's possible to assess the distribution of dwellings for both EPC energy and EPC GHGE. Figure 9.2 presents this information, with EPC energy data on the left (9.2a) and EPC GHGE on the right (9.2a).



**Figure 9.2:** Dwelling type per EPC label in number of dwellings and m2

The distribution varies significantly between the two labeling systems. Specifically, EPC energy labels indicate poorer performance compared to EPC GHGE. While D and E labels predominate in the EPC

energy category, C and D labels are most common in the EPC GHGE classification. Furthermore, there is a contrasting pattern regarding the best (A and B) and worst (F and G) labels. The number of dwellings in A and B categories for EPC energy closely mirrors those in F and G for EPC GHGE, and vice versa.

To better understand, Figure 9.3 features a Sankey diagram illustrating the transition of dwellings from their EPC energy label to their EPC GHGE label.



#### Number of dwellings from EPC energy (left) to EPC GHGE (right)

Figure 9.3: Number of dwellings with EPC energy and GHGE

This diagram highlights the considerable disparity between the two systems. Indeed, a significant portion of dwellings deemed relatively energy-inefficient (e.g. D and E labels, and even F and G) are categorized under the C label in terms of GHGE.

#### Surface per EPC label

It has been observed that dwellings with poorer performance ratings typically have smaller surface areas compared to those with better ratings. Figure 9.4 illustrates the average size of dwellings by their double-labelled EPC label and dwelling type.

The data clearly shows that dwellings with higher efficiency tend to have larger surface areas. Consequently, demolishing an equal number of dwellings across different EPC labels does not result in a uniform reduction in surface area. In this study, the emphasis is on demolishing highly inefficient dwellings, predominantly those with a G label and, to a lesser extent, F labels in the High-Demolition Scenario (HDS). Therefore, the total surface area impacted by these demolitions is not as extensive



Figure 9.4: Average surface per EPC label and dwelling type in m<sup>2</sup>

as it would be if calculated by simply multiplying the average surface area per dwelling type by the number of dwellings.

#### 9.5.3 Limit values in France

The recently introduced environmental regulation RE2020 establishes limit values for both embodied and operational Greenhouse Gas Emissions (GHGE) in new buildings. These threshold values are designed to progressively decrease over time, with specific targets set until 2031. Table 9.4 outlines these limit values, expressed in kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/m<sup>2</sup>/year.

Table 9.4: Limit values in the RE2020 in  $kgCO_2eq/m^2/year$ 

	2022-2024	2024-2027	2028-2030	2031-
Embodied GHGE - Individual	640	530	475	415
Embodied GHGE - Collective	740	650	580	490
<b>Operational GHGE - Individual</b>	4	4	4	4
<b>Operational GHGE - Collective</b>	14	6.5	6.5	6.5

The diminishing values for embodied GHGE provide a baseline scenario for the evolution of limit values by 2031.

#### 9.5.4 Statistical analysis of the RE2020 database

The RE2020 regulation also mandates the creation of LCA for buildings. As a result, an increasing amount of data is becoming available to assess the environmental performance of buildings, including their components and systems. In this study, building LCA from August 2023 to November 2023 are selected, for individual and collective dwellings. The analysis considers only the values for 'Building Components and Equipment' and 'Construction Site', while data pertaining to energy consumption and water usage are not included. The selected ranges for the different life-cycle stages are as follows:

- A1-A3: 0 1000 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/m<sup>2</sup>
- A4-A5: 0 200 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/m<sup>2</sup>
- B: 0 600 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/m<sup>2</sup>
- C: 0 100 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/m<sup>2</sup>

Table 9.5 provides the median values from the statistical analysis that are used as baseline in the study.

Dwelling Type	Life-cycle Stage	$kgCO_2eq/m^2$
Collective	A1-A3	413
Collective	A4-A5	97
Collective	В	260
Collective	С	49
Individual	A1-A3	330
Individual	A4-A5	67
Individual	В	223
Individual	С	60

Table 9.5: Median values per dwelling type and life-cycle stages in  $kgCO_2eq/m^2/year$ 

#### 9.5.5 Embodied GHGE of renovation

The RE2020 decomposes building components and equipments in 13 groups:

- Group 1: Roadwork and diverse
- Group 2: Foundations and infrastructure
- Group G3: Structure and masonry
- Group 4: Roof and cover
- Group 5: Interior partitions, suspended ceilings, components and joineries
- Group 6: Exterior surfaces (facades), components (doors and windows) and joineries
- Group 7: Interior coatings (floors, walls and ceilings)
- Group 8: HVAC equipment
- Group 9: Sanitary installations
- Group 10: Electrical equipment
- Group 11: Special electrical equipment (systems, controls and communication)
- Group 12: Interior transport equipment (elevators etc.)

• Group 13: Local electricity production equipment

More information is available from INIES, the French database for building components LCA:https: //www.inies.fr/inies-pour-le-batiment/lacv-batiment/

In the study, the values for embodied emissions are derived from the median values per group obtained from the database. Depending on the performance level of the renovation, which is determined based on the number of EPC label jumps, a specific set of groups are affected. This approach is similar to the methodology used in the French *Quartier Energie Carbone* study (CSTB et al., 2022). Table 9.6 provides the median values used per EPC label jump, as well as the groups considered.

EPC Label Jump	Renovation Category	Groups	Individual Values	Collective Values
1	Small	8	105	105
2	Medium	5, 8	170	147
3	Medium	Method from CSTB et al. (2022)	210	195
4	Deep	Method from CSTB et al. (2022)	330	330
5	Deep	All, except 123	450	470
6	Deep	All, except 123	450	470

**Table 9.6:** Embodied GHGE per  $m^2$  per EPC label jump

#### 9.5.6 Renovation scenarios

This study uses renovation scenarios as outlined by the developers of the BDNB. Given the extensive volume of data, encompassing around 35 million dwellings in the database, it is impractical for the author to implement alternative strategies.

The renovation assumptions made in this study focus on both the building envelope and the systems for heating and hot water. For the building envelope, the assumed heat transfer coefficient values are:

- Walls: 0.23 W/(m<sup>2</sup>·K)
- Roofs: 0.14 W/(m<sup>2</sup>·K)
- Floors: 0.23 W/(m<sup>2</sup>·K)
- Bays (e.g., windows, doors): 1.6 W/(m<sup>2</sup>·K)

For heating and hot water systems, a set of predefined rules (dictionaries) was implemented to replace existing systems based on their known characteristics and performance.

#### 9.5.7 Stock-level activities



(b) Stock dynamics in the 'AMB' scenario

Figure 9.5: Stock-level activities and population growth in the 'BAU' and 'AMB' scenarios

## 9.6 Appendix C: Supplementary information to Chapter 7

#### 9.6.1 Supporting data

The supporting data for this Chapter can be found at: https://github.com/marpellan/Prospective\_RE2020.

#### 9.6.2 RE2020

Following a five-year trial of the voluntary E+/C- label, the RE2020 regulation was officially enacted in January 2022 (CEREMA, 2024). It mandates the completion of a building LCA in accordance with the EN15978 standard, encompassing the production stage (A1-A3), construction stage (A4-A5), in-use stage (B1-B7), end-of-life stage (C1-C4) and the beyond building life cycle stage (D). Carbon calculations are conducted across four areas: building components and equipment, construction site activities, energy consumption, and water usage. The regulation details 13 categories of building components and equipment outlined in Table 7.1.

For each category, Environmental Product Declarations (EPDs) from the INIES database <sup>1</sup> are employed to model the life-cycle impacts of products, including their lifespan. The INIES database serves

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://www.inies.fr/

as the primary source of EPD data for construction materials in France, featuring both collective EPDs (representing multiple manufacturers) and individual EPDs (specific to a single manufacturer). In instances where an EPD is not available, modelers may resort to 'default data' which incurs a 30% penalty that serves as a security coefficient.

Lastly, the RE2020 introduces a semi-dynamic method for calculating GHGE, introducing a simplified approach by applying a time-dependent correction factor to the static GWP100 indicator based on the timing of emissions. This correction factor decreases over time but varies between  $CO_2$ , with a value of 0.58 at year 50, and fluorinated gases (F-Gases), which have a correction factor of 0.88 at the same time point (CEREMA, 2024).

The RE2020 introduces is a simplified version approach of the dynamic LCA method (Levasseur et al., 2010) with a fixed observation period (in years). The simplification consists in applying a correction factor that depends on the timing of emissions to the static GWP that takes a time horizon of 100 years.

$$GWP_{dynRE2020}(t) = F_{RE2020}(t) * GWP_{stat}$$
 (9.1)

Where  $F_{RE2020}(t)$  is the time-dependant correction factor. Weighting coefficient based on the year of emissions, different for CO<sub>2</sub> (0.58 at year=50) and FF (0.88 at year=50)

The  $GWP_{dynRE2020}(t)$  is only applied during the use phase of buildings, e.g. from year=1 to year=50.

In practice, changes most of all the results for emissions that happen at end of life (e.g. wood).

#### 9.6.3 Energy carriers, heating and hot water systems

The following Sankey diagrams reveal distinct preferences for energy carriers and systems for both heating and hot water systems, differentiated between individual and collective housing.



(a) Individual housing





Figure 9.6: Energy carrier and generator type used for heating and hot water

## References

 Acquaye, A. A. and Duffy, A. P.: Input-output analysis of Irish construction sector greenhouse gas emissions, Building and Environment, 45, 784–791, doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2009.08.022, URL http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2009.08.022, publisher: Elsevier Ltd, 2010.

ADEME: DOCUMENTATION BASE CARBONE® - FE PAR USAGE DE L'ELECTRICITE, Tech. rep., 2020.

ADEME: Transition(s) 2050, Tech. rep., 2021a.

ADEME: Les avis de l'ADEME : la neutralité carbone, Tech. rep., 2021b.

ADEME: Plan de transition sectoriel de l'industrie cimentière en France : rapport final, Tech. rep., 2021c.

- ADEME:Transition(s)2050:FeuilletonConstructionneuve,Tech.rep.,URLhttps://librairie.ademe.fr/energies-renouvelables-reseaux-et-stockage/5445-prospective-transitions-2050-feuilleton-filieres-construction-neuve.html, 2022.
- ADEME: Transition(s) 2050 : Les matériaux pour la transition énergétique, un sujet critique, Tech. rep., URL https://librairie.ademe.fr/ged/6842/feuilleton\_materiaux\_de\_la\_te\_transitions2050\_ademe.pdf, 2024a.
- ADEME: Transition(s) 2050: Résumé exécutif 2024, Tech. rep., URL https://librairie.ademe.fr/ recherche-et-innovation/5070-prospective-transitions-2050-resume-executif-edition-2024.html, 2024b.
- ADEME and CSTB: Imaginons ensemble les bâtiments de demain, Tech. rep., 2022.
- ADEME, négaWatt, The Shift Project, and Pouget Consultants: Construction neuve et rénovation : les points communs des scénarios ADEME , négaWatt , The Shift Project et Pouget Consultants / Carbone 4, Tech. rep., 2022.
- AFNOR: Norme NF EN 15978, URL https://www.boutique.afnor.org/fr-fr/norme/nf-en-15978/ contribution-des-ouvrages-de-construction-au-developpement-durable-evaluati/fa160273/39288, 2012.
- Agez, M., Majeau-Bettez, G., Margni, M., Strømman, A. H., and Samson, R.: Lifting the veil on the correction of double counting incidents in hybrid life cycle assessment, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 24, 517–533, doi: 10.1111/jiec.12945, 2020.
- Agez, M., Muller, E., Patouillard, L., Södersten, C. J. H., Arvesen, A., Margni, M., Samson, R., and Majeau-Bettez, G.: Correcting remaining truncations in hybrid life cycle assessment database compilation, Journal of Industrial Ecology, pp. 1–13, doi: 10.1111/jiec.13132, 2021.
- Aguiar, A., Chepeliev, M., Corong, E. L., McDougall, R., and van der Mensbrugghe, D.: The GTAP Data Base: Version 10, Journal of Global Economic Analysis, 4, 1–27, doi: 10.21642/jgea.040101af, 2019.
- Alaux, N., Ruschi, M., Saade, M., Hoxha, E., Truger, B., and Passer, A.: Future trends in materials manufacturing for low carbon building stocks : A prospective macro-scale analysis at the provincial level, Journal of Cleaner Production, 382, 135 278, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.135278, URL https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.135278, publisher: Elsevier Ltd, 2023.
- Allacker, K., Castellani, V., Baldinelli, G., Bianchi, F., Baldassarri, C., and Sala, S.: Energy simulation and LCA for macro-scale analysis of eco-innovations in the housing stock, The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 24, 989–1008, doi: 10.1007/s11367-018-1548-3, URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-018-1548-3, 2019.
- Almeida, D.: Développement méthodologique de l'Analyse du Cycle de Vie conséquentielle appliquée au secteur de la construction civile, Ph.D. thesis, 2022.
- Andersen, C. E., Ohms, P., Rasmussen, F. N., Birgisdóttir, H., Birkved, M., Hauschild, M., and Ryberg, M.: Assessment of absolute environmental sustainability in the built environment, Building and Environment, 171, doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2019.106633, 2020.

- Andrieu, B., Le-Boulzec, H., Delannoy, L., Verzier, F., Winter, G., and Vidal, O.: Mapping global greenhouse gases emissions : an interactive , open access web application, doi: https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3. rs-2617637/v1License:, 2023.
- Ang, B. W.: The LMDI approach to decomposition analysis: A practical guide, Energy Policy, 33, 867–871, doi: 10.1016/j.enpol.2003.10.010, 2005.
- Arehart, J. H., Hart, J., Pomponi, F., and Amico, B. D.: Carbon sequestration and storage in the built environment, Sustainable Production and Consumption, 27, 1047–1063, doi: 10.1016/j.spc.2021.02.028, publisher: Elsevier B.V., 2021.
- Arehart, J. H., Pomponi, F., D'Amico, B., and Srubar, W. V: Structural material demand and associated embodied carbon emissions of the United States building stock: 2020–2100, Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 186, doi: 10.1016/j.resconrec.2022.106583, 2022.
- Arvidsson, R., Tillman, A. M., Sandén, B. A., Janssen, M., Nordelöf, A., Kushnir, D., and Molander, S.: Environmental Assessment of Emerging Technologies: Recommendations for Prospective LCA, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 22, 1286–1294, doi: 10.1111/jiec.12690, 2018.
- Arvidsson, R., Svanström, M., Sandén, B. A., Thonemann, N., Steubing, B., and Cucurachi, S.: Terminology for future-oriented life cycle assessment: review and recommendations, The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, doi: 10.1007/s11367-023-02265-8, URL https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11367-023-02265-8, 2023.
- Athanassiadis, A., Christis, M., Bouillard, P., Vercalsteren, A., Crawford, R. H., and Khan, A. Z.: Comparing a territorial-based and a consumption-based approach to assess the local and global environmental performance of cities, Journal of Cleaner Production, 173, 112–123, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.10. 068, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.10.068, publisher: Elsevier Ltd, 2018.
- Augiseau, V. and Barles, S.: Studying construction materials flows and stock: A review, Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 123, 153–164, doi: 10.1016/j.resconrec.2016.09.002, URL http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.resconrec.2016.09.002, publisher: Elsevier B.V., 2017.
- Augiseau, V. and Kim, E.: Spatial characterization of construction material stocks: The case of the Paris region, Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 170, 105 512, doi: 10.1016/j.resconrec.2021.105512, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2021.105512, publisher: Elsevier B.V., 2021.
- Bai, X., Hasan, S., Andersen, L. S., Bjørn, A., Kilkiş, , Ospina, D., Liu, J., Cornell, S. E., Sabag Muñoz, O., de Bremond, A., Crona, B., DeClerck, F., Gupta, J., Hoff, H., Nakicenovic, N., Obura, D., Whiteman, G., Broadgate, W., Lade, S. J., Rocha, J., Rockström, J., Stewart-Koster, B., van Vuuren, D., and Zimm, C.: Translating Earth system boundaries for cities and businesses, Nature Sustainability, doi: 10.1038/s41893-023-01255-w, URL https://www.nature.com/articles/s41893-023-01255-w, 2024.
- Baude, M.: Méthodologie de calcul de l'empreinte carbone de la France, Tech. rep., 2020.
- Baumstark, L., Bauer, N., Benke, F., Bertram, C., Bi, S., Gong, C. C., Dietrich, J. P., Dirnaichner, A., Giannousakis, A., Hilaire, J., Klein, D., Koch, J., Leimbach, M., Levesque, A., Madeddu, S., Malik, A., Merfort, A., Merfort, L., Odenweller, A., Pehl, M., Pietzcker, R. C., Piontek, F., Rauner, S., Rodrigues, R., Rottoli, M., Schreyer, F., Schultes, A., Soergel, B., Soergel, D., Strefler, J., Ueckerdt, F., Kriegler, E., and Luderer, G.: REMIND2.1: transformation and innovation dynamics of the energy-economic system within climate and sustainability limits, Geoscientific Model Development, 14, 6571–6603, doi: 10.5194/gmd-14-6571-2021, URL https://gmd.copernicus.org/articles/14/6571/2021/, 2021.
- Baynes, T. M. and Wiedmann, T.: General approaches for assessing urban environmental sustainability, Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability, 4, 458–464, doi: 10.1016/j.cosust.2012.09.003, URL http: //dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2012.09.003, publisher: Elsevier B.V., 2012.
- Bell, W.: Foundations of Futures Studies: Volume 2: Values, Objectivity, and the Good Society, Routledge, google-Books-ID: QiIxDwAAQBAJ, 2017.

- Beloin-Saint-Pierre, D., Albers, A., Hélias, A., Tiruta-Barna, L., Fantke, P., Levasseur, A., Benetto, E., Benoist, A., and Collet, P: Addressing temporal considerations in life cycle assessment, Science of the Total Environment, 743, doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140700, 2020.
- Bendahmane, N.: Développement d'indicateurs d'approvisionnement en matériaux minéraux et métalliques issus de l'économie circulaire dans une approche d'évaluation absolue de la soutenabilité dans le secteur du bâtiment, Ph.D. thesis, 2024.
- Berger, G.: L'Attitude Prospective, Management International, 4, 43–46, URL https://www.jstor.org/stable/ 40225698, publisher: Springer, 1964.
- Bergerson, J. A., Brandt, A., Cresko, J., Carbajales-Dale, M., MacLean, H. L., Matthews, H. S., McCoy, S., McManus, M., Miller, S. A., Morrow, W. R., Posen, I. D., Seager, T., Skone, T., and Sleep, S.: Life cycle assessment of emerging technologies: Evaluation techniques at different stages of market and technical maturity, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 24, 11–25, doi: 10.1111/jiec.12954, URL https://onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/10.1111/jiec.12954, 2020.
- Berrill, P., Wilson, E. J., Reyna, J., Fontanini, A. D., and Hertwich, E.: Decarbonization pathways for the residential sector in the United States, Nature Climate Change, 12, 1–20, doi: 10. 1038/s41558-022-01429-y, URL https://www.researchsquare.com/article/rs-1199406/v1, publisher: Springer US ISBN: 4155802201, 2022.
- Biermann, F. and Kim, R. E.: The Boundaries of the Planetary Boundary Framework: A Critical Appraisal of Approaches to Define a "Safe Operating Space" for Humanity, Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 45, 497–521, doi: 10.1146/annurev-environ-012320-080337, URL https://www.annualreviews.org/doi/10.1146/annurev-environ-012320-080337, 2020.
- Birgisdottir, H., Kristensen Stranddorf, L., Hollberg, A., Soust-Verdaguer, B., Ramseier, L., Frischknecht, R., Passer, A., Silvestre, J., Potrc Obrecht, T., Nygaard Rasmussen, F., Chandrakumar, C., Horn, R., Ebertshäuser, S., Santos, R., Röck, M., Peuportier, B., and Kiss, B.: Assessing life cycle related environmental impacts caused by buildings; Case Study Collection, Tech. rep., Zenodo, doi: 10.5281/ZENODO.7468792, URL https://zenodo.org/record/7468792, 2023.
- Bishop, P., Hines, A., and Collins, T.: The current state of scenario development: An overview of techniques, Foresight, 9, 5–25, doi: 10.1108/14636680710727516, 2007.
- Bisinella, V., Christensen, T. H., and Astrup, T. F.: Future scenarios and life cycle assessment: systematic review and recommendations, International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 26, 2143–2170, doi: 10.1007/ s11367-021-01954-6, URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-021-01954-6, publisher: Springer Berlin Heidelberg ISBN: 0123456789, 2021.
- Bjørn, A., Diamond, M., Owsianiak, M., Verzat, B., and Hauschild, M. Z.: Strengthening the link between life cycle assessment and indicators for absolute sustainability to support development within planetary boundaries, Environmental Science and Technology, 49, 6370–6371, doi: 10.1021/acs.est.5b02106, 2015.
- Bjørn, A., Tilsted, J. P., Addas, A., and Lloyd, S. M.: Can Science-Based Targets Make the Private Sector Paris-Aligned? A Review of the Emerging Evidence, Current Climate Change Reports, 8, 53–69, doi: 10. 1007/s40641-022-00182-w, URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s40641-022-00182-w, publisher: Springer International Publishing ISBN: 0123456789, 2022.
- Borges, P., Travesset-Baro, O., and Pages-Ramon, A.: Hybrid approach to representative building archetypes development for urban models – A case study in Andorra, Building and Environment, 215, 108 958, doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2022.108958, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2022.108958, 2022.
- Bruhn, S., Sacchi, R., Cimpan, C., and Birkved, M.: Ten questions concerning prospective LCA for decision support for the built environment, Building and Environment, 242, 110535, doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv. 2023.110535, URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360132323005620, 2023.
- Brunner, P. H. and Rechberger, H.: Handbook of Material Flow Analysis : Second Edition, 2004.

- Buildings Performance Institute Europe: WHOLE-LIFE CARBON : CHALLENGES AND SOLUTIONS FOR HIGHLY EFFICIENT AND CLIMATE-NEUTRAL BUILDINGS, 2021.
- Börjeson, L., Höjer, M., Dreborg, K. H., Ekvall, T., and Finnveden, G.: Scenario types and techniques: Towards a user's guide, Futures, 38, 723–739, doi: 10.1016/j.futures.2005.12.002, 2006.

C40: C40 Annual report 2022, Tech. rep., 2022a.

- C40: NDC Ambition handbook: Learning from city success to raise national ambition, Tech. rep., 2022b.
- C40, ARUP, and University of Leeds: Building and infrastructure consumption emissions, Tech. rep., 2019.
- Cabernard, L., Pfister, S., and Hellweg, S.: A new method for analyzing sustainability performance of global supply chains and its application to material resources, Science of the Total Environment, 684, 164–177, doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.04.434, 2019.
- Cabeza, L. F., Bai, Q., Bertoldi, P., Kihila, J. M., Lucena, A. F. P., Mata, , Mirasgedis, S., Novikova, A., and Saheb,
  Y.: Buildings, in: Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group
  III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, edited by Shukla,
  P. R., Skea, J., Slade, R., Al Khourdajie, A., van Diemen, R., McCollum, D., Pathak, M., Some, S., Vyas,
  P., Fradera, R., Belkacemi, M., Hasija, A., Lisboa, G., Luz, S., and Malley, J., pp. 953–1048, Cambridge
  University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, doi: 10.1017/9781009157926.011, 2022.
- Canadell, J. G., Scheel Monteiro, P., Costa, M. H., Cotrim da Cunha, L., Cox, P. M., Eliseev, A. V., Henson, S., Ishii, M., Jaccard, S., Koven, C., Lohila, A., Patra, P. K., Piao, S., Rogelj, J., Syampungani, S., Zaehle, S., and Zickfeld, K.: Global carbon and other biogeochemical cycles and feedbacks, in: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, edited by Masson-Delmotte, V., Zhai, P., Pirani, A., Connors, S. L., Péan, C., Berger, S., Caud, N., Chen, Y., Goldfarb, L., Gomis, M. I., Huang, M., Leitzell, K., Lonnoy, E., Matthews, J. B. R., Maycock, T. K., Waterfield, T., Yelekçi, , Yu, R., and Zhou, B., pp. 673–816, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, doi: 10.1017/9781009157896.001, 2021.
- Carbone 4 and Net Zero Initiative: Net Zero Initiative 2020-2021: Final report, Tech. rep., 2021.
- Carbone 4 and Net Zero Initiative: Proposition d'un nouvel indicateur climat: Compatibilité des solutions avec l'Accord de Paris, Tech. rep., 2022.
- Carbone 4, OFCE, and NEO: Le rôle des infrastructures dans la transition bas-carbone et l'adaptation au changement climatique, Tech. rep., 2021.
- Carcassi, O. B., Habert, G., Malighetti, L. E., and Pittau, F.: Material diets for Climate-Neutral Buildings, Environmental Science and Technology, pp. 1–19, doi: 10.1021/acs.est.1c05895, 2022.
- CEREMA: Guide RE2020: Eco-construire pour le confort de tous, Tech. rep., URL https://rt-re-batiment. developpement-durable.gouv.fr/IMG/pdf/guide re2020 version janvier 2024.pdf, 2024.
- Chae, C., Kim, S., and Frischknecht, R.: World Building Life-Cycle Based Databases and Repositories for the Building and Construction Sector, Tech. rep., Zenodo, doi: 10.5281/ZENODO.7468725, URL https: //zenodo.org/record/7468725, 2023.
- Chakravarty, S., Chikkatur, A., De Coninck, H., Pacala, S., Socolow, R., and Tavoni, M.: Sharing global CO2 emission reductions among one billion high emitters, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 106, 11 884–11 888, doi: 10.1073/pnas.0905232106, 2009.
- Chandrakumar, C., Malik, A., McLaren, S. J., Owsianiak, M., Ramilan, T., Jayamaha, N. P., and Lenzen, M.: Setting Better-Informed Climate Targets for New Zealand: The Influence of Value and Modeling Choices, Environmental Science and Technology, 54, 4515–4527, doi: 10.1021/acs.est.9b06991, 2020a.
- Chandrakumar, C., McLaren, S. J., Dowdell, D., and Jaques, R.: A science-based approach to setting climate targets for buildings: The case of a New Zealand detached house, Building and Environment, 169, 106560, doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2019.106560, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2019.106560, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2019.106560, 2020b.

- Chen, D., Rojas, M., Samset, B. H., Cobb, K., Diongue-Niang, A., Edwards, P., Emori, S., Faria, S. H., Hawkins, E., Hope, P., Huybrechts, P., Meinshausen, M., Mustafa, S. K., Plattner, G.-K., and Tréguier, A. M.: Framing, context, and methods, in: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, edited by Masson-Delmotte, V., Zhai, P., Pirani, A., Connors, S. L., Péan, C., Berger, S., Caud, N., Chen, Y., Goldfarb, L., Gomis, M. I., Huang, M., Leitzell, K., Lonnoy, E., Matthews, J. B. R., Maycock, T. K., Waterfield, T., Yelekçi, , Yu, R., and Zhou, B., pp. 147–286, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, doi: 10.1017/9781009157896.001, 2021.
- Churkina, G., Organschi, A., Reyer, C. P., Ruff, A., Vinke, K., Liu, Z., Reck, B. K., Graedel, T. E., and Schellnhuber, H. J.: Buildings as a global carbon sink, Nature Sustainability, 3, 269–276, doi: 10. 1038/s41893-019-0462-4, URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41893-019-0462-4, publisher: Springer US, 2020.
- CITEPA: Rapport OMINEA 2022, Tech. rep., 2022a.
- CITEPA: Rapport SECTEN 2022 : Gaz à effet de serre et polluants atmosphériques Bilan des émissions en France de 1990 à 2021, 2022b.
- CITEPA: Rapport SECTEN 2023, Tech. rep., URL https://www.citepa.org/wp-content/uploads/publications/ secten/2023/Citepa\_Secten\_ed2023\_v1.pdf, 2023.
- Climate Watch: Which data sources does Climate Watch use? What are the differences between these data sources?, URL https://www.climatewatchdata.org/about/faq/ghg, 2024.
- Conseil d'analyse économique: Performance énergétique du logement et consommation d'énergie : les enseignements des données bancaires, Tech. rep., URL https://www.cae-eco.fr/staticfiles/pdf/ focus-103-dpe-230110.pdf, 2024.
- Cox, B., Mutel, C. L., Bauer, C., Mendoza Beltran, A., and van Vuuren, D. P.: Uncertain Environmental Footprint of Current and Future Battery Electric Vehicles, Environmental Science & Technology, 52, 4989–4995, doi: 10.1021/acs.est.8b00261, URL https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b00261, publisher: American Chemical Society, 2018.
- Crawford, R. H.: Greenhouse Gas Emissions of Global Construction Industries Greenhouse Gas Emissions of Global Construction Industries, IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering, doi: 10.1088/1757-899X/1218/1/012047, 2022.
- Crawford, R. H., Bontinck, P. A., Stephan, A., Wiedmann, T., and Yu, M.: Hybrid life cycle inventory methods A review, Journal of Cleaner Production, 172, 1273–1288, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.10.176, 2018.
- Crawford, R. H., Stephan, A., and Prideaux, F.: The EPiC database: Hybrid embodied environmental flow coefficients for construction materials, Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 180, doi: 10.1016/j. resconrec.2021.106058, 2022.
- Creutzig, F, Roy, J., Lamb, W. F., Azevedo, I. M., Bruine De Bruin, W., Dalkmann, H., Edelenbosch, O. Y., Geels, F. W., Grubler, A., Hepburn, C., Hertwich, E. G., Khosla, R., Mattauch, L., Minx, J. C., Ramakrishnan, A., Rao, N. D., Steinberger, J. K., Tavoni, M., Ürge Vorsatz, D., and Weber, E. U.: Towards demand-side solutions for mitigating climate change, Nature Climate Change, 8, 268–271, doi: 10.1038/s41558-018-0121-1, 2018.
- Creutzig, F., Niamir, L., Bai, X., Callaghan, M., Cullen, J., Díaz-José, J., Figueroa, M., Grubler, A., Lamb, W. F., Leip, A., Masanet, E., Mata, Mattauch, L., Minx, J. C., Mirasgedis, S., Mulugetta, Y., Nugroho, S. B., Pathak, M., Perkins, P., Roy, J., de la Rue du Can, S., Saheb, Y., Some, S., Steg, L., Steinberger, J., and Ürge Vorsatz, D.: Demand-side solutions to climate change mitigation consistent with high levels of well-being, Nature Climate Change, 12, doi: 10.1038/s41558-021-01219-y, publisher: Springer US, 2021.
- Creutzig, F., Roy, J., Devine-Wright, P., Díaz-José, J., Geels, F. W., Grubler, A., Maïzi, N., Masanet, E., Mulugetta, Y., Onyige, C. D., Perkins, P. E., Sanches-Pereira, A., and Weber, E. U.: Demand, services and social aspects of mitigation, in: Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working

Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, edited by Shukla, P. R., Skea, J., Slade, R., Al Khourdajie, A., van Diemen, R., McCollum, D., Pathak, M., Some, S., Vyas, P., Fradera, R., Belkacemi, M., Hasija, A., Lisboa, G., Luz, S., and Malley, J., pp. 503–612, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, doi: 10.1017/9781009157926. 007, 2022.

- Crippa, M., Guizzardi, D., Pagani, F., and Banja, M.: GHG emissions of all world countries, Tech. rep., URL https://doi.org/10.2760/953322, 2023.
- CSTB, Efficacity, and Elioth: Methode quartier énergie carbone, Tech. rep., 2022.
- CSTB, Plan Bâtiment Durable: Proposition de feuille de route de decarbonation du batiment.pdf, Tech. rep., URL https://www.ecologie.gouv.fr/sites/default/files/Proposition%20de%20feuille%20de%20route% 20de%20decarbonation%20du%20batiment.pdf, 2023.
- Cucurachi, S., van der Giesen, C., and Guinée, J.: Ex-ante LCA of Emerging Technologies, Procedia CIRP, 69, 463–468, doi: 10.1016/j.procir.2017.11.005, URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2212827117307722, 2018.
- Davis, S. J., Peters, G. P., and Caldeira, K.: The supply chain of CO2 emissions, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 108, 18554–18559, doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1107409108, 2011.
- Davis, S. J., Lewis, N. S., Shaner, M., Aggarwal, S., Arent, D., Azevedo, I. L., Benson, S. M., Bradley, T., Brouwer, J., Chiang, Y. M., Clack, C. T., Cohen, A., Doig, S., Edmonds, J., Fennell, P., Field, C. B., Hannegan, B., Hodge, B. M., Hoffert, M. I., Ingersoll, E., Jaramillo, P., Lackner, K. S., Mach, K. J., Mastrandrea, M., Ogden, J., Peterson, P. F., Sanchez, D. L., Sperling, D., Stagner, J., Trancik, J. E., Yang, C. J., and Caldeira, K.: Net-zero emissions energy systems, Science, 360, doi: 10.1126/science.aas9793, 2018.
- de Bortoli, A., Bjørn, A., Saunier, F., and Margni, M.: Planning sustainable carbon neutrality pathways: accounting challenges experienced by organizations and solutions from industrial ecology, The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, doi: 10.1007/s11367-023-02147-z, URL https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11367-023-02147-z, publisher: Springer Berlin Heidelberg ISBN: 0123456789, 2023.
- de Koning, A., Eisenmenger, N., and van der Voet, E.: Topical Paper 1 : Resource-efficiency in the built environment - a broad-brushed , top-down assessment of priorities Scenarios and Options towards a Resource, pp. 1–40, 2013.
- De Koning, A., Huppes, G., Deetman, S., and Tukker, A.: Scenarios for a 2 °C world: a trade-linked input–output model with high sector detail, Climate Policy, 16, 301–317, doi: 10.1080/14693062.2014. 999224, 2016.
- de Koning, A., Kleijn, R., Huppes, G., Sprecher, B., van Engelen, G., and Tukker, A.: Metal supply constraints for a low-carbon economy?, Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 129, 202–208, doi: 10.1016/j.resconrec.2017.10.040, URL https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/ S0921344917303762, 2018.
- de Oliveira Fernandes, M. A., Keijzer, E., van Leeuwen, S., Kuindersma, P., Melo, L., Hinkema, M., and Gonçalves Gutierrez, K.: Material-versus energy-related impacts: Analysing environmental tradeoffs in building retrofit scenarios in the Netherlands, Energy and Buildings, 231, 110650, doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2020.110650, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2020.110650, 2021.
- DeCarolis, J. F.: Using modeling to generate alternatives (MGA) to expand our thinking on energy futures, Energy Economics, 33, 145–152, doi: 10.1016/j.eneco.2010.05.002, URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.eneco.2010.05.002, publisher: Elsevier B.V., 2011.
- Deetman, S., Marinova, S., van der Voet, E., van Vuuren, D. P., Edelenbosch, O., and Heijungs, R.: Modelling global material stocks and flows for residential and service sector buildings towards 2050, Journal of Cleaner Production, 245, 118658, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.118658, URL https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jclepro.2019.118658, 2020.

- DGEC: Ambition climatique et rénovation performante pour 2028 et 2050 : Scénarios de chiffrage pour une rénovation du secteur résidentiel compatible avec les objectifs PPE/SNBC pour 2028 et SNBC pour 2050, Tech. rep., 2021.
- Dhakal, S., Minx, J. C., Toth, F. L., Abdel-Aziz, A., Figueroa Meza, M. J., Hubacek, K., Jonckheere, I. G. C., Kim, Y.-G., Nemet, G. F., Pachauri, S., Tan, X. C., and Wiedmann, T.: Emissions Trends and Drivers : Supplementary material, in: Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, edited by Shukla, P. R., Skea, J., Slade, R., Al Khourdajie, A., van Diemen, R., McCollum, D., Pathak, M., Some, S., Vyas, P., Fradera, R., Belkacemi, M., Hasija, A., Lisboa, G., Luz, S., and Malley, J., pp. 215–294, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, doi: 10.1017/9781009157926. 004, 2022.
- Donati, F., Aguilar-Hernandez, G. A., Sigüenza-Sánchez, C. P., de Koning, A., Rodrigues, J. F., and Tukker, A.: Modeling the circular economy in environmentally extended input-output tables: Methods, software and case study, Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 152, doi: 10.1016/j.resconrec.2019.104508, 2020.
- Dubash, N. K., Mitchell, C., Boasson, E. L., Borbor-Córdova, M. J., Fifita, S., Haites, E., Jaccard, M., Jotzo, F., Naidoo, S., Romero-Lankao, P., Shen, W., Shlapak, M., and Wu, L.: National and sub-national policies and institution, in: Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, edited by Shukla, P. R., Skea, J., Slade, R., Al Khourdajie, A., van Diemen, R., McCollum, D., Pathak, M., Some, S., Vyas, P., Fradera, R., Belkacemi, M., Hasija, A., Lisboa, G., Luz, S., and Malley, J., pp. 1355–1450, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, doi: 10.1017/9781009157926. 015, 2022.
- Effinergie: Observatoire BBC, Tech. rep., URL https://www.effinergie.org/web/images/attach/base\_doc/ 3318/20230719\_tableau%20de%20bord.pdf, 2023.
- Ellsworth-Krebs, K.: Implications of declining household sizes and expectations of home comfort for domestic energy demand, Nature Energy, 5, 20–25, doi: 10.1038/s41560-019-0512-1, URL http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1038/s41560-019-0512-1, publisher: Springer US, 2020.
- Elsawah, S., Hamilton, S. H., Jakeman, A. J., Rothman, D., Schweizer, V, Trutnevyte, E., Carlsen, H., Drakes, C., Frame, B., Fu, B., Guivarch, C., Haasnoot, M., Kemp-Benedict, E., Kok, K., Kosow, H., Ryan, M., and van Delden, H.: Scenario processes for socio-environmental systems analysis of futures: A review of recent efforts and a salient research agenda for supporting decision making, Science of The Total Environment, 729, 138393, doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138393, URL https://linkinghub.elsevier. com/retrieve/pii/S0048969720319069, 2020.
- European Commission: Proposal for a DIRECTIVE OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL on substantiation and communication of explicit environmental claims (Green Claims Directive), URL https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52023PC0166, 2023.
- Eurostat: Manual of Supply, Use and Input-Output Tables, publication Title: Eurostat methodologies and working papers, 2008.
- Evans, S. and Hausfather, Z.: Q&A: How 'integrated assessment models' are used to study climate change, URL https://www.carbonbrief.org/ qa-how-integrated-assessment-models-are-used-to-study-climate-change/, 2018.
- Favier, A., De Wolf, C., Scrivener, K., and Habert, G.: A SUSTAINABLE FUTURE FOR THE EURO-PEAN CEMENT AND CONCRETE INDUSTRY, URL https://doi.org/10.3929/ethz-a-010025751, iSBN: 8610828378018, 2018.
- Finnveden, G., Hauschild, M. Z., Ekvall, T., Guinée, J., Heijungs, R., Hellweg, S., Koehler, A., Pennington, D., and Suh, S.: Recent developments in Life Cycle Assessment, Journal of Environmental Management, 91, 1–21, doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2009.06.018, URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2009.06.018, publisher: Elsevier Ltd, 2009.

- Fishman, T., Heeren, N., Pauliuk, S., Berrill, P., Tu, Q., Wolfram, P., and Hertwich, E. G.: A comprehensive set of global scenarios of housing, mobility, and material efficiency for material cycles and energy systems modeling, Journal of Industrial Ecology, pp. 305–320, doi: 10.1111/jiec.13122, 2021.
- Fnais, A., Rezgui, Y., Petri, I., Beach, T., Yeung, J., Ghoroghi, A., and Kubicki, S.: The application of life cycle assessment in buildings: challenges, and directions for future research, The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 27, 627–654, doi: 10.1007/s11367-022-02058-5, URL https://link.springer. com/10.1007/s11367-022-02058-5, 2022.
- Forster, P., Storelvmo, T., Armour, K., Collins, W., Dufresne, J.-L., Frame, D., Lunt, D. J., Mauritsen, T., Palmer, M. D., Watanabe, M., Wild, M., and Zhang, X.: The Earth's energy budget, climate feedbacks, and climate sensitivity, in: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, edited by Masson-Delmotte, V., Zhai, P., Pirani, A., Connors, S. L., Péan, C., Berger, S., Caud, N., Chen, Y., Goldfarb, L., Gomis, M. I., Huang, M., Leitzell, K., Lonnoy, E., Matthews, J. B. R., Maycock, T. K., Waterfield, T., Yelekçi, , Yu, R., and Zhou, B., pp. 923–1054, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, doi: 10.1017/9781009157896.001, 2021.
- Forster, P. M., Smith, C. J., Walsh, T., Lamb, W. F., Lamboll, R., Hauser, M., Ribes, A., Rosen, D., Gillett, N., Palmer, M. D., Rogelj, J., von Schuckmann, K., Seneviratne, S. I., Trewin, B., Zhang, X., Allen, M., Andrew, R., Birt, A., Borger, A., Boyer, T., Broersma, J. A., Cheng, L., Dentener, F., Friedlingstein, P., Gutiérrez, J. M., Gütschow, J., Hall, B., Ishii, M., Jenkins, S., Lan, X., Lee, J.-Y., Morice, C., Kadow, C., Kennedy, J., Killick, R., Minx, J. C., Naik, V, Peters, G. P., Pirani, A., Pongratz, J., Schleussner, C.-F., Szopa, S., Thorne, P., Rohde, R., Rojas Corradi, M., Schumacher, D., Vose, R., Zickfeld, K., Masson-Delmotte, V., and Zhai, P.: Indicators of Global Climate Change 2022: annual update of large-scale indicators of the state of the climate system and human influence, Earth System Science Data, 15, 2295–2327, doi: 10.5194/essd-15-2295-2023, URL https://essd.copernicus.org/articles/15/2295/2023/, publisher: Copernicus GmbH, 2023.
- Friedlingstein, P., O'Sullivan, M., Jones, M. W., Andrew, R. M., Bakker, D. C. E., Hauck, J., Landschützer, P., Le Quéré, C., Luijkx, I. T., Peters, G. P., Peters, W., Pongratz, J., Schwingshackl, C., Sitch, S., Canadell, J. G., Ciais, P., Jackson, R. B., Alin, S. R., Anthoni, P., Barbero, L., Bates, N. R., Becker, M., Bellouin, N., Decharme, B., Bopp, L., Brasika, I. B. M., Cadule, P., Chamberlain, M. A., Chandra, N., Chau, T.-T.-T., Chevallier, F., Chini, L. P., Cronin, M., Dou, X., Enyo, K., Evans, W., Falk, S., Feely, R. A., Feng, L., Ford, D. J., Gasser, T., Ghattas, J., Gkritzalis, T., Grassi, G., Gregor, L., Gruber, N., Gürses, , Harris, I., Hefner, M., Heinke, J., Houghton, R. A., Hurtt, G. C., Iida, Y., Ilyina, T., Jacobson, A. R., Jain, A., Jarníková, T., Jersild, A., Jiang, F., Jin, Z., Joos, F., Kato, E., Keeling, R. F., Kennedy, D., Klein Goldewijk, K., Knauer, J., Korsbakken, J. I., Körtzinger, A., Lan, X., Lefèvre, N., Li, H., Liu, J., Liu, Z., Ma, L., Marland, G., Mayot, N., McGuire, P. C., McKinley, G. A., Meyer, G., Morgan, E. J., Munro, D. R., Nakaoka, S.-I., Niwa, Y., O'Brien, K. M., Olsen, A., Omar, A. M., Ono, T., Paulsen, M., Pierrot, D., Pocock, K., Poulter, B., Powis, C. M., Rehder, G., Resplandy, L., Robertson, E., Rödenbeck, C., Rosan, T. M., Schwinger, J., Séférian, R., Smallman, T. L., Smith, S. M., Sospedra-Alfonso, R., Sun, Q., Sutton, A. J., Sweeney, C., Takao, S., Tans, P. P., Tian, H., Tilbrook, B., Tsujino, H., Tubiello, F., van der Werf, G. R., van Ooijen, E., Wanninkhof, R., Watanabe, M., Wimart-Rousseau, C., Yang, D., Yang, X., Yuan, W., Yue, X., Zaehle, S., Zeng, J., and Zheng, B.: Global Carbon Budget 2023, Earth System Science Data, 15, 5301-5369, doi: 10.5194/essd-15-5301-2023, URL https://essd.copernicus.org/articles/15/5301/2023/, 2023.
- Frischknecht, R., Alig, M., Nathani, C., Hellmüller, P., and Stolz, P.: Carbon footprints and reduction requirements: the Swiss real estate sector, Buildings and Cities, 1, 325–336, doi: 10.5334/bc.38, 2020.
- Fukushima, Y. and Hirao, M.: A structured framework and language for scenario-based life cycle assessment, International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 7, 317–329, doi: 10.1007/bf02978679, 2002.
- Galimshina, A., Moustapha, M., Hollberg, A., Padey, P., Lasvaux, S., Sudret, B., and Habert, G.: What is the optimal robust environmental and cost-effective solution for building renovation? Not the usual one,

Energy and Buildings, 251, 111 329, doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2021.111329, URL https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.enbuild.2021.111329, 2021.

- Gaspard, A., Chateau, L., Laruelle, C., Lafitte, B., Léonardon, P., Minier, Q., Motamedi, K., Ougier, L., Pineau, A., and Thiriot, S.: Introducing sufficiency in the building sector in net-zero scenarios for France, Energy & Buildings, 278, 112590, doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2022.112590, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.enbuild.2022.112590, publisher: Elsevier B.V., 2023.
- Geyer, P., Schlüter, A., and Cisar, S.: Application of clustering for the development of retrofit strategies for large building stocks, Advanced Engineering Informatics, 31, 32–47, doi: 10.1016/j.aei.2016.02.001, URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aei.2016.02.001, 2017.
- GHG Protocol: The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A corporate accounting and reporting standard (revised version), Tech. rep., 2004.
- GHG Protocol: Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard, Tech. rep., 2011.
- GHG Protocol: GHG Protocol Scope 2 Guidance, Tech. rep., 2015.
- GHG Protocol: Policy and Action Standard: An accounting and reporting standard for estimating the greenhouse gas effects of policies and actions, Tech. rep., 2016.
- GHG Protocol: Mitigation goal standard: An accounting and reporting standard for national and subnational greenhouse gas reduction goals, Tech. rep., 2017.
- Gibon, T., Wood, R., Arvesen, A., Bergesen, J. D., Suh, S., and Hertwich, E. G.: A Methodology for Integrated, Multiregional Life Cycle Assessment Scenarios under Large-Scale Technological Change, Environmental Science and Technology, 49, 11 218–11 226, doi: 10.1021/acs.est.5b01558, 2015.
- Giesekam, J., Barrett, J., and Taylor, P: Scenario analysis of embodied greenhouse gas emissions in UK construction, Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers: Engineering Sustainability, 171, 178–190, doi: 10.1680/jensu.16.00020, 2018a.
- Giesekam, J., Tingley, D. D., and Cotton, I.: Aligning carbon targets for construction with (inter)national climate change mitigation commitments, Energy and Buildings, 165, 106–117, doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild. 2018.01.023, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2018.01.023, publisher: Elsevier B.V., 2018b.
- Gomes, V., Zara, O. O., Colleto, G. M., and da Silva, M. G.: Clustering Strategies for Defining Archetypes to Support Integrated Simulations of Environmental Impacts, in: IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science, vol. 1078, doi: 10.1088/1755-1315/1078/1/012045, 2022.
- Gradin, K. T. and Björklund, A.: The common understanding of simplification approaches in published LCA studies—a review and mapping, The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 26, 50–63, doi: 10.1007/s11367-020-01843-4, URL http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11367-020-01843-4, 2021.
- Grimault, J., Tronquet, C., Bellassen, V., Bonvillain, T., and Foucherot, C.: Puits de carbone : l'ambition de la France est-elle réaliste ? Analyse de la SNBC2, Tech. rep., 2022.
- Grubler, A., Wilson, C., Bento, N., Boza-Kiss, B., Krey, V., McCollum, D. L., Rao, N. D., Riahi, K., Rogelj, J., De Stercke, S., Cullen, J., Frank, S., Fricko, O., Guo, F., Gidden, M., Havlík, P., Huppmann, D., Kiesewetter, G., Rafaj, P., Schoepp, W., and Valin, H.: A low energy demand scenario for meeting the 1.5 °c target and sustainable development goals without negative emission technologies, Nature Energy, 3, 515–527, doi: 10.1038/s41560-018-0172-6, URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41560-018-0172-6, publisher: Springer US, 2018.
- Guinée, J., Heijungs, R., Huppes, G., Zamagni, A., Masoni, P., Buonamici, R., Ekvall, T., and Rydberg, T.: Life cycle assessment: Past, Present and Future, Environmental Science and Technology, doi: 10.17654/ JPHMTFeb2015\_029\_042, 2011.
- Guinée, J. B., Cucurachi, S., Henriksson, P. J., and Heijungs, R.: Digesting the alphabet soup of LCA, International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 23, 1507–1511, doi: 10.1007/s11367-018-1478-0, publisher: Springer Verlag, 2018.

- Guivarch, C., Lempert, R., and Trutnevyte, E.: Scenario techniques for energy and environmental research: An overview of recent developments to broaden the capacity to deal with complexity and uncertainty, Environmental Modelling & Software, 97, 201–210, doi: 10.1016/j.envsoft.2017.07.017, URL https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364815217303936, 2017.
- Guivarch, C., Kriegler, E., Joana Portugal-Pereira, V. B., Edmonds, J., Fischedick, M., Havlík, P., Jaramillo, P., Krey, V., Lecocq, F., Lucena, A. F. P., Meinshausen, M., Mirasgedis, S., O'Neill, B., Peters, G. P., Rogelj, J., Rose, S., Saheb, Y., Strbac, G., Strømman, A. H., van Vuuren, D. P., and Zhou, N.: Annex III: Scenarios and modelling methods, in: Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, edited by Shukla, P. R., Skea, J., Slade, R., Al Khourdajie, A., van Diemen, R., McCollum, D., Pathak, M., Some, S., Vyas, P., Fradera, R., Belkacemi, M., Hasija, A., Lisboa, G., Luz, S., and Malley, J., pp. 1841–1908, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, doi: 10.1017/9781009157926.022, 2022.
- Göswein, V., Arehart, J., Phan-huy, C., Pomponi, F., and Habert, G.: Barriers and opportunities of fast-growing biobased material use in buildings, Building and Cities, doi: 10.5334/bc.254, 2022.
- Gütschow, J., Jeffery, M. L., Gieseke, R., Gebel, R., Stevens, D., Krapp, M., and Rocha, M.: The PRIMAP-hist national historical emissions time series, Earth System Science Data, doi: 10.5194/essd-8-571-2016, 2016.
- Haberl, H., Wiedenhofer, D., Erb, K. H., Görg, C., and Krausmann, F.: The material stock-flow-service nexus: A new approach for tackling the decoupling conundrum, Sustainability (Switzerland), 9, doi: 10.3390/ su9071049, 2017.
- Haberl, H., Wiedenhofer, D., Schug, F., Frantz, D., Virag, D., Plutzar, C., Gruhler, K., Lederer, J., Schiller, G., Fishman, T., Lanau, M., Gattringer, A., Kemper, T., Liu, G., Tanikawa, H., Van Der Linden, S., and Hostert, P.: High-Resolution Maps of Material Stocks in Buildings and Infrastructures in Austria and Germany, Environmental Science and Technology, 55, 3368–3379, doi: 10.1021/acs.est.0c05642, 2021.
- Habert, G., Miller, S., John, V., Provis, J., Favier, A., Horvath, A., and Scrivener, K.: Environmental impacts and decarbonization strategies in the cement and concrete industries, Nature Reviews Earth & Environment, 1, doi: 10.1038/s43017-020-0093-3, URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s43017-020-0093-3, publisher: Springer US, 2020a.
- Habert, G., Röck, M., Steininger, K., Lupísek, A., Birgisdottir, H., Desing, H., Chandrakumar, C., Pittau, F., Passer, A., Rovers, R., Slavkovic, K., Hollberg, A., Hoxha, E., Jusselme, T., Nault, E., Allacker, K., and Lützkendorf, T.: Carbon budgets for buildings: harmonising temporal, spatial and sectoral dimensions, Buildings and Cities, 1, 429–452, doi: 10.5334/bc.47, iSBN: 000000338509, 2020b.
- Harpprecht, C., van Oers, L., Northey, S. A., Yang, Y., and Steubing, B.: Environmental impacts of key metals' supply and low-carbon technologies are likely to decrease in the future, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 25, 1543–1559, doi: 10.1111/jiec.13181, URL https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/jiec. 13181, \_eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/jiec.13181, 2021.
- Haun, P., Müller, P., and Traverso, M.: Improving automated Life Cycle Assessment with Life Cycle Inventory model constructs, Journal of Cleaner Production, 370, 133 452, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.133452, URL https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0959652622030347, 2022.
- Haut conseil pour le climat: Rénover mieux : leçons d'europe, Tech. rep., 2020.
- Haut conseil pour le climat: Renforcer l'atténuation, engager l'adaptation, Tech. rep., 2021.
- Haut Conseil pour le Climat: Acter l'urgence, engager les moyens, Tech. rep., URL https://www. hautconseilclimat.fr/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/HCC\_RA\_2023\_.pdf, 2023.
- Heeren, N. and Fishman, T.: A database seed for a community-driven material intensity research platform, Scientific Data, 6, 1–10, doi: 10.1038/s41597-019-0021-x, URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ s41597-019-0021-x, 2019.

- Heeren, N. and Hellweg, S.: Tracking Construction Material over Space and Time: Prospective and Georeferenced Modeling of Building Stocks and Construction Material Flows, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 23, 253–267, doi: 10.1111/jiec.12739, 2019.
- Heide, M., Dudka, K. M., and Hauschild, M. Z.: Absolute sustainable CO2-limits for buildings should reflect their function. A case study of four building typologies, Developments in the Built Environment, 15, 100175, doi: 10.1016/j.dibe.2023.100175, URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S2666165923000571, 2023a.
- Heide, M., Hauschild, M. Z., and Ryberg, M.: Reflecting the importance of human needs fulfilment in absolute sustainability assessments: Development of a sharing principle, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 27, 1151– 1164, doi: 10.1111/jiec.13405, URL https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/jiec.13405, 2023b.
- Heijungs, R. and Suh, S.: The Computational Structure of Life Cycle Assessment, in: Eco-efficiency in industry and science, 2002.
- Heijungs, R., De Koning, A., and Guinée, J. B.: Maximizing affluence within the planetary boundaries, International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 19, 1331–1335, doi: 10.1007/s11367-014-0729-y, 2014.
- Heijungs, R., Yang, Y., and Park, H.-s.: A or I-A? Unifying the computational structures of process- and IO-based LCA for clarity and consistency, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 1, 1824–1836, doi: 10.1111/jiec.13323, 2022.
- Hellweg, S. and Milà i Canals, L.: Emerging approaches, challenges and opportunities in life cycle assessment, Science, 344, 1109–1113, doi: 10.1126/science.1248361, URL https://www.science.org/doi/ 10.1126/science.1248361, 2014.
- Hellweg, S., Benetto, E., Huijbregts, M. A. J., Verones, F., and Wood, R.: Life-cycle assessment to guide solutions for the triple planetary crisis, Nature Reviews Earth & Environment, 4, 471–486, doi: 10.1038/s43017-023-00449-2, URL https://www.nature.com/articles/s43017-023-00449-2, number: 7 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group, 2023.
- Herrington, G.: Update to limits to growth: Comparing the World3 model with empirical data, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 25, 614–626, doi: 10.1111/jiec.13084, URL https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/ abs/10.1111/jiec.13084, eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/jiec.13084, 2021.
- Hertwich, E. G.: Increased carbon footprint of materials production driven by rise in investments, Nature Geoscience, 14, doi: 10.1038/s41561-021-00690-8, URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ s41561-021-00690-8, publisher: Springer US, 2021.
- Hertwich, E. G. and Wood, R.: The growing importance of scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions from industry, Environmental Research Letters, 13, doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/aae19a, publisher: IOP Publishing, 2018.
- Hertwich, E. G., Gibon, T., Bouman, E. A., Arvesen, A., Suh, S., Heath, G. A., Bergesen, J. D., Ramirez, A., Vega, M. I., and Shi, L.: Integrated life-cycle assessment of electricity-supply scenarios confirms global environmental benefit of low-carbon technologies, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 112, 6277–6282, doi: 10.1073/pnas.1312753111, 2015.
- Hjalsted, A. W., Laurent, A., Andersen, M. M., Olsen, K. H., Ryberg, M., and Hauschild, M.: Sharing the safe operating space: Exploring ethical allocation principles to operationalize the planetary boundaries and assess absolute sustainability at individual and industrial sector levels, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 25, 6–19, doi: 10.1111/jiec.13050, 2021.
- Hollberg, A., Lützkendorf, T., and Habert, G.: Top-down or bottom-up? How environmental benchmarks can support the design process, Building and Environment, 153, 148–157, doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv. 2019.02.026, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2019.02.026, publisher: Elsevier, 2019.
- Horup, L. H., Steinmann, J., Le Den, X., Röck, M., Sørensen, A., Tozan, B., and Birgisdottir, H.: Towards embodied carbon benchmarks for buildings in Europe - #3 Defining budget-based targets: A top-down approach, Tech. rep., Zenodo, doi: 10.5281/ZENODO.6120882, URL https://zenodo.org/ record/6120882, 2022.

- Horup, L. H., Birgisdóttir, H., and Ryberg, M. W.: Defining dynamic science-based climate change budgets for countries and absolute sustainable building targets, Building and Environment, 230, doi: 10.1016/j. buildenv.2022.109936, 2023.
- Hoxha, E., Passer, A., Ruschi, M., Saade, M., Trigaux, D., Shuttleworth, A., Pittau, F., Allacker, K., and Habert, G.: Biogenic carbon in buildings : a critical overview of LCA methods, 1, 504–524, iSBN: 0000000183, 2020.
- HQE: PROGRAMME D'INNOVATION COLLABORATIVE NZC RÉNOVATION Optimisation et scénario NZC des cas génériques retenus, Tech. rep., URL https://www.hqegbc.org/ nzc-renovation-quels-leviers-pour-une-renovation-vraiment-bas-carbone/, 2022.
- Huang, L., Krigsvoll, G., Johansen, F., Liu, Y., and Zhang, X.: Carbon emission of global construction sector, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 81, 1906–1916, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2017.06.001, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.06.001, publisher: Elsevier Ltd, 2018.
- Huppmann, D., Gidden, M., Fricko, O., Kolp, P., Orthofer, C., Pimmer, M., Kushin, N., Vinca, A., Mastrucci, A., Riahi, K., and Krey, V.: The MESSAGEix Integrated Assessment Model and the ix modeling platform (ixmp): An open framework for integrated and cross-cutting analysis of energy, climate, the environment, and sustainable development, Environmental Modelling and Software, 112, 143–156, doi: 10.1016/j.envsoft.2018.11.012, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2018.11.012, publisher: Elsevier, 2019.
- Huppmann, Daniel, Gidden, Matthew J., Nicholls, Zebedee, Hörsh, Jonas, and Lamboll, Robin: pyam: Analysis and visualisation of integrated assessment and macro-energy scenarios, Open Research Europe, doi: https://doi.org/10.12688/openreseurope.13633.2, URL https://open-research-europe.ec.europa.eu/ articles/1-74/v2, 2021.
- Höhne, N., den Elzen, M., and Escalante, D.: Regional GHG reduction targets based on effort sharing: a comparison of studies, Climate Policy, 14, 122–147, doi: 10.1080/14693062.2014.849452, URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2014.849452, 2014.
- IEA: Net Zero by 2050 A Roadmap for the Global Energy Sector, Tech. rep., 2021.
- IEA: Energy Technology Perspectives 2023, Tech. rep., 2023a.
- IEA: Global Energy and Climate Model Documentation 2023, Tech. rep., 2023b.
- IEA: World Energy Outlook 2023, Tech. rep., 2023c.
- IEA, UNEP, and GlobalABC: GlobalABC Roadmap for Buildings and Construction 2020-2050 Towards a zeroemission, efficient and resilient buildings and construction sector, p. 110, URL www.globalabc.org, 2020.
- INSEE: 68,1 millions d'habitants en 2070 : une population un peu plus nombreuse qu'en 2021, mais plus âgée, pp. 17–20, 2021.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change: Emissions scenarios, 2000.
- IPCC: Chapter 2: Stationary combustion, 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National GHG Inventories, pp. 69–, doi: 10.1007/BF00914340, 2006.
- IPCC: Volume 2: Energy. Chapter 2: Stationary Combustion, 2019 Refinement to the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, p. 5, 2019.
- IPCC: Annex III : Scenarios and Modelling Methods, IPCC, 2022: Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, doi: 10.1017/9781009157926.022, 2022.
- Ipsen, K. L., Pizzol, M., Birkved, M., and Amor, B.: Environmental performance of eco-design strategies applied to the building sector, Journal of Industrial Ecology, doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.13465, 2024.
- ISO: ISO 14067. Greenhouse gases. Carbon footprint of products. Requirements and guidelines for quantification, URL https://www.iso.org/standard/71206.html, 2018.

- ISO: ISO21678: Sustainability in buildings and civil engineering works. Indicators and benchmarks, URL https://www.iso.org/fr/standard/71344.html, 2020.
- ISO: ISO 14068. Climate change management. Transition to net zero. Part 1: Carbon neutrality, URL https://www.iso.org/standard/43279.html, 2023.
- Johari, F., Peronato, G., Sadeghian, P., Zhao, X., and Widén, J.: Urban building energy modeling: State of the art and future prospects, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 128, 109 902, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2020.109902, URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1364032120301933, 2020.
- Jones, M. W., Peters, G. P., Gasser, T., Andrew, R. M., Schwingshackl, C., Gütschow, J., Houghton, R. A., Friedlingstein, P., Pongratz, J., and Le Quéré, C.: National contributions to climate change due to historical emissions of carbon dioxide, methane, and nitrous oxide since 1850, Scientific Data, 10, 155, doi: 10.1038/s41597-023-02041-1, URL https://www.nature.com/articles/s41597-023-02041-1, 2023.
- Journal officiel de la République Française: Annexe IV : Règles « Th-Bat 2020 » données d'entrée au calcul de la performance énergétique, Tech. rep., URL https://www.novabuild.fr/sites/default/files/actualite/ pdf/2021/08/re2020-arrete\_du\_4\_aout\_2021-annexe\_4-th-bat.pdf, 2021.
- Joyce, J. and Björklund, A.: Futura : A new tool for transparent and shareable scenario analysis in prospective, Journal of Industrial Ecology, pages: Journal of Industrial Ecology, 2022.
- Kahn, H.: Thinking About the Unthinkable, Naval War College Review, 15, URL https://digital-commons. usnwc.edu/nwc-review/vol15/iss8/7/?utm\_source=digital-commons.usnwc.edu%2Fnwc-review% 2Fvol15%2Fiss8%2F7&utm\_medium=PDF&utm\_campaign=PDFCoverPages, 1962.
- Keppo, I., Butnar, I., Bauer, N., Caspani, M., Edelenbosch, O., Emmerling, J., Fragkos, P., Guivarch, C., Harmsen, M., Lefèvre, J., Gallic, T. L., Leimbach, M., McDowall, W., Mercure, J.-F., Schaeffer, R., Trutnevyte, E., and Wagner, F.: Exploring the possibility space: taking stock of the diverse capabilities and gaps in integrated assessment models, Environmental Research Letters, 16, 053 006, doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/abe5d8, URL https://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abe5d8, publisher: IOP Publishing, 2021.
- Kleemann, F., Lederer, J., Rechberger, H., and Fellner, J.: GIS-based Analysis of Vienna's Material Stock in Buildings, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 21, 368–380, doi: 10.1111/ jiec.12446, URL https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/jiec.12446, \_\_eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/jiec.12446, 2017.
- Kriegler, E., Edmonds, J., Hallegatte, S., Ebi, K. L., Kram, T., Riahi, K., Winkler, H., and van Vuuren, D. P.: A new scenario framework for climate change research: The concept of shared climate policy assumptions, Climatic Change, 122, 401–414, doi: 10.1007/s10584-013-0971-5, 2014.
- Lanau, M. and Liu, G.: Developing an Urban Resource Cadaster for Circular Economy: A Case of Odense, Denmark, Environmental Science and Technology, 54, 4675–4685, doi: 10.1021/acs.est.9b07749, 2020.
- Lanau, M., Liu, G., Kral, U., Wiedenhofer, D., Keijzer, E., Yu, C., and Ehlert, C.: Taking Stock of Built Environment Stock Studies: Progress and Prospects, Environmental Science and Technology, 53, 8499–8515, doi: 10.1021/acs.est.8b06652, 2019.
- Lanau, M., Herbert, L., and Liu, G.: Extending urban stocks and flows analysis to urban greenhouse gas emission accounting: A case of Odense, Denmark, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 25, 961–978, doi: 10.1111/jiec.13110, 2021.
- Langevin, J., Reyna, J. L., Ebrahimigharehbaghi, S., Sandberg, N., Fennell, P., Nägeli, C., Laverge, J., Delghust, M., Mata, Van Hove, M., Webster, J., Federico, F., Jakob, M., and Camarasa, C.: Developing a common approach for classifying building stock energy models, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 133, 110276, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2020.110276, URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S1364032120305645, 2020.
- Lasvaux, S., Habert, G., Peuportier, B., and Chevalier, J.: Comparison of generic and product-specific Life Cycle Assessment databases: application to construction materials used in building LCA studies, The

International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 20, 1473–1490, doi: 10.1007/s11367-015-0938-z, URL http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11367-015-0938-z, 2015.

- Lauinger, D., Billy, R. G., Vásquez, F., and Müller, D. B.: A general framework for stock dynamics of populations and built and natural environments, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 25, 1136–1146, doi: 10.1111/jiec. 13117, 2021.
- Le Boulzec, H., Mathy, S., Verzier, F., Andrieu, B., Monfort-Climent, D., and Vidal, O.: Material requirements and impacts of the building sector in the Shared Socioeconomic Pathways, Journal of Cleaner Production, p. 139117, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2023.139117, URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0959652623032754, 2023.
- Lefèvre, J.: Integrated assessment models and input–output analysis: bridging fields for advancing sustainability scenarios research, Economic Systems Research, pp. 1–24, doi: 10.1080/09535314.2023.2266559, URL https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09535314.2023.2266559, 2023.
- Lenzen, M.: Errors in conventional and input-output-based life-cycle inventories, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 4, 127–148, doi: 10.1162/10881980052541981, 2008.
- Lenzen, M.: Aggregation versus disaggregation in input-output analysis of the environment, Economic Systems Research, 23, 73–89, doi: 10.1080/09535314.2010.548793, 2011.
- Lenzen, M. and Rueda-Cantuche, J. M.: A note on the use of supply-use tables in impact analyses, Sort, 36, 139–152, 2012.
- Leontief, W.: Quantitative Input and Output Relations in the Economic Systems of the United States, The Review of Economics and Statistics, doi: 10.2307/2967507, 1936.
- Leontief, W.: Environmental Repercussions and the Economic Structure : An Input-Output Approach Author (s): Wassily Leontief Source : The Review of Economics and Statistics, Vol. 52, No. 3 (Aug., 1970), pp. 262-271 Published by : The MIT Press Stable URL : ht, The Review of Economics and Statistics, 52, 262–271, 1970.
- Leontief, W.: The future of the world economy<sup>†</sup>, Socio-Economic Planning Sciences, 11, 171– 182, doi: 10.1016/0038-0121(77)90036-2, URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ 0038012177900362, 1977.
- Levasseur, A., Lesage, P., Margni, M., Deschenes, L., and Samson, R.: Considering Time in LCA : Dynamic LCA and Its Application to Global Warming Impact Assessments, Environmental Science and Technology, 44, 3169–3174, doi: https://doi.org/10.1021/es9030003, 2010.
- Li, X., Arbabi, H., Bennett, G., Oreszczyn, T., and Tingley, D. D.: Net zero by 2050 : Investigating carbonbudget compliant retrofit measures for the English housing stock, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 161, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2022.112384, 2022.
- Lotteau, M., Loubet, P., Pousse, M., Dufrasnes, E., and Sonnemann, G.: Critical review of life cycle assessment (LCA) for the built environment at the neighborhood scale, Building and Environment, 93, 165–178, doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2015.06.029, URL https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/ S0360132315300445, 2015.
- Lueddeckens, S., Saling, P., and Guenther, E.: Temporal issues in life cycle assessment—a systematic review, International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 25, 1385–1401, doi: 10.1007/s11367-020-01757-1, 2020.
- Lützkendorf, T.: Transition to a Cross-sectoral Approach for Decarbonising the Built Environment Commentaries, URL https://www.buildingsandcities.org/insights/commentaries/cop26-cross-sectoral.html, 2021.
- Lützkendorf, T. and Frischknecht, R.: (Net-) zero-emission buildings: a typology of terms and definitions, Buildings and Cities, 1, 662–675, doi: 10.5334/bc.66, iSBN: 000000254304, 2020.
- Lützkendorf, T., Balouktsi, M., Frischknecht, R., Peuportier, B., Nygaard Rasmussen, F., Satola, D., Houlihan Wiberg, A., Birgisdottir, H., Dowdell, D., Lupíšek, A., Malmqvist, T., Potrc Obrecht, T., and Trigaux,

D.: Benchmarking and target-setting for the life cycle-based environmental performance of buildings, Tech. rep., Zenodo, doi: 10.5281/ZENODO.7468752, URL https://zenodo.org/record/7468752, 2023.

- Maes, B., Sacchi, R., Steubing, B., Pizzol, M., Audenaert, A., Craeye, B., and Buyle, M.: Prospective consequential life cycle assessment: Identifying the future marginal suppliers using integrated assessment models, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 188, 113 830, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2023.113830, URL https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1364032123006871, 2023.
- Malik, A., McBain, D., Wiedmann, T. O., Lenzen, M., and Murray, J.: Advancements in Input-Output Models and Indicators for Consumption-Based Accounting, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 23, 300–312, doi: 10.1111/jiec.12771, 2019.
- Malliet, P.: La contribution des émissions importées à l'empreinte carbone de la france, 2020.
- Mao, R., Bao, Y., Huang, Z., Liu, Q., and Liu, G.: High-Resolution Mapping of the Urban Built Environment Stocks in Beijing, Environmental Science and Technology, 54, 5345–5355, doi: 10.1021/acs.est. 9b07229, 2020.
- Marinova, S., Deetman, S., van der Voet, E., and Daioglou, V.: Global construction materials database and stock analysis of residential buildings between 1970-2050, Journal of Cleaner Production, 247, 119 146, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.119146, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.119146, publisher: Elsevier Ltd, 2020.
- Marsh, E., Allen, S., and Hattam, L.: Tackling uncertainty in life cycle assessments for the built environment: A review, Building and Environment, 231, 109 941, doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2022.109941, URL https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0360132322011714, 2023.
- Masson Delmotte, V., Zhai, P., Pirani, A., Connors, S. L., Péan, C., Berger, S., Caud, N., Chen, Y., Goldfarb, L., Gomis, M. I., Huang, M., Leitzell, K., Lonnoy, E., Matthews, J. B. R., Maycock, T. K., Waterfield, T., Yelekçi, , Yu, R., and Zhou, B.: Summary for policymakers, in: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, pp. 3–32, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, doi: 10.1017/9781009157896.001, 2021.
- Mastrucci, A., Marvuglia, A., Leopold, U., and Benetto, E.: Life Cycle Assessment of building stocks from urban to transnational scales: A review, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 74, 316–332, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2017.02.060, URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364032117302794, 2017.
- Mastrucci, A., Marvuglia, A., Benetto, E., and Leopold, U.: A spatio-temporal life cycle assessment framework for building renovation scenarios at the urban scale, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 126, 109834, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2020.109834, URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1364032120301283, 2020a.
- Mastrucci, A., Min, J., Usubiaga-Liaño, A., and Rao, N. D.: A Framework for Modelling Consumption-Based Energy Demand and Emission Pathways, Environmental Science and Technology, 54, 1799–1807, doi: 10.1021/acs.est.9b05968, 2020b.
- Mastrucci, A., van Ruijven, B., Byers, E., Poblete-Cazenave, M., and Pachauri, S.: Global scenarios of residential heating and cooling energy demand and CO2 emissions, Climatic Change, 168, 1–26, doi: 10.1007/s10584-021-03229-3, URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-021-03229-3, publisher: Springer Netherlands ISBN: 0123456789, 2021.
- Mata, E., Korpal, A. K., Cheng, S. H., Jiménez Navarro, J. P., Filippidou, F., Reyna, J., and Wang, R.: A map of roadmaps for zero and low energy and carbon buildings worldwide, Environmental Research Letters, 15, doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/abb69f, 2020.
- Matthews, H. D., Tokarska, K. B., Nicholls, Z. R., Rogelj, J., Canadell, J. G., Friedlingstein, P., Frölicher, T. L.,Forster, P. M., Gillett, N. P., Ilyina, T., Jackson, R. B., Jones, C. D., Koven, C., Knutti, R., MacDougall,A. H., Meinshausen, M., Mengis, N., Séférian, R., and Zickfeld, K.: Opportunities and challenges in

using remaining carbon budgets to guide climate policy, Nature Geoscience, 13, 769–779, doi: 10. 1038/s41561-020-00663-3, URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41561-020-00663-3, 2020.

- Matthews, J. B. R., Fuglestvedt, J. S., Masson-Delmotte, V., Möller, V., Méndez, C., van Diemen, R., Reisinger, A., and Semenov, S.: Annex VII: Glossary, in: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, edited by Masson-Delmotte, V., Zhai, P., Pirani, A., Connors, S. L., Péan, C., Berger, S., Caud, N., Chen, Y., Goldfarb, L., Gomis, M. I., Huang, M., Leitzell, K., Lonnoy, E., Matthews, J. B. R., Maycock, T. K., Waterfield, T., Yelekçi, , Yu, R., and Zhou, B., pp. 2215–2256, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, doi: 10.1017/9781009157896.001, 2021.
- McDowall, W., Solano Rodriguez, B., Usubiaga, A., and Acosta Fernández, J.: Is the optimal decarbonization pathway influenced by indirect emissions? Incorporating indirect life-cycle carbon dioxide emissions into a European TIMES model, Journal of Cleaner Production, 170, 260–268, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro. 2017.09.132, 2018.
- Meadows, D. H., Meadows, D. L., Randers, J., and Iii, W. W. B.: The limits to Growth, URL https://doi.org/ 10.2307/2060819, https://doi.org/10.2307/2060819, 1972.
- Mendoza Beltran, A., Cox, B., Mutel, C., van Vuuren, D. P., Font Vivanco, D., Deetman, S., Edelenbosch, O. Y., Guinée, J., and Tukker, A.: When the Background Matters: Using Scenarios from Integrated Assessment Models in Prospective Life Cycle Assessment, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 24, 64–79, doi: 10.1111/jiec.12825, 2018.
- Miller, R. E. and Blair, P. D.: Input–Output Analysis: Fundations and Extensions, iSBN: 9780521517133, 2009.
- Miller, S. A., Habert, G., Myers, R. J., and Harvey, J. T.: Achieving net zero greenhouse gas emissions in the cement industry via value chain mitigation strategies, One Earth, 4, 1398–1411, doi: 10.1016/j.oneear. 2021.09.011, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2021.09.011, publisher: Elsevier Inc., 2021.
- Milojevic-Dupont, N., Wagner, F., Nachtigall, F., Hu, J., Brüser, G. B., Zumwald, M., Biljecki, F., Heeren, N., Kaack, L. H., Pichler, P.P., and Creutzig, F.: EUBUCCO v0.1: European building stock characteristics in a common and open database for 200+ million individual buildings, Scientific Data, 10, 147, doi: 10. 1038/s41597-023-02040-2, URL https://www.nature.com/articles/s41597-023-02040-2, number: 1 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group, 2023.
- Ministère de la Transition Ecologique: Décret n° 2021-1004 du 29 juillet 2021 relatif aux exigences de performance énergétique et environnementale des constructions de bâtiments en France métropolitaine, URL https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/jorf/id/JORFTEXT000043877196, 2021.
- Ministère de la Transition Écologique et Solidaire: Décret n° 2015-1491 du 18 novembre 2015 relatif aux budgets carbone nationaux et à la stratégie nationale bas-carbone, 2015a.
- Ministère de la Transition Écologique et Solidaire: LOI n° 2015-992 du 17 août 2015 relative à la transition énergétique pour la croissance verte, URL https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/loda/id/JORFTEXT000031044385, 2015b.
- Ministère de la Transition Écologique et Solidaire: National Low Carbon Strategy, Tech. rep., 2020a.
- Ministère de la Transition Écologique et Solidaire: Décret no 2020-457 du 21 avril 2020 relatif aux budgets carbone nationaux et à la stratégie nationale bas-carbone, 2020b.
- Ministère de la Transition Écologique et Solidaire: LOI n° 2021-1104 du 22 août 2021 portant lutte contre le dérèglement climatique et renforcement de la résilience face à ses effets, URL https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/jorf/id/JORFTEXT000043956924, 2021.
- Ministère de la Transition Écologique et Solidaire: Décret no 2022-8 du 5 janvier 2022 relatif au résultat minimal de performance environnementale concernant l'installation d'un équipement de chauffage ou de production d'eau chaude sanitaire dans un bâtiment, URL https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/jorf/id/JORFTEXT000044844392, 2022.
- Minx, J. C., Wiedmann, T., Wood, R., Peters, G. P., Lenzen, M., Owen, A., Scott, K., Barrett, J., Hubacek, K., Baiocchi, G., Paul, A., Dawkins, E., Briggs, J., Guan, D., Suh, S., and Ackerman, F.: Input-output analysis

and carbon footprinting: An overview of applications, vol. 21, doi: 10.1080/09535310903541298, publication Title: Economic Systems Research Issue: 3 ISSN: 09535314, 2009.

- Minx, J. C., Lamb, W. F., Andrew, R. M., Canadell, J. G., Crippa, M., Döbbeling, N., Forster, P. M., Guizzardi, D., Olivier, J., Peters, G. P., Pongratz, J., Reisinger, A., Rigby, M., Saunois, M., Smith, S. J., Solazzo, E., and Tian, H.: A comprehensive and synthetic dataset for global, regional, and national greenhouse gas emissions by sector 1970–2018 with an extension to 2019, Earth System Science Data, 13, 5213–5252, doi: 10.5194/essd-13-5213-2021, URL https://essd.copernicus.org/articles/13/5213/2021/, 2021.
- Mirabella, N., Allacker, K., and Sala, S.: Current trends and limitations of life cycle assessment applied to the urban scale: critical analysis and review of selected literature, The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 24, 1174–1193, doi: 10.1007/s11367-018-1467-3, URL http://link.springer.com/ 10.1007/s11367-018-1467-3, 2019.
- Moni, S. M., Mahmud, R., High, K., and Carbajales-Dale, M.: Life cycle assessment of emerging technologies: A review, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 24, 52–63, doi: 10.1111/ jiec.12965, URL https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/jiec.12965, \_\_eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/jiec.12965, 2020.
- Moran, D. and Wood, R.: Convergence Between the Eora, Wiod, Exiobase, and Openeu'S Consumption-Based Carbon Accounts, Economic Systems Research, 26, 245–261, doi: 10.1080/09535314.2014.935298, 2014.
- Morfeldt, J., Larsson, J., Andersson, D., Johansson, D. J. A., Rootzén, J., Hult, C., and Karlsson, I.: Emission pathways and mitigation options for achieving consumption-based climate targets in Sweden, Communications Earth & Environment, 4, 1–14, doi: 10.1038/s43247-023-01012-z, URL https://www. nature.com/articles/s43247-023-01012-z, number: 1 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group, 2023.
- Moré, F. B., Galindro, B. M., and Soares, S. R.: Assessing the completeness and comparability of environmental product declarations, Journal of Cleaner Production, 375, 133 999, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2022. 133999, URL https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0959652622035715, 2022.
- Moss, R. H., Edmonds, J. A., Hibbard, K. A., Manning, M. R., Rose, S. K., Van Vuuren, D. P., Carter, T. R., Emori, S., Kainuma, M., Kram, T., Meehl, G. A., Mitchell, J. F., Nakicenovic, N., Riahi, K., Smith, S. J., Stouffer, R. J., Thomson, A. M., Weyant, J. P., and Wilbanks, T. J.: The next generation of scenarios for climate change research and assessment, Nature, 463, 747–756, doi: 10.1038/nature08823, publisher: Nature Publishing Group, 2010.
- Mouton, L., Ramon, D., Trigaux, D., Allacker, K., and Crawford, R. H.: Preliminary study on the use of Big Data for environmental benchmarks of residential buildings in Flanders, IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science, 1196, 012114, doi: 10.1088/1755-1315/1196/1/012114, URL https: //iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1755-1315/1196/1/012114, 2023.
- MTES: Le nouveau diagnostic de performance énergétique (DPE), Tech. rep., URL https://www.ecologie.gouv. fr/sites/default/files/2021.02.15\_ew\_dp\_dpe.pdf, 2021.
- Mutel, C.: Brightway: An open source framework for Life Cycle Assessment, The Journal of Open Source Software, 2, 236, doi: 10.21105/joss.00236, URL http://joss.theoj.org/papers/10.21105/joss.00236, 2017a.
- Mutel, C.: Wurst documentation, URL https://wurst.readthedocs.io/, 2017b.
- Müller, D. B.: Stock dynamics for forecasting material flows Case study for housing in The Netherlands, Ecological Economics, 9, doi: 10.1016/j.eco, 2005.
- Müller, D. B., Liu, G., Løvik, A. N., Modaresi, R., Pauliuk, S., Steinhoff, F. S., and Brattebø, H.: Carbon emissions of infrastructure development, Environmental Science and Technology, 47, 11739–11746, doi: 10. 1021/es402618m, 2013.
- Müller, E., Hilty, L. M., Widmer, R., Schluep, M., and Faulstich, M.: Modeling metal stocks and flows: A review of dynamic material flow analysis methods, Environmental Science and Technology, 48, 2102–2113, doi: 10.1021/es403506a, 2014.

- Nations, U.: INTEGRITY MATTERS: NET ZERO COMMITMENTS BY BUSINESSES, FINANCIAL INSTITU-TIONS, CITIES AND REGIONS, Tech. rep., URL https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/high-level\_ expert\_group\_n7b.pdf, 2022.
- Negishi, K., Tiruta-Barna, L., Schiopu, N., Lebert, A., and Chevalier, J.: An operational methodology for applying dynamic Life Cycle Assessment to buildings, Building and Environment, 144, 611–621, doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2018.09.005, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2018.09.005, publisher: Elsevier, 2018.
- Net Zero Initiative and WBCSD: Guidance on avoided emissions, Tech. rep., 2023.
- Nägeli, C., Camarasa, C., Jakob, M., Catenazzi, G., and Ostermeyer, Y.: Synthetic building stocks as a way to assess the energy demand and greenhouse gas emissions of national building stocks, Energy and Buildings, 173, 443–460, doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2018.05.055, 2018.
- négaWatt: Le scénario en détail, Tech. rep., 2022.
- négawatt and Solagro: La méthanisation dans le mix énergétique enjeux , impacts et propositions, Tech. rep., 2021.
- officiel de la République française, J.: Loi Climat & Résilience, URL https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/jorf/id/ JORFTEXT000043956924, 2021.
- O'Hegarty, R., Wall, S., and Kinnane, O.: Whole life carbon quantification of the built environment: Case study Ireland, Building and Environment, 226, 109730, doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2022.109730, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2022.109730, publisher: Elsevier Ltd, 2022.
- Onat, N. C. and Kucukvar, M.: Carbon footprint of construction industry: A global review and supply chain analysis, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 124, 109 783, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2020.109783, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2020.109783, publisher: Elsevier Ltd, 2020.
- Onat, N. C., Kucukvar, M., and Tatari, O.: Scope-based carbon footprint analysis of U.S. residential and commercial buildings: An input-output hybrid life cycle assessment approach, Building and Environment, 72, 53–62, doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2013.10.009, URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2013.10.009, uRL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2013.10.
- O'Neill, B. C., Kriegler, E., Riahi, K., Ebi, K. L., Hallegatte, S., Carter, T. R., Mathur, R., and van Vuuren, D. P.: A new scenario framework for climate change research: The concept of shared socioeconomic pathways, Climatic Change, 122, 387–400, doi: 10.1007/s10584-013-0905-2, 2014.
- O'Neill, B. C., Tebaldi, C., van Vuuren, D. P., Eyring, V., Friedlingstein, P., Hurtt, G., Knutti, R., Kriegler, E., Lamarque, J.-F., Lowe, J., Meehl, G. A., Moss, R., Riahi, K., and Sanderson, B. M.: The Scenario Model Intercomparison Project (ScenarioMIP) for CMIP6, Geoscientific Model Development, 9, 3461–3482, doi: 10.5194/gmd-9-3461-2016, URL https://gmd.copernicus.org/articles/9/3461/2016/, 2016.
- O'Neill, B. C., Kriegler, E., Ebi, K. L., Kemp-Benedict, E., Riahi, K., Rothman, D. S., van Ruijven, B. J., van Vuuren, D. P., Birkmann, J., Kok, K., Levy, M., and Solecki, W.: The roads ahead: Narratives for shared so-cioeconomic pathways describing world futures in the 21st century, Global Environmental Change, 42, 169–180, doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2015.01.004, URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2015.01.004, URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2015.01.004, publisher: Elsevier Ltd, 2017a.
- O'Neill, B. C., Kriegler, E., Ebi, K. L., Kemp-Benedict, E., Riahi, K., Rothman, D. S., van Ruijven, B. J., van Vuuren, D. P., Birkmann, J., Kok, K., Levy, M., and Solecki, W.: The roads ahead: Narratives for shared so-cioeconomic pathways describing world futures in the 21st century, Global Environmental Change, 42, 169–180, doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2015.01.004, URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2015.01.004, URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2015.01.004, publisher: Elsevier Ltd, 2017b.
- O'Neill, B. C., Carter, T. R., Ebi, K., Harrison, P. A., Kemp-benedict, E., Kok, K., Kriegler, E., Preston, B. L., Riahi, K., Sillmann, J., Ruijven, B. J. V., Vuuren, D. V., Carlisle, D., Conde, C., and Fuglestvedt, J.: Achievements and needs for the climate change scenario framework, Nature Climate Change, 10, doi: 10.1038/s41558-020-00952-0, 2020.
- Owen, A., Wood, R., Barrett, J., and Evans, A.: Explaining value chain differences in MRIO databases through structural path decomposition, Economic Systems Research, 28, 243–272, doi: 10.1080/09535314. 2015.1135309, URL https://doi.org/10.1080/09535314.2015.1135309, 2016.
- Pamenter, S. and Myers, R. J.: Decarbonizing the cementitious materials cycle: A whole-systems review of measures to decarbonize the cement supply chain in the UK and European contexts, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 2012, 1–18, doi: 10.1111/jiec.13105, 2021.
- Pauliuk, S., Sjöstrand, K., and Müller, D. B.: Transforming the Norwegian dwelling stock to reach the 2 degrees celsius climate target: Combining material flow analysis and life cycle assessment techniques, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 17, 542–554, doi: 10.1111/j.1530-9290.2012.00571.x, 2013a.
- Pauliuk, S., Sjöstrand, K., and Müller, D. B.: Transforming the dwelling stock to reach the 2°C climate target combining MFA and LCA models for a case study on Norway, Journal of Industrial Ecology, In press, 1–32, doi: 10.1111/j.1530-9290.2012.00571.x/abstract, 2013b.
- Pauliuk, S., Arvesen, A., Stadler, K., and Hertwich, E. G.: Industrial ecology in integrated assessment models, Nature Climate Change, 7, 13–20, doi: 10.1038/nclimate3148, publisher: Nature Publishing Group, 2017.
- Pauliuk, S., Heeren, N., Berrill, P., Fishman, T., Nistad, A., Tu, Q., Wolfram, P., and Hertwich, E. G.: Global scenarios of resource and emission savings from material efficiency in residential buildings and cars, Nature Communications, 12, 5097, doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-25300-4, URL http://dx.doi. org/10.1038/s41467-021-25300-4%0Ahttps://www.nature.com/articles/s41467-021-25300-4, publisher: Springer US, 2021.
- Pehl, M., Arvesen, A., Humpenöder, F., Popp, A., Hertwich, E. G., and Luderer, G.: Understanding future emissions from low-carbon power systems by integration of life-cycle assessment and integrated energy modelling, Nature Energy, 2, 939–945, doi: 10.1038/s41560-017-0032-9, URL https://www.nature. com/articles/s41560-017-0032-9, number: 12 Publisher: Nature Publishing Group, 2017.
- Pellan, M., Louërat, M., Almeida, D., Dubois, F., and Habert, G.: Decarbonisation roadmap for the building activities: LCA modelling of the renovation lever, Journal of Physics: Conference Series, 2600, 152 010, doi: 10.1088/1742-6596/2600/15/152010, URL https://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/2600/15/152010, publisher: IOP Publishing, 2023a.
- Pellan, M., Louërat, M., Almeida, D., and Habert, G.: Beyond Sectoral Carbon Budgets for the Building Activities: A French Case Study, doi: 10.2139/ssrn.4633977, URL https://www.ssrn.com/abstract= 4633977, 2023b.
- Pellan, M., Almeida, D., Louërat, M., and Habert, G.: From limit values to carbon budgets: Assessing comprehensive building stock decarbonisation strategies, Building and Environment, 256, 111505, doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2024.111505, URL https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0360132324003470, 2024.
- Pesonen, H. L., Ekvall, T., Fleischer, G., Huppes, G., Jahn, C., Klos, Z. S., Rebitzer, G., Sonnemann, G. W., Tintinelli, A., Weidema, B. P., and Wenzel, H.: Framework for scenario development in LCA, The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 5, 21, doi: 10.1007/BF02978555, URL http://link.springer. com/10.1007/BF02978555, 2000.
- Peters, G.: From production-based to consumption-based national emission inventories, Ecological Economics, 65, 13–23, doi: 10.1016/j.ecolecon.2007.10.014, 2008.
- Peters, G. P., Andrew, R., and Lennox, J.: CONSTRUCTING AN ENVIRONMENTALLY- EXTENDED MULTI-REGIONAL INPUT – OUTPUT TABLE USING THE GTAP DATABASE, 5314, doi: 10.1080/09535314. 2011.563234, 2011.
- Peñaloza, D., Erlandsson, M., Berlin, J., Wålinder, M., and Falk, A.: Future scenarios for climate mitigation of new construction in Sweden: Effects of different technological pathways, Journal of Cleaner Production, 187, 1025–1035, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.03.285, 2018.

- Pomponi, F. and Stephan, A.: Water, energy, and carbon dioxide footprints of the construction sector: A case study on developed and developing economies, Water Research, 194, 116 935, doi: 10.1016/j.watres. 2021.116935, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2021.116935, publisher: Elsevier Ltd, 2021.
- Pomponi, F, Hart, J., Arehart, J. H., and D'Amico, B.: Buildings as a Global Carbon Sink? A Reality Check on Feasibility Limits, One Earth, 3, 157–161, doi: 10.1016/j.oneear.2020.07.018, URL https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.oneear.2020.07.018, publisher: Elsevier Inc., 2020.
- Pottier, A., Combet, E., Cayla, J.-m., Lauretis, S. D., Nadaud, F., Combet, E., and Cayla, J.-m.: Who emits CO2? Landscape of ecological inequalities in France from a critical perspective, 2021.
- Priore, Y. D., Habert, G., and Jusselme, T.: Exploring the gap between carbon-budget-compatible buildings and existing solutions A Swiss case study, Energy & Buildings, 278, 112598, doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild. 2022.112598, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2022.112598, 2023.
- Pye, S., Li, P. H., Keppo, I., and O'Gallachoir, B.: Technology interdependency in the United Kingdom's low carbon energy transition, Energy Strategy Reviews, 24, 314–330, doi: 10.1016/j.esr.2019.04.002, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esr.2019.04.002, publisher: Elsevier, 2019.
- Pálenský, D. and Lupíšek, A.: Carbon Benchmark for Czech Residential buildings based on climate goals set by the Paris Agreement for 2030, Sustainability (Switzerland), 11, doi: 10.3390/su11216085, 2019.
- Race to Zero: Race to Zero 2023 Progress report, Tech. rep., 2023.
- Ramboll, BPIE, and KU Leven: Supporting the development of a roadmap for the reduction of whole life carbon of buildings, Tech. rep., URL https://7520151.fs1.hubspotusercontent-na1.net/hubfs/7520151/RMC/Content/Ramboll%2c%20BPIE%2c%20KU%20Leuven\_Technical%20Report\_July%202023.pdf, 2023.
- Raschka, S.: MLxtend: Providing machine learning and data science utilities and extensions to Python's scientific computing stack, Journal of Open Source Software, 3, 638, doi: 10.21105/joss.00638, URL http://joss.theoj.org/papers/10.21105/joss.00638, 2018.
- Raupach, M. R., Davis, S. J., Peters, G. P., Andrew, R. M., Canadell, J. G., Ciais, P., Friedlingstein, P., Jotzo, F., Van Vuuren, D. P., and Le Quéré, C.: Sharing a quota on cumulative carbon emissions, Nature Climate Change, 4, 873–879, doi: 10.1038/nclimate2384, 2014.
- Resch, E. and Andresen, I.: A Database Tool for Systematic Analysis of Embodied Emissions in Buildings and Neighborhoods, Buildings, 8, 106, doi: 10.3390/buildings8080106, URL http://www.mdpi.com/ 2075-5309/8/8/106, 2018.
- Riahi, K., van Vuuren, D. P., Kriegler, E., Edmonds, J., O'Neill, B. C., Fujimori, S., Bauer, N., Calvin, K., Dellink, R., Fricko, O., Lutz, W., Popp, A., Cuaresma, J. C., KC, S., Leimbach, M., Jiang, L., Kram, T., Rao, S., Emmerling, J., Ebi, K., Hasegawa, T., Havlik, P., Humpenöder, F., Da Silva, L. A., Smith, S., Stehfest, E., Bosetti, V., Eom, J., Gernaat, D., Masui, T., Rogelj, J., Strefler, J., Drouet, L., Krey, V., Luderer, G., Harmsen, M., Takahashi, K., Baumstark, L., Doelman, J. C., Kainuma, M., Klimont, Z., Marangoni, G., Lotze-Campen, H., Obersteiner, M., Tabeau, A., and Tavoni, M.: The Shared Socioeconomic Pathways and their energy, land use, and greenhouse gas emissions implications: An overview, Global Environmental Change, 42, 153–168, doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2016.05.009, 2017.
- Riahi, K., Schaeffer, R., Arango, J., Calvin, K., Guivarch, C., Hasegawa, T., Jiang, K., Kriegler, E., Matthews, R., Peters, G. P., Rao, A., Robertson, S., Sebbit, A. M., Steinberger, J., Tavoni, M., and van Vuuren, D. P.: Mitigation pathways compatible with long-term goals, in: Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, edited by Shukla, P. R., Skea, J., Slade, R., Al Khourdajie, A., van Diemen, R., McCollum, D., Pathak, M., Some, S., Vyas, P., Fradera, R., Belkacemi, M., Hasija, A., Lisboa, G., Luz, S., and Malley, J., pp. 295–408, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, doi: 10.1017/9781009157926.005, 2022.
- Richardson, K., Steffen, W., Lucht, W., Bendtsen, J., Cornell, S. E., Donges, J. F., Drüke, M., Fetzer, I., Bala, G., von Bloh, W., Feulner, G., Fiedler, S., Gerten, D., Gleeson, T., Hofmann, M., Huiskamp, W., Kummu, M., Mohan, C., Nogués-Bravo, D., Petri, S., Porkka, M., Rahmstorf, S., Schaphoff, S., Thonicke, K., Tobian,

A., Virkki, V., Wang-Erlandsson, L., Weber, L., and Rockström, J.: Earth beyond six of nine planetary boundaries, Science Advances, 9, eadh2458, doi: 10.1126/sciadv.adh2458, URL https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/sciadv.adh2458, publisher: American Association for the Advancement of Science, 2023.

- Rit, M., Girard, R., Villot, J., Thorel, M., and Abdelouadoud, Y.: Calibration method for an open source model to simulate building energy at territorial scale, Energy and Buildings, 293, 113 205, doi: 10.1016/j. enbuild.2023.113205, URL https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0378778823004358, 2023.
- Robiou du Pont, Y. and Meinshausen, M.: Warming assessment of the bottom-up Paris Agreement emissions pledges, Nature Communications, 9, doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-07223-9, URL http://dx.doi.org/10. 1038/s41467-018-07223-9, publisher: Springer US, 2018.
- Robiou Du Pont, Y., Jeffery, M. L., Gütschow, J., Rogelj, J., Christoff, P., and Meinshausen, M.: Equitable mitigation to achieve the Paris Agreement goals, Nature Climate Change, 7, 38–43, doi: 10.1038/ nclimate3186, 2016.
- Rockström, J., Steffen, W., Noone, K., Persson, , Chapin, F. S., Lambin, E. F., Lenton, T. M., Scheffer, M., Folke, C., Schellnhuber, H. J., Nykvist, B., De Wit, C. A., Hughes, T., Van Der Leeuw, S., Rodhe, H., Sörlin, S., Snyder, P. K., Costanza, R., Svedin, U., Falkenmark, M., Karlberg, L., Corell, R. W., Fabry, V. J., Hansen, J., Walker, B., Liverman, D., Richardson, K., Crutzen, P., and Foley, J. A.: A safe operating space for humanity, Nature, 461, 472–475, doi: 10.1038/461472a, 2009.
- Rogelj, J., Forster, P. M., Kriegler, E., Smith, C. J., and Séférian, R.: Estimating and tracking the remaining carbon budget for stringent climate targets, Nature, 571, 335–342, doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1368-z, 2019.
- Rogelj, J., Geden, O., Cowie, A., and Reisinger, A.: Three ways to improve net-zero emissions targets, Nature, 2021.
- Rogelj, J., Fransen, T., den Elzen, M. G. J., Lamboll, R. D., Schumer, C., Kuramochi, T., Hans, F., Mooldijk, S., and Portugal-Pereira, J.: Credibility gap in net-zero climate targets leaves world at high risk, Science, 380, 1014–1016, doi: 10.1126/science.adg6248, URL https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/science. adg6248, 2023.
- RTE: Energy Pathways to 2050, Tech. rep., 2021.
- RTE: Chapitre 3 : La consommation, Tech. rep., 2022a.
- RTE: Futurs énergétiques 2050 : rapport complet, Tech. rep., 2022b.
- RTE: Chapitre 4 : La production d'électricité, Tech. rep., 2022c.
- RTE and ADEME: Réduction des émissions de CO2, impact sur le système électrique : quelle contribution du chauffage dans les bâtiments à l'horizon 2035 ?, Tech. rep., URL https://assets.rte-france.com/prod/public/2021-01/Rapport%20chauffage\_RTE\_Ademe.pdf, 2020.
- Ryberg, M., Lauridsen, K., Le Den, X., Caspani, M., and Steinmann, J.: A 1.5°C pathway for the global buildings sector's embodied emissions, Tech. rep., 2023.
- Ryberg, M. W., Owsianiak, M., Richardson, K., and Hauschild, M. Z.: Development of a life-cycle impact assessment methodology linked to the Planetary Boundaries framework, Ecological Indicators, 88, 250– 262, doi: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.12.065, 2018.
- Röck, M., Hollberg, A., Habert, G., and Passer, A.: LCA and BIM: Visualization of environmental potentials in building construction at early design stages, Building and Environment, 140, 153– 161, doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2018.05.006, URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S036013231830266X, 2018.
- Röck, M., Saade, M. R. M., Balouktsi, M., Rasmussen, F. N., Birgisdottir, H., Frischknecht, R., Habert, G., Lützkendorf, T., and Passer, A.: Embodied GHG emissions of buildings – The hidden challenge for effective climate change mitigation, Applied Energy, 258, 114107, doi: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2019.114107, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2019.114107, publisher: Elsevier, 2020.

- Röck, M., Baldereschi, E., Verellen, E., Passer, A., Sala, S., and Allacker, K.: Environmental modelling of building stocks – An integrated review of life cycle-based assessment models to support EU policy making, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 151, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2021.111550, 2021.
- Röck, M., Sørensen, A., Steinmann, J., Horup, L. H., Tozan, B., and Den, X. L.: Towards embodied carbon benchmarks for buildings in Europe All reports, Tech. rep., 2022a.
- Röck, M., Sørensen, A., Steinmann, J., Horup, L. H., Tozan, B., and Den, X. L.: Summary report : Towards embodied carbon benchmarks for buildings in Europe, Tech. rep., 2022b.
- Röck, M., Sørensen, A., Steinmann, J., Lynge, K., Horup, L. H., Tozan, B., Le Den, X., and Birgisdottir, H.: Towards embodied carbon benchmarks for buildings in Europe - #1 Facing the data challenge, Tech. rep., Zenodo, doi: 10.5281/ZENODO.6120522, URL https://zenodo.org/record/6120522, 2022c.
- Röck, M., Sørensen, A., Tozan, B., Steinmann, J., Horup, L. H., Le Den, X., and Birgisdottir, H.: Towards embodied carbon benchmarks for buildings in Europe - #2 Setting the baseline: A bottom-up approach, Tech. rep., Zenodo, doi: 10.5281/ZENODO.5895051, URL https://zenodo.org/record/5895051, 2022d.
- Sacchi, R.: Premise User Guide, URL https://premise.readthedocs.io/en/latest/index.html, 2023a.
- Sacchi, R.: unfold : removing the barriers to sharing and reproducing prospective life-cycle assessment databases, Journal of Open Source Software, 8, 8–11, doi: 10.21105/joss.05198, publisher: Open Journals, 2023b.
- Sacchi, R., Terlouw, T., Siala, K., Dirnaichner, A., Bauer, C., Cox, B., Mutel, C., Daioglou, V., and Luderer, G.: PRospective EnvironMental Impact asSEment (premise): A streamlined approach to producing databases for prospective life cycle assessment using integrated assessment models, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 160, 112311, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2022.112311, URL https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S136403212200226X, 2022.
- Saheb, Y.: COP26: Sufficiency Should be First, Buildings and Cities, 2, 599-617, iSBN: 1469540517, 2021.
- Sandberg, N. H., Næss, J. S., Brattebø, H., Andresen, I., and Gustavsen, A.: Large potentials for energy saving and greenhouse gas emission reductions from large-scale deployment of zero emission building technologies in a national building stock, Energy Policy, 152, doi: 10.1016/j.enpol.2020.112114, 2021.
- Saujot, M., Le Gallic, T., and Waisman, H.: Lifestyle changes in mitigation pathways: Policy and scientific insights, Environmental Research Letters, 16, doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/abd0a9, 2021.
- SBTi: Sectoral decarbonization approach (SDA): A method for setting corporate emission reduction targets in line with climate science, Tech. rep., 2015.
- SBTi: FOUNDATIONS FOR SCIENCE-BASED NET-ZERO TARGET SETTING IN THE CORPORATE SECTOR, Tech. rep., 2020.
- SBTi: Pathways to net-zero: SBTi technical summary, Tech. rep., 2021a.
- SBTi: Understand the Methods for Science-based Climate Action, URL https://sciencebasedtargets.org/news/ understand-science-based-targets-methods-climate-action, 2021b.
- SBTi: Statement from the SBTi Board of Trustees on use of environmental attribute voluntary certificates, including but not limited carbon markets, for abateto https://sciencebasedtargets.org/news/ ment purposes limited to scope 3, URL statement-from-the-sbti-board-of-trustees-on-use-of-environmental-attribute-certificates-including-but-not-limited-to-2024.
- Schetelat, P.: Nos prédictions DPE, URL https://bdnb.io/blog/11/09/2023/explication\_prediction\_dpe/#fn: 2, 2023.
- Schetelat, P, Lefort, L., and Delgado, N.: Urban data imputation using multi-output multi-class classification, uSIM2020 – Buildings to Buildings: Urban and Community Energy Modelling, November 12th, 2020, 2020.
- SDES: Chiffres clés de l'énergie, 2021.

- SDES: Les facteurs d'évolution des émissions de CO2 liées à l'énergie en France de 1990 à 2020, Tech. rep., 2022.
- SDES: Méthodologie du bilan énergétique de la France 2023, Tech. rep., URL https://www.statistiques. developpement-durable.gouv.fr/sites/default/files/2023-03/methodologie\_bilan\_energie\_france\_ mars2023.pdf, 2023.
- Stadler, K., Pauliuk, S., Myers, R., Heeren, N., Majeau-Bettez, G., Kuczenski, B., Lifset, R., Lupton, R., and Hertwich, E.: The Industrial Ecology Open Science Project, 19, 12738, doi: 10.1088/1748-9326, 2018a.
- Stadler, K., Wood, R., Bulavskaya, T., Södersten, C. J., Simas, M., Schmidt, S., Usubiaga, A., Acosta-Fernández, J., Kuenen, J., Bruckner, M., Giljum, S., Lutter, S., Merciai, S., Schmidt, J. H., Theurl, M. C., Plutzar, C., Kastner, T., Eisenmenger, N., Erb, K. H., de Koning, A., and Tukker, A.: EXIOBASE 3: Developing a Time Series of Detailed Environmentally Extended Multi-Regional Input-Output Tables, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 22, 502–515, doi: 10.1111/jiec.12715, 2018b.
- Steffen, W., Broadgate, W., Deutsch, L., Gaffney, O., and Ludwig, C.: The trajectory of the Anthropocene: The Great Acceleration, The Anthropocene Review, doi: 10.1177/2053019614564785, URL https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/epub/10.1177/2053019614564785, 2015.
- Steininger, K., Williges, K., and Meyer, L.: Sharing the effort of the European Green Deal among countries, Nature Communications, pp. 0–43, doi: 10.1038/s41467-022-31204-8, publisher: Springer US ISBN: 0000000338509, 2021.
- Steininger, K. W., Lininger, C., Meyer, L. H., Muñoz, P., and Schinko, T.: Multiple carbon accounting to support just and effective climate policies, Nature Publishing Group, doi: 10.1038/nclimate2867, URL http: //dx.doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2867, 2015.
- Steininger, K. W., Munoz, P., Karstensen, J., Peters, G. P., Strohmaier, R., and Velázquez, E.: Austria's consumption-based greenhouse gas emissions: Identifying sectoral sources and destinations, Global Environmental Change, 48, 226–242, doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2017.11.011, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2017.11.011, publisher: Elsevier Ltd, 2018.
- Steininger, K. W., Meyer, L., Nabernegg, S., and Kirchengast, G.: Sectoral carbon budgets as an evaluation framework for the built environment, Buildings and Cities, 1, 337–360, doi: 10.5334/bc.32, 2020.
- Stephan, A.: Digital models for life-cycle assessment and material-flow analysis of urban built stocks: An opinion piece, lieuxdits, pp. 20–25, doi: 10.14428/ld.vi21.67213, URL https://ojs.uclouvain.be/index.php/lieuxdits/article/view/67213, number: 21, 2022.
- Stephan, A. and Athanassiadis, A.: Quantifying and mapping embodied environmental requirements of urban building stocks, Building and Environment, 114, 187–202, doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2016.11.043, 2017.
- Stephan, A. and Athanassiadis, A.: Towards a more circular construction sector: Estimating and spatialising current and future non-structural material replacement flows to maintain urban building stocks, Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 129, 248–262, doi: 10.1016/j.resconrec.2017.09.022, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2017.09.022, publisher: Elsevier, 2018.
- Stephan, A., Crawford, R. H., Moosavi, S., Bunster, V., and Warren-myers, G.: Towards a multiscale framework for modeling and improving the life cycle environmental performance of built stocks, Journal of Industrial Ecology, pp. 1–23, doi: 10.1111/jiec.13254, 2022.
- Steubing, B. and de Koning, D.: Making the use of scenarios in LCA easier: the superstructure approach, International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, doi: 10.1007/s11367-021-01974-2, URL https://doi. org/10.1007/s11367-021-01974-2, publisher: Springer Berlin Heidelberg ISBN: 0123456789, 2021.
- Steubing, B., Mutel, C., Suter, F., and Hellweg, S.: Streamlining scenario analysis and optimization of key choices in value chains using a modular LCA approach, International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 21, 510–522, doi: 10.1007/s11367-015-1015-3, 2016.
- Steubing, B., de Koning, D., Haas, A., and Mutel, C. L.: The Activity Browser An open source LCA software building on top of the brightway framework, Software Impacts, 3, 100 012, doi: 10.1016/j.simpa.2019. 100012, URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2665963819300120, 2020.

- Suh, S.: Functions, commodities and environmental impacts in an ecological–economic model, Ecological Economics, 48, 451–467, doi: 10.1016/j.ecolecon.2003.10.013, URL https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/ retrieve/pii/S0921800904000229, 2004.
- Suh, S. and Huppes, G.: Methods for life cycle inventory of a product, Journal of Cleaner Production, 13, 687–697, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2003.04.001, 2005.
- Swan, L. G. and Ugursal, V. I.: Modeling of end-use energy consumption in the residential sector: A review of modeling techniques, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 13, 1819–1835, doi: 10.1016/j. rser.2008.09.033, 2009.
- Swart, R. J., Raskin, P., and Robinson, J.: The problem of the future : sustainability science and scenario analysis, Global Environmental Change, 14, 137–146, doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2003.10.002, 2004.
- Södersten, C. J. H., Wood, R., and Hertwich, E. G.: Supplementary information : Endogenizing Capital in MRIO Models: The Implications for Consumption-Based Accounting, Environmental Science and Technology, 52, 13 250–13 259, doi: 10.1021/acs.est.8b02791, 2018a.
- Södersten, C. J. H., Wood, R., and Hertwich, E. G.: Endogenizing Capital in MRIO Models: The Implications for Consumption-Based Accounting, Environmental Science and Technology, 52, 13250–13259, doi: 10.1021/acs.est.8b02791, 2018b.
- Tahavori, M. A., Golinucci, N., Rinaldi, L., Rocco, M. V., and Colombo, E.: MARIO: A Versatile and User-Friendly Software for Building Input-Output Models, Journal of Open Research Software, 11, 14, doi: 10.5334/jors.473, URL http://openresearchsoftware.metajnl.com/articles/10.5334/jors.473/, 2023.
- Tanikawa, H., Fishman, T., Okuoka, K., and Sugimoto, K.: The weight of society over time and space: A comprehensive account of the construction material stock of Japan, 1945-2010, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 19, 778–791, doi: 10.1111/jiec.12284, 2015.
- Teh, S. H., Wiedmann, T., and Moore, S.: Mixed unit hybrid life cycle assessment applied to the recycling of construction materials, Journal of Economic Structures, doi: 10.1186/s40008-018-0112-4, URL https://doi.org/10.1186/s40008-018-0112-4, publisher: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2018.
- The Shift Project: Scénarios Energie-Climat: Rapport du think tank The Shift Project pour l'Afep, Tech. rep., 2019a.
- The Shift Project: Explore futures to plan energy transition: Guidelines for future studies on energy and power transitions, Tech. rep., URL https://theshiftproject.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/2019-11-07\_Synthesis-Report\_Exploring-Futures-to-Plan-Energy-Transition\_The-Shift-Project.pdf, 2019b.
- The Shift Project: Habiter dans une société bas carbone, Tech. rep., 2021.
- Thonemann, N., Schulte, A., and Maga, D.: How to Conduct Prospective Life Cycle Assessment for Emerging Technologies? A Systematic Review and Methodological Guidance, Sustainability, 12, 1192, doi: 10.3390/su12031192, URL https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/12/3/1192, number: 3 Publisher: Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, 2020.
- Tilsted, J. P., Palm, E., Bjørn, A., and Lund, J. F.: Corporate climate futures in the making: Why we need research on the politics of Science-Based Targets, Energy Research & Social Science, 103, 103 229, doi: 10.1016/j.erss.2023.103229, URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S221462962300289X, 2023.
- Timmer, M. P., Dietzenbacher, E., Los, B., Stehrer, R., and de Vries, G. J.: An Illustrated User Guide to the World Input-Output Database: The Case of Global Automotive Production, Review of International Economics, 23, 575–605, doi: 10.1111/roie.12178, 2015.
- Tirado, R., Aublet, A., Laurenceau, S., Thorel, M., Louërat, M., and Habert, G.: Component-based model for building material stock and waste-flow characterization: A case in the Île-de-France region, Sustainability (Switzerland), 13, doi: 10.3390/su132313159, 2021.
- Trutnevyte, E.: Does cost optimization approximate the real-world energy transition?, Energy, 106, 182–193, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2016.03.038, URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2016.03.038, publisher: Elsevier Ltd, 2016.

- Trutnevyte, E., Hirt, L. F., Bauer, N., Cherp, A., Hawkes, A., Edelenbosch, O. Y., Pedde, S., and van Vuuren, D. P.: Societal Transformations in Models for Energy and Climate Policy: The Ambitious Next Step, One Earth, 1, 423–433, doi: 10.1016/j.oneear.2019.12.002, URL https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/ pii/S2590332219302246, 2019.
- Trüger, B., Nabernegg, S., Lackner, T., Röck, M., Alaux, N., Hoxha, E., Ruschi, M., and Passer, A.: Life cycle GHG emissions of the Austrian building stock : A combined bottom-up and top-down approach, IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science, doi: 10.1088/1755-1315/1078/1/012024, 2022.
- UNEP: 2022 Global Status Report for Buildings and Construction: Towards a Zero-emission, Efficient and Resilient Buildings and Construction Sector, Tech. rep., 2022.
- UNEP: Building materials and the climate: constructing a new future, Tech. rep., URL https://wedocs.unep. org/handle/20.500.11822/43293, 2023.
- UNFCCC: United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, 1992.
- UNFCCC: KYOTO PROTOCOL TO THE UNITED NATIONS FRAMEWORK CONVENTION ON CLIMATE CHANGE, 1998.
- United Nations: Paris Agreement, 2015.
- van den Berg, N. J., van Soest, H. L., Hof, A. F., den Elzen, M. G. J., van Vuuren, D. P., Chen, W., Drouet, L., Emmerling, J., Fujimori, S., Höhne, N., Kõberle, A. C., McCollum, D., Schaeffer, R., Shekhar, S., Vishwanathan, S. S., Vrontisi, Z., and Blok, K.: Implications of various effort-sharing approaches for national carbon budgets and emission pathways, Climatic Change, 162, 1805–1822, doi: 10.1007/ s10584-019-02368-y, URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-019-02368-y, 2020.
- van der Giesen, C., Cucurachi, S., Guinée, J., Kramer, G. J., and Tukker, A.: A critical view on the current application of LCA for new technologies and recommendations for improved practice, Journal of Cleaner Production, 259, 120 904, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.120904, URL https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0959652620309513, 2020.
- van Diemen, R., Matthews, J. B. R., Möller, V., Fuglestvedt, J. S., Masson-Delmotte, V., Méndez, C., Reisinger, A., and Semenov, S.: Annex I: Glossary, in: Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, edited by Shukla, P. R., Skea, J., Slade, R., Al Khourdajie, A., van Diemen, R., McCollum, D., Pathak, M., Some, S., Vyas, P., Fradera, R., Belkacemi, M., Hasija, A., Lisboa, G., Luz, S., and Malley, J., pp. 1793–1820, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, doi: 10.1017/9781009157926.020, 2022.
- van Vuuren, D., Stehfest, E., Gernaat, D., de Boer, H.-S., Daioglou, V, Doelman, J., Edelenbosch, O., Harmsen, M., van Zeist, W.-J., van den Berg, M., Dafnomilis, I., van Sluisveld, M., Tabeau, A., De Vos, L., de Waal, L., van den Berg, N., Beusen, A., Bos, A., Biemans, H., Bouwman, L., Chen, H.-H., Deetman, S., Dagnachew, A., Hof, A., van Meijl, H., Meyer, J., Mikropoulos, S., Roelfsema, M., Schipper, A., Van Soest, H., Tagomori, I., and Zapata Castillo, V.: The 2021 SSP scenarios of the IMAGE 3.2 model, preprint, Environmental Sciences, doi: 10.31223/X5CG92, URL http://eartharxiv.org/repository/view/2759/, 2021.
- Van Vuuren, D. P. and Carter, T. R.: Climate and socio-economic scenarios for climate change research and assessment: Reconciling the new with the ol, Climatic Change, 122, 415–429, doi: 10.1007/ s10584-013-0974-2, 2014.
- van Vuuren, D. P., Edmonds, J., Kainuma, M., Riahi, K., Thomson, A., Hibbard, K., Hurtt, G. C., Kram, T., Krey, V., Lamarque, J. F., Masui, T., Meinshausen, M., Nakicenovic, N., Smith, S. J., and Rose, S. K.: The representative concentration pathways: An overview, Climatic Change, 109, 5–31, doi: 10.1007/ s10584-011-0148-z, 2011.
- van Vuuren, D. P., Riahi, K., Moss, R., Edmonds, J., Thomson, A., Nakicenovic, N., Kram, T., Berkhout, F., Swart, R., Janetos, A., Rose, S. K., and Arnell, N.: A proposal for a new scenario framework to support

research and assessment in different climate research communities, Global Environmental Change, 22, 21–35, doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2011.08.002, URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959378011001191, 2012.

- Venkatraj, V. and Dixit, M.: Life cycle embodied energy analysis of higher education buildings: A comparison between different LCI methodologies, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 144, 110 957, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2021.110957, URL https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1364032121002495, 2021.
- Verellen, E.: Developing a Building Stock Model to Enable Clustered Renovation The City of Leuven as Case Study, Sustainability (Switzerland), 2022.
- Verellen, E. and Allacker, K.: Using data-driven models to estimate the energy use of buildings based on a building stock model, in: IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science, vol. 588, doi: 10.1088/1755-1315/588/3/032006, 2020.
- Verhagen, T. J., Cetinay, H. I., Van Der Voet, E., and Sprecher, B.: Transitioning to Low-Carbon Residential Heating: The Impacts of Material-Related Emissions, Environmental Science and Technology, doi: 10. 1021/acs.est.1c06362, 2021.
- Virtanen, P., Gommers, R., Oliphant, T. E., Haberland, M., Reddy, T., Cournapeau, D., Burovski, E., Peterson, P., Weckesser, W., Bright, J., van der Walt, S. J., Brett, M., Wilson, J., Millman, K. J., Mayorov, N., Nelson, A. R. J., Jones, E., Kern, R., Larson, E., Carey, C. J., Polat, , Feng, Y., Moore, E. W., VanderPlas, J., Laxalde, D., Perktold, J., Cimrman, R., Henriksen, I., Quintero, E. A., Harris, C. R., Archibald, A. M., Ribeiro, A. H., Pedregosa, F., van Mulbregt, P., SciPy 1.0 Contributors, Vijaykumar, A., Bardelli, A. P., Rothberg, A., Hilboll, A., Kloeckner, A., Scopatz, A., Lee, A., Rokem, A., Woods, C. N., Fulton, C., Masson, C., Häggström, C., Fitzgerald, C., Nicholson, D. A., Hagen, D. R., Pasechnik, D. V., Olivetti, E., Martin, E., Wieser, E., Silva, F., Lenders, F., Wilhelm, F., Young, G., Price, G. A., Ingold, G.-L., Allen, G. E., Lee, G. R., Audren, H., Probst, I., Dietrich, J. P., Silterra, J., Webber, J. T., Slavič, J., Nothman, J., Buchner, J., Kulick, J., Schönberger, J. L., de Miranda Cardoso, J. V., Reimer, J., Harrington, J., Rodríguez, J. L. C., Nunez-Iglesias, J., Kuczynski, J., Tritz, K., Thoma, M., Newville, M., Kümmerer, M., Bolingbroke, M., Tartre, M., Pak, M., Smith, N. J., Nowaczyk, N., Shebanov, N., Pavlyk, O., Brodtkorb, P. A., Lee, P, McGibbon, R. T., Feldbauer, R., Lewis, S., Tygier, S., Sievert, S., Vigna, S., Peterson, S., More, S., Pudlik, T., Oshima, T., Pingel, T. J., Robitaille, T. P., Spura, T., Jones, T. R., Cera, T., Leslie, T., Zito, T., Krauss, T., Upadhyay, U., Halchenko, Y. O., and Vázquez-Baeza, Y.: SciPy 1.0: fundamental algorithms for scientific computing in Python, Nature Methods, 17, 261–272, doi: 10.1038/s41592-019-0686-2, URL https://www.nature.com/articles/s41592-019-0686-2, 2020.
- Wack, P.: Scenarios: Uncharted Waters Ahead, Harvard Business Review, URL https://hbr.org/1985/09/ scenarios-uncharted-waters-ahead, section: Economics, 1985.
- Waisman, H., Bataille, C., Winkler, H., Jotzo, F., Shukla, P., Colombier, M., Buira, D., Criqui, P., Fischedick, M., Kainuma, M., La Rovere, E., Pye, S., Safonov, G., Siagian, U., Teng, F., Virdis, M. R., Williams, J., Young, S., Anandarajah, G., Boer, R., Cho, Y., Denis-Ryan, A., Dhar, S., Gaeta, M., Gesteira, C., Haley, B., Hourcade, J. C., Liu, Q., Lugovoy, O., Masui, T., Mathy, S., Oshiro, K., Parrado, R., Pathak, M., Potashnikov, V., Samadi, S., Sawyer, D., Spencer, T., Tovilla, J., and Trollip, H.: A pathway design framework for national low greenhouse gas emission development strategies, Nature Climate Change, 9, 261–268, doi: 10.1038/s41558-019-0442-8, URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41558-019-0442-8, publisher: Springer US, 2019.
- Watari, T., Cabrera Serrenho, A., Gast, L., Cullen, J., and Allwood, J.: Feasible supply of steel and cement within a carbon budget is likely to fall short of expected global demand, Nature Communications, 14, 7895, doi: 10.1038/s41467-023-43684-3, URL https://www.nature.com/articles/ s41467-023-43684-3, 2023.
- WBCSD and Arup: Net-zero operational carbon buildings state of the art, Tech. rep., 2021.
- Wernet, G., Bauer, C., Steubing, B., Reinhard, J., Moreno-Ruiz, E., and Weidema, B.: The ecoinvent database version 3 (part I): overview and methodology, The International Journal of Life Cycle As-

sessment, 21, 1218–1230, doi: 10.1007/s11367-016-1087-8, URL http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11367-016-1087-8, 2016.

- Wiebe, K. S., Bjelle, E. L., Többen, J., and Wood, R.: Implementing exogenous scenarios in a global MRIO model for the estimation of future environmental footprints, Journal of Economic Structures, 7, doi: 10.1186/s40008-018-0118-y, URL https://doi.org/10.1186/s40008-018-0118-y, publisher: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2018.
- Wiedmann, T.: Editorial: Carbon footprint and input-output analysis an introduction, Economic Systems Research, 21, 175–186, doi: 10.1080/09535310903541256, iSBN: 0953531090, 2009.
- Wiedmann, T.: On the decomposition of total impact multipliers in a supply and use framework, Journal of Economic Structures, 6, 1–11, doi: 10.1186/s40008-017-0072-0, publisher: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2017.
- Wiedmann, T. and Minx, J.: A Definition of 'Carbon Footprint, cological Economics Research Trends, 1, 1–11, arXiv: gr-qc/0208024 ISBN: 1600219411, 2008.
- Wiedmann, T., Chen, G., Owen, A., Lenzen, M., Doust, M., Barrett, J., and Steele, K.: Three-scope carbon emission inventories of global cities, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 25, 735–750, doi: 10.1111/jiec. 13063, 2021.
- Wiedmann, T. O., Chen, G., and Barrett, J.: The Concept of City Carbon Maps: A Case Study of Melbourne, Australia, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 20, 676–691, doi: 10.1111/jiec.12346, 2016.
- Wood, R., Moran, D., Stadler, K., Ivanova, D., Steen-Olsen, K., Tisserant, A., and Hertwich, E. G.: Prioritizing Consumption-Based Carbon Policy Based on the Evaluation of Mitigation Potential Using Input-Output Methods, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 22, 540–552, doi: 10.1111/jiec.12702, 2018a.
- Wood, R., Stadler, K., Simas, M., Bulavskaya, T., Giljum, S., Lutter, S., and Tukker, A.: Growth in Environmental Footprints and Environmental Impacts Embodied in Trade: Resource Efficiency Indicators from EXIOBASE3, Journal of Industrial Ecology, 22, 553–564, doi: 10.1111/jiec.12735, 2018b.
- Wood, R., Neuhoff, K., Moran, D., Simas, M., Grubb, M., and Stadler, K.: The structure, drivers and policy implications of the European carbon footprint, Climate Policy, 20, S39–S57, doi: 10.1080/14693062.
  2019.1639489, URL https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2019.1639489, publisher: Taylor & Francis, 2020.
- Xi, F., Davis, S. J., Ciais, P., Crawford-Brown, D., Guan, D., Pade, C., Shi, T., Syddall, M., Lv, J., Ji, L., Bing, L., Wang, J., Wei, W., Yang, K. H., Lagerblad, B., Galan, I., Andrade, C., Zhang, Y., and Liu, Z.: Substantial global carbon uptake by cement carbonation, Nature Geoscience, 9, 880–883, doi: 10.1038/ngeo2840, 2016.
- Yu, M., Wiedmann, T., Crawford, R., and Tait, C.: The Carbon Footprint of Australia's Construction Sector, Procedia Engineering, 180, 211–220, doi: 10.1016/j.proeng.2017.04.180, URL http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.proeng.2017.04.180, publisher: The Author(s), 2017.
- Zhang, X., Heeren, N., Bauer, C., Burgherr, P., McKenna, R., and Habert, G.: The impacts of future sectoral change on the greenhouse gas emissions of construction materials for Swiss residential buildings, Energy and Buildings, 303, 113 824, doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2023.113824, URL https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S037877882301054X, 2024.
- Österbring, M., Mata, , Thuvander, L., and Wallbaum, H.: Explorative life-cycle assessment of renovating existing urban housing-stocks, Building and Environment, 165, 106 391, doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2019. 106391, URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2019.106391, publisher: Elsevier, 2019.

## **Marin Pellan**

PhD Candidate, CSTB & ETH Zürich

Profiles	in pellanmarin LinkedIn	marpellan Github			
Summary	As a PhD student, I am engaged in researching the interaction between climate and sectoral policies within the building sector. I have a keen interest in prospective life-cycle assessment, input-output analysis, scenario analysis, and building stock modeling.				
	My goal is to engage in projects that bridges the gap between scientific research and practical policy application, aiming to develop science-based policies that drive sustainable and impactful changes both in policy frameworks and industry standards.				
Education	ETH Zürich Civil & Environmental Engineering	2	2 <b>021 - 2024</b> PhD		
	INSA Lyon Environmental Engineering & Sustainability	2 Advan	2 <b>019 - 2020</b> ced Master		
	University College Dublin	Academic	<b>201</b> 5 c Exchange		
	Grenoble School of Management Technology, Economics & Management	2	2 <b>014 - 2018</b> MSc		
	<b>Champollion High School</b> Mathematics, Economics, Geopolitics	2 Preparate	2 <b>012 - 2014</b> ory classes		
Experience	Scientific and Technical Center for Buildings (CSTI PhD Candidate	) Feb 2	2021 - 2024		
	"Downscaling the French low-carbon national strategy for the building activities" - a 3-year PhD project conducted with the CSTB and the Chair of Sustainable Construction at ETH Zürich, led by Prof. Guillaume Habert.				
	The main objective of the research is to integrate life-cycle thinking into net-zero national policies and quantitavely assess exploratory scenarios by 2050. This involves applied modelling using life-cycle assessment, input-output analysis and scenario analysis combined with data-driven methods.				
	Scientific and Technical Center for Buildings (CSTI Environmental Engineer	i) Sep 2020	- Feb 2021		
	Collaborated on various projects centered around particular focus on building renovations. Key conti	.ife-Cycle Assessment (LCA) and Material-Flow Analysis (MFA), with ibutions include:	а		
	<ul> <li>Integrating embodied impacts of retrofitting a</li> </ul>	rchetypes into the Menfis model.			
	<ul> <li>Collecting data for an MFA model in the lle-de</li> </ul>	-France region.			
	• Researching the influence of carbon taxation	on construction practices.			
	Scientific and Technical Center for Buildings (CSTI Research Assistant	i) April 2020	- Sep 2020		
	Collaborated with a PhD candidate on Consequent	al Life-Cycle Assessment, in particular:			
	<ul> <li>Analyzing industrial and economics data to c</li> </ul>	onstruct a stock-flow consistent model.			
	• Participating in the case study on residential buildings retrofitting in the context of the pandemic economic subsidies.				
	Schneider Electric Market Analyst Apprentice	Sep 2018	- Sep 2019		
	Conducted market studies for low-voltage product	s with product engineers and organized focus group in Madrid and Ba	arcelona.		
Publications	From limit values to carbon budgets: assessing co Building & Environment (in review) ♂ http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4676635	nprehensive building stock decarbonisation strategies	March 2024		
	Pellan, M; Almeida, D; Louërat, M; Habert, G				
	Beyond sectoral carbon budgets for the building activities: a French case study Energy & Buildings (in review)  # http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4633977				
	Pellan, M; Almeida, D; Louërat, M; Habert, G				
	Decarbonisation roadmap for the building activity: Journal of Physics: Conference Series	LCA modelling of the renovation lever	Sep 2023		

	Pellan, M; Almeida, D; Dubois, F; Lo	Pellan, M; Almeida, D; Dubois, F; Louërat, M; Habert, G					
	A holistic perspective on the French building and construction GHG footprint IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science ♂ https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1755-1315/1078/1/012049/meta Pellan, M; Louërat, M; El Beze, J; Habert, G						
Languages	French	English		Spanish			
	Mother tongue	Fluent ● ● ● ● ○		Professional proficiency ● ● ● ○ ○			
Skills	Python		Brightway				
	• • • • • SOI		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •				
Courses	<b>Brightway Autumn School</b> Départ de Sentier				Oct 2023		
	<b>Open Science Summer School</b> EPFL				July 2022		
	Prospective Environmental Assess ETH Zürich	ment			May 2021		
Teaching	Universite Grenoble Alpes				2021-2022		
	Introduction to the environmental impacts of the building activities (bachelor civil engineering students)						
	Practical courses on 'Elodie' building LCA software (master civil engineering students)						
References	<b>Prof. Guillaume Habert</b> PhD director						
	<b>Dr. Mathilde Louërat</b> PhD co-supervisor						
	<b>Dr. Denise Almeida</b> PhD co-supervisor						
	<b>Marine Vesson</b> Manager						
Interests	<b>Outdoor sports</b> Cycling , Trail running, Mountaineering						
	Guitar player and music lover						
	Cinema						
	Open source and sustainability						

